Symbiotic systems of bats, bat flies, and gut bacteria in a fragmented forest

Omar Khalilur Rahman

School of Biological and Chemical Sciences Queen Mary University of London Mile End Road, E1 4NS

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Statement of originality

I, Omar Khalilur Rahman, confirm that the research included within this thesis is my own work or that where it has been carried out in collaboration with, or supported by others, that this is duly acknowledged below, and my contribution indicated. Previously published material is also acknowledged below.

I attest that I have exercised reasonable care to ensure that the work is original and does not to the best of my knowledge break any UK law, infringe any third party's copyright or other Intellectual Property Right, or contain any confidential material.

I accept that the College has the right to use plagiarism detection software to check the electronic version of the thesis.

I confirm that this thesis has not been previously submitted for the award of a degree by this or any other university.

The copyright of this thesis rests with the author and no quotation from it or information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author.

Signature: OKR

Date: 30/12/2020

Details of collaboration and funding

I acknowledge that:

Dr Tiago Teixeira collected the raw data for the Atlantic Forest used in Chapters 3, 4, and 5.

Dr Kelly Speer contributed to generating the bat fly and microbe data.

Field work in Belize for Chapter 2 was conducted alongside a team of researchers headed by Dr Brock Fenton.

Molecular work for wing mites in Chapter 3 was funded by NERC and conducted at the NERC Biomolecular Analysis Facility (NERC) in Sheffield University.

This work was funded by a scholarship from Diversified Villa Sdn Bhd awarded to Omar bin Khalilur Rahman.

Thesis abstract

The effects of habitat disturbance on parasites and microbes is poorly understood despite implications for host health and conservation. In this thesis I identify landscape properties that impact epidemiological patterns, bipartite interactions and metacommunity structure of ectoparasitic arthropods of bats and their endosymbiotic bacteria across a fragmented region from the Atlantic Forest of Brazil and I compare the performance of routine molecular identification methods using conventional laboratory procedures, to a mobile laboratory including the MinION DNA sequencer. My results show that *in situ* experiments on portable sequencing platforms are a viable alternative to Illumina and Sanger sequencing, although there are trade-offs between sequence quality and speed that precluded immediate uptake. I found the prevalence of the bat fly Trichobius joblingi on the bat Carollia perspicillata to be higher in forest fragments than continuous forests. I also found the infection intensity of the bat fly Paratrichobius longricus on the bat Artibeus lituratus in continuous forests to be higher in females than males. Network analyses shows modularity to be positively correlated to habitat area for ectoparasitic networks, but negatively correlated to isolation in endosymbiont networks. Metacommunity structure analysis suggests bat fly assemblages in fragmented forests follow a quasi-Gleasonean structure with respect to habitat area. Overall, my research reveals that the effects of habitat fragmentation can be observed in parasitic and endosymbiotic communities, and the persistence of specialist symbiotic species rely on the presence of specific hosts, for example ectoparasitic and endosymbiotic communities in the smallest fragments remain

connected by interactions with disturbance tolerant hosts. My findings have implications for conservation through monitoring trends in potential disease vectors in wild populations.

Table of contents

Statement of originality	
Details of collaboration and funding	
Thesis abstract	
List of figures	
List of tables	9
List of appendices	
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Fragmentation of natural habitats	11
Fragmentation study design	12
Parasite ecology	14
Metacommunity	19
The Atlantic Forest of Brazil	25
Bats and their parasites as a model system	27
Bats and disease reservoirs	30
Parasite specificity	33
Bat flies and wing mites	34
Thesis organisation and aims	37
Chapter 2: Mobile laboratories and DNA barcoding in the field	39
Abstract	39
Introduction	40
Methods	44
Results	51
Discussion	60
Chapter 3: Ectoparasite epidemiology in the Atlantic Forest	67
Introduction	68
Methods	72
Results	83
Discussion	93
Chapter 4: The impact of habitat fragmentation on host-symbiont networks	101
Introduction	102
Methods	110
Results	117
Discussion	127

Chapter 5: Elements of Metacommunity Structure in Symbiont Communities	40
Introduction	40
Methods14	49
Results1	54
Discussion1	58
General discussion	64
Methods in DNA taxonomy10	65
Differences in site type	66
Landscape effects	68
Biodiversity-disease paradigm	69
Implication for disease outbreaks1	73
Conclusions	77
References	78
Appendix	05

List of figures

Figure 1.4: Idealised metacommunity structures 24
Figure 2.1: Performance diagnostics of the MinION sequencing run
Figure 2.2: Distribution of reads across 8 MIDs
Figure 2.3: Distribution of reads across 8 MIDs at > 90% BLAST hit
Figure 2.4: Regression plot showing interaction between haplotype copy number and match percentage
Figure 3.1: Map of sampling area of REGUA sites
Figure 3.2: Phylogenetic tree of 31 mOTUs generated through metabarcoding fur and wing swabs from bats
Figure 3.3: Infestation profile across body condition for Trichobius joblingi on Carollia perspicilllata
Figure 3.4: Infestation profile across body condition for Paratrichobius longicrus on Artibeus lituratus
Figure 4.1. All infested bats and associated bat flies identified
Figure 4.2 heat map of bacterial genus found in bat fly species
Figure 4.3 Modularity of endosymbiont networks across habitat isolation, and ectoparasitic networks across habitat area
Figure 5.3: Dendograms illustrating similarities of sites based on Sorensen distances and UPGMA algorithm for both bat fly and microbiome metacommunities
Figure 5.4: Ordinated species/genus distributions of the larger bat fly compartment for both axes of ordination

List of tables

Table 2.1: Summary of BLAST results according to highest % matches 56
Table 2.2: Number of haplotypes and genera retained after the 90% match filtering
Table 2.3: Blast hits of Sanger sequence reads obtained from FTA-blood sampless
Table 3.1 PCR mix recipes and thermocycling conditions
Table 3.2 Captured bats and associated bat flies identified
Table 3.3 Prevalence and mean intensity for bat fly-bat pairs
Table 4.1: vif scores of predictor variables)
Table 4.2. Richness and sampling completeness for networks 121
Table 4.3: Network metrics for both trophic layers. 123
Table 4.4. Support for candidate models predicting the effect of landscape variables on structure of ectoparasitic networks
Table 4.6 Landscape variables and estimates of the top candidates in each model set 126
Table 4.7 t-test results comparing network metrics of fragmented and continuous forest ectoparasitic and endosymbiont layers
Table 5.1: Coherence, species turnover, boundary clumping, and the resulting metacommunity structure across forest fragments
Table 5.2: Loadings from the first constrained and unconstrained axes from canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) 157

List of appendices

Appendix 1.1: Sequence of Nanopore MIDs used	205
Appendix 1.2: Graphical representation of variation in 3 COI barcode sequences of 8 bat species	206
Appendix 2.1: four primer sets tested on cat fleas;	208
Appendix 2.2: Cotton swab with mites, suspected to be juveniles of Periglischrus mites	209
Appendix 2.3: Adult mites dorsal view,	210

Chapter 1: Introduction

Fragmentation of natural habitats

Anthropogenic changes to the environment are causing lasting detrimental effects such as biodiversity loss and disruption to ecosystem services (McKinney, 2008; Memmott et al., 2007). Habitat fragmentation is considered a primary threat to natural landscapes and has been shown to cause declines in biodiversity (Coelho et al., 2020; Tilman et al., 2017). In simple terms, habitat fragmentation is the breaking apart of terrain, and an increase in the number of patches as a result (Curtis, 1956; Moore, 1962). This process typically involves the splitting of continuous natural environments into a larger number of smaller environments, which often includes habitat loss but distinctly also habitat reconfiguration (Fahrig, 2003). In addition to anthropogenic sources of habitat fragmentation such as logging and urbanisation (Hein et al., 2011), natural events including forest fires (Wright, 1974; Wright and Heinselman, 2014), lava flow from volcanoes (Vandergast et al., 2004), and flooding (Perotto-Baldivieso et al., 2011) result in communities of species becoming isolated and confined to smaller habitat patches.

Habitat fragmentation is often examined through the theory of island biogeography, which focuses on the size and isolation of habitat patches rather than the fragmented landscape as a whole (Brühl et al., 2003; Prugh et al., 2008). The theory of island biogeography is generally attributed to Kirkby et al. (1968), who observed that larger and less isolated oceanic islands had higher species richness than smaller and more

isolated ones. Similar patterns have been observed in other terrestrial (Charles and Ang, 2010) and aquatic systems (Miyazono and Taylor, 2013) where habitat fragmentation has taken place and where each patch represents a figurative 'island', and communities within each habitat are considered distinct from neighbouring ones. From here on I refer to these habitats in a fragmented landscape as patches.

Patch-based fragmentation studies tend to measure habitat area and isolation to infer community processes such as extinction risk and colonisation rates (Steffens and Lehman, 2018). Larger patches are able to support higher population numbers than smaller patches, decreasing the likelihood of extinction through stochastic events and inbreeding depression (Gilpin and Diamond, 1976; Hanski and Ovaskainen, 2000). Patches that are less isolated are able to replenish their population through species immigrating from the mainland or larger habitats (Brown and Kodric-Brown, 1977; Simberloff and Wilson, 1969). However, the benefits of larger patch size and smaller isolation are not independent and can intersect, for example large patches may experience higher immigration rates than smaller patches of equal degrees of isolation by virtue of being more visible colonization targets (Gilpin and Diamond, 1976).

Fragmentation study design

One criticism sometimes raised against patch based fragmentation studies is the difficulty in disentangling the effects of habitat fragmentation and habitat loss, to paraphrase Fahrig (2019), large patches have more habitat intact and patches become more isolated as more habitat is lost around them. Landscape based studies can generate observations of the effects of fragmentation *per se* by controlling for habitat when making comparisons. In one model for this MacDonald et al. (2018) used a

nested set sampling design, splitting 30 islands into groups of 1-8, and comparing groups with similar total habitat, whilst considering different configurations (e.g. number of islands in a group, inter-island distance). There are also long-term fragmentation experiments that are able to control for habitat area of affected patches alongside other factors such as climate change (Wilson et al., 2016), habitat corridors (Metatron; Legrand et al., 2012, Savannah River Site (SRS); Brinkerhoff et al., 2005), land use and cover patterns (Stability of Altered Forest Ecosystems (SAFE); Ewers et al., 2011). However, unlike experimental or curated circumstances, finding a fragmented landscape with the right configuration of patches to control for area may not be always feasible in natural settings.

A review of habitat fragmentation literature suggests that in recent years 45.7% of studies use individual patches as units of inference, 47% use patches and their surrounding matrix, and only 7.3% adopt the whole landscape approach though this is becoming more popular (Fardila et al., 2017). The choice of scale (e.g. landscape vs patch) may depend on the process or pattern of interest and species being studied, but should not be considered mutually exclusive methods. Thornton et al., (2011) reviewed species responses to patch and landscape level variables in birds, invertebrates, reptiles, and mammals; finding that some species were highly responsive of both patch-level variables (e.g. habitat area and habitat quality), but landscape-level variables (e.g. isolation) tended to be more important for large bodied species (i.e. mammals); nonetheless they stress that a multi-level approach (considering both patch and landscape level variables) is appropriate for many taxa. In the following chapters of this thesis, I use a combination of patch and landscape level metrics (e.g. area, isolation, habitat complexity) to describe several habitat patches

within a fragmented forest system, and I use the term 'landscape metrics' to refer to all variables collectively.

Habitat fragmentation, as discussed in this thesis, refers to a landscape-level process where historical changes in land use within the Atlantic Forest resulted in the division of continuous forest into smaller forest patches that are isolated from each other by a matrix of modified landscape (e.g., farmland, pastures, logged forest). I examine the long-term effects of habitat fragmentation on communities of bats and their ectoparasites and discuss the implication for host health and pathogen transmission within this natural community.

Parasite ecology

Parasitism is one of the most common ecological strategies found in nature, but is generally underrepresented in ecological community studies (e.g. food webs; Lafferty et al., 2008). Parasites inflict a cost to hosts they infect by stealing resources that could otherwise be used by the host for growth, maintenance, or reproduction (Poulin et al., 2002). Examples of parasitism can be seen across many taxa, but two non-exhaustive groups include 'macroparasites' that can be seen with the naked eye (e.g. insects; Spielman, 2017), worms; Elsasser et al., 2009), and 'microparasites' or parasitic microorganisms (e.g. bacteria; Breitschwerdt, 2014), viruses; Le Goff et al., 2011). Examining the host-parasite relationship when faced with ecological change continues to be a complex subject especially in the context of public health (Macnab and Barber, 2012; Thongsripong et al., 2018). For example, a mammal could be host to a parasitic arthropod that vectors a bacterial pathogen. In such a context, understanding the composite effects that ecological changes such as habitat fragmentation can inflict on each trophic layer (i.e. animal host, parasite, and pathogen) allows us to predict the risks of disease emergence and persistence (Breitschwerdt, 2014; Wood et al., 2014). For many parasites, their exclusion from ecological studies can be attributed to the difficulty in accurately identifying them (Bower et al., 2019). Identifying parasites based on morphology (i.e. examining physical features) is a relatively inexpensive, but some groups of taxa have limited variance in morphological features, and some sister taxa can be indistinguishable through morphology alone (McManus and Bowles, 1996). Molecular approaches involving DNA sequencing (Perkins, 2000), and protein profiling (Müller et al., 2013) provide a more reliable form of identification that is able to discern between morphologically similar cryptic species. Unlike morphology, DNAbased methods avoid problems in species with complex life stages (Chibwana et al., 2015) or that exhibit phenotypic plasticity (Jaakola et al., 2015).

DNA barcoding

Species identification through DNA barcoding is based on the premise that intraspecific variation at a particular locus is smaller than interspecific variation, and those short genetic markers can then be used to differentiate species (Hebert et al., 2003). Barcoding projects to build reference databases typically involve gathering many specimens, identifying them through conventional methods such a morphology, and archiving their DNA barcodes alongside supplementary data such as locality and photographs (Hajibabaei et al., 2005). Organisations such as the Consortium for the Barcode of Life (CBOL; Costa and Carvalho, 2007) and the Barcode of Life Data Systems (BOLD Systems, 2013) provide platforms that aid in managing DNA barcode records globally. There are several genes that have been used for DNA barcoding, but for

animals, a 657-bp fragment at the 5' region of the mitochondrial gene cytochrome c oxidase (COI) has been adopted as a 'global standard' (Hajibabaei et al., 2007). Examples of popular barcoding regions in other taxa include the large subunit of ribulose 1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase (*rbcL* in plants and fungi; Hollingsworth et al., 2009), 16s-rDNA (rRNA in bacteria; de Oliveira Martins et al., 2020), and the internal transcribed spacer region (ITS in several taxa; Cheng et al., 2014; Kress et al., 2005; Seifert, 2009). Reasons for deviating from the 'global standard' COI barcode may include exceptional cases where COI sequences have not been produced robustly, or shown to be too divergent within species (Vences et al., 2005a), or in some groups such as plants, mitochondrial genomes have not evolved rapidly enough to differentiate species (Kress et al., 2005). DNA taxonomy is a related technique that can be used to assess diversity of samples when involving understudied taxa, which lack a robust DNA barcode database (Blaxter et al., 2004). The DNA barcoding workflow for identification begins by creating a reference library of 'barcodes', for a variety of species of interest. A barcode from an unidentified specimen can then be compared and a hypothesis about identity can be made based on highly similar sequences.

In the absence of a full reference library, barcodes can be compared to each other and patterns of inter and intra specific divergence can be used to identify likely species. Similar to DNA barcoding, this form of "DNA taxonomy" involves genetic markers with limited variation, but rather than relying on existing reference sequences for specimen identity, sequences are grouped together based on a defined threshold of variation, and designated molecular operational taxonomic units (MOTUs) rather than conventional Linnaean taxonomy (Floyd et al., 2002). Amplicon Sequence Variants

(ASVs) or Exact Sequence Variants (ESVs) are another alternative method for resolving sequence diversity, where each unique set of sequences is recognised as its own MOTU, effectively having haplotypes as units of diversity (Callahan et al., 2017). In these cases, the resulting MOTUs are not equivalent to 'species', and do not correspond to any other form of OTU (Blaxter, 2004) or taxonomic threshold but permit basic comparisons of diversity.

Throughout my thesis, several forms of DNA barcoding are used in conjunction with morphological keys. In chapter 2, I utilise the portable and compact MinION sequencer developed by Oxford Nanopore Technologies (ONT, Mikheyev and Tin, 2014) to adapt a routine DNA barcoding experiment and sequence COI barcodes from bats in Belize in situ. Unlike parallel platforms such as Sanger sequencing, the MinION does not require imaging equipment to detect nucleotides, and can be scaled down to a portable level (Kono and Arakawa, 2019). MinION devices are powered from USB (Universal Serial Bus) connections typically from laptop computers, allowing them to be deployed in remote locations (e.g. rainforests; Pomerantz et al., 2010, the Artic; Goordial et al., 2017; Space stations; Burton et al., 2020). In situ DNA sequencing pipelines accelerate the process of running molecular analysis tied to field work, by bypassing the need for transport and long-term preservation of organic material. Express and on demand DNA sequencing has also been applied in the diagnosis of pathogens during a disease outbreak (Hoenen et al., 2016; Wölfel et al., 2015). While this technology is still developing it is promising for eventual analysis on site. In Chapter 3 I employ both the conventional DNA barcoding of individual specimens, and DNA metabarcoding of more complex samples using lab-based processes. DNA metabarcoding combines DNA barcoding with high throughput sequencing to detect traces of multiple species in a

single mixed sample. It is as an efficient way to identify mixtures of unknown sources (e.g. detecting DNA of degraded or microscopic organisms from soil; Taberlet et al., 2012). I employed a metabarcoding approach for samples of cotton swabs retaining a mixture of parasites' early stages (e.g. juveniles) taken from the fur of bats in the Atlantic Forest, whereas the relatively larger adult stages could be isolated and sequenced individually via Sanger sequencing of DNA barcodes. Gut microbes from bat flies were also sequenced using a metabarcoding approach.

Networks

A central concern in conservation biology is the loss of biodiversity due to habitat fragmentation (Morris, 2010). Biodiversity is a measure of the variety of living organisms, typically referring to individual species within a community (van der Plas, 2019), but it can also encompass genomic variation within a population (Pollock, 2002). Additionally biodiversity can be extended to mean the number and types of interactions which species are engaged in within a community (Dyer et al., 2010). Species interactions, are often depicted as networks which depict predation (Kondoh, 2008), mutualism (Bascompte and Jordano, 2007), and parasitism (Marcogliese, 2004). Networks can be characterised by the number of links (interactions) each species has, and the combination of species united by links (Newman, 2003). In chapter 4 of this thesis, I use network theory to compare the structure of host-symbiont interactions involving ectoparasites and bacterial endosymbionts across fragmented habitat patches. Each isolated habitat patch contains separate communities of interacting species, and I compare how the distribution of interactions in these host-symbiont networks relate to patch-level habitat variables (e.g. area and isolation). I describe the

network topology using connectance, nestedness, and modularity (see chapter 4 for calculation methods). Connectance is an inverse measure of specialisation (De Araújo et al., 2015), in that when comparing between different networks, a highly connected network has lost specialists or acquired generalists (Heleno et al., 2012). Modularity relates to the presence of compartments or modules, where a group of species tend to interact more with each other (ingroup) than species outside of the compartment (outgroup) (Dormann et al., 2009). Nestedness is a measure of redundancy in the network, where the interactions experienced by species with fewer links are a complete subset of interactions experienced by species with more links (Bascompte et al., 2003).

Metacommunity

Each habitat patch resulting from fragmentation can represent a distinct local community linked to other such patches by dispersal (HANSKI and GILPIN, 1991), sometimes referred to as a metacommunity (Leibold et al., 2004). One ambiguity in this definition is the nature of the discrete boundaries that constitutes a 'local community' and Leibold et al. (2004) posits at least three broad types of metacommunities have been considered within this framework: (1) discrete, permanent habitat patches (e.g. oceanic islands forming terrestrial metacommunities, pond and lakes separated by land form aquatic metacommunities (Mehranvar and Jackson, 2001), (2) temporary habitat, distinct from external matrix, but varying in position and frequency (e.g. pitcher plants rely on dispersal to maintain metacommunity of insects and bacteria; (Kneitel and Miller, 2003), (3) permanent habitat with ambiguous boundaries due to a large variance in dispersal ability among species (e.g. invertebrates and fish in coral reefs have different dispersal ability, and

can have different boundaries for a 'local community'; Alzin et al., 2009). Heino et al., (2015a) points out a critique that some studies make comparisons between metacommunities with vastly different dispersal abilities (e.g. diatoms versus insects versus fish), when the limits of a local community for a species with high dispersal may be the same as the limits for a metacommunity for a species with low dispersal ability.

Leibold et al., (2004) mentions four theoretical models of how metacommunities might form: (1) the *neutral perspective* where the environment has no bearing on community composition and instead only community processes such as random migration, extinction, and immigration contributes to species demographics, resulting in community similarity decreasing as patch distance increases (Rosindell et al., 2011); (2) *patch dynamics* involves a coloniser-competitor trade-off, where better colonisers dominate more isolated patches, but better competitors dominate less isolated patches (Holyoak et al., 2005); (3) in *species sorting*, biotic interactions and abiotic environmental conditions filter out unsuitable species at each patch (Soininen, 2014); (4) and with *mass effects* species may persist in patches with suboptimal conditions if their dispersal rates from source patches are high enough (Shmida and Wilson, 1985). However it has been argued that these theoretical mechanisms are not mutually exclusive and researchers should instead focus on the relative roles of biotic interactions, environmental conditions and dispersal in determining the distribution of communities (Winegardner et al., 2012).

In chapter 5 of this thesis, I use the Elements of Metacommunity Structure (Leibold and Mikkelson, 2002) to describe the distribution of species in a metacommunity. Leibold and Mikkelson, (2002) proposed that when a metacommunity is presented as a site-by-species matrix (presence/absence), three aspects of metacommunity structure can be observed: coherence, turnover, and boundary clumping (see chapter 5 for details on accompanying statistics for EMS analysis). A species range is considered to be completely coherent when, in a presence/absence matrix, the species is present in all sites (Figure 1.1), absences found towards extremes in either rows or columns are termed embedded absences and counting these interruptions in species ranges provides a measure of 'coherence' of the metacommunity. Species turnover is the frequency of one species replacing another across the array of sites, for each possible site-species pair, and a metacommunity exhibiting no turnover is nested, where species richness at less diverse sites are complete subsets of more diverse sites (Figure 1.2). Boundary clumping measures the extent to which species ranges are clustered together (Figure 1.3). The three aspects examined by EMS are applied to judge whether the metacommunity expressed by the matrix fits an idealized metacommunity pattern (Leibold and Mikkelson, 2002). For example, a matrix that is coherent, experiences high turnover, and has clumped boundaries is said to exhibit a Clementsian structure. This is based on ideas by Clements, (2012) where species with shared evolutionary history also share similar tolerances and ecological requirements, and experiences turnover together along a common gradient (Figure 1.3a). Whereas a matrix that is coherent, experiences high turnover, but does not exhibit clumped boundaries has a Gleasonean structure. This is derived from Gleason, (1926) description of a community where species show individual responses to environmental gradients, but still share similarities in tolerances leading to more continuous gradient of species distribution than observed in a Clementsian metacommunity (Mihaljevic et al., 2018). Some of the idealised patterns obtained through EMS can be related back

to three of the four models on the formation of metacommunities mentioned by Leibold et al., (2004): patch dynamics, neutral perspective, and species sorting (Figure 1.4). Meynard et al., (2013) complemented EMS analysis with variance partitioning to separate the importance of environmental and spatial factors in structuring metacommunities and detect effects of dispersal (mass effects model). EMS analysis was chosen for my analysis as it only requires a presence-absence data type, and does not make assumptions on which factors, be they environmental or spatial, are driving metacommunity structure.



Figure 1.1: Metacommunity coherence as indicated by the occurrence of embedded absences. Entries denote presence (1) or absence (0) of species (rows) at sites (columns). The perfectly coherent metacommunity has zero embedded absences (1a), the moderately incoherent metacommunity has 12 embedded absences (1b).

2a	Sites							2b	Sites						
	1	1	1	1	1	1	1		1	1	1	1	0	0	0
Species	0	1	1	1	1	1	1	Species	0	1	1	1	1	0	0
	0	0	1	1	1	1	1		0	0	1	1	1	1	0
	0	0	0	1	1	1	1		0	0	0	1	1	1	1
	0	0	0	0	1	1	1		0	0	0	0	1	1	1
	0	0	0	0	0	1	1		0	0	0	0	0	1	1
	0	0	0	0	0	0	1		0	0	0	0	0	0	1
	Highly nested (low turnover)								Moderately non-nested						

Figure 1.2: Species turnover as indicated by the number of times species are replaced between two sites. Entries denote presence (1) or absence (0) of species (rows) at sites (columns). A highly nested metacommunity experiences no turnover (2a; only either gains/losses species), a moderately non-nested metacommunity both gains and losses species between sites (2b).



Figure 1.3: Clumped boundaries characteristic of Clementsian distributions (3a), and overdispersed boundaries characteristic of Gleasonean distributions (3b)



Figure 1.4: Idealised metacommunity structures and possible causes: neutral perspective (random/non-significant coherence), patch dynamics (checkerboard/negative coherence), species sorting (coherent with positive turnover). Structures not clearly linked to the four models of metacommunity formation are in grey boxes. n.s., non-significant. Figure adapted from Meynard et al., (2013)

The Atlantic Forest of Brazil

The data from my thesis are primarily collected from the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. The Atlantic Forest stretches across the coast of Brazil from the northern state of Rio Grande do Norte to the southern state of Rio Grande do Sul (Figure 1.5), and contains high biodiversity and endemism across its tropical and subtropical biomes (da Fonseca, 1985). The Atlantic Forest was once the largest rainforest in the Americas and originally covered 150 million ha of land (Ribeiro et al., 2009). Since the European colonization and massive deforestation activity over the intervening 500 years, estimates for remaining forest cover now range from 7.6% of original primary forest (Morellato and Haddad, 2000) to 28% when including secondary, successive and edgeaffected forests (Rezende et al., 2018) distributed as archipelagos of small, isolated forest fragments (<100 ha; Ranta et al., 1998) embedded within a matrix of pastures and monospecific agricultural fields (Ribeiro et al., 2009). Within the past decade, the Atlantic Forest continues to be an important economic engine for Brazil, contributing 70% of global domestic product and 2/3 of the industrial economy (Martinelli and Moraes, 2013). The Atlantic Forest meets the criteria for a biodiversity hotspot and conservation target as it has a high number of endemic plants (i.e. at least 1500 species; Martini et al., 2007), and is threatened by habitat loss (i.e. has lost >70% of primary vegetation; Myers et al., 2000), but despite anti-deforestation policies put in place in 2006, habitat continues to be cut down (SOS Mata Atlântica and INPE, 2019). Current projects to rejuvenate the Atlantic Forest include reforestation (Rodrigues et al., 2011), reintroducing wild populations of fauna (Galetti et al., 2017), and connecting fragments through habitat corridors (Lees and Peres, 2008). The long history of disturbance makes the Atlantic Forest an ideal candidate to model the chronic effects

of human activity and land use change (Izqulerdo et al., 2008; Lira et al., 2012a), habitat loss and fragmentation (Lôbo et al., 2011; Tabanez and Viana, 2000), and climate change (Carnaval and Moritz, 2008).



Figure 1.5: Distribution of original (light grey) and preserved forest (dark grey) in the Atlantic Forest, *figure adapted from Thompson et al., (2011).*

Bats and their parasites as a model system

In this thesis I focus on a model multi-trophic level system of bats, their parasites and the microbes living in the parasites. Bats (order Chiroptera) are nocturnal mammals present in all biomes except for the Artic, Antarctic, and a few oceanic islands (Mehlhorn, 2014). Bats are the only mammals capable of powered flight, and are found in a range of sizes, some large species in the new world can have forearm length >106 mm (e.g. *Vampyrum spectrum*; Peterson and Kirmse, 1969), while smaller species can be found with forearms <30 mm (e.g. *Rhinophylla pumilio*; Rinehart and Kunz, 2006), where forearm is a reasonable proxy for body size. Globally the size range covers orders of magnitude from giant pteropodids to tiny bumble bee bats in Asia. Bats vary greatly in terms of sociality, some species of bats are solitary or form small groups or harems (Chruszcz and Barclay, 2002; Reckardt and Kerth, 2009a), while others form colonies of several million individuals (Betke et al., 2008). Colony sizes within the same species can also vary greatly (e.g. from 12 to 803 individuals per colony in *Myotis*; (Zahn, 1999).

Generally, society has an ambivalent view of bats (Ghanem and Voigt, 2012). Bats feature prominently in cultures around the world. Some beliefs surrounding bats include bringing good fortune and happiness (e.g. in China; Li, 2010), being a bad omen (Suwannarong et al., 2020) and symbols of death and rebirth (e.g. in Madagascar; (Asante et al., 2013). Bats provide great utility to humans as they pollinate crops (Tremlett et al., 2020), and control insect pest populations (Wordley et al., 2014). Conversely, some bats are infamous for causing damage to fruit crops, by biting pieces of fruit or eating them outright (Korine et al., 1999), although more study is needed to evaluate the actual damage caused by bats rather than incidental fruit loss (Tollington

et al., 2019). Three species in South and Central America are famously known for drinking the blood of other animals. The common vampire bat (*Desmodus rotundus*) for example is notorious for grazing on mammals, and their prey suffer from bite wounds, loss of blood, and may become infected by viruses introduced during feeding (Mehlhorn, 2014).

Bats are a major focus in public health for their ability to vector pathogens, which is especially important to consider in agricultural landscapes with an increase in humanbat contact (Leroy et al., 2005; Wong et al., 2007). Besides getting an infection through biting, passive forms of infections can occur through aerosol viral particles derived from the urine and faeces of bats (Kim *et al.*, 2016), and from traces of saliva left on bitten and half-eaten fruit (Hughes et al., 2006). Bats roosting near or in human settlements poses a risk in transmitting pathogens to livestock, pets, and humans (Delpietro et al., 2001; Williamson et al., 1998). Certain features of bats are thought to contribute to their efficacy as pathogen carriers and spreaders, such as their propensity to aggregate into large colonies and occasionally switch roosts (D'Auria et al., 2010; Lourenço and Palmeirim, 2007). Some species are thought to suppress immune responses during hibernation (Bouma et al., 2010; Lučan et al., 2016a), and their diverse feeding ecology allows opportunities to traverse and come into contact with many other animals (Han et al., 2015).

Identifying changes in general patterns of immune response due to habitat change can be difficult because of the variation caused by differences in landscape structure and matrix surrounding the habitat, especially in a taxonomic group such as bats, that feature a wide range of dispersal abilities and home ranges (Voigt *et al.*, 2016). The

ability to fly can give bats access to a range a habitats and mitigate the risks due to habitat change and fragmentation (Fenton, 1997). However, their dispersal ability can be dependent on the type of matrix surrounding the habitat, as well as the connectivity of neighbouring habitat (Brändel et al., 2020), and so they can still be at risk from even small changes in habitat and landscape (Meyer et al., 2009). For example, an aquatic landscape surrounding the habitat has shown to heavily restrict bat dispersal, even for those commonly regarded as disturbance tolerant (e.g., *Carollia, Dermanura*) (Meyer *et al.*, 2016). Brändel et al., (2020) found that forest fragments surrounded by agricultural landscapes could support high local bat diversity due to an abundance of food and roosting resources, but agricultural areas with low crop diversity (e.g., monocultures) reduced the connectivity of surrounding fragments producing a dispersal response more similar to island systems.

A review of published home range data for bats suggests that responses to disturbance such as habitat loss are highly dependent on the species and habitat type, rather than physical traits such as body size (Bernard and Fenton, 2003). The differences in mobility between species can be detected through differences in genetic structure across a fragmented landscape, where populations of less mobile bat species are more structured (i.e. genetically distinct) than more mobile bat species with show a more homogenous metapopulation (Meyer et al., 2009). In fragmented landscapes, the distance between suitable roosts and foraging has direct implications for energetic costs of daily activities and dispersal (Estrada et al., 1993). The absence of certain bat species in patches may point to that patch having insufficient resources to maintain a population, or immigration of new populations being restricted due to behavioural

(e.g., aversion to open spaces) or ecological (e.g., isolation) processes (Cosson et al., 1999).

Radiotelemetry data from several species of neotropical bats suggests home ranges vary between 65 to 530 ha, with some species limiting activity to 500 m from roosts while a few species travel larger distances (Bernard and Fenton, 2003). Home ranges for bats sampled for this thesis was not measured directly, however published studies have included home ranges for the common species examined in this thesis including:

Carollia perspicillata with ranges between of 5.5 - 32 ha and 489- 500 m nightly commuting distance (Bonaccorso et al., 2007; Trevelin et al., 2013), *Artibeus lituratus* with ranges between 124.4 ha and 1158.8 m commuting distance (Trevelin et al., 2013), *Glossophaga soricina* with ranges 430-890 ha and 500 m – 3 km commuting distance (Aguiar et al., 2014), *Desmodus rotundus* with ranges of 35 ha (Wilkinson, 1985), and *Sturnira lilium* with ranges of 36-90 ha with 50 m- 1.4 km commuting distance (Loayza and Loiselle, 2008). Some bats undertake long-range flights for migration outside of home ranges (e.g. *C. perspicillata* for about 2.5 km at a time; Bernard and Fenton, 2003, and *A. lituratus* for about 20-35 km at a time; Arnone et al., 2016), but these are less frequent. This suggests a highly variable use of landscape with nightly movements sometimes restricted to only tens of meters in some species but many kilometres in others.

Bats and disease reservoirs

A review by López-Baucells et al., (2018a) suggests 51% of virological studies (from 1936 to 2016) frame bats as a public health concern while only 4% simultaneously discuss the important ecosystem services bats provide. Tuttle, (2017) points to the

discovery of SARS coronavirus in 2002 causing a spike in negative sentiment towards bats in the past decade. The more recently discovered strain of coronavirus SARS-CoV-2 (COVID-19) around December 2019 continues to fuel public fear of bats as sequence analysis suggests they are likely key reservoirs for SARS-CoV-2 or its precursor (Shereen et al., 2020), although alternative zoonotic origins in other animals are being investigated (Hamid et al., 2020) and an intermediate vector is likely.

Attempts to limit the spread of viruses typically involved targeted destruction of bat roosting sites (O'Shea et al., 2016), although it has been shown that vaccination programs targeting livestock (Sohi et al., 2020), pets (Wera et al., 2017), and wild bat populations (Stading et al., 2017) are more effective at reducing the risk of viruses spilling over to humans. As a case in point, (Streicker et al., 2012) reported that attempts at culling *Desmodus rotundus* to reduce rabies infection not only failed to eliminate the virus in the area but inadvertently increased its prevalence in disturbed colonies in comparison to undisturbed ones. In general, while bats are notorious for collectively harbouring more kinds of zoonotic pathogens than other mammals (Ranjan et al., 2016), this is likely due to the sheer diversity (species richness) represented by bats overall (Brook and Dobson, 2015). Bats also tend to be resistant to viral infections (Brook et al., 2020), with some infections not pathogenic to bats themselves (Leroy et al., 2005).

Parasite persistence in host communities involves individual to landscape-level factors (Wilber et al., 2020). Habitat fragmentation as a consequence of abiotic or biotic factors can affect parasite persistence, for example by changing local host densities, or altering the frequency of transmission among hosts (Greer and Collins, 2008). Habitat

fragments are likely to be degraded due to higher competition for reduced resources, increasing stress and susceptibility to disease among individual hosts (Lafferty and Gerber, 2002). Reduced population sizes and migration induces genetic erosion and reduces disease resistance through increased inbreeding (Belasen et al., 2019; Lyles and Dobson, 1993). At the landscape level, the connectivity of habitat fragments can influence the likelihood of parasite invasion as well as the colonisation of hosts into habitat (Renwick and Lambin, 2013; Wilber et al., 2020).

Changes in land use associated with habitat fragmentation, such as urbanisation and agricultural activity between patches increases risk of disease emergence and zoonoses from increased contact among wildlife, humans, and livestock (Morand et al., 2019). Parasite richness has been shown to decrease with habitat disturbance, likely due to the host species they depend on becoming scarce in degraded patches (Wilkinson et al., 2018), however some parasites (e.g. hookworm, malaria, scrub typhus; Shah et al., 2019) benefit from human altered landscapes due to synergistic effects (e.g. irrigation, increased agricultural cover) that either benefit their transmission or their hosts survival (Hanski, 1997). Predicting effects of landscape change on parasite persistence and abundance must take their life history into consideration. For highly host-specific parasites, environmental effects on parasite abundance are more likely to be attributed to changes in local densities of their hosts, especially if they do not spend an extensive amount of time off-host (Merino and Potti, 1996; Pilosof et al., 2012a).

Dynamics of infectious diseases is dependent on the distribution of vectors and the presence of viable hosts (Jones et al., 2011), and spillover risks worsens when

landscape modification increase contact rates between reservoir and domestic hosts (Martin et al., 2015). Ecological interventions can involve disrupting the interface between wildlife and humans or domestic animals, and include medical approaches such as disinfection and vaccination (Sokolow et al., 2019), or physical barriers such as using bed nets to prevent mosquitoes from spreading malaria (Martin et al., 2015) and curbing bat-to-human transmission of viruses by restricting their access to shared food (Salah Uddin Khan et al., 2010). Understanding how hosts navigate their environment in response to landscape change such as habitat fragmentation can help better allocate resources to managing disease spread by deploying interventions towards regions at greatest risk (White et al., 2018). Combining spatial elements associated with disease risk and geographic datasets can improve the accuracy of predictive disease risk modelling (Hay et al., 2004), on condition that datasets include sufficient spatial heterogeneity to account for variation in the ecological conditions that drive disease risk (Wimberly et al., 2008). This approach has allowed more understanding of the precise processes and factors that modulate disease dynamics (e.g. edge effects; Jones et al., 2011, forest density; Gillespie and Chapman, 2006), rather than broad effects of habitat disturbance.

Parasite specificity

Blood-feeding arthropods are important vectors of pathogens that commonly feed on humans and animals, and in the process can pick up infectious agents and pass these on to other hosts during subsequent feedings (Marcondes, 2016). Many haematophagous arthropods have adaptations to be more effective parasites such as flattened bodies that facilitate movement and hiding, or strong claws allowing a better grip to avoid detachment from the host (Burkett-Cadena, 2019). Some parasites can be

behaviourally, morphologically, or physiologically adapted to a few or a single host species such that they cannot survive on a novel host (Bush and Clayton, 2006). Host specificity measures the degree to which a particular parasite species is limited to a particular host species (Poulin, 2010). Terms to describe host specificity used by (Wenzel, 1975) include 'monoxenous' to mean a single host species, 'stenoxenous' to mean a range of congeneric hosts, 'oligoxenous' to mean hosts within the same family, and 'polyxenous' to mean a wide range of unrelated hosts. Host specificity is typically dictated by the host-parasite evolutionary relationship (Bruyndonckx et al., 2009; Poulin, 2010), and other ecological factors such as the parasite's life history (Bellay et al., 2013), host mobility, and social structure (Dick and Patterson, 2007a; Poulin et al., 2011). In this thesis I focus on two highly specialised blood-feeding parasites that are exclusively found on bats: bat flies and wing mites.

Bat flies and wing mites

Bat flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea consist of two families: the monophyletic Nycteribiidae and the paraphyletic Streblidae (Dittmar et al., 2006). Bat flies live in the fur and on the wing membrane of bats, feeding exclusively on the host's blood. The bat fly life cycle begins with the egg being fertilized within the female, where the resulting larva continues to develop up to the third instar stage, which then the female bat fly deposits. The larva pupates and when the adult emerges it then seeks a host (Marshall, 1970). They are obligate ectoparasites and the adult forms can only survive without a host for a few hours (Fritz, 1983). However, there are two periods within the bat fly life cycle that feature obligatory decoupling from the host: firstly this involves gravid female bat flies that leave the host bat briefly to deposit prepupae larvae onto the roost substrate, and secondly the non-motile pupal stages continue to develop while

attached to roost substrate (Dick and Dittmar, 2014). For obligatory parasites such as bat flies, the host is often considered to be the "habitat" for the parasite; bat flies being sensitive to host variables such as species and host size, and also responding to the number of conspecifics on potential hosts (Dick and Dick, 2006). However, given that bat flies undergo pupation on roost substrate (that can last a few weeks; Fritz, 1983), the type of roost that bats utilise can affect the quantity and quality of bat flies, and thus the bat fly's capacity to act as vectors (Dick and Dittmar, 2014). Bat flies are permanent parasites and cannot survive prolonged periods without a host (Overal, 1980). Only female bat flies are required to leave the host to deposit prepupae, and as mating occurs on the host, males do not normally have to leave the host at all (Dick and Patterson, 2007b). Among bat flies (streblids and nycteribids), only 78% of streblids have developed wings capable of short and rapid flight (Kunz, 2013). Streblids use flight as a means to reach a nearby host (either from an adjacent bat, or roost substrate), and a means to escape from a distressed host (Whitaker et al., 1988). Experiments observing bat fly Trichobius major suggests that positive host seeking stimuli include heat, and carbon dioxide, whereby the parasites will walk and hop towards the source, rather than rely on flight to close the distance; and in the absence of positive stimuli, they remained stationary cleaning themselves until positive stimuli were introduced (Caire et al., 1985). Dispersal and distribution of bat flies is entirely dependent on the travel and roosting behaviour of their respective bat hosts (Bolívar-Cimé et al., 2018a), and the decoupling of prepupae from the host onto roost substrate allows bat flies to have high inter-colony transmissibility as bat colonies switch and rotate roosting sites (Reckardt and Kerth, 2009b).

Wing mites (Acari: Mesostigmata) belong to the family Spinturnicidae, and are generally found on the wing and tail membranes of bats (Rudnick, 1960). The life cycle of wing mites consists of 5 stages: egg, larva, protonymph, deutonymph, and adult;

where the egg and larval stages develop within the female mite, which gives birth directly to a protonymph on the bat host. Protonymphs, deutonymphs, and adults are then dependent on the bat host for blood meals, each stage separated by a moulting stage; the total duration for a standard life cycle is not known (Colín-Martínez and García-Estrada, 2016; Rudnick, 1960). As obligate blood-feeding parasites, both bat flies and wing mites are regarded as excellent candidates for vectoring pathogens. Wing mites are possible mechanical vectors for the White Nose Syndrome fungus *Pseudogymnoascus destructans*, that increases mortality rates in bats during hibernation (Lučan et al., 2016b). Evidence of *Bartonella sp.* and *Rickettsia sp.* infection in bat flies (Do Amaral et al., 2018) and wing mites (Szubert-Kruszyńska et al., 2019) strongly suggests these endosymbionts can be shared between the ectoparasites and their bat hosts, however their pathogenicity in the ectoparasites or the capacity for the ectoparasites to act as vectors in not currently known.

The high level of host specialisation exhibited by bat flies are thought to lead bat fly communities to mirror the variation exhibited by host bat communities. For example, bat roosting dynamics and crowding in degraded habitats was observed to modulate parasite prevalence and intensity of infestations as well as promote novel host-parasite interactions (Cottontail et al., 2009a; Hernández-Martínez et al., 2019a). Environmental variables such as temperature and humidity in bat roosts are thought to directly affect bat fly development and mortality rates (Pilosof et al., 2012a). Bolívar-Cimé et al., (2018a) found that relative prevalence of two species of bat flies on cave-dwelling *Desmodus rotundus* differed between fragmented and continuous forests, postulating that the two ectoparasites had contrasting tolerances to temperature and humidity in roosts. Bat-wing mite infestations are not known to be affected by
environmental factors within the bat roost (Sheeler-Gordon and Owen, 1999), and their distribution is thought to only depend on the presence and well-being of their hosts (Lourenço et al., 2016; Reckardt and Kerth, 2009b).

Thesis organisation and aims

In this thesis, I investigate the multi-trophic level metacommunity structure of bats, their parasites and parasite microbes. I employ a combination of metacommunity and site-level techniques to show how host-parasite interactions change when faced with varying degrees of habitat fragmentation. Chapter 2 introduces technology and methods for performing DNA barcoding in situ, where I tested a routine procedure to barcode COI from neotropical bats while in a remote field location. I discuss the benefits of novel technologies and the convenience of *in situ* DNA amplification and sequencing when compared to conventional lab-based methods but opted to use the later for the remaining studies in this thesis. Chapters 3 to 5 investigates the metacommunity of bats and their ectoparasites in forest fragments in the Atlantic Forest. In chapter 3, I describe the infection of bat flies using epidemiological statistics and compare communities in fragmented and continuous forests. I initially analysed both bat flies and wing mites and opted to use the bat fly data on further analyses based on the excellent taxonomic resolution obtained. Chapters 4 and 5 pertain to both bat-bat fly and bat fly-endosymbiont interactions. In chapter 4, I use bipartite network analysis to show how the topology of host-symbiont interactions changes with varying landscape measures. I also show that some taxa play a key role in connecting different parts of the network. In chapter 5 I use EMS to describe the best fit pattern shown by the bat fly and endosymbiont metacommunities, as well as subsequent modelling techniques to suggest which landscape property best

determines metacommunity patterns. I found the distribution of bat flies and endosymbionts both appear to be compartmentalised (e.g. the bat fly metacommunity in fragmented sites were distinct from ones in continuous forest sites) and that habitat area was a likely factor in their metacommunity structure. The Clementsian and Gleasonean structures found suggest that species sorting (filtering based on environmental conditions) limited the presence of certain species. I discuss the implications of my thesis in chapter 6, as well as provide suggestions to supplement future work involving symbiont metacommunities.

Chapter 2: Mobile laboratories and DNA barcoding in the field

Abstract

Molecular methods of species identification such as DNA barcoding have provided important breakthroughs in identifying cryptic species and degraded material, but their use in the field has been limited by the need for dedicated laboratory equipment. The advent of portable thermocyclers promises to move the technology into the field, with far-reaching consequences for ecological and evolutionary biologists. Here I describe my testing of these technologies by using DNA collected from blood samples to supplement morphological identification of bats species in Lamanai, Belize and using FTA[®] card technology, miniPCR[™] thermocyling, and MinION[™] nanopore sequencing to generate DNA barcodes, based on the cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 gene (COI), in the field. I contrast these data to traditional Sanger sequences produced from the same individuals. Despite success identifying these species from DNA samples in the field, demonstrating that the technique is possible, the sequences were of poor quality and several potential options in the procedure were unrealistic given current technologies. In this chapter I describe the approach and data I was able to obtain and provide suggestions to improve performance.

Introduction

DNA based species identification

Species identification and monitoring in the field typically relies on morphological identification (Ashrafi et al., 2010; Moratelli and Oliveira, 2011), and may employ techniques including live capture and trapping (Wells et al., 2004), camera trapping (Wearn et al., 2013), and visual counts (Volpato et al., 2009). These approaches rely on the species displaying externally distinct features, and all are complicated by cryptic species (Hajibabaei et al., 2006b; Mitchell, 2008). In cases where species cannot be easily distinguished morphologically, definitive diagnoses may not be possible in the field or without sacrificing the animal, which is often undesirable or impossible. Molecular approaches to species identification require only a small amount of tissue, which allows for non-invasive methods of biomonitoring from trace materials (e.g. scats, saliva, hairs) (Nichols et al., 2012; Pearson et al., 2014; Wultsch et al., 2014). In addition, morphological identification requires a high level of expertise for specific taxa, whereas molecular techniques can be applied using a more general approach (Cook et al., 2010; Gaston and O'Neill, 2004). DNA barcoding has been established as the primary method of routine species identification and delimitation complementing morphology (Hebert et al., 2003; Mitchell, 2008). Among animal life DNA barcoding is primarily based around a 657bp region of the mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase subunit 1 gene. Comparing unknown sequences to existing DNA voucher sequences (Hebert et al., 2003) can be used to retrieve an identification. Because most DNA barcoding takes advantage of PCR amplification even trace materials contained in environmental DNA samples (eDNA) can be utilised. The use of high throughput

sequencing (i.e., simultaneous analysis of millions of sequences; HTS) in conjunction with DNA barcoding has broad applications including rapid barcoding of museum collections (Janzen et al., 2005), assessing phylogeographic patterns (Christiansen et al., 2018), and revealing cryptic diversity (Hajibabaei et al., 2007, 2005; Ivanova et al., 2006).

Molecular approaches for field data

To date, molecular technologies have been largely restricted to laboratory settings (Borisenko et al., 2008) resulting in significant delays between field research and DNA analysis. Samples collected in the field must be preserved to avoided degradation during storage and transport. Getting samples from field to lab is often a laborious process involving permits from multiple agencies, careful packaging, specialised (and expensive) transport, and international shipments from remote locations (Guevara et al., 2017).

DNA extraction kits are frequently tailored for specified sample types (e.g. blood, tissue, water, faeces; (Bohmann et al., 2014), however most extractions kits require additional large, heavy table-top equipment for centrifugation, a water bath to facilitate lysis, and additional consumables. While these methods can be cumbersome and time consuming, studies have successfully demonstrated that extraction kits can be used outside a laboratory, even when electrical power was inconsistent (Hoenen et al., 2016; Pomerantz et al., 2010). Alternatives to equipment and reagent-heavy extraction kits have been explored, such as Whatman[®] FTA[®] cards which consist of chemically treated paper which both lyse cells on contact and preserve the released DNA, which is then bound to the card until released by elution. FTA[®] cards are tailored

for virtually any cell type including blood (Ivanova et al., 2009; Pearson et al., 2014), muscle tissue (Ivanova et al., 2012), and stool (Lalani et al., 2015; Nechvatal et al., 2008). In additional to DNA extraction in minutes, FTA[®] cards and similar technology easily preserve DNA at room temperature for prolonged periods.

Mobile laboratory technology

Rapid technological innovations in portable miniaturised machinery have allowed biologists to go beyond standard DNA extractions and preservation in the field. The MinION nanopore sequencer developed by Oxford Nanopore Technologies is a sequencing platform that involves stringing strands of nucleotides through 'nanopores' in a membrane (Jain et al., 2015). The module (MinION flow cell) is small (10 x 3.2 x 2 cm), light (90 g), and powered by a USB connection to a standard computer (Mikheyev and Tin, 2014). The sequencer has been deployed in viral outbreaks (Hoenen et al., 2016; Quick et al., 2017) and had its physical and functional constraints tested on the International Space Station alongside the miniPCR[™] thermocycler (Castro-Wallace et al., 2016), which has also been designed for mobile laboratory set-ups, being small (5 x 12 x 10 cm) and light (400 g) (Lin, V. 2015). Portable sequencers and thermocyclers provide the potential for complete molecular processing in the field, negating problems of preservation, and transport of samples prior to getting them into the lab (Johnson et al., 2017; Pomerantz et al., 2010). However, there are limitations of various mobile laboratory toolkits including the need to freeze some reagents not in use and additional required table-top equipment or batteries when lacking access to a reliable power grid. It may also be difficult to avoid ambient contamination without a controlled lab environment (see (Wölfel et al., 2015) for their foldable glovebox

design). Finally, there must be a way to analyse the data within a reasonable timeframe.

Bioinformatics on local machines

Data processing and analysis requires computational resources. Large amounts of data often rely on high-performance computational clusters (HPCCs) for processing power (Glenn, 2011), but access requires a stable network connection making them unsuitable for remote locations. Several sequencing platforms (454, Ion Torrent) produce relatively small amounts of sequence data, allowing data analysis to be done locally on commercial laptops. For example, generating an assembly from >600 000 reads from an *E. coli* genome took about 13 mins on a dual quad-core MacPro laptop from 2008 (Glenn, 2011). With the MinION[™] sequencer, the amount of data being produced can be monitored in real-time, and halted by the user to minimise requirements for computer storage and processing power (Cao et al., 2016; Juul et al., 2015).

Scope and objectives

Here I tested field sequencing methods for species identification by DNA barcoding bats at a field site adjacent to the Lamanai Archaeological Reserve in Orange Walk, Belize. Mammals, particularly Neotropical bats are well-represented in DNA barcoding reference libraries (Clare et al., 2007; Ivanova et al., 2012) making them an ideal model system. I targeted a 450 bp segment of the cytochrome *c* oxidase subunit 1 (*COI*), which can be amplified from blood even if some degradation exists and easily distinguishes species in mammals (Borisenko *et al.* 2008). I also evaluate the cost, time and quality of mobile lab components for DNA extraction, amplification and

sequencing, and address whether I could provide a molecular verification of field identifications *in situ*.

Methods

Field Sequencing

Preparing thermosensitive reagents for travel

Several temperature sensitive components of the methods in this study had to be carried in cooling wallets for several hours when travelling to preserve their viability. I used FRIO® Duo Wallets, pre-chilled at suitable temperatures for my reagents (4°c and -20°c), conveniently keeping them at recommended storage levels when travelling. While these did not remain at temperature, they were cool on arrival and the reagents were viable. On site I used a small bar fridge to maintain cold temperatures though these were variable over the period of the sampling due to ambient temperature fluctuations and variability in the electrical generation.

Belize site and available infrastructure

The field work was carried out at the Lamanai Field Research Center (17.75° N, 88.65° W) over a 12-day period (24th April - 5th May 2018). A communal classroom on site served as a base of operations for examining captured bats as well as conducting lab work. It was not feasible to create a sterile environment suited for molecular biology work, apart from limiting my work to one area that was not used for other activities. A generator supplied electricity to the classroom, allowing the use of electric equipment.

Bat sampling and identification

Field procedures followed guidelines for safe and humane handling of bats published by of the American Society of Mammalogists (Sikes, 2016) and were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committees of the University of Georgia (A2014 04-016-Y3-A5) and American Museum of Natural History (AMNHIACUC-20170403 and AMNHIACUC-20180123). Fieldwork was authorized by the Belize Forest Department under permits WL/2/1/17(16), WL/2/1/17(19), and WL/2/1/18(16).

Bats were captured in and around the Lamanai Archaelogical Reserve, a protected site bordered by the New River Lagoon, forest, and agricultural sites. A team of researchers used both mist nets and harp traps as part of a daily effort. Bats were captured with mist nets at the exits of roosts or along flight paths from 19:00 until 22:00. Nets were tended continuously, and bats were removed immediately upon capture. Harp traps were set from 18:00 to 05:00 and checked at regular intervals. After capture, bats collected were held individually in clean cotton bags and brought back to the classroom where they were identified by expert taxonomists based on body size, external morphology, and dental morphology using expert knowledge and descriptions in field guides (Reid, 1997).

I selected eight of these provisional species for taxonomic confirmation via DNA barcoding: *Saccopteryx bilineata, Pteronotus mesoamericanus, Natalus mexicanus, Desmodus rotundus, Glossophaga soricina, Uroderma bilobatum, Sturnira parvidens,* and *Molossus rufus*. I selected these species to represent the different families captured during the field campaign which are captured in enough frequency to ensure N=3 individuals for each species. I avoided congeners to maximize the potential for unambiguous species ID.

Blood collection and preservation

Depending on mass, 3–30 µL of blood was collected by lancing the propatagial vein with a sterile needle. Blood was collected with heparinized capillary tubes and stored on Whatman FTA cards to preserve DNA. I air-dried all blood spotted FTA cards for at least 20 minutes. To minimize contamination during this process, I placed them in open zip-lock bags facing away from other work being conducted in the shared facility. Once dried, I sealed the FTA cards in zip lock bags alongside desiccant pouches.

DNA extraction and COI fragment amplification

For each bat sampled, I cut out a 1.5mm² portion of the blood spot on the FTA card using a Miltex[®] Biopsy Punch. Each disc was put in a 0.2mL PCR tube filled with 20µL molecular grade water. I extracted DNA by submerging the disc in sterile water in a PCR tube and incubating it at 90°C for 15 minutes using a miniPCR[™] thermocycler. Once extraction was complete, I discarded the used disc. I performed PCRs in 15μL reactions using the QIAGEN Multiplex PCR kit. Each reaction contained 2μL DNA eluate, 7.5μL QIAGEN Master Mix, 0.75μL of each primer, and 4μL of molecular grade water. The primers used were as previously published (Ivanova et al., 2006; Pfunder et al., 2004) but modified to include a 5' universal tail sequence for the Oxford Nanopore Technologies barcoding kit. The primer and tail sequences are as follows:

Forward, RonM [5'-GGMGCMCCMGATATRGCATTCCC-3'] (Pfunder et al. 2004) Reverse, VR1 [5'-TAGACTTCTGGGTGGCCAAAGAATCA-3'] (Ivanova et al. 2006) Forward tail [5'-TTTCTGTTGGTGCTGATATTGC- forward primer- 3'] Reverse tail [5'-ACTTGCCTGTCGCTCTATCTTC- reverse primer- 3']

I performed the PCR cycling using the miniPCR[™] with the following cycle program: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 40 cycles of 95°C for 30 seconds, 56°C for 30 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes.

Library preparation for MinION[™] sequencing

Once I obtained the 5' tagged *COI* amplicons from the initial PCR, I followed the 1D PCR barcoding amplicons protocol (SQK-LSK108) produced by Oxford Nanopore Technologies for the MinION[™] platform. Minor changes and omissions to the protocol were made to simplify the procedure for the field, namely 1) all DNA quantification steps were omitted, and 2) all volumes relating to PCR product and AMPure[®] XP beads are smaller because of my initial PCR volume of 15µL. The workflow was otherwise as follows:

I cleaned the first round PCR using AMPure[®] XP beads (Beckman Coulter,
 Inc). I added 13μL of PCR product to 13μL of beads; the 1:1 ratio was

chosen to remove unused primers and small fragments (<200 bp). I resuspended the DNA in 18µL molecular grade water.

- I conducted a second PCR to attach the 'PCR Barcode', a molecular identification tag (MID) which provides a recognisable index for each sample during sequencing. Each reaction contained 5µL purified DNA, 7.5µL QIAGEN Master Mix, 1µL of MID (Molecular ID sequences), and 1.5µL of molecular grade water. The indices and sequences of the 8 MIDs used are available in the Appendix (1.1). I performed the thermocycling using the miniPCR™ with the following cycle program: Initial denaturation at 95°C for 15 minutes followed by 12 cycles of 95°C for 15 seconds, 62°C for 15 seconds and 72°C for 30 seconds, followed by a final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. I cleaned the 2nd round PCR products using AMPure® XP beads as in step (i).
- iii) From each of the now uniquely labelled 2nd round PCR products, I took 2µL and pooled these together to perform end repair and dA-tailing. This mixture consisted of 48µL DNA, 7µL NEBNext [®] Ultra II End-prep reaction buffer (NEB), 3µL NEBNext[®] Ultra II End-prep enzyme mix (NEB), and 2µL DNA CS (a positive control provided by ONT); and I incubated these at 20°C for 5 minutes, and 65°C for 5 minutes. This was then subjected to another bead clean up but with 60µL AMPure[®] XP beads to maintain a 1:1 ratio and resuspended with 31µL molecular grade water.
- iv) I performed MinION[™] adapter ligation and tethering by mixing 30µL end prepped DNA, 20µL Adapter mix, and 50µL Blunt/TA Ligation Master Mix. I
 then purified this adapter ligated DNA library with 65µL AMPure[®] XP beads;

a 0.65 ratio retains fragments of >400bp. I washed the beads with 140 μ L ABB buffer (ONT), and finally incubated and eluted these in 15 μ L elution buffer (ONT).

Priming and running the MinION[™] sequencer

I primed an R9 flow cell with 1000μL of priming mix (ONT) via the priming port. I prepared the loading library by mixing 12μL of DNA library with 35μL RBF (ONT), 25.5μL LLB (ONT), and 2.5μL molecular grade water; I then added this to the flow cell via the SpotON sample port.

I started the sequencing run using the MinION[™] software, MinKNOW[™]. The software selected the protocol to use based on my given parameters: MinION[™] Flow cell FLO-MIN 106, library preparation SQK-LSK108, no live-basecalling, and a 48-hour run-time. After 8 hours, additional running buffer was added to prolong the sequencing run up until a total of 12 hours. A brief "ping" is required to activate the software thus I did not conduct this experiment entirely offline. Offline use is possible but requires preauthorisation from the company. Some security settings can prevent software activation and should be tested.

Bioinformatics

I used Albacore 1.2.5 (https://github.com/dvera/albacore) to process the FAST5 files generated by MinKNOW[™]. This included base-calling, demultiplexing, and conversion to Fastq files. Additional details on the sequencing run performance were produced on the cloud-based Metrichor/EPI2ME platform after returning from the field study. I used Porechop (<u>https://github.com/rrwick/Porechop</u>) to cross-check the demultiplexing by Albacore, and then trim nanopore adapters from the fastq files. The remaining bioinformatics were done on Galaxy, an online scientific analysis platform (Afgan et al., 2016) which can also be used offline using command line options. First, I removed both forward and reverse primers from the fastq files using Cutadapt (Galaxy version 1.16.1), and converted these to fasta format, collapsed them to unique sequences, and length filtered these to remove shorter reads (<300 bp). In general, I used the simplest and most limited bioinformatics procedures so that high performance computing would not actually be required to replicate these procedures. I used local BLAST searches to compare the surviving reads to reference sequences from the barcode of life database (BOLD; Ratnasingham and Hebert, 2013) generated from bats previously sampled at the same location in Belize augmented by the addition of several records from nearby areas. The reference database contained 3 reference sequences for 9 bat species (Desmodus rotundus, Eptesicus furinalis, Glossophaga soricina, Pteronotus mesoamericanus, Sturnira parvidens, Uroderma bilobatum, Molossus rufus, Natalus mexicanus, and Saccopteryx bilineata). When using blastn, I included the option '-outfmt' to request the output to be in a tabular format. The tabular blast output could then be manipulated and analysed in R (R Development Core Team, 2011) in csv format.

Comparison of alternate methods and software

To assess the data quality of the MinION[™] output, I compared it to data collected using conventional high-quality sanger protocols after returning from the field. DNA was extracted from newly cut discs from the same bloodspots on FTA cards used in the field. I followed the same extraction method as above and amplified using the unmodified forward RonM and reverse VR1 primers. Positive and negative PCR results was verified on an agarose gel. The PCR amplicons were subjected for conventional Sanger sequencing at Source BioScience , and the resulting amplicons were respectively basecalled and assembled using Phred and Phrap software (Ewing and Green, 1998), and were manually edited in BioEdit v7.2.6 (Hall, 1999). Variability between the individual representatives of each species were visualised in WebLogo (Crooks et al., 2004).

Results

Overview of workflow from capture to sequence

I conducted this experiment during a field campaign in April 2018. Over the sampling period more than 100 bats were caught daily, but the target of 3 specimens per species was only obtained after 10 sampling days. There were no issues with the equipment until running the MinION[™] sequencer. The operating temperature of the Min-FLOW 107 ranged from 30 to 34°C, and the ambient temperature exceeded that even in the evening, causing the sequencing run to halt repeatedly. I solved this problem by putting the MinION[™] inside the refrigerator with its door open, cooling it for the duration of the run but this caused a series of delays between sample loading and operation. This was exacerbated by problems with connectivity to receive the "ping" required for the MinKNOW[™] software. In the end the sequencing run did not begin until 8 hours after sample loading, which likely reduced yield. At the end of 12 hours, the MinKNOW[™] summary page reported a total of 22011 reads across 5783839 base events with 326 of 512 pore channels still available. However, when basecalled using Albacore, only 7202 of those reads passed its default quality settings. Performance data from EPI2ME revealed a steep decline in bases detected per hour towards the 8-hour mark, but slightly improvement after the addition of buffer (Figure 2.1a). The average read length was also reported as 544 bases, with about one third of

reads coming short of the expected 590 bases in length (Figure 2.1b).



Figure 2.1: Performance diagnostics of the MinION sequencing run. (1a) shows the number of bases detected per hour and (1b) shows the lengths of reads throughout the run.



Figure 2.2: Distribution of reads across all 8 MIDs. Each column represents individual MIDs, labelled by the bat species assigned to it. The coloured stacks in each column represents the BLAST matches assigned to reads.



Figure 2.3: Distribution of reads across all 8 MIDs. Each column represents individual MIDs, labelled by the bat species assigned to it. The coloured stacks in each column represents the BLAST matches assigned to reads. Only reads having at least a 90% match to an identity are included.

Bioinformatics and sequence identification

Demultiplexing the reads with Albacore suggested 33 additional nanopore MIDs besides the 8 that were used. Each of these spurious MIDs had 1 or 2 reads assigned to them. Cross-checking the demultiplex outcome with Porechop reduced the number of anomalous MIDS to 1, for a total of 9 MIDs compared to the expected 8. After trimming the reads, comparing all haplotypes from the 8 expected MIDs to BOLD references showed that 7 of the 8 targeted species were detected, *Saccopteryx* was not detected (Figure 2.2). However, the nanopore MIDs failed to separate the species correctly, instead having multiple bat species appearing within each MID, with *Glossophaga* dominating most of the reads. When I only included reads that had >90% BLAST match, the number of detected species fell to 5, with *Molossus, Sturnira*, and *Saccopteryx* now missing (Figure 2.3).

Except for *Glossophaga*, the top matching haplotypes for the bats that could be placed to genus were singletons, with *Natalus* notably achieving a 100% match (Table 2.1A). Furthermore, except for *Glossophaga* and *Natalus*, all other bats had their top matching haplotype associated to the correct MID (Table 2.1B). However, this apparent correct assignment was obstructed by the common flooding of higher quality *Glossophaga* reads into other MIDs.

Many bioinformatics pipelines for HTS data remove low frequency haplotypes as likely errors. To test the hypothesis that more common haplotypes represent the "true" sequence, I plotted a regression between haplotype copy number and BLAST match percentage (as a measure of similarity between my unknown amplicon sequences and any entry in the custom known reference database). I found haplotype copy number to be unrelated to BLAST match percentage (P=0.883, Figure 2.4). The number of

haplotypes for each genus that survived the 90% match benchmark is summarized in Table 2.2.



Frequency of reads across genera

Figure 2.4: Regression plot showing little interaction between haplotype copy number and match percentage. Each point represents a unique haplotype. No regression line was generated for Pteronotus as each of its remaining haplotypes were singletons.

Sanger sequencing from FTA cards

Each of the 8 genera of bats sampled were represented in the Sanger sequencing run, although both *Glossophaga sp.* and *Natalus sp.* had only 2 successful samples rather than 3 (Table 2.3); the *Natalus sp.* sample failed to amplify (gel not shown), and the *Glossophaga sp.* sample was found to be contaminant (omitted from results). Each of the remaining sequences were between 395-421bp and showed high matches (>99%)

to their species in the NCBI database (Sturnira parvidens reads were matched to

Sturnira lilium as a result of a recent taxonomic revision; Sánchez-Hernández and

Romero-Almaraz, 2003).

Table 2.1: Summary of BLAST results according to highest % matches alongside the copy number related to that haplotype. 1A shows the highest % match achieved by the 7 detected genera and their associated MIDs. 1B shows the highest % match obtained by each MID and the intended target from that MID.

(1A)

Genus	% match	MID	сору	(1B)	MID	Genus	% match	target
Uroderma	94	BC01	1		BC01	Glossophaga	95	Uroderma
Pteronotus	92	BC03	1		BC03	Glossophaga	94	Pteronotus
Sturnira	77	BC13	1		BC13	Glossophaga	96	Sturnira
Molossus	88	BC38	1		BC25	Natalus	95	Saccopteryx
Desmodus	93	BC49	1		BC38	Glossophaga	94	Molossus
Glossophaga	96	BC73	349		BC49	Glossophaga	95	Desmodus
Natalus	100	BC85	1		BC73	Natalus	100	Natalus
					BC85	Glossophaga	95	Glossophaga

Table 2.2: Number of haplotypes and genera retained after the 90% match filtering.

Genus	Uroderma	Desmodus	Glossophaga	Natalus	Pteronotus
Haplotypes	5	40	451	129	3

Note: The maximum number of haplotypes expected for each target species is 3, the number of individual bats sampled.

Sample ID	GenBank match	Accession	% iD	%Cover
Des1	Desmodus rotundus	JF435339.1	100	100
Des2	Desmodus rotundus	JF435339.1	99.76	100
Des3	Desmodus rotundus	JF435339.1	100	100
Ptero1	Pteronotus mesoamericanus	JF448278.1	99.76	100
Ptero2	Pteronotus mesoamericanus	JF499030.1	100	100
Ptero3	Pteronotus mesoamericanus	JF448265.1	99.76	100
Glos2	Glossophaga soricina	JF499022.1	100	100
Glos3	Glossophaga soricina	JF499022.1	99.75	100
Sac1	Saccopteryx bilineata	JF435741.1	99.76	99.52
Sac2	Saccopteryx bilineata	JF435741.1	99.72	90.88
Sac3	Saccopteryx bilineata	JF435741.1	100	100
Uro1	Uroderma bilobatum	MG191883.1	100	100
Uro2	Uroderma bilobatum	MG191905.1	99.76	100
Uro3	Uroderma bilobatum	MG191883.1	99.02	97.14
Sturn1	*Sturnira lilium	JF446856.1	100	100
Sturn2	Sturnira lilium	JF447338.1	91.16	99.52
Sturn3	Sturnira lilium	JF447338.1	100	100
Mol1	Molossus rufus	MH185176.1	99.76	100
Mol2	Molossus rufus	JF448089.1	100	100
Mol3	Molossus rufus	MH185176.1	99.76	100
Nat1	Natalus stramineus	JF447283.1	99.76	100
Nat2	Natalus stramineus	JF447280.1	99.52	100

Table 2.3: Blast hits of Sanger sequence reads obtained from FTA-blood samples from bats.

Note: Sturnira lilium was recently revised and the correct name for the local population is now *S. parvidens*. Blast hits reflect previous taxonomic designations.

Table 2.4 Contrasts between examples of mobile and conventional lab technology. Asterisk (*) denotes methodsused in other chapters in this thesis. Citations used: Chacon-Cortes and Griffiths,2014; Santos, 2018; Green et al., 2019; Quick et al., 2017

Process	Selection criteria	In-situ barcoding	Lab-based barcoding
Sample preservation	Method	FTA [®] Elute [®] cards	e.g. tubes with preservative*
from the field	Additional requirements	Temperature and humidity to facilitate drying	Liquid nitrogen required for long term storage
	Compatible sample types	Designed for cell suspensions (e.g. blood, saliva), up to 40 μl	Wider range of tissues, depending on preservative
DNA extraction	Method	FTA [®] Elute [®] cards	e.g. QIAGEN DNA Extraction kits*
	Additional requirements	Sterile water to rinse card, Sterile distilled water and heating apparatus to elute DNA	Many reagents and single-use consumables per sample. requiring heat blocks, vortexes, centrifuge
	Performance	Lower yield than extracting from samples directly. Greatly diminished for degraded material.	Greater yield, adjustable protocols to handle degraded material.
PCR	Method	MiniPCR®	e.g. Biorad T100 thermocycler
	Max. Capacity	8 samples	384 samples
	Additional requirements	No program memory. Requires laptop or phone to install thermocycling program. Simple programs.	Up to 400 programs. Built-in touch interface. Complex programs (e.g. thermal gradient)

	Dimensions	<500 g, 50 x 100 x 130 mm	9 kg , 250 x 450 x 230 mm
Sequencing	Method	MinION (nanopore)	Sanger
	Dimensions	87 g, 105 x 23 x 33 mm	180 kg, 100 x 73 x 89 cm
	Capacity	One "experiment" at a time. (e.g. one genomic library, or one pooled metabarcoding library)	386 or 96 well plates
	Additional requirement	18-37 operating temp	N/A
	Library preparation time	Versatile. Simplest non- pcr experiment needs 10- 20 minutes. Most complex metabarcoding experiments need 3 hours.	Minimum 1-2 hours

Discussion

Despite recovering sequencing reads suitable to identify these species, the reads from the field-based sequencing using the MinION[™] sequencer were truncated and of poor quality, raising questions about whether species-level identifications would be possible in a more diverse sample which included congeners. PCR tags failed to resolve reads to specific samples, likely due to poor quality of the recovered MIDs.

These results demonstrate that the methods work, although the end-results were extremely error prone, limiting their current application. The use of the RonM and VR1 primers for amplifying mammalian COI has been demonstrated to be reliable for generating short barcodes (Borisenko et al., 2008; Ivanova et al., 2012) which are adequate to identify mammals, and this has been particularly well tested for neotropical bats (Borisenko et al., 2008) under laboratory conditions. Though I successfully amplified the correct region, a minority of the recovered reads were of the expected 421bp length. The barcodes I obtained through Sanger sequencing the FTA samples were mostly the expected 421bp. Previous studies using FTA cards to extract DNA have noted lower DNA yields compared to conventional kits but were still able to generate reliable DNA barcodes using lab based sequencers (Borisenko et al., 2008; Mbogori et al., 2006) suggesting FTA sample preservation and extraction is not a cause of barcode quality reduction. There were no obvious signs of reagent degradation, but this does not rule out the possibility that problems with transporting and storing reagents in the field may have contributed to poor results in this study. The longest period where components were kept at inconsistent temperatures was the 24 hours, during transit to the field site. Other studies report storing reagents 10 - 15 days at inconsistent or ambient temperatures with successful PCR amplification, though

certain enzymes had reduced performance towards the end of that period (Guevara et al., 2017; Pomerantz et al., 2010). Access to a refrigerator and freezer is exceptional for a field study, and, despite generator cycling causing power fluctuations, the temperature remained reasonably consistent during the field sequencing. Electricity provided via a large generator allowed us to operate the microcentrifuge and miniPCR[™], where others have had to rely on batteries (Guevara et al., 2017). Significant issues with temperature regulation of the MinION™ occurred when the ambient temperature (37°C) exceeded the operating threshold (34°C) and, combined with issues surrounding the need for a clear internet signal to initiate sequencing, there was a delay in sequencing which affected the quality of reads generated. The loaded library spent 20 hours in the flow cell, with only one top up of running buffer. ONT protocols cautions against flow cell drying which can damage the membrane or clog the nanopores with loading beads. This delay was exacerbated by a firewall issue with the MinKNOW[™] software 'ping' which I had not previously encountered but could be avoided in future work.

The detection of multiple bats associated with each MID was surprising since one species per MID was expected. Sanger sequencing from the same FTA samples once returned from the field showed no signs of cross-contamination making the probability low at the sample collection stage. *Glossophaga soricina* dominated most MIDS and the run in general. Broad environmental contamination of all samples is possible given the location. A lack of a fume-hood might have contributed to *Glossophaga* DNA compromising every sample on the FTA card, but this issue has not previously been observed using FTA cards or miniPCR[™]. The more likely explanation is that the MIDs, which are supposed to act as unique tags for each sample were recovered in low

quality reducing the accuracy of MID assignment. Upon initial editing rather than detecting 8 MIDs, I recovered 33 possible codes (most never used) and even with the stricter quality filtering of Porechop, one impossible MID remained. If MID codes were poorly recovered during sequencing it is likely reads were mis-assigned. The correct assignment of abundant haplotypes from some bats to their MID supports this.

Sequence quality obtained from MinION[™] runs is known to vary greatly, with error rates between 12-35% previously reported (Ashton et al., 2015; Jansen et al., 2015; Malla et al., 2017). Wang et al., (2015) were able to produce >99% genome coverage of an influenza virus using the Genomic DNA sequencing kit which allows 2D reads (two directional sequencing). Other 2D kit users sequenced 17 bacterial genera but only retrieved 6 at an 80% assignment threshold, and 8 at a 60% threshold (Benítez-Páez et al., 2016). This variability in sequence quality has also been observed in 1D kits. Pomerantz et al., (2010) reported *de* novo assemblies of 16S, cytochrome b, and NADH dehydrogenase 4 genes, but success ranged from >99-91.7% identity to Sangergenerated consensus sequences; with several attempts failing due to reads that wouldn't assemble. 2D kits are not currently compatible with protocols requiring PCR, thus PCR multiplexing used here was limited to 1D kits. Five out of eight species in my study generated reads with >90% identity to reference sequences, which is within the expected boundaries for a nanopore sequencing run. However, the design of my study deliberately made identification simple by only including one species per genus using a custom database containing those exact species. The error rate suggests that including congeners with similar sequences would have made it difficult to correctly assign taxonomic designations. The error rate might be mitigated by targeting large fragments for amplification (>4000 bp) (Krehenwinkel et al., 2018) and by using BLAST

parameters such as: longest alignment length, and lowest E-values (Parker et al., 2017). While the latter approach has potential, it is outside the scope of DNA barcoding (which typically uses short fragments), and thus would not be suitable with the existing libraries.

Our results and those of others suggest several ways to improve the methods for future use of this technology in the field. First, Clare et al., (2014) demonstrated using custom primers to amplify the target COI region and including a MID tag for library preparation in metabarcoding removes the need for a second PCR step and bead clean-up, saving time and reagents, and preserves PCR products. Each sample needs its own custom primer, increasing costs, but for small-scale studies this would be a feasible shortcut for multiplexing protocols minimising cross contamination of MIDs. PCR mixes could also be prepared ahead of time under more stringent lab conditions so that only DNA would need to be added in the field, further limiting potential contamination. One aspect of the ONT protocols omitted in the current study was DNA concentration checking, which was skipped because of difficulty transporting some reagents. Low DNA concentrations of some samples could contribute to explaining the discrepancy in relative read assignment to different species. At the final step of preparing the sequencing library, I pooled together equal volumes for each MIDtagged sample library but had no indication of concentration nor whether any samples had simply failed at the extraction, PCR, or clean up stages. DNA quantification methods such as QuBit (Life Technologies, Grand Island, NY) and Nanodrop (Desjardins and Conklin, 2011) are not easily carried to the field, but it may be sufficient to gauge relative concentrations using gel electrophoresis. Like miniPCR™, the BluGel™ (Amplyus) is a simple small sample (n=9 -13) gel electrophoresis (23 x 10 x 7 cm)

system operated using a mobile phone. Pre-casting gels can lessen the added burden of carrying liquids and agarose, though this needs to be balanced against whether equal representation is needed or whether technical replicates with occasional PCR failure would suffice. When running the MinION™, the forced shut-down due to overheating was fixed by placing the device inside of a refrigerator. An alternative solution would be to place the MinION™ on a cooling pack, although runs can proceed for hours and cooling packs would need to be replaced.

The bioinformatics steps in the current study were not performed in the field due to time constraints. However, the only component that required internet-access was the Galaxy platform for adapter trimming, collapsing, and filtering and this was for convenience only. All tools can be run via command line on a laptop using the same protocols or any one of a dozen other similar programs. The key component to making the bioinformatics procedure tractable without high performance computing is the use of a limited reference database. Because I knew the species' identities *a priori*, the reference database in a BLAST could be small (e.g. just the focal bats, just bats in these genera, just Neotropical bats) but the more "unknown" the sample, the greater the task of identification will be both computationally and technologically.

The emergence of mobile laboratory technologies is being driven by the increasing interest in developing and testing capabilities of these systems for applications in human health surveillance (Hoenen et al., 2016; Schmidt et al., 2017; Wölfel et al., 2015) as well as evolutionary and conservation applications (Menegon et al., 2017; Pomerantz et al., 2010). The use of FTA cards as a safe and convenient alternative for collecting and preserving samples is being increasingly employed for a range of

material (e.g. stool smears; Lalani et al., 2018, sputum; Linhares et al., 2012) and taxa (e.g. fish; Tsutsumida et al., 2009, insects; Harvey, 2005). An important benefit is provided by FTA cards is that samples become non-infectious once dried (Linhares et al., 2012), which can facilitate export/import of samples that might contain pathogens. Several "PCR in a box" options for portable thermocyclers are available such as the battery-powered Palm PCR[™] (Ahram Biosystems Inc., Seoul, Korea), or the smartphone-interfaced Biomeme[™] (Biomeme Inc., 2015). For experiments that also require gel electrophoresis the Bento (www.bento.bio) offers a centrifuge, thermocycler, gel rig, and illuminator all in one unit (330mm x 214mm x 81mm). I opted for the miniPCR[™] because it is a modular system allowing the PCR to be carried independently of gel rig and centrifuge. As a primary component of this study, and the only real option for field sequencing at the time of our field work, Nanopore sequencing platforms provide additional tools, such as VolTRAX[™] (ONT), a device to automate library preparation and alternative flow cell and sequencer options such as Flongle[™] and SmignION[™] respectively, both suitable for smaller, simpler protocols using low powered devices. These are designed to be simple and quicker (e.g. 10minute library preparation kits, small sample sizes) and currently lack kits to accommodate PCR or multiplexing/barcoding. While sequencing platform options for simpler experiments are available, the 'standard' MinION™ has been demonstrated to still be an accessible teaching tool in teaching field genomics (Watsa et al., 2019). The complexity of questions that can be answered will likely depend on the combination of components that make up a mobile laboratory. For example, a 10-minute library preparation kit lacking multiplexing options would not be ideal for identification of multiple specimens but could be used to confirmation the presence of a species of

ecological or economic interest. In this case, Flongle[™] and SmidgION[™] may be viable as the equivalent of a sophisticated dipstick, providing a general molecular scan of a sample with minimal effort. Compact diagnostic technology will be valuable in characterising disease outbreaks or in border surveillance for invasive species or illegal trade. These applications require faster, more streamlined protocols suitable for the level of urgency and needed resolution. My protocol is intended to augment morphological identification but there is a soft limit on the number of samples for a sequencing run, assuming a single MID is assigned to each. That said, this protocol is viable for small-scale studies requiring rapid information.

In this analysis I tested a field-friendly protocol for DNA barcoding and demonstrate how accessible mobile laboratory technologies such as the miniPCR[™] and MinION[™] nanopore sequencer can allow rapid and reproducible express species identification outside dedicated laboratories, albeit with some difficulties. While the data generated was of low quality, I was able to provide field confirmation of the bat identifications while demonstrating the technological potential. The setbacks encountered can be avoided in future implementations to increase sequence quality and successful identification. My analysis suggests that relatively low-cost investment in field-viable laboratory alternatives can be used in tandem with classical morphological identification to rapidly catalogue species and answer ecological questions in scenarios including challenged in tissue preservation, permitting, transportation, and timesensitive operations.

Chapter 3: Ectoparasite epidemiology in the Atlantic Forest

Abstract

Ectoparasites from 17 species of neotropical bats were sampled from continuous and fragmented host habitat within the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. A combination of DNA barcoding and metabarcoding of COI (Cytochrome Oxidase I) was used in conjunction with morphology to identify 25 species of bat flies (Streblidae and Nycteribidae), 8 potential clades of mites, and 1 species of tick (Dermancentor nitens). While a more complete DNA database of ectoparasitic mites in Brazil would be required to identify mites to lower taxonomic levels, bat flies were successfully identified using a combination of taxonomy and DNA. Bat flies were found to be aggregated in their host populations, where most individuals had few parasites, and few individuals had many parasites. Bat fly intensity was highest in hosts with moderate levels of body condition. In this analysis, I identified contrasting patterns of parasitism in different habitat types. For example, the bat fly Trichobius joblingi was twice as prevalent on Carollia *perspicillata* in fragmented sites as in continuous forest. This may reflect roosting restrictions in disturbed habitat causing larger roosting colonies of mixed host species. In contrast, bat fly Paratrichobius longricus infections on Artibeus lituratus was higher in intensity in continuous than fragmented forests, but this was only true for female bats, which might hint at female exclusive roosting behaviour in more heterogenous habitat. This study demonstrates that patterns of parasitism can be affected by changes in habitat, and emphasizes that host traits such as species, body condition,

and sex should be considered jointly for a holistic approach to identifying vulnerable host groups.

Introduction

Bat Ecology

Bats (Chiroptera) are one of the most widely distributed terrestrial mammals, found in almost all unglaciated regions of the world (Procheş, 2005). With close to 1500 described species, bats account for one fifth of known mammalian biodiversity (Frick et al., 2019). According to IUCN red lists, anthropogenic activities such as logging, mining, and urbanisation represent the top threats to endangered and critically endangered species of bats (IUCN, 2020). Forests and subterranean structures (i.e., caves and mines) represent important bat habitats with considerable conservation value to protecting existing populations (Garbino and Tavares, 2018). For example, caves provide more permanent roosting sites which tend to attract large multi-species colonies, while in contrast, plant structures such as tree hollows or foliage are preferentially occupied by some species (Kühnert et al., 2016). Most bats rely on forests for foraging, particularly in the tropics (Voigt and Kingston, 2015), with specific features (e.g. rivers, fruiting trees) being used by different species.

As a group, the mobility and dietary breadth covered by bats affords them an important role in ecosystem services such as pest control (Ghanem and Voigt, 2012), pollination (Hodgkison et al., 2003), and seed dispersal (Sarmento et al., 2014). As such, the ongoing and residual consequences of habitat disturbances such as forest fragmentation on bat populations are a matter of concern for conservationists worldwide (Frick et al., 2019). Habitat fragmentation can influence bat population

density by affecting dispersal (Cushman, 2006), mortality, and reproductive rates (Andrén and Andren, 1994). Additionally, increasingly heterogenous distribution of resources across fragmented habitats can cause bat populations to experience stress due to insufficient or patchy distribution of food and shelter (Williams and Kremen, 2007) and reduction in habitat size (Brühl et al., 2003).

Responses to habitat fragmentation

Even at small scales, forest fragmentation has been connected to lower bat diversity and activity levels, thought to be caused by reduced vegetation cover and understory (Costa et al., 2019). As forest regeneration relies on seed-dispersal, the loss of seeddispersing species and the disruption of animal-plant mutualistic interactions compounds problems of extinction in regions with strong fragmentation pressure (Marjakangas et al., 2020). Species more tolerant to disturbance still remain but have reduced dietary breadth, and have to share key resources, leading to simplified interaction networks (Laurindo et al., 2019). The limited or altered diet available in fragmented habitats has been shown to cause shifts in the heterogeneity of core microbiota in bats, which have downstream consequences for host health and innate immunity (Ingala et al., 2019a). Reduced forest and vegetation cover is correlated with increased prevalence in viral (Hiller et al., 2019) and filarial (Cottontail et al., 2009b) infection. (Seltmann et al., 2017) suggests a positive feedback loop between the decrease in body condition of bats in dilapidated habitats, exacerbated by chronic stress from habitat disturbance, and the burden of parasitic infection and this has implications for disease transmission, but this is often considered separately form the ecological impacts. For example, (López-Baucells et al., 2018b) reports that the

increase in interest in bat community health research tends to emphasise bats as a major threat to public health, and disregard their key roles in ecosystem stability and susceptibility to perturbations, which counterintuitively makes bat conservation more difficult when interest spikes (MacFarlane and Rocha, 2020a).

Parasites of bats

Bats are hosts to a range of arthropod ectoparasites belonging to Acari (ticks and mites), Dermaptera, Diptera, Hemiptera, and Siphonaptera (Bertola et al., 2005). Of these parasites, bat flies (Diptera: Nycteribiidae and Streblidae) and wing mites (Acari: Spinturnicidae) are examples of families that are exclusive to bats. Both bat flies and wing mites are highly specialised hematophagous inhabitants of bat fur, wing, and tail membrane (Juliana C Almeida et al., 2011; ter Hofstede et al., 2004), and both exhibit some form of viviparity, where the eggs or larvae develops within the female. In bat flies, all larval stages develop within the female until they are ready to pupate, whereby the female leaves the host momentarily to deposit the prepupae onto the roost substrate (Graciolli et al., 2019; Marshall, 1970). Less is known about the general life cycle of wing mites, but examples from genus *Spinturnix* exhibit internal development of the egg and larval stages within the female, which then gives birth to a protonymph whilst still on the host (Colín-Martínez and García-Estrada, 2016; Orlova et al., 2018). There is evidence to show that parasitism can have strong effects on bat communities (Warburton et al., 2016) and escalate during nursing season where female bats are more heavily parasitized than males (Frank et al., 2016a; Patterson et al., 2008a), and can experience up to a 10% reduction in mass as a result (Lourenço and Palmeirim, 2007). Generally, parasitism and disease are thought to be a

contributing factor in population decline in many species (De Castro and Bolker, 2005). When evaluating emerging diseases in wildlife, (Tompkins et al., 2015) suggest an emphasis on microparasites (e.g. viruses, bacteria, fungi) when compared to macroparasites (e.g. helminths, arthropods) since the former tend to show greater virulence. However, some parasitic arthropods have been suspected to be vectors of more virulent diseases. Parasitic flies and ticks harbour pathogenic strains of *Bartonella spp.* (Stuckey et al., 2017; David A Wilkinson et al., 2016), *Rickettsia spp.* (Dietrich et al., 2016; Do Amaral et al., 2018), and are possible mechanical vectors for the fungus *Pseudogymnoascus destructans*, which causes white-nose syndrome (Lučan et al., 2016a). Transmission of pathogens directly from bat ectoparasites to humans and other wildlife has yet to be proven (Bai et al., 2018), and bat ectoparasites biting or parasitizing humans is considered to be a rare occurrence (Piksa et al., 2013).

It is unclear how habitat fragmentation impacts the dispersal of bat ectoparasites and their interactions with their hosts, which has potential implications for prevalence and spill-over of zoonotic diseases (Rulli et al., 2017). (Bolívar-Cimé et al., 2018b) found a higher prevalence of bat flies in continuous forest than the habitats embedded in pastures, but this trend was only true for one of the three bats species they examined; they also found that fragmentation had no significant effect on bat fly infestations for bats that use permanent roosts such as caves. (Frank et al., 2016b) reported a dilution effect for parasitism in female bats, where a habitat with higher bat species richness (associated with less disturbed habitat) had a lower prevalence of bat flies. (Saldaña-Vázquez et al., 2013) found no difference in the prevalence of bat fly infections in bat populations from forest fragments compared to coffee plantations and suggested two host traits to explain the observation; the first being the tendency to switch roosts

(low roost fidelity), and the second being solitary or paired social organisation; both traits limiting the acquisition and horizontal transfer of bat flies within a roost. Together, these studies suggest the effects of fragmentation on ectoparasite interactions can depend on multiple factors across host traits and landscape properties and may require both species and community-level analyses.

In this chapter, I document the prevalence, intensity and aggregation of bat flies and wing mites found on bats sampled from continuous forest and forest fragments within the Atlantic Forest, Brazil. Then, for two of the most common bat-bat fly pairs, I examine how their infection dynamics may vary across levels of habitat disturbance.

Methods

Sampling: Atlantic forest

Data for this study was collected from patches of forest surrounding the Reserva Ecológica de Guapiaçú (REGUA), one of several reserves in the Atlantic Forest of Brazil. All fieldwork, sampling, and bat identification was carried out by Tiago Teixeira (Teixeira, 2019). Altogether, 10 fragmented forest sites and 3 continuous forest sites within REGUA (control) were sampled (Figure 3.1). This habitat consists of a mixture of natural and secondary forest (Ribeiro et al., 2009). Fragmented sites were confined to forests on hilltops and steep cliffs and ranged from 20-243ha in area and were located 60-600m from the nearest alternative habitat (not necessarily sampled). All 13 sites were sampled for 6 nights each, between May 2016 and January 2017. Mist-nets (heights of 6, 9, and 12 metres) were set along anticipated bat-flight routes on trails, corridors, near streams and plant resources and were moved each night. Each site was
sampled using 7-10 nets (net-effort of 275.94 m²h) and monitored every 30-45 minutes from sunset to midnight.



Figure 3.1: Map of sampling area of REGUA sites. Forest fragments are numerically sorted according to area size (F1 being smallest, F10 being largest). Black nodes mark approximate site locations. Figure taken from Teixeira (2019).

Bat capture, ectoparasite collection

Captured bats were kept in individual cotton bags until they were examined. Bats were identified using morphological keys based on Neotropical and Brazilian bat field guides (dos Reis et al., 2007; L Emmons, 1991; Reis et al., 2013). Morphometric measurements such as body length and mass, in addition to gender and age group (adult or juvenile) were recorded. The wings and fur of each bat were thoroughly combed for ectoparasites with forceps for at least 90 seconds. All visible ectoparasites (typically bat flies) were collected and stored in 95% ethanol; cotton swabs of ethanol were used to collect ectoparasites too fine to be picked using forceps.

Processing Bat flies

Tubes containing bat flies were sent to the American Museum of Natural History (AMNH) for identification and endosymbiont analysis by Kelly Speer (Speer et al., 2020). Bat flies were first morphologically identified under a Leica S9i microscope using keys from literature and comparing material from the Field Museum's collections (DeLong, 2004; Graciolli and Carvalho, 2009; Wenzel, 1975). In preparation for downstream molecular analyses, each bat fly was dried, and then vortexed in 500µL PBS (1x) to washoff external bacteria. The abdomen of each bat fly was split from its thorax to be used in DNA extraction.

DNA identification of bat flies

DNA extraction was conducted at the AMNH using the Zymo Research ZymoBIOMICS[™] DNA Miniprep Kit (Zymo Research). Each bat fly abdomen was digested overnight in proteinase K (digestion solution: 95uL Zymo Research Solid Tissue Buffer Blue, 95uL sterile water, 10uL Zymo Research proteinase K) at 55°C. The remaining steps in the extraction followed the manufacturers protocol but were adapted as follows: digested samples were homogenized in a bead beater for 20 minutes at 3000rpm; beaten samples were stored at -80°C until all samples were at this step; the DNA elution step was increased to 5 minutes, and the sterile water was heated at 55°C prior to application onto the filter; and the elution step was repeated using the first eluate. Negative controls using sterile water were used during DNA extraction.

Bat fly COI: PCR reactions consisted of 7.5 μ L of 2x TopTaq Master Mix (Qiagen), 0.2 μ M of each primer, 1.5 μ L coral load, 1 μ L template DNA, and sterile water adding up to 15 μ L. The thermocycling program is as follows: an initial denaturation of 94 °C for 1 minute, 5 cycles of 94 °C for 1 minute, 45 °C for 90 seconds, and 72 °C for 90 seconds, followed by 35 cycles of 94 °C for 1 minute, 50 °C for 90 seconds, and 72 °C for 1 minute, with a final extension of 72 °C for 5 minutes.

Success of COI amplification was verified using gel electrophoresis (1.5% agarose gel), and then the PCR products cleaned using AMPure XP beads (Clarke, 2014); and prepared for cycle sequencing on the ABI 3730xl DNA Analyzer. Reagents and thermocycler conditions for this sequencing procedure are listed in table 3.1. Sequences were trimmed to 645bp segments, checked for quality, and aligned using ClustalW in Geneious v.10.2.4 (Kearse et al., 2012). A phylogeny was built using RAxML v.8 using a model of GTR+G evolution based on AIC scores taken from jModelTest 2.1, with 1000 bootstrap replicates on the CIPRES Science Gateway (Miller, Pfeiffer and Schwartz, 2010; Darriba et al., 2012). The formed clades were examined on FigTree v1.4.2 to confirm clade membership matched the morphological identifications of bat flies (Stamatakis, 2014; Rambaut, 2018).

PCR Objective	Target COI	Sanger PCR	MID PCR	qPCR
Reaction volume (µL)	15	10	20	10
Master Mix (µL)	7.5 (Qiagen multiplex)	4 (Big Dye)	10 (Qiagen multiplex)	8 (SYBR FAST)
Primer goal	Amplicon	Terminator dye	Unique tagging	Quantifying
Each primer (μL)	0.75	1	1	-
Template DNA (μL)	2	2 (exo-sapped)	8	2
sdH20 (μL)	4	3	-	-
	(Hajibabaei et al.,	NBAF	NBAF	KK4873
Program source	2006a)			
Initial denaturation (temp °C/s)	94-900 (15 minutes)	96-60	95-900 (15 minutes)	95-300 (5 minutes)
Denaturation (temp °C/s)	94-60	94-10	98-10	95-30
Annealing (temp °C/s)	56-90	50-5	65-30	60-45
Extension (temp °C/s)	72-90	60-240 (4 minutes)	72-30	-
Final extension (temp °C/s)	72-600 (10 minutes)	-	72-300 (5 minutes)	-
Number of cycles	35	39	10	35
Total time (min)	130	166	32	48

Table 3.1 PCR mix recipes and thermocycling conditions for amplifying, tagging, quantifying, and Sanger sequencing mite and cotton samples.

DNA identification of mites: primer evaluation

I performed all molecular work to identify wing mites at the NERC Biomolecular Analysis Facility at the Sheffield University (NBAF). I conducted preliminary PCR primer testing with 4 pairs of primers which target COI and have been applied across a variety of invertebrate taxa: 1) MLepF1 and C_LepFoIR (Hebert et al., 2013; Hernández-Triana et al., 2014), 2) C LepFolF and MLepR2 (Hajibabaei et al., 2006b; Hernández-Triana et al., 2014), 3) Uni-MinibarF1 and Uni-MinibarR1 (Meusnier et al., 2008), and 4) ZBJ-ArtF1c and ZBJ-ArtR2c (Zeale et al., 2011). I tested each primer set using DNA extracts from cat fleas (Ctenocephalides felis) provided by NBAF Sheffield. I selected primer set 1 (MLepF1 and C LepFoIR) as the primary set for this work as it amplified well (see appendix 2.1), primer set 2 (C LepFolF and MLepR2) performed similarly and was retained as a secondary primer pair for any amplification failures. Additionally, I consulted morphological keys from (Tipton and Wenzel, 2011; Wenzel, 1975) to identify wing mites under light microscopy (See appendix 2.2 and 2.3) but I failed to consistently confirm species by this approach without reference material and I relied exclusively on DNA metabarcoding for all mite identification for the remainder of this chapter.

DNA identification of bat flies: DNA extraction and PCR

Sample preparation : The number of mites included in each extraction tube depended on how they were collected and stored. Those collected using forceps were processed as individuals while those collected on cotton swab were processed as a single sample and this also dictated downstream sequencing approaches (Sanger sequencing vs. metabarcoding via Illumina MiSeq respectively). For Sanger sequencing, 172 mites taken from 64 bats were extracted in individual tubes. Mite samples split this way were given a short (5 seconds) wash in fresh ethanol to minimize contamination pooling during field collection. Cotton-samples tended to be numerous and smaller (possible juveniles and eggs; images available in appendix 2.2) and could not easily be manipulated using forceps. I processed a total of 31 cotton-samples, each containing swabs from individual bats, as 31 individual samples. In order to remove biological material from the swabs as much as possible, I spread each cotton-sample in a petri dish and allowed them to dry, I used a x100 microscope and forceps to scrape organic material off the swab for 2-3 minutes and removed the cotton swab from the petri dish afterwards. I then added 400 μ L of 95% ethanol to the petri dish and used pipettes to transfer this new pool to extraction tubes. I placed these tubes in a heated centrifuge (30°C for 10 minutes) at 100 rpm to both remove excess ethanol and collect organic material at the bottom, for a pooled extraction.

Qiagen lysis : For extracting DNA from the mites, I followed a protocol described in (Desloire et al., 2006) which included mechanical disruption of mites in 20-25 μ L PBS and the DNeasy Blood and Tissue extraction kit (Qiagen, 2006) with modified reagent volumes. The lysis mix included 80-100 μ L ATL, 10 μ L proteinase K, 260 μ L AW1 and AW2 buffers, and 50 μ L AE elution buffer. The mites were incubated (56 °C) in proteinase K for at least 5 hours. I mechanically disrupted the mites by crushing them against the sides of the extraction tubes with PBS using disposable plastic pestles; while I was able to obtain some DNA without damaging the specimen, the mites frequently either float above the lysis buffer or adhere to the sides of the tube when whole, failing to be submerged during the extraction process making mechanical disruption an optimal approach.

Initial PCR : DNA extracts from individual and pooled mites were subject to the same procedure to amplify a 407-bp fragment from their mitochondrial *COI* using primer pair MLepF1 (5' GCTTTCCCACGAATAAATAATA 3'; Hajibabaei et al., 2006a) and C_LepFoIR which is an even mixture of two reverse primers LepR1 (5'GGTATAACTATRAARAAAATTAT3') and HCO2198 (5'TAAACTTCAGGGTGACCAAAAAATCA3') (Hernández-Triana et al., 2014). For DNA

extracts from cotton swaps intended for Illumina MiSeq, tagged versions of the primers were used; the 5' tag for MLepF1 was

(5'TCTACACGTTCAGAGTTCTACAGTCCGACGATC-) and the 5' tag for both reverse primers were (5'GTGACTGGAGTTCAGACGTGTGCTCTTCCGATCT-). The recipe for PCR mix and settings for the PCR program is listed in Table 3.1.

Sanger sequencing preparation

Inactivate product: I visualised PCR products, I ran 4 μ L of product on a 2% agarose gel to estimate its relative amplification success. I incubated 6 μ L of product (adjusted to 5ng/ μ L with dH20 if necessary) with 2 μ L ExoSap-IT (ThermoFisher) for 15 minutes at 37°C, then 15 minutes at 80°C to remove free nucleotides and inactivate enzymes in the product.

Sequencing PCR: For each exo-sapped product, I ran two sequencing PCR reactions, one forward primer reaction and one reverse primer reaction. The master mix for each reaction consists of 0.5 μ L Big Dye V3.1 and 3.5 μ L 2.5x sequencing dilution buffer (ThermoFisher). Reagent volumes and the PCR program are listed in Table 3.1 as Sanger PCR. I prepared the sequencing PCRs in 96-well plates alongside positive controls of 2 μ L plasmid pGEM-3Zf(+) and 2 μ L primer M13-21. *Ethanol precipitation*: I precipitate each product by adding 2 μ L 235mM EDTA, 2 μ L 3M sodium acetate (pH 5.2), 10 μ L ddH2O and 52.5 μ L 95% ethanol, and incubating them for 15 minutes in the dark. I centrifuged plates at full speed for 15 minutes, to pellet PCR product at the bottom of the wells. I then removed the precipitating solution from the wells by placing the plates upside down, on folded paper towel, and spun these at 190g for 30 seconds. I add 76.5 μ L of ethanol to the wells to wash the PCR pellets and then spun them upright for 5 mins and then removed the ethanol using the same method. The ethanol washing was done twice for each pellet. I dried plates for 1 minute and added 10 μ L of formamide to each pellet and denature it by incubating at 95°C for 3 minutes. The resulting plates were sequenced on an ABI3730.

Illumina sequencing preparation

Tagging PCR product: I assigned each cotton derived sample PCR product identifiers based on unique combinations of dual-plexed Fi5 and Ri7 primers. I used these primers in a tailed PCR to add Molecular Identifiers (MIDs) and Illumina sequencing sites to the amplicon products (master mix and PCR program listed in Table 3.1 as MID PCR).

Purifying tagged product: I used a fluorimeter to check the concentration of 2 μ L of each tagged product. I took 150 ng from each product to create 3 pools of tagged products (2 pools of 8 products, and 1 pool of 7 products). I used a speed vac to concentrate the pools to 50 μ L each and purified the pools of product using AMPure XP beads following manufacturer's instructions (Ronaghi et al., 2011). I mixed 50 μ L of product with 25 μ L of beads, as a 0.5x bead concentration will bind large fragments (>600bp) to be discarded. I used 67.5 μ L of beads for a 0.9x bead concentration to bind

smaller fragments (>200bp) and discarding the supernatant, retaining our tagged amplicon library.

Quantification with qPCR: for each amplicon library, I made 3 sets of 100-fold, 1000fold, and 10000-fold dilutions. These dilutions were run in a qPCR using 8 μ L SYBR FAST master mix (KK4873, KAPA Biosystems) and 2 μ L diluted libraries. The reaction was set up on ABI's Quantstudio software, the program is listed in Table 3.1 as qPCR. I used the known concentrations to pool all amplicon libraries in equimolar amounts at 4 nM to be sent for Illumina MiSeq sequencing.

Bioinformatics

Sanger trimming sequence processing: I converted ABI format sequences to fasta files, filtered for quality and trimmed adapters using Phred and Phrap (Ewing et al., 1998). I manually edited sequences using CodonCode Aligner (CodonCode Corporation, <u>www.codoncode.com</u>) and Bioedit (Hall, 1999). Edited sequences were uploaded to the Biodiversity of Life Database (BOLD) under the project code 'BCOKR'.

Illumina MiSeq data processing: bioinformatic analyses was conducted on the *iceberg* high performance computing system hosted by Sheffield University. I used Trimmomatic to remove low quality sequences (Phred quality score <30) and any Illumina adapters from my raw data (Bolger et al., 2014). I paired the trimmed reads and aligned these using FLASH (Magoč and Salzberg, 2011), and then converted from fastq to fasta format. I used Mothur to trim off primer sequences and demultiplex the data, distinguishing sequences originating from separate cotton-samples (Schloss et al., 2009). I used Usearch and Unoise to remove chimeric sequences and cluster groups of highly similar sequences (at least 97% similar) (Edgar, 2016, 2010). I treated clusters

as mOTUs (molecular operational taxonomic units) and blasted each against the NCBI nucleotide database (Agarwala et al., 2017). Any mOTU not assigned to a known ectoparasite was removed. The remaining sequences were aligned and edited using to voucher sequences. Representatives of each mOTU were used to generate a neighbour joining tree using the kimura 2 parameter model of sequence evolution in MEGA 5 to compare MOTU similarities.

Epidemiological statistics of bat fly infection

I calculate several infection indices for every bat-bat fly pair using the Quantitative Parasitology (QP) online platform (Reiczigel et al., 2019). These indices are as follows:

- Prevalence: The proportion of infected hosts, expressed as a percentage. A 95% confidence interval (CI) is provided to express the uncertainty of sample prevalence to estimate population prevalence. This CI is calculated based with Sterne's method as it has been shown to be suitable for small numbers of parasite counts (Sakakibara, 2014).
- Mean (μ) Intensity: Average number of parasites found on an infected host.
 Uninfected hosts are excluded when calculating population totals this way. A bias-corrected and accelerated bootstrap of 2000 times was used to calculate the 95% CI for mean intensity.
- Aggregation: expressed by the index of discrepancy (D) (Poulin, 1996), measures the difference between the observed distribution of parasites when compared to a theoretical distribution where all hosts are equally infested. D ranges from 0 (total equality) to 1 (maximal inequality).

For two bat-bat fly pairs, *Carollia perspicillata - Trichobius joblingi* (CT) and *Artibeus lituratus - Paratrichobius longicrus* (AP) I compare how prevalence and mean intensity vary between habitat type (fragmented or continuous forest) and host sex. I focus on these host-parasite pairs because they were the most abundant bats captured and their primary bat fly association (Komeno and Linhares, 1999; Tipton and Wenzel, 2011; Wenzel, 1975). For between group comparisons, I used Fisher's Exact Test for comparing prevalence, and two-sample *t* test for mean intensity.

To examine the relationship between ectoparasite intensity and host traits (for CT and AP) I used Generalised Linear Models (GLM) with parasite intensity as the responding variable and host mass and sex as predictors. Negative binomial distribution was used to account for the aggregated distribution of parasites (Wilson and Grenfell, 1997) using the *glm.nb* function from the MASS package in R (Riplley et al., 2018). Models with predictors were compared to the null model (containing only the intercept) using likelihood-ratio chi-square (LR) in the *anova.glm* function (Hastie and Pregibon, 2017).

Results

Sample collections and identifications

Bat flies

The original field collections included 988 bats representing 26 species, 343 (34%) of which were parasitized by at least one bat fly. Site F10 had the highest prevalence (44% of bats were hosts). The most abundant host species was also the most abundant bat collected *Carollia perspicillata*, with 176 hosts from 383 captures, followed by *Artibeus lituratus*, with 55 hosts from 190 captures. A total of 842 bat flies were collected from 17 bat species, and 813 of these parasites were morphologically

identified to species level, the remaining 29 could only be identified to genus using morphology (Table 3.2). However, molecular analysis with *COI* barcoding supports the allocation of these parasites to 20 described species, and 5 species-level mOTUs (e.g *Trichobius sp.1, Trichobius sp.2, etc.*). About half (436) of the total bat fly collection was obtained from samples of *C. perspicillata*.

Ectoparasitic mites

For mites processed by metabarcoding, 36 ectoparasite mOTUs were obtained from 31 bats sampled using cotton swabs. These mOTUs formed at least 12 clades (Figure 3.2): 3 clades, consisting of 20 mOTUs had >95% blast matches at a species level, although these only belong to 3 species: bat flies *M. aranea* and *T. joblingi*, and mite Dermacentor nitens (Table 4) indicating significant MOTU over-splitting. Four clades had low identity matches (<94%) to unclassified mite vouchers collected from Canada (Blagoev et al., 2016), these matches were to Trombidiformes sp. BOLD:ACJ2331, Digamasellidae sp. BOLD:ACI5517, Mesostigmata sp. BOLD:ACI6949, and Stigmaeidae *sp*. BOLD:ABV1836. The remaining 5 clades had < 90% match to a known reference. Sequence length of mOTU representatives was unrelated to match similarity. The 143 Sanger sequences uploaded to BOLD were identified as belonging to family Spinturnicidae. Of these, 31 were assigned to existing BINs (Barcode Index Numbers) AAF9245 or AAF9243, the remaining sequences remain unassigned, which typically happens to sequences that are under 500 bp and contain >1% ambiguous bases (BOLD Systems, 2013)

Bat	N _h	Bat fly	Inf	Np	Р	Iμ	D
Artibeus fimbritatus	16 (3)	Aspidoptera phyllostomatus	2	4	12.5 [2.3-37.2]	2 [1-2]	0.853 [0.683-0.882]
		Megistopoda aranea	1	1	6.2 [0.3-30.5]	1	0.882 [0.647-0.882]
Artibeus geoffroyii	13 (9)	Anastrebla modestini	7	14	53.8 [26-77.6]	2 [1.29-2.43]	0.531 [0.324-0.736]
		Exastinion clovisi	7	32	53.8 [26-77.6]	4.57 [2.43-7.57]	0.629 [0.473-0.821]
Artibeus lituratus	190 (55)	Basilia juquiensis	1	3	0.5 [0-3]	3	0.99 [0.969-0.99]
		Megistopoda proxima	1	1	0.5 [0-3]	1	0.99 [0.963-0.99]
		Metelasmus pseudopterus	1	1	0.5 [0-3]	1	0.99 [0.969-0.99]
		Paratrichobius longicrus	50	77	26.3 [20.5-33.1]	1.54 [1.34-1.8]	0.796 [0.744-0.845]
		Speiseria ambigua	1	2	0.5 [0-0.3]	2	0.99 [0.958-0.99]
		Trichobius joblingi	2	5	1.1 [0.2-3.8]	2.5 [1-4]	0.987 [0.97-0.99]
Artibeus obscurus	63 (8)	Aspidoptera phyllostomatus	5	11	7.9 [3.2-17-3]	2.2 [1.2-3.8]	0.932 [0.88-0.969]
		Megistopoda aranea	1	1	1.6 [0.1-8.5]	1	0.969 [0.906-0.969]
		Paratrichobius longicrus	2	3	3.2 [0.6-10.9]	1.5 [1-1.5]	0.958 [0.905-0.969]
		Strebla guajiro	1	1	1.6 [0.1-8.5]	1	0.969 [0.906-0.969]
Carollia perspicillata	383 (176)	Paratrichobius longicrus	1	1	0.3 [0-1.5]	1	0.995 [0.982-0.995]
		Paraeuctenodes similis	4	5	1 [0.4-2.7]	1.25 [1-1.5]	0.989 [0.974-0.995]
		Speiseria ambigua	29	36	7.6 [5.2-10.7]	1.24 [1.07-1.45]	0.934 [0.909-0.954]
		Strebla guajiro	37	47	9.7 [7-13]	1.27 [1.11-1.51]	0.919 [0.892-0.942]
		Trichobius dugesioides	43	55	11.2 [8.3-14.8]	1.28 [1.14-1.42]	0.904 [0.876-0.93]
		Trichobius joblingi	132	292	34.5 [29.7-39.4]	2.21 [1.96-2.55]	0.778 [0.744-0.81]
Dermanura cinerea	9 (1)	Neotrichobius delicatus	1	3	11.1 [0.6-44.4]	3	0.8 [0.4-0.8]
Desmodus rotundus	72 (23)	Paratrichobius longicrus	1	1	1.4 [0.1-7.4]	1	0.973 [0.918-0.973]

Table 3.2 Captured bats and associated bat flies identified . Species names are used when able. Nh = number of bat hosts (and number of parasitized host), inf = number of a host species infected by that parasite, N_p = number of parasites infesting that host species, P (% prevalence), I_{μ} (mean intensity), D (index of discrepancy). Common hosts (n>50) are in bold.

		Speiseria ambigua 1 1.4 [1-7.4]		1.4 [1-7.4]	1	0.973 [0.932-0.973]		
		Strebla mirabilis	1	1	1.4 [1-7.4]	1	0.973 [0.904-0.973]	
		Strebla wiedemanni	18	26	25 [15.8-36.2]	1.44 [1.17-1.89]	0.99 [0.958-0.99]	
		Trichobius dugesioides	1	2	1.4 [0.1-7.4]	2	0.987 [0.97-0.99]	
		Trichobius furmani	3	4	4.2 [1.1-11.6]	1.33 [1-1.67]	0.932 [0.88-0.969]	
		Trichobius joblingi	3	4	4.2 [1.1-11.6]	1.33 [1-1.67]	0.969 [0.906-0.969]	
Glossophaga soricina	29 (4)	Strebla guajiro	1	1	3.4 [0.2-16.9]	1	0.958 [0.905-0.969]	
		Trichobius sp1	1	2	3.4 [0.2-16.9]	2	0.969 [0.906-0.969]	
		Trichobius sp4	4	5	13.8 [4.9-30.8]	1.25 [1-1.5]	0.995 [0.982-0.995]	
Myotis nigricans	21 (4)	Basilia juquiensis	4	12	19 [6.8-40.3]	3 [1.25-5.75]	0.989 [0.974-0.995]	
Myotis riparius	15 (4)	Basilia juquiensis	4	10	26.7 [9.7-53.4]	2.5 [1-3.25]	0.762 [0.56-0.875]	
Phyllostomus	11 (7)	Trichobius longipes	7	44				
hastatus					63.6 [33.3-86.5]	6.29 [3.71-10.6]	0.553 [0.386-0.749]	
Platyrrhinus lineatus	27 (5)	Paratrichobius sp.	2	5	7.4 [1.3-23.7]	2.5 [2-2.5]	0.9 [0.771-0.929]	
		Strebla guajiro	1	1	3.7 [0.3-18.1]	1	0.929 [0.786-0.929]	
		Trichobius angulatus	2	2	7.4 [1.3-23.7]	1	0.893 [0.679-0.929]	
Sturnira lilium	71 (33)	Aspidoptera falcata	19	52	26.8 [17.4-38.7]	2.74 [2-3.68]	0.817 [0.745-0.883]	
		Megistopoda proxima	22	30	31 [2.1-42.9]	1.36 [1.14-1.59]	0.739 [0.646-0.826]	
		Trichobius joblingi	1	1	1.4 [0.1-7.5]	1	0.972 [0.917-0.972]	
Sturnira tildae	12 (5)	Aspidoptera falcata	5	11	41.7 [18.1-70.6]	2.2 [1-4.2]	0.692 [0.523-0.846]	
		Megistopoda proxima	4	7	33.3 [12.3-63]	1.75 [1-2.5]	0.714 [0.523-0.846]	
Tonatia bidens	1 (1)	Strebla wiedemanni	1	1	100 [5-100]	1	NA	
		Trichobius joblingi	1	1	100 [5-100]	1	NA	
		Trichobius sp.3	1	12	100 [5-100]	12	NA	
Trachops cirrhosis	1 (1)	Trichobius sp.2	1	5	100 [5-100]	5	NA	
Vampyressa pusilla	18 (4)	Neotrichobius delicatus	4	6	22.2 [8-47.1]	1.5 [1-1.75]	0.772 [0.587-0.895]	



Figure 3.2: Phylogenetic tree of 31 mOTUs generated through metabarcoding fur and wing swabs from bats.

Bat fly associations

The most abundant bat flies collected were *Trichobius joblingi* (n= 303), followed by Paratrichobius longicrus (n=82), and Aspidoptera falcata (n=63). Only 1 species from the family Nycteribidae, identified as Basilia juquiensis, was collected (n=25). Several bat species were caught in low numbers (n< 50), limiting the possible analyses for these species (e.g. 100% infestation for the bat *Tonatia bidens* represents a single individual). Similarly, some bat-bat fly associations were only detected once (e.g., Basilia juquiensis on Artibeus lituratus) and were excluded from further analyses. For the common bat species (n> 50), the highest parasite prevalence observed was Trichobius joblingi on host Carollia perspicillata (34.5% of individuals), followed by Paratrichobius longicrus on host Artibeus lituratus (26.3% of individuals), and Aspidoptera falcata on host Sturnira lilium (26.8% of individuals) (Table 3.2). Highest mean intensity for the common bat species was found in A. falcata on S. lilium (2.74), followed by T. joblingi on A. lituratus (2.5) and Aspidoptera phyllostomatus on Artibeus obscurus (2.2). Bat flies with the highest aggregation for common hosts were T. joblingi on A. lituratus (D = 0.987), P. longicrus on A. obscurus (D = 0.958), and Trichobius *furmani* on *Desmodus rotundus* (D = 0.932).

Bat fly epidemiology

When fragments and continuous forests were considered together, there were no differences in overall prevalence (CT= 0.743; AP =0.449) or mean intensity (CT=0.203; AP=0.47) between the sexes of the two bat-bat fly pairs (Table 3.3). When considering differences between site types, there were no differences in prevalence (P= 0.627; Fisher's exact test) or intensity (P=0.596; Fisher's exact test) for AP. In contrast, *T*.

joblingi on C. perspicillata was more than twice as prevalent in fragments than in continuous forest (P < 0.0001; Fisher's exact test), although no difference was seen in their intensities (P=0.075; Fisher's exact test).

When considering both host sex and site type, the prevalence of *T. joblingi* on *C. perspicillata* was higher in fragments than continuous forest, and this was true for both male and female hosts (P= 0.002, and P=0.006 respectively; Fisher's exact test), however *T. joblingi* infection on female *C. perspicillata* was twice as intense in fragments than in continuous forests (P=0.001; Fisher's exact test). In contrast, there was no significant difference in prevalence (P= 0.1411; Fisher's exact test) or intensity (P= 0.26; Fisher's exact test) of *P. longicrus on* male *A. lituratus* across site types, however in continuous forests, *P. longicrus on A. lituratus* intensity in females was higher than males (P=0.029; Fisher's exact test), although this was only a 0.6 difference in mean intensity. *P. longicrus on A. lituratus* in continuous forests appeared to be twice as prevalent as fragments, but this was not seen as statistically significant (P=0.065; Fisher's exact test).

For both *T. joblingi* on *C. perspicillata* and *P. longicrus* on *A. lituratus* interactions, the highest infestations were found on individuals with moderate body condition (Figure 3.3 and 3.4). The highest infestation for *T. joblingi* on *C. perspicillata* was shared amongst 3 females with 8 bat flies each, whereas for *P. longicrus* on *A. lituratus* the highest infestation was on a single male with 5 bat flies, although most *P. longicrus* on *A. lituratus* infestations tended to be low (n<2). Neither host mass nor sex were found to predict bat fly intensity in for either CT or AP, with all tested models (mass, sex, mass + sex) not being significantly different to the null model (results not shown).

Table 3.3 Prevalence and mean intensity for bat flies Trichobius joblingi on Carollia perspicilata , and Paratrichobius longricus on Artibeus lituratus based on host sex and sampling location. P-values for paired group comparisons are listed in grey rows; comparisons for prevalence were made with Fisher's exact test, two-sample t-test for mean intensity. SD = standard deviation for mean intensity.

Group	Infected	Captured	Prevalence	Mean intensity	SD		
Trichobius joblingi on Carollia perspicilata							
Males	54	163	33.10%	2	1.414		
Females	76	216	35.20%	2.382	1.883		
Between sexes			0.7432	0.203			
Fragments	120	303	39.70%	2.273	1.742		
REGUAs	10	76	14.30%	1.545	0.934		
Between site type			<0.0001	0.075			
Males, Fragments	48	120	40.00%	2.021	1.451		
Males, REGUAs	6	43	14.00%	1.833	1.169		
Females, Fragments	71	182	39.00%	2.465	1.919		
Females, REGUAs	5	34	14.70%	1.2	0.447		
Males, between site type			0.0022	0.707			
Females, between site type			0.006	0.001			
Fragments, between sexes			0.9045	0.161			
REGUAs, between sexes			1	0.343			
Ра	ratrichobiu	s longricus o	n Artibeus litur	atus			
Males	21	93	22.60%	1.429	0.926		
Females	29	96	30.20%	1.621	0.775		
Between sexes			0.449	0.470			
Fragments	29	104	27.90%	1.483	0.829		
REGUAs	21	86	24.40%	1.619	0.865		
Between site type			0.6277	0.596			
Males, Fragments	14	48	29.20%	1.571	1.089		
Males, REGUAs	7	45	15.60%	1.143	0.378		
Females, Fragments	15	56	26.80%	1.4	0.507		
Females, REGUAs	14	40	35.00%	1.857	0.949		
Males, between site type			0.1411	0.260			
Females, between site type			0.4994	0.1350			
Fragments, between sexes			0.8289	0.596			
REGUAs, between sexes			0.0653	0.029			

Trichobius joblingi on Carollia perspicilata								
Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER	
~1	2	300.13	0	0.36	0.36	-148.03	1	
Sex	4	301.61	1.47	0.17	0.52	-146.69	2.11	
Forearm	3	301.91	1.77	0.15	0.67	-147.88	2.4	
Mass	3	302.15	2.02	0.13	0.8	-148.01	2.76	
Mass + Sex	5	302.33	2.19	0.12	0.92	-145.99	3	
Mass +							6	
Forearm	5	303.61	3.48	0.06	0.98	-146.63	0	
Sex + Forearm	3	306.05	5.92	0.02	1	-145.7	18	
			Std.					
	variable	Estimate	Error	z value	Pr(> z)			
	(Intercept)	-1.15829	1.03654	-1.117	0.264			
Mass	Mass	0.00341	0.01427	0.239	0.811			
	Female	-0.7397	0.2009	-3.681	0.000232			
Sex	Male	-0.3817	0.3021	-1.264	0.206393			
	(Intercept)	-3.04062	3.88483	-0.783	0.434			
Forearm	Forearm	0.02984	0.05442	0.548	0.583			
	Artibe	eus lituratus a	and Paratrie	chobius lon	gricus			
Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER	
Mass (g)	3	784.04	0	0.29	0.29	-388.99	1	
~1	2	784.68	0.63	0.21	0.5	-390.32	1.38	
Sex	4	785.22	1.18	0.16	0.67	-388.55	1.81	
Forearm	3	785.57	1.53	0.14	0.8	-389.75	2.07	
Sex + Forearm	3	786.58	2.54	0.08	0.88	-390.26	3.62	
Mass + Sex	5	787.05	3	0.07	0.95	-388.43	4.14	
Mass +							гo	
Forearm	5	787.49	3.44	0.05	1	-388.65	5.8	
			Std.					
	variable	Estimate	Error	z value	Pr(> z)			
	(Intercept)	0.87723	0.72669	1.207	0.2274			
Mass	Mass	-0.08312	0.04921	-1.689	0.0912			
	Female	-0.235	0.1429	-1.645	0.1			
Sex	Male	-0.2337	0.2184	-1.07	0.285			
	(Intercept)	-1.44217	2.65962	-0.542	0.588			
Forearm	Forearm	0.0276	0.06613	0.417	0.676			

Table 3.4. GLM output for infection intensities against host traits. Models were compared using AICc.



Figure 3.3: Infestation profile across body condition for Trichobius joblingi on Carollia perspicillata. Infestation profile across body condition



Figure 3.4: Infestation profile across body condition for Paratrichobius longicrus on Artibeus lituratus.

Discussion

In this study, I report on the prevalence of ectoparasites associated with bats across fragmented habitat in the Atlantic forest, and for two species-level associations, examine host and habitat related factors associated with this infection. My analysis suggests that bat fly parasitism can differ between continuous and fragmented habitats, but responses varied based on host species and host sex. My results also support the conclusion that parasites tend to be aggregated on their hosts (Leung, 1998), although these estimates may only be valid for the more commonly sampled bat-ectoparasite pairings (E R Morgan et al., 2005; Wilson et al., 2001). In this study, I group 3 "control" sites from continuous forest together and do the same to the 10 fragmented forest sites, although there the 13 sites do vary across several landscape metrics, I show in Chapter 3 that my grouping method is justified at a metacommunity level.

Previous studies of ectoparasites on Brazilian bats have included ticks (Muñoz-Leal et al., 2016), flies and mites (Almeida et al., 2016; Juliana C. Almeida et al., 2011; Santos et al., 2013). However, these studies identified their specimens using morphological keys (e.g. for mites; Herrin and Tipton, 1967, for bat flies; Tipton and Wenzel, 2011; Torres et al., 2019). As far as I am aware, COI data for ectoparasitic mites on bats for this region remains scarce. This scarcity of data makes some levels of identification, particularly for mites, challenging. Bruyndonckx et al., (2009) overcame the problem of an incomplete sequence database by complementing COI and 16S sequences of mites with morphological keys. This same approach was taken when identifying the bat flies

analysed here. For mites we used a combination of barcoding for larger specimens and metabarcoding for the microscopic specimens with mixed success. Our data suggest that a MOTU approach using any standard thresholds significantly overestimates mite diversity. When arranged phylogenetically or compared to reference material (figure 3.2) this over splitting becomes obvious where multiple MOTU are matched to the same reference material. While most sequences could not be classified to species, the overall ectoparasite diversity obtained from metabarcoding material from cotton swabs highlights the parasite richness potentially missed when considering larger, more easily captured ectoparasites. Improved genetic target regions and databases for mites should be developed to more easily identify this group.

I found some evidence that bat fly infections differ between continuous and fragmented habitats, and these responses appear to be species specific. The prevalence of *T. joblingi* on *C. perspicillata* was higher in fragments than in continuous forests, but the same was not true for *P. longicrus* on *A. lituratus*. Plausible reasons for this may have to do with roost conditions and colony sizes seen with each bat species. Bat fly populations are known to be larger in permanent roosts such as caves and buildings than transient arboreal based roosts (Dittmar et al., 2009; Patterson et al., 2007). Colony sizes can vary drastically among bat species, *A. lituratus* are known to form small harem colonies (one male, several females; Muñoz-Romo et al., 2008), reported to range between 3-15 individuals (Zortea and Chiarello, 1994), and remain in small colonies in fragmented habitats (Evelyn and Stiles, 2003). In contrast, while *C. perspicillata* may also form small harems (Porter, 1978), they also roost in mixed species colonies as large as 200 bats (Deleva and Chaverri, 2018). A combination of reduced viable roosts in fragmented habitats and the propensity for *C. perspicillata* to group in larger colonies may contribute to higher bat fly prevalence. Studies comparing parasite infection in other taxa from disturbed vs undisturbed habitats point to factors such as low habitat quality affecting stress levels (Lenihan et al., 2001; Ramírez-Hernández et al., 2019), and habitat heterogeneity and vegetation cover affecting host density and movement (Ruiz-Sánchez et al., 2017; Thamm et al., 2009; Young et al., 2015), which in turn affect a hosts susceptibility to parasite infection.

It is notable that in my two most captured species, bat fly infestation on female C. perspicillata females from fragments have higher infestations than those in continuous forests, and female A. lituratus in continuous forests had a higher infestation that males. Bat flies and other parasites have been known to sometimes favour female hosts, often attributed to reproductive status, where bat flies on pregnant and lactating females have access to juveniles, thereby increasing horizontal and vertical transmission of bat flies (Patterson et al., 2008a; Warburton et al., 2016) this may also be related to roost preference with females spending greater periods of time in dense roosting maternity colonies. However, while I did include pregnant and lactating females in the analyses, only a small number were infected with bat flies (5 infected out of 19 pregnant or lactating C. perspicillata; 15 out of 41 pregnant or lactating A. *lituratus*). An alternate explanation for the bias towards female hosts may be related to sexual dimorphism exhibited in some bat species where females are larger than males and can host a larger number of parasites (Presley and Willig, 2008). However, this sexual dimorphism is only seen in A. lituratus and not C. perspicillata in my sample, in line with previous analyses of sexual dimorphism in bats (Ulian and Rossi, 2017). (Rocha et al., 2017) observed more female than male neotropical bats in edge and matrix habitats, and this was more evident during the reproductive season. This

may point to less overlap between roosts utilized between the males and female bats, which could result in different infestation severity. Sex differences in parasitism is sometimes ascribed to behavioural and immunological differences between sexes in vertebrates (Klein, 2004). For example, androgens such as testosterone are thought to suppress the immune system (Hou and Wu, 1988) causing male-biased parasitism in some mammals (Schalk and Forbes, 1997). Sex hormones can also regulate behaviours that increase exposure to parasites from conspecifics such as aggression (Barnard et al., 1998; Folstad et al., 1989) or roaming (Altizer et al., 2003) during mating season. In contrast, (Rosso et al., 2020) found that males in the sexually dimorphic lizards *Anolis apletophallus* had more severe mite infestations due to their enlarged dewlap providing a nourishing attachment site, rather than solely due to immunological suppression.

Past studies on the effects of body condition on parasite infection have drawn varied conclusions. Patrício et al., (2016) and (Patterson et al., 2008b) found that body condition of bats had no effect on the degree of parasitism, while (Linhares and Komeno, 2006) saw bats with reduced body condition harbouring more parasites, and (Presley and Willig, 2008) found parasitism rate were positively correlated with body condition in some bat species, but negatively correlated in others. My models suggest that host mass and sex did not influence bat fly intensity in this study. Bize et al., (2008) observed highest intensity for ectoparasitic louse fly on Alpine swift hosts with moderate body condition, reasoning that while hosts in poor body condition had reduce immune defence, they also represent an inadequately nutritious resource, suggesting that a trade-off is made between nutrition and immunity. It is unknown to what extent bat flies can assess the immunocompetence of potential hosts, whether

they make that kind of evaluation prior to host selection in the wild or whether immunocompetence might be heritable along with parasite vertical transmission. However, a host-choice experiment conducted by (Witsenburg et al., 2015) found that bat flies had the ability to detect bats carrying non-infected stages of malaria-like parasites, and showed a preference for these hosts suggesting some level of host choice; although they admit that this behaviour is not seen in the wild, where host size and body condition were factors in host choice. In addition, Dick and Dick, (2006) found bat flies preferred clean hosts to those previously infested, but would avoid overcrowding on a single host, acknowledging an upper threshold to limit intraspecific competition. Admittedly, it is difficult to determine the cause-effect relationship between host body condition and infection intensity. For example, Fairn et al., (2008) found that insect host body condition was negatively correlated with parasitic mite intensity in wild populations and suggested that mite infection lowered host body condition, but also posited that hosts with poor body condition could simply be more susceptible to infection. However controlled infection experiments on guppies showed that guppies with relatively high body condition often become the most infested, as well as facilitate the spread of parasites within a population (Tadiri et al., 2013).

The distribution of parasites on host populations has empirically been described as a negative binomial distribution, where a small fraction of the host population carries a large portion of parasites (Wilson et al., 2006). I used the index of discrepancy (D) to measure parasite aggregation in the host population (Poulin, 1996), and find that most of the bat-bat fly pairings have values of D close to 1 (maximal inequality). The presence of this inequality in a host population has been linked to different host experiences, namely their exposure to parasites and their susceptibility to infection

(Wilson et al., 2001). Factors that have been linked to heterogenous levels of parasite exposure and susceptibility in other host-parasite systems include host personality (i.e. more social and active hosts risk exposure; Ezenwa et al., 2016), diet and infection history (i.e. nutrition and immunological memory;(Beechler et al., 2017),and host and parasite genotype compatibility (Morand et al., 1996; Tinsley et al., 2006), and chance encounters with 'high-risk environments' (e.g. a rodent host can become highly infested after encountering a cluster of nymphal ticks; (Calabrese et al., 2011). As mentioned previously, body condition can be linked to host susceptibility and distribution of parasites within a population (Fairn et al., 2008; Tadiri et al., 2013), however unlike the trend reported in those studies, bat flies here appear to be aggregated on hosts with moderate body condition.

Epidemiological estimates can be influenced by several sampling biases introduced by sampling method, study design, and sample size (Marques and Cabral, 2007). As an example of possible source of bias arising from sampling methods in this study, the parameters of streblid infestation of bats captured through netting alone may differ from bats remaining in roosts. These forms of observational biases (e.g. encountering, capturing, detecting certain groups of individuals) adds to the uncertainty in general conclusions made in disease ecology studies to wider communities (Lachish and Murray, 2018).

Poulin (2011) reported that observational bias can greatly affect the calculation of epidemiological indices in parasites showing aggregated populations, especially when sample sizes are small. Since aggregated parasite distributions means that most parasites are found on a few hosts, the likelihood of underestimating true values of

infestation intensity and abundance becomes more severe when fewer hosts are sampled as highly infected hosts are rarer (Jovani and Tella, 2006; Marques and Cabral, 2007). Morgan et al. (2005) observed that sample size bias is common when examining host classes such as age; where individuals from the oldest age classes tend to be underrepresented; however, they also note that mean burdens and infection prevalence are less sensitive to undersampling aggregated distributions. In this chapter, I observed higher bat fly intensities in host with moderate mass (figure 3.4). However, hosts with moderate mass were sampled much more frequently than hosts of low or high mass. Due to aggregated bat fly distributions, it is possible that infection intensities were underrepresented in hosts of low and high body mass to be compared on this basis.

Bats are a major focus for monitoring the emergence of infectious zoonotic diseases (López-Baucells et al., 2018b; Rabozzi et al., 2012; Webber and Willis, 2016). Bloodfeeding arthropods are thought to be important potential vectors in the maintenance of diseases in wild bat populations (Melaun et al., 2014), although the capacity for these arthropods to spread zoonotic infections to humans directly is speculated to be small (Dick and Dittmar, 2014). Many genetic studies have shown that bat flies and wing mites carry the same strains of pathogens that infect their bat hosts (e.g. Bartonella; Morse et al., 2012a, Rickettsia; Wilkinson et al., 2016a, White-Nose-Syndrome; Lučan et al., 2016a), and habitat disturbance has been shown to increase the prevalence of vector-transmitted diseases (Cottontail et al., 2009c). Habitat disturbances such as deforestation and urbanisation can affect disease risk in wildlife and human populations by impacting biodiversity, sanitation, and population density (Wood et al., 2017). High biodiversity has been shown to reduce disease risk in wild populations by diluting the population of susceptible hosts and sustaining populations of less competent host species within the community (Rohr et al., 2020; Wood et al., 2014). See chapter 6 for discussion on biodiversity-disease hypothesis.

Taken together, this study suggests additional consideration of host-parasite communities need to be taken to grasp the extent to which habitat disturbances can affect host ecology. Additionally, these effects may only be present in certain subcommunities, and the underlying ecological consequences need to be understood. Future work into surveying parasitic communities should consider both the visible and microscopic parasites, not only to better represent the potential pressures experienced by their hosts, but also illuminate possible interactions between the parasites themselves.

Chapter 4: The impact of habitat fragmentation on hostsymbiont networks

Abstract

Habitat fragmentation is a widespread disruptive force in ecological systems, and considerable effort has focused on understanding the impact on charismatic megafauna. In contrast, relatively little attention has been given to symbionts, particularly parasites, and how host-parasite relationships are affected by changing environmental conditions. Studies focusing on parasites are typically concerned with epidemiological metrics and how changes in host population affects parasite population dynamics. In contrast, I will focus on ectoparasitic bat flies which have a direct lifecycle with their bat hosts, and an obligatory pupal development stage on roost substratum and may thus respond directly to the environment. I also examine the gut microbiota of these parasites to provide insight on pathogen vector potential. I use bipartite network analysis and AIC-based model selection to examine the structure of bat-ectoparasite and ectoparasite-endosymbiont interactions across varying landscape metrics in a fragmented system in the Atlantic Forest. Bat fly richness was positively correlated with bat host richness, whereas endosymbiont richness was correlated with landscape properties rather than bat fly richness. I found that for both bat-ectoparasitic and ectoparasite-endosymbiont networks, differences in connectance and nestedness were not explained by landscape. Network modularity increased with habitat area in ectoparasitic networks, and modularity decreased with

habitat isolation in endosymbiont networks. However, both effects were present only when continuous forest sites were included in the analysis. My finding suggests that parasitic and microbial networks may not be sensitive to the environmental factors that affect hosts, but that microbial richness may respond to changes in landscape. A better understanding of how parasites and microbes respond to landscape change should be encouraged to predict changes in vectors of emerging infectious diseases.

Introduction

Habitat fragmentation

Ecosystems are comprised of species which exist within a complex network of interactions among organisms set within the biotic and abiotic environment. These systems can be slow to adapt to perturbations, especially when compared to the rapid changes occurring due to climate change (Erasmus et al., 2002; Walther et al., 2002) and landscape conversion (Lomolino and Perault, 2004; Meijer et al., 2011). In response to species loss, ecological networks have been observed to become simpler (Gonzalez et al., 2011), and often less connected (Gilbert, 2009), and more prone to secondary extinctions (Eklöf and Ebenman, 2006). The stability of ecological networks is frequently discussed alongside measurements of network complexity. In general, more complex networks composed of an abundance of connected prey species tend to be more stable (Uchida and Drossel, 2007), and a large number of generalist species have a strong role increasing the connectance of networks (Dunne et al., 2002). In contrast, systems dominated by specialists are susceptible to disturbance (Memmott et al., 2007). (McCann, 2000) suggests that it is not species diversity per se that drives ecosystem stability, but the diversity of functional groups able to differentially respond to changes in the ecosystem, and some studies highlight the fact that an abundance of

species exhibiting weak-interactions can safeguard a network from destabilising fluctuations due to the loss of strongly connected species (Amarasekare, 2003; Kokkoris et al., 1999).

Large-scale habitat fragmentation decreases the viability of many populations by affecting dispersal (Cushman, 2006), mortality, and reproductive rates (Andrén and Andren, 1994). This is often thought to be because fragmentation normally coincides with reduced habitat sizes which may not contain sufficient resources (Brühl et al., 2003). However, habitat size and fragmentation are not always linked and when there is no actual decrease in overall habitat size, resources may still be unevenly distributed among fragments (Williams and Kremen, 2007) thus fragmentation can have consequences independent of any change in overall habitat availability. The distinction between the impacts of habitat fragmentation and habitat loss is often subtle (Teixeira, 2019), and detangling these confounding effects is complex (Fahrig, 2007; Mortelliti et al., 2010; Thrush et al., 2008). For example, Bonin et al., (2011) reported time-dependent contrasting effects of fragmentation and habitat loss on coral reefs, with species richness and abundance of fish increasing initially but eventually tapering off in fragmented habitats, whereas species decline due to habitat loss only increased over time.

A distinct feature associated with habitat fragmentation is the often-increased isolation of remaining habitat patches. In these cases, population numbers may not be replenished by immigration from neighbouring communities (Magrach et al., 2011). While there is a general trend towards population decline due to habitat fragmentation, some species thrive in disturbed environments, particularly if they are good colonizers (Lynam and Billick, 1999), and can exploit situational resource

abundance (Benstead and Pringle, 2004), and escape from natural enemies (Roland, 1993a) which cannot themselves move between fragments. (Antongiovanni and Metzger, 2005) were able to classify birds in Manaus, Amazonia as either highly sensitive, moderately sensitive, or positively affected by fragmentation based on their persistence in habitat with different levels of disturbance, finding that some species were more abundant in secondary fragments than primary forests. However, in a study of beetles in fragmented habitats (Didham et al., 1998) acknowledge the usefulness of classifying species responses, but discuss the importance of examining complexity in life histories, providing examples of beetles designated as small-area, edge avoiders or large area, edge specialists, but speculating that these beetles may utilize different landscapes during their adult and juvenile stages, making such designations subject to change.

Measuring species interactions

While a large body of research has considered the response of biodiversity to habitat loss (Fahrig, 2003; Hanski, 2015), much less attention has been given to how species interaction networks are affected (but see for example, Ferreira et al., 2013; Hagen et al., 2012) and almost none have considered multiple trophic levels of interactions simultaneously. In network analysis interactions are represented as a graphical model. Many levels of biological hierarchy have been represented in networks, from genes and proteins in transcription regulation (Ramaprasad et al., 2012), to interacting species in communities (Sarmento et al., 2014). In ecosystem ecology, ecological networks consist of collections of potentially interacting species represented by nodes connected by edges (observed interactions). These networks typically represent predation (Allesina and Pascual, 2008), pollination (Vázquez et al., 2009), or parasitism (Rigaud et al., 2010); and measuring changes in these structures over time or space allows us to quantify dynamic systems. For example, to assess the flow of energy through the ecosystem, to measure the stability of the community in the face of environmental changes (Laliberté and Tylianakis, 2010a) or to identify key species maintaining ecosystem structure (Hagen et al., 2012; Morris, 2010). They also provide a predictive model allowing us to quantify the robustness of an ecosystem against future species loss (Kaiser-Bunbury et al., 2010) and pinpoint species responsible for the preservation of ecosystem services (García-Algarra et al., 2017).

One way to assess ecological systems is by measuring mathematical properties, or 'metrics' across multiple networks generated from measuring species interactions. Node-level metrics such as degree (number of links a node has; Jordano et al., 2003a) and centrality (proximity to other nodes in the system; Freeman, 1978) determine which nodes functionally bind the system together (e.g. in food webs, herbivores can act as bottlenecks for energy moving towards higher trophic levels Proulx et al., 2005); whereas network-level metrics such as connectance (proportion of potential links that are observed; Jordano, 2000) and nestedness (tendency of 'specialist' nodes to share interaction partners with 'generalist' nodes, Bascompte et al., 2003) can be used to compare the robustness of different systems to disturbance (e.g. a more connected and nested system would be less prone to collapse after initial extinction events Dunne et al., 2002).

Analysing species interactions has improved our understanding of the causes and consequences of biodiversity loss in disturbed habitats. For example, the loss of habitat complexity (homogenisation) through deforestation has been observed to simplify predation networks (food webs) by exposing prey to predation (Laliberté and

Tylianakis, 2010b). Similarly species loss reduces the compartmentalisation (modularity) of some networks making them more vulnerable to invasive species and the spread of infectious agents (Marichal et al., 2010; Morris et al., 2016). However, network ecology is still an emerging field, with most existing literature focused on examining plant-mutualistic networks (Fortuna and Bascompte, 2006; Jordano et al., 2003b; Nielsen and Totland, 2014). Host-parasitoid (Lill et al., 2002; Macfadyen et al., 2011; MacFadyen et al., 2009), and other antagonistic networks or food webs (Mokross et al., 2013) have not received the same emphasis. Where antagonistic food webs have been explored, these studies tend to feature larger free-living species, with fewer examples of how networks of smaller, more cryptic organisms such as obligatory parasites and bacterial symbionts are affected by habitat disturbance. Where parasitism and habitat disturbance has been explored, the focus is on parasite prevalence driven by interest in regulating emerging infectious diseases (Bordes et al., 2015a; Hahn et al., 2014a; Lafferty, 2009; Sebaio et al., 2010) with minimal focus on ecological processes.

Host-parasite interactions and bacterial symbiosis

Despite a ubiquitous presence, parasitism is often overlooked in ecological networks, partly because of the small size of most parasites relative to their hosts which makes them difficult to study, and, particularly for microparasites, even more difficult to quantify (Gómez and Nichols, 2013; Lafferty et al., 2008; Marcogliese, 2004). Parasites are classified as symbionts bearing a non-lethal but negative effect for their hosts (Esch and Poulin, 2006), usually stealing nutrients (Schwanz, 2006), and limiting host growth and reproduction rate (Gorrell and Schulte-Hostedde, 2008). Studies of parasites in networks acknowledge their role as strong evolutionary forces against host fitness (Lindholm et al., 2006), impacting populations directly (Hersh et al., 2014), as well as through their role as vectors of disease (Bradley and Altizer, 2007; Patz et al., 2000). However, there is increasing interest in understanding the role parasites play in shaping the structure and function of ecosystems by contributing to species diversity (Dunne et al., 2013), biomass (Marcogliese, 2004), and as food sources for other organisms (Johnson et al., 2010). Even in the context of endangered species conservation, there is a move against complete eradication of parasites even within vulnerable host populations, as they appear to have a role keeping immune systems primed against novel pathogens (Gompper and Williams, 2010).

Parasites are often investigated as potential vectors of infectious diseases, however the microbial endosymbionts of these parasites are also of increasing interest as they mediate behavioural and physiological traits of their vector hosts (Feldhaar, 2011). For instance, within Tsetse flies (*Diptera* : *Glossinidae*) which transmit African sleeping sickness, obligate mutualist bacteria they harbour have been shown to greatly reduce their vector competence (Aksoy et al., 2008). Pathogenic and mutualistic microbes often share the same environment in insect vectors (arthropod midgut), and beneficial endosymbionts can provide protection to the host from pathogen infection either through immune system priming (Cerf-Bensussan and Gaboriau-Routhiau, 2010; Gehrer and Vorburger, 2012), or competitive exclusion (Dillon et al., 2005; Hamdi et al., 2011). The complex interactions of vector microbiomes and their potential impact on the spread of infectious diseases is driving research in bacterial symbiont diversity and tolerance to environmental change (Becker et al., 2017; Palumbi et al., 2017; Ribes et al., 2016) but very little is known about how such interactions may vary with landscape level factors.

Atlantic Forest

The Atlantic Forest of Brazil is one of the planet's most diverse rainforests, originally spanning 150 million ha (Pardini et al., 2010; Ribeiro et al., 2009). It is thought to include 1-8% of the world's total biodiversity, but faced heavy fragmentation and land conversion for agricultural exploitation starting in the 16th century (Cezar Ribeiro et al., 2011; Silva and Casteleti, 2003). Existing nature reserves protect 9% of remaining forests, which encompass only 1% of the original forest (Ribeiro et al., 2009). Most of the remaining forest is found in small (<50 ha) fragments of secondary forests, with an average of 1440m between patches and diameters as small as 100m (Lira et al., 2012b). This long history of fragmentation has driven an interest in research on the long term impacts on ecosystem functioning in terms of edge effects (Pardini, 2004), habitat loss (Tabarelli et al., 2005), and isolation (Lira et al., 2012b).

Bats (Chiroptera) are the second most species rich order of mammals (after rodents) and collectively fulfil important ecosystem services such as pollination, seed dispersal, and insect control (Ghanem and Voigt, 2012; Kunz et al., 2011). Their influence in shaping ecosystems coupled with their mobility makes them an important conservation target (Teixeira et al., 2014). Bats are hosts to obligate parasitic bat flies (Diptera: Nycteribiidae and Streblidae), which are highly specialised haemophagous arthropods. Bat flies are typically ectoparasitic and adapted to live in the bats' fur, the only known exception to this is the genus *Ascodipteron* with females embedding themselves within the bat's skin (Jobling, 1949). Bat flies can cause their hosts to suffer weight loss (Linhares and Komeno, 2000) and engage in excessive grooming (ter Hofstede et al., 2004), and bat flies have been linked to smaller brain size (Bordes et al., 2008). In addition, there has been interest in bat flies as potential reservoirs of
zoonotic pathogens such as *Bartonella* (Reeves et al., 2007), *Rickettsia* (Tahir et al., 2016; David A Wilkinson et al., 2016), and the dengue virus (Abundes-Gallegos et al., 2018).

Bat flies reproduce via adenotrophic viviparity, whereby a single larva hatches and develops within the female, and females deposit and attach prepupae (the mature larval stage preceding pupation) onto bat roost substratum, where they develop into pupae (Aguiar and Antonini, 2011). This obligatory interface with the bat roost suggests these ectoparasites are sensitive to changes in habitat structure beyond their direct interaction with host bats. These ectoparasites are, in turn, hosts to a consortium of microbes; some commonly studied pathogens mentioned previously (e.g. Bartonella, Rickettsia), and some only recently recognized as belonging to a rich and diverse clade of insect-symbiotic bacteria: Arsenophonus (Lack et al., 2011). Arsenophonus-strains and Arsenophonus-like organisms (henceforth referred to as ALOs) are exceptionally common in bat flies, and also found in numerous arthropod orders including hemipterans, and hymenopterans (Duron et al., 2014; Patterson et al., 2013a). Currently, not much is known about the exact function or impact each of these microbes have on bat flies, but the wide distribution of ALOs in insects likely hint to an important role; some speculated functions include sex ratio distortion (Dale et al., 2006), nutritional supplementation (Santos-Garcia et al., 2018), and parasitoid defence in some taxa (Duron, 2014).

For the purposes of this thesis, I use the term "ectoparasite" to refer to the dipteran ectoparasite and "microbe" to refer to the microbial symbiont of the ectoparasite, though it is acknowledged that these terms do not completely reflect the ecology of either group; for example, some microbial symbionts are intracellular parasites (e.g.

Wolbachia and *Bartonella*) (Solon F Morse et al., 2012). For simplicity I use 'ectoparasitic network' when referring to the interaction between bat flies and their bat hosts, and 'endosymbiont network' for bacteria associated with bat flies. This chapter follows on from existing work on bat-resource networks in the same fragmented habitats to create a multi-trophic level approach to investigating disturbed ecosystems (Teixeira, 2019a). The previous study of bat-resource networks has shown that smaller, more isolated habitats tended to have more nested networks, but other changes in network structure were unexplained by landscape variables (Teixeira, 2019a).

In this chapter I investigate bat fly-bat and endosymbiont-bat fly interactions in fragmented habitat of the Atlantic Forest. I use DNA barcoding and DNA metabarcoding to identify ectoparasites and microbes respectively and construct networks of interactions in each of 10 forest fragments and three control sites within a reserve. Using these data and a collection of environmental variables I then test the following predictions: 1) As communities occupy smaller and more isolated habitats, then they will contain simpler, less diverse networks for bat flies, but the impact on microbes will be less pronounced; 2) These networks should be more connected, and less nested for both layers of the networks; and 3) landscape gradients that affect the structure of bat fly-bat networks should affect endosymbiont-bat fly networks in similar patterns.

Methods

Methods for field collections and identification of bat flies are described in Chapter 3. PCR Amplification and Sequencing of Microbes

Methods described in this section were performed at the American Museum of Natural History by Dr. Kelly Speer (Speer et al., 2020). Following bat fly identification, DNA extracts from bat fly abdomens were used to amplify microbial DNA by targeting the hypervariable region 4 (V4) of bacterial 16S rRNA. 16S rRNA PCR reactions consisted of 10 µL 5PRIME HotMasterMix (Quantabio), 0.2 µM of each primer, 5 µL template DNA, and sterile water adding up to 25 µL. The thermocycling program is as follows: initial denaturation at 94 °C for 15 minutes, 30 cycles of 55 °C for 30 seconds and 65 °C for 30 seconds, and a final extension of 65 °C for 5 minutes. PCRs were cleaned using SPRI magnetic beads (Beckman Coulter) and had their concentrations estimated using the Qubit 2.0 fluorometer dsDNA HS Assay Kit (Invitrogen). The Bioanalyzer 2100 DNA High Sensitivity chip (Agilent) was used to verify aliquots (10%) of samples for quality and amplicon size. Samples then had indexing primers attached via PCR. The concentration and quality of Indexed libraries were verified again and concentrated to at least 2nM. Library concentration was done by recleaning with SPRIselect beads, desiccating samples via vacufuge, and re-hydrating with 4-6µL of sterile water, depending on initial concentration. 206 samples were found to be lowyield and were pooled equimolarly into a 3.4nM pool. A final pool of 229 libraries was sequenced using an Illumina MiSeq v3 Reagent Kit with 2x300bp reads and 18% PhiX spike-in. 16s Reads were de-multiplexed and processed using the microbiome bioinformatics QIIME2 pipeline (<u>https://docs.giime2.org/2018.2/</u>). Chimeras and reads containing PhiX were removed using DADA2, and clustered into amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) (Callahan et al., 2016). 16S references were obtained by trimming the GreenGenes Database v13.5 to the 16S rRNA V4 region (DeSantis et al., 2006). All reads were filtered to remove low resolution data and contaminants (using the R

package *decontam*) (Davis et al., 2018); additional detail on filtering criteria is available in Speer (2019). A coverage depth filter was then implemented to exclude all ASVs with fewer than 5 detected copies within individual bat flies. The MAFFT plug-in in QIIME2 was used to align the remaining reads (Katoh et al., 2005; Katoh and Toh, 2008). Highly variable regions of the alignment were masked using default options, and a midpoint-rooted phylogeny was built using the FastTree plug-in (Price et al., 2010). Tables of ASVs found in each sample, the taxonomic identification of those ASVs, and the created phylogeny were exported from QIIME2 and reformatted to be input into the *phyloseq* package in R (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013, 2012).

Constructing Bipartite Networks

Using the assigned taxonomy for bats, bat flies, and bacteria described in Chapter 3, I constructed 2 different bipartite networks for each of the 13 sites in this study. For ectoparasites I created a matrix where I recorded an interaction for each species of bat fly found on each species of bat, regardless of infestation intensity. For endosymbionts, I similarly measured the frequency of each bacterial genus found to associate with each species of bat fly, regardless of their relative abundances. For each of the 13 sites, I generated a frequency-based adjacency matrix tallying up the interactions. I then created a total of 26 bipartite networks from these matrices using the *bipartite* package (Dormann et al., 2009) in R v3.5.1 (R Core Team, 2019). I calculated three network metrics using the *networklevel* function from *bipartite*, namely (weighted) connectance, niche overlap, and (weighted) NODF; and one metric, modularity was calculated using the *fast.greedy* function from the *igraph* package in R (Csárdi and Nepusz, 2006). Both unweighted and weighted connectance describe the ratio of realised links in the whole network relative to the total number of possible

links, but with weighted connectance, each link is weighed depending on the interaction strength (frequency) (Tylianakis et al., 2007; van Altena et al., 2016). Nestedness measures the degree to which specialists interact with subsets of species which generalists also interact with (Almeida-Neto et al., 2008). NODF (nestedness with overlap and decreasing fill) outputs a value from 0 to 100 (no nestedness to completely nested), and is known to be less sensitive to fluctuating species numbers than other measures of nestedness (e.g. nestedness temperature), so is more suitable for datasets which have varying sample sizes across treatments or sites (Almeida-Neto et al., 2007). Modularity estimates the clustering in a network, where nodes interact more with each other within clusters than nodes outside of it (Thébault, 2013).

Calculating Landscape Metrics

Several measurements to describe each of the 13 forest sites were calculated by Teixeira (2019). He used a combination of forest cover maps from Instituto Brasileiro de Geografia (IBGE), SOS Mata Atlântica (www.sosmataatlantica.com.br), and ESRI base maps available from ArcGIS software v10.1 to obtain a map of the forest remnants in this study that was then exported into the software Fragstats v3.1 in a *geotiff* format. Fragstats is a spatial pattern analysis program that takes in image files of landscapes and calculates landscape metrics. For this study I used fragment area (in hectares) and isolation (shortest distance to another patch of forest) as metrics for landscape spatial structure.

To measure habitat complexity, Teixeira (2019) followed methods described in (Delciellos et al., 2016) to select nine habitat variables (vertical overstory density, horizontal vegetation density, predominant tree size, presence of water courses, *Cecropia* trees, lianas, grasses or bamboos, palms of *Astrocaryum aculeatissimum* and

number of fallen logs). These variables were combined and reduced to two components via Principal Component Analysis under the *prcomp* function in R; the first component (PCAhab1) was positively associated with watercourses and *Cecropia* trees, but negatively associated with lianas, whilst the second component (PCAhab2) was positively associated with overstory, understory, and fallen logs.

Statistical Analysis and Model Selection

I measured the sampling completeness of my networks using the SCw2 metric as described in (Macgregor et al., 2017) which scales the weighting of species depending on their number of interactions, favouring generalists, and does not heavily penalise a dataset for unobserved rare interactions. Chao2 was used as the richness estimator because of its robustness to small sample sizes (Colwell and Coddington, 1995). I built sets of candidate linear models to represent plausible a priori hypotheses reflecting how the network metrics connectance, nestedness, and modularity might be influenced by landscape metrics. From the landscape measures taken from Teixeira (2019), I chose a small subset of variables that have been reported to be correlated with properties of interaction networks, namely habitat size (Prugh et al., 2008; Sugiura, 2010), isolation or distance between neighbouring habitat (Miyazono and Taylor, 2013), and habitat complexity or heterogeneity (Laliberté and Tylianakis, 2010b). Before listing candidate models, I used the *vif* function from *car* package v3.0.6 to test for multicollinearity among the 4 variables : logArea, Isolation, PCAhab1 and PCAhab2. I found that logArea and PCAhab1 both had vif scores of >5, suggesting these predictors are highly correlated (Table 4.1). To avoid inflated coefficient estimates in my models, I opted to removed PCAhab1 from my analysis, but retained logArea as habitat size is one of the defining aspects of habitat fragmentation.

Table 4.1: vi	f scores of	predictor	variables	includina	PCAhab1	(A).	. and without	PCAhab1	(B)	١.
10010 1111 11	0001000	predictor	variabies	menading	1 0/ 11/0/01	1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1		1 0/ 11/0/0 1	(- /	

А	logArea	Isolation	PCAhab1	PCAhab2	В	logArea	Isolation	PCAhab2
	44.9817	3.678691	56.76394	1.165223		1.507312	1.579803	1.120711

I use the second-order bias-corrected Akaike Information Critera (AICc) to select models that best describe the relationship between network structure and landscape. AIC and AICc are derived from the Kullback-Leibler information (K-L) approach for model selection, which calculates the *information lost* when applying a candidate model to approximate real data, allowing users to identify the models in the candidate model set that lose the least information (Beier et al., 2001; Burnham and Anderson, 2001). The Akaike Information Criterion (Akaike, 1973) then links K-L information and maximised log-likelihood (abbreviated as LL here), as defined in the following formula: AIC = -2(log-likelihood) + 2K; where log-likelihood is the measure of model fit (the higher the number, the better the fit), and K is the number of model parameters including the intercept and functions to penalize overfitted models. In practice, the AIC values for each model in a set is calculated, and the model with the lowest AIC is chosen as the "best" for losing the least K-L information (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). AICc is a distinct variant of AIC that comparatively provides a more accurate estimate when sample sizes are small, and converges with AIC as sample size increases (Hurvich and Tsai, 1989; Sugiura, 1978).

For each network metric, I listed a set of 1-2 variable linear models and an interceptonly model, ranking them based on AICc. AICc tables were generated using the *aictab* function from *AICcmodavg* package v2.2.2. I chose to set an upper limit of 2-variables for my candidate models based on the number of data points available to include in my regressions, which is 13 sampling sites. Testing complex models without *a priori* reasoning is generally discouraged, as the frequency of type-I errors (false positives) increases with number of predictor variables in model selection (Forstmeier and Schielzeth, 2011). A n/k ratio of 10 has been suggested as a conservative guide for predictor numbers, where n is the number of data points available and k is the number of predictors (Harrison et al., 2018).

My interpretation of AICc comparison tables are based on methods suggested by (Mazerolle, 2004) and technical recommendations for using AIC by (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). I use both Δ AICc and Akaike weights (AICcWt) to evaluate the candidate models. Δ AICc is the difference of AICc of a given model and the model with the lowest AICc, and the Akaike weights represent the ratio of Δ AICc for each model in a set given that the sum of weights equals 1. Akaike weights can also be used to compute an 'evidence ratio' to compare support between pairs of models (Burnham and Anderson, 2002). For example, if given the AICcWt for model *q* is 0.50 and AICcWt model *t* is 0.35, then the evidence ratio is calculated as 0.50/0.35 is 1.43, and indicates that model *q* has 1.43 times more support than model *t*.

For each set, the models with Δ AICc between 0-7 were used to make inference about the relationship between landscape and network structure. Generally, models with Δ AICc < 2 are considered having as good a support as the best model, and models with Δ AICc 2-7 have enough support to be considered for inference (Burnham and Anderson, 2002; Richards, 2008). I calculate the evidence ratio using for every candidate model in a set with respect to the top model of that set. I also use the nesting rule (Richards, 2008, 2005) to eliminate complex models from my candidate

set when there are simpler nested models with lower AIC_c. For example, if model A contains all the parameters of model B and at least one additional parameter, model B is considered to be "nested" within model A, and so if model B has a lower AIC_c than model A, the latter nested model will be excluded from the candidate set under the nesting rule. I then report the adjusted R² (variance explained by the model) for the remaining models as a measure of how useful the model is (Miles, 2014).

These methods for model selection were repeated to include only the 10 sites represent fragmented forest sites. This was done to detect patterns emerging due to the implicit differences between relatively pristine (REGUA 1,2, and 3) and disturbed habitats (F1-F10), rather than the explicit landscape measurements that was being tested. I refer to these distinct datasets as the complete dataset (n=13), and the fragmented dataset (n=10). I also compared the means of each network metric belonging to the fragmented and continuous forest datasets using a Welch two-sample t-test to determine their independence.

Results

Sample collections and identifications

Teixeira (2019) collected 988 bats representing 26 species, 343 (34%) of which were parasitized by at least one bat fly. Bat fly epidemiology is explored in more detail in Chapter 3, but in general, site F10 had the highest prevalence (44% of bats were hosts). The most abundant host species was also the most abundant bat collected *Carollia perspicillata*, with 176 hosts from 383 captures, followed by *Artibeus lituratus*, with 55 hosts from 190 captures. A total of 842 bat flies were collected from 17 bat species. 813 of these bat flies were morphologically identified to species level and the remaining 29 were only identified to genus (association visualised in Figure 4.1). However, molecular analysis using DNA barcoding via *COI* (Hebert et al., 2003) supports the allocation of these bat flies to 20 described species, and 5 species-level MOTUs (molecular operational taxonomic unit (Floyd et al., 2002); e.g. denoted *Trichobius sp.1, Trichobius sp.2, etc.*). About half (n=436) of the total bat fly collection was obtained from samples of *C. perspicillata*, and the most abundant bat fly throughout was *Trichobius joblingi*, representing 303 individuals, 292 of which were found on *C. perspicillata*. Site F7 had the highest incidence (201 bat flies collected). See Chapter 3 for full details.

From this sample, 196 bat flies were used for endosymbiont analysis, this subsample only included bat flies whose species identities were morphologically confirmed. These were subjected to molecular analysis and bioinformatics following (Speer, 2019). In total, 189 sequencing libraries remained after quality filtering, for an average of 4247 reads per library and these data formed 1101 ASVs. The three most abundant bacterial endosymbionts found were *Arsenophonus sp.* (family Enterobacteriaceae), *Bartonella sp.* (family Bartonellaceae), *and Wolbachia sp.* (family Rickettsiaceae), an overview is available in Figiure 4.2. There were differences in the prevalence of *Wolbachia sp.* across streblid and nycteribid bat flies; with it being always present in the Nycteribidae (n=22) and detected in only 27% of the Streblidae (n=170).



Figure 4.1. All infested bats (bottom row) and associated bat flies (top row) identified and used in ectoparasitic network ana lysis. Width of bars represent relative frequencies and red lines denote singleton interactions.



Figure 4.2 heat map of bacterial genus (columns) found in bat fly species (rows). Darker colours indicate higher intensity.

Population characteristics across sites

Bat fly richness across sites ranged from 5 species in fragment F3 to 16 species in control site REGUA 1 (Table 4.2) and was positively correlated with the richness of bat hosts collected (coefficient= 1.169, adj. $R^2 = 0.5735$, $\Delta AIC_c= 10.21$ compared to the next best model). The prevalence of observed bat fly infection across sites was explained by habitat complexity, where prevalence decreased in more heterogenous habitat (coefficient= -0.021, adj. $R^2 = 0.1146$, $\Delta AIC_c=-39.60$ compared to the next best model). Endosymbiont richness ranged from 16 genera in fragment F8 to 50 genera in both control sites REGUA 1 and 3 and was found to be best explained by area, isolation, and habitat heterogeneity rather than bat fly diversity (adj. $R^2 = 0.6962$, $\Delta AIC_c=-13.22$ compared to the next best model).

	Ectoparasit	tic layer		Endosymbiont	layer	
	Bats	Bat flies	SCw2	Bat flies	Bacteria	SCw2
F1	3	8	74.07	5	41	66.91
F2	4	7	92.84	6	25	55.02
F3	3	5	93.02	5	23	70.99
F4	7	9	83.76	8	37	63.97
F5	5	8	75.68	4	21	52.17
F6	3	6	78.05	3	30	20.91
F7	7	10	100.00	7	20	53.95
F8	7	13	97.56	7	16	72.43
F9	7	8	100.00	5	27	69.99
F10	6	10	93.62	7	40	64.54
REGUA1	8	16	85.82	10	50	33.47
REGUA2	8	10	97.50	5	39	44.31
REGUA3	8	12	94.38	6	50	34.62

Table 4.2. Richness and sampling completeness for networks of both trophic layers. Sampling completeness was calculated using Chao2 estimator. Values for richness indicate species except for Bacteria where it is bacterial genus

AICc-based model selection

Network metrics for each sampling site are listed in Table 4.3 and tables 4.4 and 4.5 show the ranking of candidate models for all sets tested when data from all 13 sampling sites were included (Table 4.4a, 4.5a), and when continuous forest sites were excluded (Table 4.4b, 4.5b). There are 6 sets of models for each trophic layer organised as follows: one set for each network metric (connectance, nestedness, modularity), and two ways the data was analysed (the complete and fragmented datasets). Almost all model sets have multiple candidates within Δ AICc < 2, and very few models being Δ AICc > 7. Table 4.6 lists the summaries for the top models in every set (the top 2 models when possible) that ranked higher than the intercept-only models and were not excluded under the nesting rule.

For the ectoparasitic layer the best fit models (Δ AICc < 2) describing the connectancelandscape relationship include a logArea model (AICcWt = 0.46, adj.R² = 0.278), followed by both logArea + PCAhab2 (AICcWt = 0.25, adj.R² = 0.356) and the interceptonly model weighted at 0.18. The first two models here are nested, both having logArea in common and the second model additionally having PCAhab2, and the evidence ratio between them is 1.84. The best fit models describing the nestednesslandscape relationship included PCAhab2 (adj.R² = 0.166) followed very closely by the intercept-only model (Δ AICc = 0.03), with both models each weighing at 0.37. The next best model in the set was logArea (Δ AICc = 2.88, AICcWt = 0.09, adj.R² = -0.04). The logArea model (AICcWt = 0.58, adj.R² = 0.371) was the only best fit model in the modularity-landscape set (Figiure 4.3), the model that followed was Isolation (Δ AICc = 3.26, AICcWt = 0.11, adj.R² = 0.191), with an evidence ratio of 1.94 between them.

	Ectoparasit	ic Layer		Endosymbior	nt Layer	
	wConn	wNODF	Mod	wConn	wNODF	Mod
F1	0.16	0.00	0.54	0.15	16.61	0.077
F2	0.15	0.00	0.57	0.19	23.91	0.16
F3	0.20	0.00	0.46	0.24	26.55	0.24
F4	0.10	1.75	0.67	0.14	19.38	0.31
F5	0.11	0.00	0.56	0.22	27.98	0.37
F6	0.23	5.56	0.42	0.26	19.74	0.041
F7	0.10	0.00	0.42	0.16	21.45	0.065
F8	0.10	5.89	0.58	0.17	20.45	0.085
F9	0.10	2.04	0.55	0.19	19.10	0.13
F10	0.13	5.83	0.33	0.14	16.84	0.16
REGUA1	0.09	3.60	0.71	0.14	17.09	0.2
REGUA2	0.08	1.37	0.75	0.18	26.71	0.15
REGUA3	0.08	2.66	0.71	0.14	18.76	0.4

Table 4.3: Network metrics for both trophic layers. Metrics include weighted connectance (wConn), weighted nestedness with overlap and decreasing fill (wNODF), and modularity (Mod).



Figure 4.3 Modularity of endosymbiont networks across habitat isolation, and ectoparasitic networks across habitat area. Regressions show trend when including or excluding control sites.

Table 4.4. Support for candidate models predicting the effect of landscape variables on structure of ectoparasitic networks for the complete (A) and fragmented (B) datasets. The number of parameters (K), AICc_c values, Δ AICc_c, model weights (AICcWt), cumulative weights (C.Wt), Log-likelihood (LL), and evidence ratio (ER) are reported. ER is always calculated based on the top model of that set. Landscape variables are as follows: logArea (LArea), Isolation (Iso), and PCAhab2 (PCA2). Models in bold indicate Δ AICc < 2. Models in grey indicate C.Wt < 0.95

(A) Complet	te ecto	oparasitic s	et (n=13)								
Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER				
Weighted Conr	nectan	се									
LArea	3	-41.33	0	0.46	0.46	25	1.00				
LArea + PCA2	4	-39.75	1.58	0.25	0.67	26.38	1.84				
~1	2	-39.43	1.9	0.18	0.84	22.32	2.55				
LArea + Iso	4	-37.26	4.07	0.06	0.90	25.13	7.66				
lso	3	-36.75	4.58	0.05	0.95	22.71	9.20				
PCA2	3	-36.51	4.82	0.04	0.99	22.59	11.50				
Iso + PCA2	4	-33.69	7.64	0.01	1	23.34	46.00				
Weighted NODF											
PCA2	3	63.06	0	0.37	0.37	-27.2	1.00				
~1	2	63.09	0.03	0.37	0.74	-28.95	1.00				
LArea	3	65.95	2.88	0.09	0.83	-28.64	4.11				
lso	3	66.5	3.43	0.07	0.9	-28.92	5.28				
LArea +PCA2	4	67.23	4.16	0.05	0.94	-27.11	7.40				
lso + PCA2	4	67.25	4.19	0.05	0.99	-27.13	7.40				
LArea + Iso	4	70.22	7.15	0.01	1	-28.61	37.00				
Modularity											
LArea	3	-16.17	0	0.58	0.58	12.42	1.00				
Iso	3	-12.9	3.26	0.11	0.7	10.79	5.27				
~1	2	-12.48	3.69	0.09	0.79	8.84	6.44				
LArea + Iso	4	-12.45	3.72	0.09	0.88	12.72	6.44				
LArea + PCA2	4	-12.13	4.04	0.08	0.96	12.57	7.25				
PCA2	3	-9.99	6.17	0.03	0.99	9.33	19.33				
Iso + PCA2	4	-8.79	7.37	0.01	1	10.9	58.00				

(B) Fragme	(B) Fragmented ectoparasitic set (n=10)												
Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER						
Weighted Conn	ectand	ce											
~1	2	-29.19	0	0.57	0.57	17.45	1.00						
PCA2	3	-26.79	2.4	0.17	0.74	18.4	3.35						
LArea	3	-26.56	2.63	0.15	0.89	18.28	3.80						
lso	3	-24.95	4.24	0.07	0.96	17.48	8.14						
LArea + PCA2	4	-22.53	6.66	0.02	0.98	19.27	28.50						
LArea + Iso	4	-20.82	8.37	0.01	0.99	18.41	57.00						
lso + PCA2	4	-20.8	8.39	0.01	1	18.4	57.00						
Weighted NODF													
LArea + PCA2	4	50.89	0	0.39	0.39	-17.44	1.00						
LArea	3	51.49	0.61	0.29	0.69	-20.75	1.34						
~1	2	52.41	1.52	0.18	0.87	-23.35	2.17						
PCA2	3	53.92	3.03	0.09	0.96	-21.96	4.33						
lso	3	56.69	5.8	0.02	0.98	-23.34	19.50						
LArea + Iso	4	57.32	6.43	0.02	1	-20.66	19.50						
lso + PCA2	4	59.83	8.95	0	1	-21.92	NA						
Modularity													
~1	2	-12.98	0	0.62	0.62	9.35	1.00						
LArea	3	-10.62	2.36	0.19	0.81	10.31	3.26						
lso	3	-9.05	3.94	0.09	0.89	9.52	6.89						
PCA2	3	-8.84	4.15	0.08	0.97	9.42	7.75						
LArea + Iso	4	-5.59	7.4	0.02	0.99	10.79	31.00						
LArea +PCA2	4	-4.72	8.26	0.01	1	10.36	62.00						
Iso + PCA2	4	-3.11	9.87	0	1	9.56	NA						

Table 4.5. Support for candidate models predicting the effect of landscape variables on structure of endosymbiont networks for the complete (A) and fragmented (B) datasets. The number of parameters (K), AICc_c values, Δ AICc_c, model weights (AICcWt), cumulative weights (C.Wt), Log-likelihood (LL), and evidence ratio (ER) are reported. Landscape variables are as follows: logArea (LArea), Isolation (Iso), and PCAhab2 (PCA2). Models in bold indicate Δ AICc < 2. Models in grey indicate C.Wt < 0.95.

(A) Compl	(A) Complete endosymbiont set (n=13)							(B) Fragmented endosymbiont set (n=10)							
Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER	Model	К	AICc	Δ AICc	AICcWt	C.Wt	LL	ER
Weighted Con	nectar	nce						Weighted Connectance							
~1	2	-48.81	0	0.35	0.35	27.01	1.00	~1	2	-34.14	0	0.42	0.42	19.93	1.00
LArea + Iso	4	-48.62	0.19	0.32	0.67	30.81	1.09	Iso	3	-33.27	0.87	0.27	0.69	21.63	1.56
LArea	3	-46.77	2.05	0.13	0.8	27.72	2.69	LArea + Iso	4	-31.79	2.36	0.13	0.82	23.89	3.23
lso	3	-46.49	2.32	0.11	0.91	27.58	3.18	LArea	3	-31.5	2.64	0.11	0.93	20.75	3.82
PCA2	3	-45.38	3.44	0.06	0.97	27.02	5.83	PCA2	3	-30.01	4.13	0.05	0.98	20.01	8.40
LArea + PCA2	4	-42.68	6.13	0.02	0.99	27.84	17.50	lso + PCA2	4	-27.27	6.87	0.01	0.99	21.63	42.00
Iso + PCA2	4	-42.19	6.62	0.01	1	27.6	35.00	LArea + PCA2	4	-25.61	8.53	0.01	1	20.81	42.00
Weighted NO	DF	•		•				Weighted NODF							
LArea	3	96.86	0	0.38	0.38	-44.1	1.00	~1	2	75.78	0	0.68	0.68	-35.03	1.00
~1	2	97.51	0.65	0.27	0.65	-46.16	1.41	PCA2	3	79.13	3.35	0.13	0.81	-34.56	5.23
PCA2	3	98.98	2.13	0.13	0.79	-45.16	2.92	LArea	3	79.94	4.16	0.09	0.9	-34.97	7.56
LArea + PCA2	4	99.95	3.09	0.08	0.87	-43.47	4.75	Iso	3	80.02	4.24	0.08	0.98	-35.01	8.50
lso	3	100.24	3.38	0.07	0.94	-45.79	5.43	Iso + PCA2	4	84.92	9.13	0.01	0.99	-34.46	68.00
LArea + Iso	4	101.08	4.22	0.05	0.98	-44.04	7.60	LArea + PCA2	4	84.93	9.15	0.01	1	-34.47	68.00
lso + PCA2	4	103.09	6.24	0.02	1	-45.05	19.00	LArea + Iso	4	85.85	10.07	0	1	-34.92	NA
Modularity								Modularity							
Iso	3	-52.07	0	0.53	0.53	30.37	1.00	~1	2	-37.34	0	0.5	0.5	21.52	1.00
~1	2	-49.85	2.22	0.18	0.71	27.52	2.94	Iso	3	-35.42	1.92	0.19	0.69	22.71	2.63
LArea	3	-48.69	3.38	0.1	0.81	28.68	5.30	LArea	3	-34.93	2.41	0.15	0.84	22.46	3.33
lso + PCA2	4	-48.44	3.63	0.09	0.89	30.72	5.89	LArea + Iso	4	-33.55	3.78	0.08	0.91	24.78	6.25
LArea + Iso	4	-47.85	4.22	0.06	0.96	30.42	8.83	PCA2	3	-33.24	4.09	0.06	0.98	21.62	8.33
PCA2	3	-46.38	5.69	0.03	0.99	27.53	17.67	Iso + PCA2	4	-30.2	7.13	0.01	0.99	23.1	50.00
LArea + PCA2	4	-44.47	7.6	0.01	1	28.73	53.00	LArea + PCA2	4	-29.27	8.07	0.01	1	22.63	50.00

Table 4.6 Landscape variables and estimates of the top candidates in each model set that ranked higher than the null model based on AICc . Model names indicate associated network metric: connectance (C), nestedness (N), and modularity (M). Variables are LArea (log habitat area), PCA2 (habitat heterogeneity), and Iso (habitat isolation). Δ AICc = 0 indicates it was the top model in the set.

Model	n	variable(s)	estimate	StdE	F	d.f.	adj. R2	Р	Δ AICc				
	Ectoparasitic layer												
C1	13	LArea	-0.02	0.008	5.621	1	0.278	0.037	0				
N1	13	PCA2	0.702	0.381	3.393	1	0.166	0.09	0				
N2	10	LArea	5.412	1.688	7.897	2	0.605	0.01	0				
		PCA2	0.7873	0.307									
N3	10	LArea	5.122	2.193	5.455	1	0.331	0.047	0.61				
M1	13	LArea	0.063	0.022	8.071	1	0.371	0.016	0				
	Endosymbiont layer												
N5	13	LArea	3.489	4.899	4.103	1	0.205	0.067	0				
M5	13	Iso	1.04e-4	4.25e-5	6.04	1	0.295	0.03	0				

Table 4.7 t-test results comparing network metrics of fragmented and continuous forest ectoparasitic and endosymbiont layers. Metrics are w.Conn (weighted connectance), w.NODF (weighted NODF), and Mod (Modularity). Number of sites included for each habitat type are denoted by n. Comparisons in bold indicate a significant difference in means.

		Fragmented (n=10)		Continuo	ous (n=3)			
Metric	Layer	Mean	SD	Mean	SD	t	df	p-value
w.Conn	Ectoparasitic	0.138	0.047	0.083	0.005	3.616	9.828	0.004
	Endosymbiont	0.186	0.042	0.153	0.023	1.73	6.55	0.129
w.NODF	Ectoparasitic	2.1	2.633	2.54	1.119	-0.413	8.776	0.688
	Endosymbiont	21.2	3.836	20.8	5.14	0.108	2.707	0.921
Mod	Ectoparasitic	0.51	0.1	0.723	0.023	-6.21	10.92	6.8e⁻⁵
	Endosymbiont	0.163	0.11	0.25	0.132	-1.026	2.892	0.382

For the endosymbiont networks, there was no evidence that connectance is influenced by the measured environmental variables as the null model had the lowest AIC (AICcWt = 0.35). The best fit models describing nestedness-landscape included the logArea model (AICcWt = 0.38, adj.R² = 0.2) followed by the null model (Δ AICc = 0.65, AICcWt = 0.27), resulting in an evidence ratio of 1.4 between them. The sole best fit model in the modularity-landscape set was the Isolation model (AICcWt = 0.53, adj.R² = 0.29; see Figiure 4.3), with the next best model being the null model (Δ AICc = 2.22, AICcWt = 0.18), resulting in an evidence ratio of 2.9.

When comparing the fragmented and complete datasets, all model sets from both layers resulted in either the null model having the lowest AIC, or within Δ AICc < 2. Comparing the means of each network metric from the fragmented and continuous forest sites shows that for connectance (t = 3.61, df = 9.82, p-value = 0.004) and modularity (t = -6.21, df = 10.9, p-value = 6.8e-05), the ectoparasitic networks are significantly different between the habitat types (Table 4.7). No significant difference was found in endosymbiont networks between habitat types.

Discussion

While many studies have looked at the long-term effects of habitat fragmentation across varying taxonomic contexts including macroparasites (Bordes et al., 2015b; Sebaio et al., 2010) and microbiota (Amato et al., 2013; Dheilly et al., 2017), to my knowledge, this study is the first to consider how interactions between host, ectoparasites and microbes vary across an environmental gradient. In this analysis I tested the prediction that smaller and more isolated fragments would lead to less diverse networks of bat flies with reduced impacts on microbes. My data suggests that the network structure of both trophic layers responds to changes in landscape, but not always the same way suggesting independence in the response of even obligate parasitic microbes.

My study included data from 842 infested bats across 13 sampling sites. While this number is comparable to similar studies involving parasitic interactions of bats (de Vasconcelos et al., 2016; Hernández-Martínez et al., 2019b) and rodents (Bordes et al., 2015a; Cardoso et al., 2018), and employed a standardised sampling effort across all sites; only one bat species, Carollia perspicillata, was consistently parasitized, and this was also the most abundant bat captured. The next two most captured bats, Artibeus *lituratus* and *Sturnira lilium*, were captured in all sites but not found to carry bat flies at several sites (see additional details in Chapter 3). Sampling completeness (SCw2) estimates of my ectoparasitic networks are >75%, which is above the threshold needed to avoid underestimating the more sensitive network metrics (Rivera-Hutinel et al., 2012) suggesting the sampling scheme achieved a good representation of the taxa present in these sites. Conversely, sampling completeness of my endosymbiont networks were more varied (20-72%). In contrast, Martinson et al., (2017) had reported to achieve 100% endosymbiont sampling completeness in Drosophila within the range of 2000-6000 sequences and 725 OTUs among 215 individuals. The lower sampling completeness despite the higher OTU count (1101) and sequencing depth may point to an extreme microbial diversity among the different bat fly genera. Given the variability in sampling completeness of the microbial networks, and that the SCw2 provides an estimate of unobserved interactions, I treat observations about the microbial network with some caution.

Bat fly species richness did not correlate with landscape metrics, but is correlated to host richness. (Hernández-Martínez et al., 2019b) reports similar findings that bat fly diversity mirrors their hosts which they speculate is driven by the obligate and specific nature of bat flies. Other studies have shown varying effects of host assemblage on parasite diversity. (Bordes et al., 2015a) found helminth diversity to be unaffected by fragmentation, pointing to the rat hosts being habitat generalists in their study, however both (Bush et al., 2013; Chasar et al., 2009) found blood parasite diversity to decrease with habitat area despite host persistence, suggesting a minimum habitat size for parasite preservation. I found that endosymbiont richness decreased as sites became smaller, more isolated, and less complex. Apart from the vertical transmission of maternally transmitted bacterial strains (ex: Arsenophonus sp., Wolbachia sp.), very little is known about the exact mode of bacterial recruitment in bat flies (Solon F Morse et al., 2012; David A Wilkinson et al., 2016). I observed that microbial diversity decreased in smaller, less complex fragments. Studies on field-captured tsetse flies (Griffith et al., 2018), mosquitoes (Zouache et al., 2011), mites (Dong et al., 2018), and bat flies (David A. Wilkinson et al., 2016b) have also reported an impact of environmental heterogeneity on the gut microbiota in parasitic arthropods, where it is speculated that bacterial recruitment occurs during free-living, host-seeking periods. Alternatively, the host bats themselves could also be a source of bacteria; blood meals have been shown to influence gut microbiota in ticks (Hawlena et al., 2013), and hosts can pick up bacteria from contact with their environment and in turn pass these microbes to their ectoparasites (Lawrence et al., 2015).

Choosing models to explain my data based solely on Δ AICc suggests that almost all network metrics for both layers are not sufficiently explained by the chosen landscape

variables alone, due to the null models in those sets consistently being within Δ AICc < 2, the exception being modularity for both layers having only a single model each within this range.

Using the Akaike weights (AICcWt) and evidence ratios in addition to Δ AICc allows more flexibility in discussing the merits of my models by using evidence ratios. For example, for models with Δ AICc < 2 in the connectance set for the ectoparasitic layer the evidence ratio shows that the top model (logArea) is 2.5x more likely to be the best approximating model than the null model. In this case I did not consider the second-totop model (logArea +PCAhab2) for comparison because it is a nested model that has a lower weight, suggesting that the additional variable (PCAhab2) is uninformative in this set (Leroux, 2019).

(Burnham and Anderson, 2002) have also suggested creating a '95% confidence set' (a subset of candidate models beginning with the top model and moving downwards, whose cumulative weights tally up to 0.95) which implies that there is a 95% chance of the 'best model' being in this subset. The 95% threshold here is arbitrary and likely selected as a familiar frequentist confidence interval (Symonds and Moussalli, 2011). However, applying this approach onto my candidate model sets still included at least half of the initial candidate models in the subset, due to a combination of i) the small number of initial candidate models in each set, and ii) our top models not weighing highly enough to exclude the weaker models using this method at a 95% threshold.

For the ectoparasitic layer, I found some evidence that connectance is affected by area; larger sites appeared to have lower connectance. For the endosymbiont layer, area was also the most likely landscape variable to affect connectance, but this was

not well supported as the null model was weighted higher. Previous studies have reported similar trends for habitat loss decreasing connectance in plant-plant networks (Santos de Araujo, 2019) and pollination networks (Caron-Lormier et al., 2008), but there are exceptions even within some parasitic networks, particularly with complex parasites that require intermediary host species (Resasco et al., 2019). More species of bats were captured in larger fragments, which would affect the maximum number of potential links used to calculate global metrics like connectance. Despite an increase in 'hosts' for both ectoparasitic and microbial networks, the realised potential links may remain restricted by the specificity of the ectoparasites and microbes to their respective hosts. Other studies of parasitic networks point to phylogenetic constraints (Mouillot et al., 2008a, 2008b), or environmental barriers that inhibit connectance (Cardoso et al., 2018).

I found that the nestedness (weighted NODF) of ectoparasitic and endosymbiont networks had contrasting responses to different landscape metrics although both cases were only slightly better supported than the null models. Parasitic networks became more nested with increasing habitat complexity (PCAhab2), which may reflect increased ectoparasite-sharing amongst host species, however I approach this outcome with caution as this model was equally weighted with the null model. (Patterson et al., 2009) reported that the nested pattern of their bat fly parasitic networks diminished when they restricted their dataset to "primary" associations (flies on their typical host species), they posit that the nested structure is caused by both host specificity and transient accidental occurrences due to the mobile ectoparasites readily abandoning hosts when disturbed, and moving between individual bats in the same roost (Dick and Patterson, 2006). While no roosting information was collected for

the bats in my study, there are some studies linking habitat quality to bat roosting behaviours that could help explain my observations. Bats in felled and disturbed forests have been observed to have small colony sizes (Borkin et al., 2011), and were more prone to roost-switching (Willis and Brigham, 2004), both of which are thought to reduce the spread of parasites within bat populations (Kashima et al., 2013). This suggests that fragments with more complex vegetation facilitate the formation of larger bat roosting colonies, frequently containing multiple species. This could allow for more frequent movement of ectoparasite between hosts.

In contrast to the ectoparasitic networks, my endosymbiont networks became more nested in smaller and less isolated fragments. This model was 1.41x more likely than the null model. (Moeller et al., 2017) observed that gut microbiomes were not fully explained by the hosts' diet and phylogeny but were often restricted by the physical distance and co-occurrence of host species. In the context of my study, this might suggest that the nested pattern found could be related to the roosting behaviour of bats affecting the co-occurrence of bat flies. The effect of area on nestedness might also point to a change in the dispersal or diversity of microbes from the environment. (Peay et al., 2007) found that species richness of soil bacteria was positively correlated with habitat area and closeness to other fragments. In my case, this may point to generalist bacterial species being replenished through dispersal across fragments, and in more smaller habitats, the bacterial networks are less nested due to fewer specialists remaining.

Modularity of ectoparasitic networks decreased as fragment size was reduced. (McCann et al., 2005) identified that in a bipartite network, some species act as

module hubs, with a moderate to high number of links to species in the other layer. These hub forming species are frequently generalists or highly flexible species which resist environmental perturbations and maintain critical ecological services. In my study, Carollia perspicillata was present in every network and was infected by at least two bat fly species in each and was always included in the largest module. Carollia is a well-known environmental generalist and largely feeds on successional trees typical of disturbed habitat (Medellín et al., 2000). It is likely that *Carollia* acts as a main connecting node in all networks here because of these traits. In his study of seed dispersal using the same individual bats, Teixeira, (2019b) found that C. perspicillata was critically important to maintaining the core of ecological seed dispersal even in the smallest fragments in his study. I observe that this role also extends to the ectoparasitic level and thus C. perspicillata's abundance and ubiquitous presence across all studied fragments makes it critically important in maintaining multiple ecological services and network structure. The role of generalists, like C. perspicillata, as module hubs and connectors has been documented in plant networks (Dupont and Olesen, 2009), marine food-webs (Kortsch et al., 2015), and archipelagic birds (Carstensen and Olesen, 2009). Here I add the case for C. perspicillata acting to maintain ectoparasitic diversity in fragmented landscapes.

In my study, larger fragments hosted more bats and thus more batlfies but had reduced connectance due to a more modular structure. This suggests that as the environment becomes less rich, the network contracts and loses some of this dispersed nature as specialists drop out leaving only the generalist like *Carollia* to maintain the core community. Similarly, in (Teixeira, 2019b), three modules were identified in all networks regardless of fragment size which were associated with

foraging behaviour and were maintained primarily by the bat genera *Carollia*, *Artibeus*, and *Sturnira*. Even in the smallest most isolated fragment these three core modules remained.

In the microbial network modularity was most likely affected by site isolation, with lower modularity in more isolated fragments. Microbiome studies in other systems suggest that modularity decreases when host species that act as connectors are present (Lurgi et al., 2019). In my study, the core modules encompassed several bat flies and their bacteria. The more common bacteria such as Arsenophonus sp., Wolbachia sp., and Bartonella sp. acted as connector species. In modules with multiple bat flies, it was difficult to discern a primary hub species using our methods as many bat flies acted as their own hubs for specialist bacteria, however some consistent trends did emerge. The number of modules visualised for the microbial network would always be small (2-3) regardless of how many modules were identified in the corresponding ectoparasitic network, and in fragments where the bat fly Basilia juquiensis was collected, it tended to form a secondary module apart from other bat flies. B. juquiensis is the only nycteribid bat fly that was collected, and the tendency for its microbiome to form a separate modules from the streblids could have a phylogenetic basis as (Patterson et al., 2013a) found both families of bat flies to have independently acquired bacterial species on several occasions. Isolated habitats may exhibit lower network modularity due to the decrease of host species.

Modules in other microbiome networks have been suggested to form from cooccurrence of predator and prey (Kondoh, 2008), or the repeated interaction between plants and pollinators (Dupont and Olesen, 2009). Social groupings have also been seen to affect module formation in other mammals (Perofsky et al., 2017). Given that in my networks the core bat species were retained in all fragments (*Carollia, Artibeus,* and *Sturnira*) it is unlikely that this effect is driven by the main bat species caught. A combination of phylogenetic history and maternally inherited microbiomes may be a primary reason why many of the bacteria are specialised, and why landscape gradients do not align with changes in modularity here.

It is important to consider the methods of bacterial acquisition and persistence in context of this study. Taking Wolbachia as an example, its role in sexual differentiation in arthropods and its transmission via infected eggs makes it easier to be confident that its presence in these bat flies is attributed to vertical transmission (Hong et al., 2002). A similar logic could be applied for Bartonella, in that its known potential as a pathogen of bats might suggest these bat flies have acquired the bacteria from feeding on infected hosts (Reeves et al., 2016). However (De Bruin et al., 2015) found that ked flies (Diptera: Hippoboscidae) could experience vertical transmission of Bartonella bacterium, while showing that other pathogens examined, Anaplasma and Rickettsia species were not likely to be transmitted in the same way. In addition, Heath et al., (1999) suggested that Wolbachia could have a natural method of horizontal transfer across insects via parasitoid wasp attack. Some phylogenetic evidence also suggests similar events have occurred for Arsenophonus in other taxa (Thao and Baumann, 2004). Although very little is known about parasitoid wasps interacting with bat flies, Shockley and Murray, (2006) observed braconidid wasp specimens from an unknown species of Heterospilus directly interacting with streblid Paratrichobius dunni, although no parasitoid egg was found within the bat fly, microscopic examination revealed a

wound in the abdomen. Other instances of parasitoid infection of neotropical bat flies have also been observed (E.Clare unpublished) but are not well documented.

Throughout this thesis I examined the bat fly gut bacteria at their genus levels based on the V4 region of 16S rRNA. While the usage of regions of the 16S gene is common for screening bacteria (Kennedy et al., 2020; Li et al., 2017; Vences et al., 2005b), it has been suggested that 16S should be used alongside other markers when differentiating some families such as Enterobacteriaceae (Husník et al., 2011). (Jousselin et al., 2013) gave attention to genus Arsenophonus and suggested that a combination of horizontal transfer events between related insect hosts and recombination events can lead to emergence of new phenotypes and misinterpretation of phylogenies. An example where a revision in taxonomy could affect my data is found with *Enterobacteriaceae* Candidatus Phlomobacter which has been shown to be closely related to plant pathogens under genus Arsenophonus and renamed Cand. Arsenophonus phytopathogenicus (Bressan et al., 2012). I have chosen to keep the splitting of Cand. Phlomobacter from Arsenophonus rather than fuse them together as they co-occur (due to Arsenophonus being ubiquitious in my data) and so this single change is unlikely to heavily affect the analysis.

Due to the variable estimates, it is important to consider how the completeness and resolution of the endosymbiont networks may impact the results. The relative importance of sampling completeness, and the effect of undersampling for community-level networks is a much-discussed topic (Henriksen et al., 2018; Jordano, 2016; Macgregor et al., 2017; Meyer et al., 2015). Like other measures in community ecology, network metrics are sensitive to the number of interacting species, with some properties like connectance found to be more affected by the species richness than others like nestedness, and modularity (Kuppler et al., 2017; Rivera-Hutinel et al., 2012) which are the focus here. Generally, the network metrics examined in this study are thought to be stable (Gibson et al., 2011; Nielsen and Bascompte, 2007), but susceptible to bias at very low sampling effort (Vizentin-Bugoni et al., 2016). (Falcão et al., 2016) found that it is more important to keep a consistent method and effort when sampling ecological data for networks. Undersampling also becomes less of an issue when considering ecosystem functioning, as studies have shown that the main contributions of ecosystem services tend to come from the abundant common species, and trait diversity rather than strict species richness (Gagic et al., 2015; Winfree et al., 2015), suggesting that missing rare species or rare interactions should not diminish the interpretation of the results and broader conclusions from discussing community processes despite influencing the structure of networks. Similarly, less information can be gathered from examining a network at the genus level as compared to the species or OTU level, and reconstructing the endosymbiont networks at a higher resolution could possibly affect the resulting network structure, however other studies have shown that coherent patterns can still be observed at genus (Lupatini et al., 2014), and even phylum levels (Banerjee et al., 2016). Consequently, I treat these observations with caution, but suggest my conclusions are likely robust.

The contrasting results obtained by excluding the continuous sites in the fragmented dataset (as seen in Table 4.5 and 7) shows how the 3 data points from the continuous sites influence the model estimates. Tables 6 and 7 demonstrate that including the REGUA values in the landscape variable *logArea* completely alters the coefficient for network modularity. Extreme values in data are sometimes interpreted as outliers and removed (Seo and Gary M. Marsh, 2006). However, the extreme values associated with the REGUA sites are 'legitimate outliers' in my data as an unavoidable consequence of study design rather than sampling error, and its inclusion simply requires more caution in applying inference to my models (Osborne and Overbay, 2004). The lack of evidence for an effect of landscape on network structure in the fragmented dataset where an effect was found in the complete dataset (such as with modularity in both layers) point to my models being applicable when comparing pristine and disturbed habitats, as if associated with opposite sides of a threshold, where the turning point or range is not represented in our data. Bat species richness has been shown to respond to spatial and landscape variables in a combination of thresholds and gradients (Muylaert et al., 2016), and my results may hint at their networks reflecting this.

Studies showing an effect of landscape change on host-parasite networks has important implications for strategies for conservation and public health. The role played by arthropod vectors in the transmission and spread of pathogens from one host to another has been acknowledged to confound public health strategies in controlling emerging infectious diseases (Benelli and Duggan, 2018). Previous studies have used other network analysis concepts to link habitat changes to horizontal transmission of ectoparasites (Saldaña-Vázquez et al., 2019), and the robustness of host-parasite relations (Baumgartner, 2020).

My study highlights that landscape level metrics should be considered when examining ectoparasitic and endosymbiont networks. However, the explanatory power of my models (adj. R²) suggests that additional variables should be examined alongside landscape. Environmental variables associated with climate such as temperature,

humidity, and rainfall have been shown to regulate pathogen transmission potential in some arthropod vectors (Ogden and Lindsay, 2016), and warrant some investigation into their effect in this system alongside landscape-level variables demonstrated here. In summary, structures of both ectoparasitic and endosymbiont interactions do change when examined across different landscape metrics in a fragmented system, and while both trophic layers respond, this response was not always the same and likely caused by different mechanisms. Phylogenetic constraints appear to play a key role in shaping the networks, although the extent of this effect is difficult to establish, especially in endosymbiont networks where vertical transmission plays a major role in endosymbiont communities. By examining multiple trophic layers simultaneously, I have shown that not only do obligate symbiont communities have some capacity to respond to changes in the external environment, but they can respond independently from their respective hosts. However, an improved understanding of which properties of the external environment can influence these symbionts is still required for firmer conclusions to be made.

Chapter 5: Elements of Metacommunity Structure in Symbiont Communities

Abstract

Habitat fragmentation alters natural landscapes and has implications for species assemblages within remnant habitat. Here I examine the metacommunity structure of two taxonomic groups (ectoparasitic bat flies, and their gut microbiota) across fragmented and continuous sites in the Atlantic forest. Both the bat fly and microbiome metacommunities were found to form Clementsian and quasi-Clementsian structures across sites based on gradients of habitat area and isolation, indicating that taxa exhibited coherent and clumped distribution patterns. For bat flies, I split the metacommunity to further examine a subset of fragmented sites and this subset exhibited a quasi-Gleasonean structure, which indicates that species show individualistic responses, in this case only to habitat area. My results suggest varying levels of species sorting shape the bat fly metacommunity in the forest fragments, where environmental limitations may exclude disturbance-intolerant bats and lead to fewer bat flies present in smaller forest fragments.

Introduction

Biodiversity and anthropogenic effects

Conserving biodiversity amidst increasing anthropogenic disturbance of ecosystems is an escalating challenge. One focal objective in this challenge is to understand the mechanisms that shape communities (Svensson-Coelho and Ricklefs, 2011). Shelford's law of tolerance suggests that an organisms success is based on environmental conditions within a minimum, maximum, and optimal value for a given factor (Shelford, 1931). Habitat disturbances often changes the biotic and abiotic conditions affecting the abundance and probability of occurrence of species, as the latter is often a unimodal function of the former (ter Braak and Verdonschot, 1995). Habitat fragmentation and the usual resulting loss of habitat generally leads to smaller, more isolated habitat patches (Raphael K Didham, 2010), and has been known to limit the dispersal of species (Damschen et al., 2014), alter and reduce resource use (Martinson and Fagan, 2014), and put particular pressure on specialists (Krauss et al., 2003). The isolation of fragmented habitats can limit or prevent population and community replenishment through immigration from neighbouring patches (Magrach et al., 2011), although good colonisers and more vagile species are less hindered by this (Lynam and Billick, 1999). Habitat fragmentation has been implicated in species decline (Didham et al., 1998; Turner, 1996), local extinctions (Cushman, 2006; Michalski and Peres, 2005), and alterations in ecosystem structure and function (Höfer et al., 2001; Morris, 2010). However, species have varying responses to habitat fragmentation, with some species being more sensitive to perturbations while others thrive (Antongiovanni and Metzger, 2005). The underlying mechanisms that drive a species response can vary from abiotic factors such as changes in landscape layout (Didham et al., 1998), to biotic factors such as relative abundance of resources (Benstead and Pringle, 2004) and interactions between species (e.g. escape from predation (Roland, 1993b), and loss of obligate mutualists Bruna et al., 2005). This generates a complex dynamic where species may have individualised response to perturbations in habitat and resource distribution.

Parasite ecology

The study of symbiotic communities in modelling changes in ecological communities is vital because of the positive (Bruna et al., 2005), negative (Landmann, 2019), and synergistic (Jia et al., 2004) effects they have on host health, though they are frequently overlooked in any conservation planning scheme. The term 'symbiont' refers to organisms that must inhabit hosts and include all strategies across the parasite-mutualist continuum (EWALD, 1987), whereas parasites are defined as organisms that impose a negative, but non-lethal effect on their hosts (Esch and Poulin, 2006), resulting in reduced growth (Gorrell and Schulte-Hostedde, 2008), typically from stolen nutrients (Schwanz, 2006). These complex interactions can both exacerbate and moderate the effects of landscape level changes on host communities. Studies of parasitism typically focus on a small number of species, or a single species, and document parasite growth (Macnab and Barber, 2012), host defence strategies (Field et al., 2007), or parasite burden (Brown et al., 1995) without often considering the interplay of host and environmental conditions. However, some studies have expanded the scope to include communities of parasite species and their hosts across geographical ranges (Guagan and Kennedy, 1993; Poulin and Morand, 1999). By examining multiple populations of parasites in parallel, environmental variables can be analysed for correlations with patterns expressed in parasite population dynamics. For example, Svensson-Coelho and Ricklefs, (2011) showed that the beta diversity of haemosporidian parasites in birds across the Lesser Antilles were not influenced by host species richness, but rather the geographical distribution and host genetic distance. Host and parasite communities tend to shape each other, for example

parasites often share traits when found on hosts that are geographically, phylogenetically, or ecologically similar (Locke et al., 2013), but the importance of any given factor may vary with ecological gradients. For example, phylogenetic relationships of cyprinid host species was a good predictor of metazoan parasite community similarity in some freshwater systems (Seifertová et al., 2008) but not others (Poulin, 2010). This system-dependent effect can also be seen in how parasites influence host-mediated trophic cascades, for example (Anaya-Rojas et al., 2019) found parasites reduced both body condition and population density of stickleback hosts, and found that stickleback populations with low parasite loads could initiate trophic cascades among zooplankton, but only in pelagic mesocosms not benthic ones. These studies highlight the importance of considering host, parasite, and environmental factors in conjunction when determining widespread effects and outcomes of infection.

Disease risks

Human infections by zoonotic diseases have often been related to changes in land-use increasing the interface between wildlife and human populations. This is often through land clearance for livestock in agricultural settlements (Jones et al., 2013), building human settlements in city outskirts to accommodate immigration (Nieto et al., 2012; Verdasquera Corcho et al., 2013), or forest fragmentation affecting roosting and feeding behaviour in vector species (Hahn et al., 2014b). Pathogen transmission dynamics can be attributed to complex interactions between vectors, hosts, and reservoirs. Understanding how the environment can influence symbiont community composition is an important contribution from the field of community ecology. There are numerous examples of host health and pathogen transmission potential being affected by their symbiont communities. For example, mutualisms between bacteria in insects (Kaltenpoth, 2009) and fungi in plants (Faeth, 2002) contribute to host pathogen defence, and commensal viruses (Hall et al., 2016) and bacteria (Cirimotich et al., 2011) in insects reduce their hosts' vector potential. There has even been evidence of parasites and pathogens regulating each other for example, Johnson and Hoverman, (2012) found that natural populations with higher parasite richness and coinfection rates of helminths tended to lower overall infection success of even the most virulent species in their amphibian hosts.

Host diversity also has an impact in disease spread, where parasites require a minimum level of host diversity and population size to persist and so host and parasite diversity are often positively correlated (Lafferty, 2012). The loss of host diversity has been considered a driver for spreading infection. The dilution effect hypothesis suggests that communities with high species diversity inhibit disease spread by regulating susceptible host populations and interfering with parasite transmission and vice versa (Civitello et al., 2015; Keesing et al., 2006). Furthermore, both host diversity and parasite co-infection can interact to determine disease risk, for instance (Johnson et al., 2013) compared trematode *Ribeiroira ondatrae* infection in amphibian hosts on species-rich and species-poor assemblages, finding that co-infections by other parasites reduced Ribeiroira infections by 15%, and species-rich host communities had 40% fewer infections overall. Infection rates are also reduced through dilution effects by the buffering of abiotic stress. (Rottstock et al., 2014) demonstrated that host plant diversity affected fungal pathogen infection finding that while host and pathogen diversity were positively correlated, infection incidence and intensity decreased with
increasing host diversity, positing that complementarity and facilitation effects among host species reduced their susceptibility of infection due to nutritional stress.

The elements of metacommunity structure

Metacommunity ecology explores the roles of local and regional processes that shape species communities across space. A metacommunity is defined as a series of spatially distinct ecological communities, potentially linked by dispersal (Leibold and Mikkelson, 2002; Mihaljevic, 2012). The analysis of elements of metacommunity structure (EMS) was developed to determine how metacommunities of species are distributed (Leibold and Mikkelson, 2002). These elements (i.e., coherence, species turnover, and boundary clumping) of a metacommunity can be compared to several idealised metacommunity structures (Figure 5.1, for further elaboration on each element see Chapter 1) to identify a best fit structure and then subsequent ecological analysis can be used to identify drivers of these structures. There are significant limitations to this procedure, for example it cannot consider spatial factors in driving metacommunity structure, and so the influence of species dispersal is largely unrepresented in this analysis. However, EMS is convenient to use with data where a reliable abundance measure is difficult because the analysis only requires a presence and absence matrix.

EMS analysis has been used in a variety of contexts to determine community structure and possible environmental drivers of that structure. Some usages include snapshot studies (e.g. Paraguayan bats of different feeding guilds; Presley et al., 2009, stream organisms in Finnish basins; Heino et al., 2015b) and spatiotemporal studies that show how community structure changes with seasonality (e.g. bacterial communities in the South China Sea; Yeh et al., 2015, and small mammals in the Atlantic Forest; Delciellos

et al., 2018). Additionally, EMS has been useful in studying the impact of environmental disturbances by incorporating measured environmental gradients in multivariate regression analysis to test whether natural biotic and abiotic factors relate to the observed structure (e.g. land-use conversion and damselflies in the Amazon (Brasil et al., 2017), forest fragmentation and small mammals in the Atlantic Forest (de la Sancha et al., 2014). Based on the ecology of symbionts, the variables used in EMS to represent environmental gradients have been extended to include characteristics of their hosts (e.g. using body mass, longevity, and trophic status of hosts as environmental gradients; Dallas and Presley, 2014), in addition to using conventional abiotic gradients (e.g. predicting helminth metacommunity structure from degrees of human settlements; Costa-Neto et al., 2018). Here I apply the EMS approach to symbiont communities associated with bats in patches of Atlantic Forest recovering from fragmentation, with the goal of determining whether landscape features we associate with hosts, impact on the structure of their dependent symbiont communities which experience the landscape at a very different scale. The application of the EMS framework to host-parasite systems is a relatively recent endeavour, which highlights the importance of understanding the host-parasite relationship as reservoirs and vectors of disease (Daszak et al., 2000; Luis et al., 2013).

Symbiont metacommunities in the Atlantic forest

The Brazilian Atlantic Forest is considered a biodiversity hotspot, characterised by its high species richness (Bergallo et al., 2003), high levels of endemism (Costa et al., 2000), and heterogeneity (Martini et al., 2007). Originally spanning 150 million ha, the current natural environment in the Atlantic Forest has been greatly diminished due to centuries of urbanisation and development, with forest fragments scattered throughout (Ribeiro et al., 2009). Models by (Liebsch et al., 2008) suggests it will take almost two thousand years after disturbance for existing fragments to match 40% of endemism found in the surrounding mature forests. Remaining fragments are of varying sizes with some as small as 100m from edge to edge, and this 500 year history of disturbance has attracted research into long term effects of habitat fragmentation (Lira et al., 2012b).

Bats (Chiroptera) represent a good model for studies on wide-spread ecological disturbance because of their diverse life histories. Bats are exceptionally mobile mammals (Shilton et al., 1999), but dispersal ability varies across species, allowing the effects of habitat fragmentation to vary accordingly (Christoph F.J. Meyer et al., 2009). Bats are hosts to specialised parasitic diptera called bat flies (Nycteribiidae and Streblidae), which are typically found as ectoparasites in their fur (Jobling, 1949). Faunal studies of bat flies have primarily focused on morphological and taxonomic descriptions (Wenzel, 1975), as well as records of occurrence (Dick and Gettinger, 2005; Patterson et al., 2008c). Ecological studies of bat flies have identified factors such as female-biased host preference (Patterson et al., 2008d), pupal deposition behaviours (Dittmar et al., 2009), and infection prevalence (de Vasconcelos et al., 2016; Patterson et al., 2007) shaping bat fly communities.

Investigations relating to the vector potential of bat flies were reviewed by (Szentiványi et al., 2019), finding that the literature recorded microparasites were mostly bacteria and fungi, followed by relatively marginal reports of protozoan blood parasites, viruses, and other arthropods. The obligate nature of bat flies and the

dispersal ability of their bat hosts may point to bat flies playing an important role in the maintenance and transmission of bat pathogens. There is particular attention given to bat flies for being potential reservoirs and vectors of Bartonella (Reeves et al., 2007), Rickettsia (David A. Wilkinson et al., 2016b), Ebola (Caron et al., 2018), and more recently COVID-19 (Poinar, 2020). For example, Bartonella spp. are bacteria that can infect several tissue types including red blood cells and endothelial cells (Billeter et al., 2008). Several zoonotic species are vectored by ticks (De Bruin et al., 2015), fleas (Reeves et al., 2007), and speculated to be vectored by biting flies (*Hippoboscidae*; Halos et al., 2004). Bat flies have been shown to harbour similar strains of Bartonella *spp.* bacteria to their infected host, suggesting they are able to pick up the microparasite from bats, however their ability to then transmit the pathogen has not been empirically demonstrated (Do Amaral et al., 2018; David A Wilkinson et al., 2016). However, Morse et al., (2012b), found evidence for early evolutionary association of Bartonella and subsequent radiation in distinct clades of bat flies and bats, further supporting the hypothesis of bat flies as a potential vector. By understanding the environmental factors that affect bat fly distributions, it may be possible to predict which regions have potentially higher risk of disease spread in host populations, and this has been demonstrated to be possible for other vectors (Brownstein et al., 2003; Diuk-Wasser et al., 2010).

Here I use EMS analysis to determine the metacommunity structures of bat flies and their bacterial symbionts and examine how properties of fragmented landscapes shape of these communities. While studies have documented the effects of seasonal change (Salinas-Ramos et al., 2018) and climate change (Pilosof et al., 2012b) on bat fly ecology, this is the first study to assess the impact of habitat ecology on bat flies and

their associated microbiome metacommunities simultaneously. I adopt a site-centric approach to analysing the metacommunities, using the spatially distinct habitat fragments to differentiate samples. Using this framework, I assess the structure of bat fly and microbe metacommunities in the fragmented Atlantic forest and determine which landscape gradients might influence this structure.

Methods

Data Collection and Preparation

The landscape and taxonomic data used here is described in chapter 3 and includes bat fly and microbiome data from all 13 sampling sites and the associated landscape metrics. For EMS analysis I generated community data matrices where rows represent taxa ranges corresponding to the sampling locations, columns represent taxa (bat fly species or microbial genera), and cell values represent the presence or absence of the taxon at that sampling site. This generated two data sets, one for all bat flies, and one for all the gut microbes found in those bat flies. For clarity, while 'symbiont' could encompass both focal bat flies and microbes in my study, I use 'Ectoparasite' and 'Endosymbiont' to refer to bat flies and their bacterial symbionts respectively.

Evaluating the 'Elements of Metacommunity Structure'

I evaluated the structure of my metacommunity matrices using the *metacom* package v1.5.2 (Dallas, 2014) in R v3.6.1 (R Core Team, 2019) which evaluates coherence, species turnover, and boundary clumping of metacommunity matrices following (Leibold and Mikkelson, 2002). I used the *Metacommunity* function on each matrix, this function first ordinates the matrix using reciprocal averaging before calculating the elements of metacommunity structure. I used default arguments to ordinate the

metacommunity matrix and simplify the species abundances into binary values. I generated graphical representations of these ordinated matrices using the *Imagine* function with the *fill* argument set to true, which artificially fills gaps in the matrices to visually maximise coherence (Figure 5.1). I then compared the coherent metacommunity matrix via z-tests (for coherence and species turnover) and chi-square tests of Morisita's Index (for boundary clumping) to 1000 ordinated null matrices, generated based on user-specified randomisation models. The structure of the metacommunity is determined based on the outcome of these tests, the current possible structures and requirements are summarized in Figure 5.2. I used two randomisation models, the ectoparasitic layer was randomised using a 'r1 model' which maintains species richness of sites while randomising species ranges based on their marginal probabilities, while the endosymbiotic layer was randomised using a 'r0 model' which still maintains species richness of sites, but otherwise completely randomises species ranges. The 'r0 model' was chosen for the endosymbiotic layer because the 'r1 model' is too computationally taxing for large matrices.

Canonical Correspondence Analysis to explain structures

For each matrix I examined both the primary and secondary axis of ordination. If a matrix had significant positive coherence suggesting a non-random structure, I applied canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) to measure the fit of species composition of the ordinated matrix and measured landscape variables, using the *cca* function available from the *vegan* package v2.5-5 (Oksanen et al., 2019). CCA functions similarly to multiple regression, where 'inertia' measures how well the explanatory variables align with the species composition, and the inertia scales similarly to the r² used for

regressions (ter Braak and Verdonschot, 1995). There are as many constrained canonical axes as there are explanatory variables included in a model (i.e. CCA1-CCAx, where x is the number of variables in the model), and any additional residual axes produced in the analysis hints towards important unmeasured variables (i.e. CA1-CAy, where y is the number of residual axes detected by CCA). I use the relative values of constrained and unconstrained inertia to evaluate the fit of the landscape variables in explaining the differences in metacommunity patterns, and I use the axis loadings calculated for each environmental variable to determine how well they can be used to discriminate between the sites and species. *Exploring Clementsian metacommunity structures*

For metacommunities exhibiting a Clementsian structure, I estimated the number of subgroups present and which sites belong to those subgroups. I calculate the beta diversity using the *multiplicativeBeta* function from package *velociraptr* (Zaffos, 2019). This iteration of beta diversity is based on a *true gamma diversity* formula as explained by (Tuomisto, 2010) where gamma diversity (total effective species in a dataset) is a product of alpha diversity (effective species per subgroup) and beta diversity (effective number of subgroups). I used a hierarchal clustering approach provided by the *recluster.cons* and *recluster.region* functions from the *recluster* package (Dapporto et al., 2013) to generate a consensus tree of sites sorted based on Sorensens-Dice coefficient (Dice, 1945) and the unweighted pair group method with arithmetic mean (UPGMA) algorithm (Sokal, 1958) to determine which sites belong to which subgroups in the metacommunity and better identify the point of range turnover suggested by the Clementsian structure. The Sorensens-Dice distance coefficient puts more weight on the similarity of species presence rather than

absences (Baselga, 2010), and is less sensitive to outliers like rare species (McCune et al., 2002). UPGMA is a hierarchical approach that forms clades from pairs of sites with the smallest distance coefficient, and is shown to successfully join replicate sites together, avoiding errors in overestimating matrix diversity (Cao et al., 1997).



Figure 5.1: Ordinated species/genus distributions of each metacommunity for both axes of ordination. Structures exhibiting positive coherence were artificially filled to help visualise turnover and boundary clumping.



TURNOVER

-	NS(-)	NS(+)	+		
Nested clumped species loss	Quasi-nested clumped species loss	Quasi- Clementsian	Clementsian	+	DNIAM
Nested stochastic species loss	Quasi-nested stochastic species loss	Quasi- Gleasonian	Gleasonian	NS	
Nested hyperdispersed species loss	Quasi-nested hyperdispersed species loss	Quasi-evenly spaced	Evenlyspaced	-	BOUND

Figure 5.2: Flowchart and matrix showing the relationships between 14 idealised metacommunity structures based on the elements of metacommunity structure: coherence, turnover and boundary clumping. the '+' and '-' indicates the values of the element is significantly greater or lower than expected by chance, 'NS' indicates the value of the element is not significantly different than expected by chance.

Results

Metacommunity characteristics and structure

Population characteristics of the 13 sites are described in more detail in chapter 3. In summary, the ectoparasitic metacommunity is comprised of 16 bat fly species and was best described as a Clementsian structure on both axes of ordination, while the endosymbiont metacommunity had 50 bacterial genera and fit a quasi-Clementsian structure on both axes of ordination (for test statistics see Table 5.1). Both metacommunities had at least 1 taxon that was present in all sites (Figure 5.1). Estimates of beta diversity suggests the bat fly metacommunity had 2 subgroups (β = 2.66) and the microbiome metacommunity had 4 subgroups (β = 4.90). Subgroup membership for the bat fly metacommunity was an almost complete split between the REGUA and fragmented sites, however the same pattern was not seen in the microbiome metacommunity (Figure 5.3). Among the subgroups between the two metacommunities, all but one consisted of fewer than 4 sites, the exception was a bat fly subgroup (BSub) that consisted of 9 of the fragmented sites. BSub was found to have a quasi-Gleasonian structure on the primary axis but was quasi-Clementsian on the second axis (Table 5.1, Figure 5.4).



Figure 5.3: Dendograms illustrating similarities of sites based on Sorensen distances and UPGMA algorithm for both bat fly and microbiome metacommunities. Red boxes separate distinct subgroups as designated by recluster package when the number of subgroups is inferred from their respective values of 6 diversity.



Figure 5.4: Ordinated species/genus distributions of the larger bat fly compartment for both axes of ordination. Axis 1 exhibits quasi-Gleasonian and axis 2 exhibits quasi-Clementsian structures.

Table 5.1: Coherence, species turnover, boundary clumping, and the resulting metacommunity structure across forest fragments for the bat fly metatcommunity, bat fly subgroup, and microbiome metacommunity. Rows represent different subsets of data as well as the axis of ordination (1: primary axis, 2: secondary axis). EmAbs = number of embedded absences, rep= number of replacements, I_m = Morisita's Index.

	COHERENCE			SPECIES TURNONVER			BOUNDARY CLUMPING		STRUCTURE		
	EmAbs	z	Р	Mean	rep	z	Р	Mean	l _m	Р	
Bat fly 1	68	-8.34	<0.001	157	854	1.97	0.04	643	1.49	0.008	Clementsian
Bat fly 2	100	-5.22	< 0.001	155	754	2.76	0.005	463	1.67	0.01	Clementsian
Bat fly sub 1	33	-5.05	<0.001	64.7	142	1.19	0.23	113	1.07	0.32	Quasi-Gleasonian
Bat fly sub 2	25	-4.96	< 0.001	61	147	1.01	0.31	115	1.47	0.02	Quasi-Clementsian
microbiome 1	868	-31.1	<0.001	1560	3.2E4	1.68	0.09	2.8E4	1.31	<0.001	Quasi-Clementsian
microbiome 2	903	-30.3	<0.001	1570	3.1E4	1.21	0.22	2.9E4	1.29	<0.001	Quasi-Clementsian

Table 5.2: Loadings from the first constrained and unconstrained axes from canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) for both entire metacommunities, and a subgroup from the bat fly metacommunity (BSub). Net EVs is (CCA1 EV – CA1 EV).

Codes		Bat fly Ax1	Bat fly Ax2	Microbe Ax1	Microbe Ax2	BSub1	BSub2
	Constrained Inertia	0.3494	0.422	0.3449	0.3264	0.60	0.60
	CCA1 EVs	0.2419	0.2335	0.3945	0.3855	0.2947	0.2771
	CCA1 % Inertia	0.1698	0.1638	0.1065	0.1041	0.25	0.2350
	CA1 EVs	0.2579	0.1981	0.4011	0.4053	0.2164	0.1979
	CA1 % Inertia	0.1810	0.1389	0.1082	0.1094	0.1835	0.1678
	Landscape variables		-				
LArea	Log Area	0.9768	0.9542	0.9976	0.9868	0.9389	0.8609
lso	Isolation	-0.693	-0.8235	-0.545	-0.6504	-0.417	-0.1038
Hab2	PCA habitat 2	0.1747	0.2711	0.2562	0.3927	0.1941	0.115
Land2	PCA land 2	0.1348	0.1346	0.1388	0.1294	-0.0859	-0.2685

Environmental variables associated with CCA

Site area was highly associated with the structures of both metacommunities and BSub, while site isolation was only highly associated with the bat fly and microbe metacommunity, but not BSub (Table 5.2). Both PCA habitat and PCA land were not highly associated in any metacommunity. Overall, constrained inertia suggests the relationship between taxa, sites, and environmental variables was best explained by BSub on both axes of ordination (60%), followed by the bat fly metacommunity (34% for primary axis, 42% for secondary axis), and the microbiome metacommunity (34% for primary axis, 32% for secondary axis). Proportion of inertia explained by CCA1and CA1 of the bat fly metacommunity were both alike, accounting for around 15% of inertia. The microbiome metacommunity also followed this trend, with its CCA1 and CA1 both accounting for around 10% of inertia. The bat fly subgroup had a larger difference between % inertia explained across its CCA1 (around 25%) and CA1 (around 15%).

Discussion

Communities of species may respond to environmental gradients along a continuum from discrete groups with concordant boundaries to individual species responses (Presley et al., 2009). Species assemblages are affected by ecological disturbances, often towards reduced complexity (i.e. homogenization) and favouring disturbancetolerant generalist species (Lôbo et al., 2011). Different groups within a metacommunity can have varying responses to ecological change and this has been

shown for groupings based on taxon (Presley et al., 2012), or functional traits (e.g. dispersal capacity, feeding mode; Tonkin et al., 2016). I found strong evidence for Clementsian structures across the bat fly metacommunity and quasi-Clementsian structure for the microbiome metacommunities. This suggests subcommunities which are independent within both trophic layers, although for the quasi-Clementsian microbiome metacommunity, the non-significant turnover signal suggests that the latent environmental gradient is only weakly responsible for its structure.

Factors which contribute to Clementsian structures of communities within the Atlantic Forest vary within and across taxa (da Silva and Rossa-Feres, 2017). For example, Clementsian structures for small mammal metacommunities have been attributed to patch size and habitat quality by (Delciellos et al., 2018), but (de la Sancha et al., 2014) found fragmentation to have no effect on structuring compartments, but instead represent pockets of endemism created by biogeographic regions. In the case here of bat flies and microbiome, compartments suggested by hierarchal partitioning did not align with the latent environmental gradients presented by reciprocal averaging. With the exception of fragmented site (F8) the clustering algorithm found a general split between fragmented and REGUA sites for the bat fly community. However, the microbiome metacommunity was split into 4 compartments without an obvious pattern. The CCA analysis suggests that among our landscape variables, habitat area had the strongest effect on both metacommunities, followed by habitat isolation but with a smaller effect. My results are concordant with other studies showing that landscape variables associated with habitat fragmentation do have an impact on ectoparasite interactions, including bat flies (Hernández-Martínez et al., 2019b; Pilosof

et al., 2012b), although none previously have considered EMS for bat flies communities.

(Teixeira, 2019a) found habitat area and isolation influenced the bat host metacommunities in this same system. (Presley, 2011) suggests that gradients in bat fly metacommunity reflect changes within their host assemblages (aggregation, cooccurrence) rather than the ectoparasites responding directly to forest disturbance. However, this obligate parasitic relationship does not negate the potential of other environmental variables directly affecting bat flies or the microbiome. The total constrained inertia provided by the 4 environmental variables account for less than half of the available inertia in both the bat fly and microbiome metacommunities, which suggests there are potentially important variables that shape these metacommunities outside of the scope of landscape. For example, climatic variables such as air temperatures and humidity have been shown to affect development in fleas (Krasnov et al., 2001), and it is not implausible that the development of some bat fly species would be hindered by these variables affecting their physiology, especially during pupal phase that occurs off their hosts.

There are many possible determinants of microbiome composition. Some bacterial symbionts are vertically transmitted. In bat flies, as in other insects, the genera *Arsenophonus* and *Wolbachia* are examples of vertically transmitted strains and are unlikely to be strongly influenced by the environment (Solon F Morse et al., 2012; Patterson et al., 2013b). The diet of arthropods has been shown to alter the composition of their microbiome (whole-prey; Kennedy et al., 2020; blood-meal Muturi et al., 2018; Swei and Kwan, 2017a), although in this study the bat flies are

unlikely to be feeding on anything other than bats, and it is not known whether the species of bat or their diet has an effect on the bat fly microbiome. It is more likely that dispersal ability and roosting behaviour of the bats and bat flies and contact between taxa is responsible for the variation in microbiome assemblages (Adair and Douglas, 2017), providing a link between the environment and the bat fly gut. However other studies have found evidence for genotype-dependent mechanisms curating the microbiome, limiting diversity through selection by the host species (Foster et al., 2017; Gaithuma et al., 2020).

The environmental gradients most associated with the microbiome metacommunity was the same as the bat fly metacommunity, habitat area and isolation. There have been examples of habitat degradation and human activity reducing the microbiome diversity in animals as a consequence of reduced diet variety (Barelli et al., 2015; Becker et al., 2010) or filtering by environmental conditions (Hughey et al., 2017; Kueneman et al., 2014), although the susceptibility of microbiomes to be affected by environmental disturbance appears to vary between host species even among closely related taxa (Mccord et al., 2014). (Ingala et al., 2019b) found the microbiota of bloodfeeding vampire bats (Desmodus rotundus) varied across fragmentation gradients based on dietary breadth of the bats (i.e. proportion of livestock to wildlife), rather than site quality, although this variation was only found in terms of abundances and not composition of the microbial community. While our results could suggest the bat fly microbiome responds to habitat fragmentation, it is more likely a reflection of changes within the bat fly assemblage. Bacterial symbiont recruitment in bat flies is still largely untested (Solon F. Morse et al., 2012b; David A Wilkinson et al., 2016), but (Morse et al., 2013) suggests that a majority of the bat fly microbiome are vertically

transmitted obligates, and a similarly restrictive microbiome was found in the closely related tsetse fly (Gaithuma et al., 2020). The varying microbial assemblages shown in this study could then be a product of both microbes recruited from the external environment, genotype compatibility between bat fly and microbe, and species specificity between bat-bat fly and bat fly-microbe.

Exploring the compartments of Clementsian structures can provide insight into how these discrete communities differ (Presley and Willig, 2010). Unfortunately, most of the estimated compartments for both metacommunities examined had too few sites for meaningful analyses to follow. However, CCA analyses on the larger of the two compartments (BSub) in the bat fly metacommunity followed a quasi-Gleasonian structure and habitat isolation was no longer an important gradient. Notably, the 4 landscape variables now accounted for 60% of inertia (around double that of the total bat fly metacommunity). This provides some support for different emphasis in structuring mechanisms between communities in fragments and continuous forest, where landscape is less important in larger habitats, with other factors dominating (McKinney, 2008; Mokross et al., 2013).

This study demonstrates that examining metacommunity responses to environmental gradients can help us understand how these assemblages might be structured, and how our interpretation of the results can change depending on where ecological boundaries are drawn. Similar conclusions have been reached in other studies (Costa-Neto et al., 2018). Importantly, the effects of habitat disturbance can be seen in ectoparasites and their symbionts, through cascading effects from their respective hosts. However, it is also possible that a feedback loop exists for this system, as bat-bat

fly-microbiome interactions have immunological interfaces, and while not measured in this study, could be a confounding factor in studying this system (Woodhams et al., 2014), particularly when considering how environmental stresses effect immunocompetence (Acevedo-Whitehouse and Duffus, 2009). Diminishing species assemblages in forest fragments can have cascading consequences for ecological process. For example, animals such as birds and bats contribute immensely to seed dispersal in the Atlantic forest, the loss of these seed dispersers could lead to a habitat dominated by wind-dispersed trees instead (Silva and Tabarelli, 2001). Given the prevalence and pervasiveness of ecosystem damage and habitat fragmentation, this approach which considers multiple trophic levels simultaneously should allow researchers to consider the depth of environmental change and how more obscure or difficult to study organisms can be affected by environmental perturbation.

General discussion

In this thesis, I aimed to investigate the effects of habitat fragmentation on local interactions and metacommunity processes, focusing on two host-symbiont relationships: ectoparasitic bat flies found on bat hosts, and endosymbiotic bacteria inside bat flies. The data used in my habitat fragmentation studies were collected from 10 forest fragments and 3 sites in continuous forest within the Reserva Ecológica de Guapiaçú (REGUA) region of the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Additionally, I conducted an *in-situ* DNA barcoding experiment in Lamanai, Belize using FTA[®] cards, miniPCR[™] thermocyling, and MinION[™] nanopore sequencing and compared its performance in the field to Sanger sequencing (chapter 2). A total of 25 species of bat flies were collected from the Atlantic Forest sites. I calculated and described the prevalence, intensity, and aggregation for each bat fly-bat association, and for the two most abundant pairings I compared their prevalence and intensities between forest fragments and continuous forest (chapter 3). For all 13 sites sampled, I used network theory to describe the associations present between bat flies and bats (ectoparasitic) as well as bacteria and bat flies (endosymbiotic) in terms of connectance, nestedness, and modularity and then used linear modelling to show how these network metrics varied with the landscape across the fragmented and continuous forest sites (chapter 4). For both the bat flies and endosymbionts I used the 'elements of metacommunity structure' (EMS; Leibold et al., 2004): coherence, species turnover, and boundary clumping; to determine which ecological processes best governs their distribution across all 13 sites (chapter 5).

Methods in DNA taxonomy

In chapters 2 and 3, a variety of DNA-based taxonomy (i.e. barcoding, metabarcoding, Sanger, and MiSeq) was utilized and accompanied by morphological methods to classify specimens and estimate their diversity, in addition to demonstrating alternative PCR and DNA extraction, and sequencing platforms available for molecular species identification in the field. I found FTA cards to be an effective method for collecting and extracting DNA from blood spots and to some degree was able to retrieve representative DNA barcodes from every bat species sampled. However, the quality of retrieved barcodes, and the taxonomic resolution was better (i.e. at species level) on Illumina MiSeq sequencer conducted in the laboratory, than the MinION sequencer experiment in the field. At the time of writing, the MinION is the only viable sequencer for in situ DNA sequencing (Seah et al., 2020) and the trade-off between sequence quality and on-demand analysis is well documented (Pomerantz et al., 2018; Tyler et al., 2018). I was able to mitigate this issue by focusing on a pre-selection of bats that were morphologically distinct enough to propose *a priori* species hypotheses, which complemented the COI barcode reference library prepared for this trial. The identification of bat flies was based on morphological keys and COI barcodes were only used to confirm divergent clades through clustering similar barcodes. Unlike for bats, a COI reference database for bat flies was not available for use making the a priori hypothesis method of Chapter 2 non-viable. (Virgilio et al., 2010) suggests that 98% of insect species still lack adequate representation in DNA barcode repositories (e.g. BOLD) and could cause false negative identifications thus the combined morphology and high-quality DNA approach was employed and was successful. Classification of bacterial symbionts was done through a combination of 16S rRNA

reference sequences and ASVs (i.e. OTUs clustered at the haplotype level). ASVs are said to provide a more comprehensive and accurate measure of sequence diversity when compared to using a close-reference OTU, as the former represents an exact sequence and the latter implies a sequence that is sufficiently similar to the associated reference (Callahan et al., 2017), a subtle but important difference. Molecular methods for taxonomy improves species discovery and description, and complements morphological methods (Hajibabaei et al., 2007), but as in the case of the bat flies does not replace it in less well known taxa. The coverage and reliability of available barcode libraries is an important factor in accurately identifying specimens (Ekrem et al., 2007), and facilitates research compilation based on a species ecological, physiological and morphological data (Padial et al., 2010). However, the lack of a reference database does not inhibit DNA-based identification specimens, as demonstrated by the variety of supplementary analyses utilised in this thesis.

Differences in site type

Using t-tests in chapter 3, linear modelling in chapter 4, and hierarchal clustering of metacommunities in chapter 5, I was able to detect differences in bat fly-bat interactions between forest fragment and continuous forest site types. I found that *Trichobius joblingi* infection on *Carollia perspicilata* was twice as prevalent in fragmented forest sites than in continuous forest sites, but no significant difference was found for the prevalence between site types for *Paratrichobius longicrus* and *Artibeus lituratus*. It is difficult to make generalisations from only 2 host-parasite pairs with contrasting outcomes, however there is precedence for bat fly-bat responses to habitat alteration to be highly host species-specific (Hiller et al., 2020). The differences seen between *C. perspicilata* and *A. lituratus* are possibly due to roosting differences,

as the former predominantly roosts in permanent structures where recruitment of bat flies is more consistent (e.g. caves, tree hollows) while the latter roosts in foliage and likely switch roosts often (Garbino and Tavares, 2018; Komeno and Linhares, 1999). Whereas the increased infection prevalence in the forest fragments may point to an increase in roost sharing or crowding among C. perspicilata within the smaller habitats (Hernández-Martínez et al., 2019c). Network structures of both ectoparasitic and endosymbiont trophic layers were not altered when compared across only fragmented landscapes but were both correlated with multiple landscape properties when the continuous forest sites were also considered. The symbionts in both trophic layers exhibit a high degree of specialization (Patterson et al., 2013b; Zarazúa-Carbajal et al., 2016), and their assemblages are likely dependent on composition of their respective hosts. It is possible that the contrast between the fragments and continuous sites reflects the loss of disturbance-sensitive bat species (and their associated symbionts) (Laurindo et al., 2019) and the remaining communities in forest fragments remain relatively stable to further landscape alterations. The metacommunity structure for bat flies was found to fit a Clemenstian structure, and hierarchal clustering suggested a split metacommunity where one group of sites contained 9 of the 10 fragmented forest sites (BSub), and the other group contained the 3 continuous forest sites and the remaining fragmented forest site. The splitting of the metacommunity in this suggests different processes governed metacommunity structure among the site types. However, this same splitting could not be observed by the bat or endosymbiont metacommunity, where bats has a random structure across the same 13 sites (Teixeira, 2019a), and endosymbionts also had a Clementsian structure but splitting formed 4 groups with no discernible pattern.

Landscape effects

When investigating how landscape properties affected the networks (chapter 4) and metacommunity structure (chapter 5) of both ectoparasitic and endosymbiont layers, I showed that all 3 metrics: habitat area, isolation, and habitat complexity were associated to changes in symbiont communities. Habitat area appeared most often as an explanatory variable in ectoparasitic networks, being negatively correlated to network connectance, and positively correlated to network modularity. Habitat area was also found to be the latent environmental gradient dictating the Gleasonean structure in the bat fly sub-community (BSub). Habitat isolation was only relevant in the endosymbiont community, being negatively correlated to network modularity. All three landscape properties were found to be correlated to richness of endosymbionts. These results point to networks becoming simpler (less modular, and more connected) in smaller and more isolated sites. The dependence of symbionts on their hosts makes it difficult to determine whether my results are a direct influence of landscape change on the symbiont organism, or a reflection of changes by their respective hosts in different environments, or a combination of both. The genetic basis for some hostsymbiont relationships is established in bats, bat flies, and their microbiome (Barbier and Graciolli, 2016; Wilkinson et al., 2016), but it has also been recognised that the external environment can additionally modulate or filter symbiont community composition (Brinker et al., 2019).

Biodiversity-disease paradigm

Host health and susceptibility to disease can depend on local community composition and environmental variables (Guernier et al., 2004). In this thesis, I showed that ectoparasitic and endosymbiont communities and interactions are affected by changes in landscape. The mechanisms that control variation in disease risk can be attributed to spatial processes involving contact between susceptible hosts with an infectious agent (e.g. infected host, vector, or reservoir) (Killilea et al., 2008). Some pathogens are directly affected by biodiversity (e.g. zoonotic and vector-borne diseases), which involve multiple species in their transmission and can sometimes also infect humans (Plowright et al., 2017). The exact effect of biodiversity on disease risk can differ between host species, the pathogen, type of land use change, and geographic location (Yasuoka and Levins, 2007). Biodiversity can have a negative (dilution effect) or positive (amplified effect) relationship with disease risk (Johnson et al., 2015; Ostfeld, 2009). Dilution effects involve two hypothetical mechanisms involving disease: transmission interference and susceptible host regulation (Norman et al., 1999). As an example of transmission interference, in a multi-host system with a vector-borne disease, increasing the ratio of less competent host species to competent host species results in a more "wasted" bites from vectors on hosts that do not efficiently harbour the disease (Rosà et al., 2003). In contrast, susceptible host regulation occurs when competent host species population are kept low due to interactions with other species (e.g. predators, competitors). (Keesing et al., 2010) suggests that dilution effects occur more likely in systems with highly competent host (e.g. weak immune defences) that are tolerant to disturbance (e.g. human impact). However the dilution effect hypothesis relies on the assumption that high biodiversity does not instead favour

competent hosts over non-competent hosts, where then an amplifying effect on disease risk occurs (Wood et al., 2014). Examples where biodiversity loss decreases disease risk include the land clearing of the Brazilian Amazon correlating with a decline in malaria prevalence (Valle and Clark, 2013), and deforestation in East Africa also linked to declines in river blindness (Walsh et al., 1993), as both instances involves vectors associated with intact vegetation and high biodiversity.

Connectivity-disease trade-off

Loss of landscape connectivity is a key consequence of habitat fragmentation, whereby a species' capacity to disperse and forage for resources such as food, water and shelter is restricted (Benz et al., 2016; Raphael K. Didham, 2010). Anthropogenic landscape change reduces landscape connectivity when habitat is destroyed, and when infrastructure is built. Man-made infrastructure such as roads (Vos and Chardon, 1998), fences (Osipova et al., 2018), and river dams (Jansson et al., 2000) may not explicitly involve habitat destruction in their construction, but fundamentally they still present a barrier for species movement and a disruption to habitat. The segregation of natural habitat during anthropogenic land use change can be considered an unintended consequence rather than the primary objective (e.g. roads for vehicles, dams to regulate water pathways, land clearing for agriculture). While most fragmentation is tied to habitat loss, one important exception to this is fences which have been deliberately used to segregate wildlife from accessing areas across the barrier, and are a common method to mitigate wildlife-livestock and wildlife-human conflict by safeguarding species of interest, or managing sensitive habitats (Gortázar et al., n.d.; Osipova et al., 2018). Despite widespread use, fences are often unmapped

and receive less attention than more drastic forms of landscape change such as roads or forest clearing (Jakes et al., 2018); and because of their function to clearly delineate separated territory, they present an important example of fragmentation distinct from habitat loss or destruction.

The fragmentation of habitat can be deliberately deployed (e.g. using fences) as a means of restricting the spread of infectious diseases (Bozzuto et al., 2021). The relationship between connectivity and disease prevalence has been described as a trade-off by (Hess, 1996), whereby restricting connectivity between subpopulations may eliminates diseases that cannot persist in isolated population at the cost of increasing their vulnerability to stochastic extinctions. Mathematical models supporting this suggest positive relationships between subpopulation movement rate and epidemic duration (Jesse et al., 2008) as well as disease persistence (Gog et al., 2002). In practice, artificial fragmentation through cordon fences has the potential to limit wildlife contact and disease transmission to domestic animals (Batista Linhares et al., 2021; Jori and Etter, 2016). In South Africa, successful efforts to contain the spread of foot-and-mouth disease (FMD) included perimeter fencing around Kruger National Park to separate cattle from wild ungulates carrying the pathogen (Gortázar et al., 2020), as well as vaccinating the livestock from the disease (Brahmbhatt et al., 2012; Lazarus et al., 2017).

Artificial fragmentation by itself may not be sufficient to contain wildlife diseases, as exemplified from efforts to eradicate African swine fever virus (ASF) and chronic wasting disease (CWD) through fences in Europe (Mysterud and Edmunds, 2019; Mysterud and Rolandsen, 2019), partly because of the varied ways pathogens are

transmitted, as well as how different species respond to being contained by physical barriers. The European Food Safety Authority reported caveats to strategies in preventing the introduction and spread of ASF via hunting of wild boars in fenced areas, finding that certain hunting practices (e.g., artificial feeding) not only concentrated boar populations and thereby facilitated ASF spread, but intensive hunting led to dispersion of groups, making tracking difficult (EFSA, 2014). CWD fences meant to contain cervids were only effective at certain heights due some species jumping across (Vercauteren et al., 2010), in addition to the transport of farmed deer species, and wasting of contaminated meat and carcasses from hunting (Stegen et al., 2017) (Mysterud and Rolandsen, 2019) have contributed to the disease spilling over. Preventing disease emergence through fencing alone is also ineffective for pathogens circulated through water, soil or air (Stegen et al., 2017), as well as those involving flying hosts such as bats and birds (Gargas et al., 2009; James et al., 2011) that can bypass terrestrial barriers.

Following the connectivity-disease paradigm, the rehabilitation of fragmented habitat must carefully consider the consequences to both the reconnecting populations and diseases that could emerge (Bienen, 2002). Bioeconomic models tested by Horan et al. (2008) finds that it is more cost-effective to invest in increasing connectivity first, then focus on disease prevention and control in those highly connected habitats. This strategy particularly benefits endangered populations as the increased gene flow enabled through habitat corridors may promote disease resistance in hosts as population numbers grow (Horan et al., 2008; Jousimo et al., 2014). Disease resistance can be induced by administering vaccines against pathogens or their vectors, for example through injections for livestock (de la Fuente et al., 2020), or through wildlife

baits treated with orally acquired vaccines (Beasley et al., 2015). Another cost-effective method to tackle the connectivity-disease trade-off involves targeting only highly connected populations, such as those close to habitat corridors, as demonstrated by Haydon et al. (2006) deploying this low-coverage vaccination strategy on Ethiopian wolf metapopulations against rabies to avoid large outbreaks of the disease rather than its complete eradication from the region.

Implication for disease outbreaks

The recent COVID-19 pandemic has shown how little is still understood about the extent of the impacts wildlife mistreatment can cause (MacFarlane and Rocha, 2020b). Some authors believe the SARS-CoV-2 virus to have transmitted from bats to humans as they are natural reservoirs of similar viruses (e.g. SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV; Tiwari et al., 2020), while others hypothesize that illegal trapping of live wildlife such as pangolins alongside bats facilitated the virus's spread to humans when sold through wildlife markets (Andersen et al., 2020; Turcios-Casco and Cazzolla Gatti, 2020). (Platto et al., 2020) suggests three factors that influence the emergence of infectious diseases: (1) the frequency of human-wildlife interface, (2) the effects of environmental change on pathogen prevalence (Wolfe et al., 2005), and (3) the diversity of wildlife microbes (the zoonotic pool; Morse, 1993). Although measuring zoonotic transmission is beyond the scope of this thesis, the results from my studies can still provide insight on outbreak risks in this system. Aside from deliberate pursuit of animals for hunting, human-wildlife interactions occur as a result of competition between humans and animals for limited space (Pătru-Stupariu et al., 2020). Conflict arises due to wild animals encroaching upon man-made settlements in search for food and shelter (Lim et al., 2018; Tait et al., 2014), as well as domesticated animals expanding their range

into wild territories (Hanmer et al., 2017). The land clearing in the Atlantic Forest was primarily due to socioeconomic purposes (Izqulerdo et al., 2008). Non-forest matrix surrounding the sites in my Atlantic Forest studies consisted of agricultural land, farmland, and peri-urban settlements. Bats exhibit behaviours that increase the likelihood of human contact in these habitat matrices and therefore zoonotic transmission, for example by inhabiting human structures (Barros et al., 2015), feeding on fruit in plantations (Korine et al., 1999) and livestock on farms (Bobrowiec et al., 2015). The most abundant bat collected throughout my studies was C. perspicilata, and its primary bat fly *T. joblingi*. *C. perspicilata* is a disturbance-tolerant species (Laurindo et al., 2019), and in this study was found in every site. Comparing between forest fragments and continuous forests in chapter 3, there were 3 times as many C. *perspicilata* collected from forest fragments than continuous forest, and prevalence was twice as high in the former than the latter, suggesting a negative biodiversitydisease relationship. Based on networks in chapter 4, C. perspicilata was also highly connected to different network modules by being a generalist host, and this was more evident in networks of higher connectance in smaller forest fragments. Taken together, my results suggest that the smallest forest fragments are at higher risk of having pathogens spread farthest due to their high connectance, and persistence of generalist species. In terms of microbial diversity, I found that endosymbiont genus richness decreased in smaller, more homogenous sites. It is difficult to determine what this relationship means for disease risk without knowing the pathogenicity of the bacterial genus and species loss. However, known potentially pathogenic bacteria such as Bartonella sp. and Rickettsia sp. was prevalent in several species of bat fly and reduced microbiome diversity has been shown to increase susceptibility to pathogens

in other organisms (Schwarz et al., 2016; Swei and Kwan, 2017b). Overall, I hypothesise that the risk of diseases emerging from wildlife is higher in forest fragments that are smaller, more isolated, and have low biodiversity due to a combination of effects by bats, bat flies, and microbes from habitat disturbance that facilitates the infection of pathogens on susceptible hosts and its spread through host networks.

Future study design considerations

The generalisation of results from field ecological studies can be confounded by highly variable background environments, and community composition derived from an unknown history (Knapp et al., 2004). The results in this thesis consider 13 sites localised within the Reserva Ecológica de Guapiaçú (REGUA) region of the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. The proximity of the forest fragments to the continuous forest provides some confidence that the communities found at those sites would have been more homogenous historically (Chave, 2013), and changes in composition can be partially attributed to the change in land use. The landscape components of my analysis throughout this thesis were somewhat confounded by the stark contrast between fragments and control sites. For example, the dramatic size differences between fragments and control sites creates a large gap embedded within continuous variables which limits regression analyses. Missing data is a common occurrence for field work that can bias analyses (Bogoni et al., 2018; Horton and Kleinman, 2007). Some studies fill in incomplete data using methods called imputations and augmentation (Ellington et al., 2015; Horton and Kleinman, 2007), another way to close gaps in datasets is to conduct a meta-analysis and incorporate values from other similar studies (Ellington et al., 2015). Neither options were considered for this thesis,

as imputations have been heavily criticised (Nakagawa and Freckleton, 2011), and the scarcity of bat-bat fly-microbe network and accompanying landscape data available for use precludes meta-analyses. Rather than attempting to fill in the gaps for the continuous variables to create a smooth gradient between fragments and control sites, another way to analyse the data would be to treat the data as categorical (fragment vs continuous) as was done for chapter 3. In this case, the imbalanced sample design (10 fragments and 3 continuous sites) reduced statistical power for pair-wise comparisons such as T-tests (Hoover, 2002; Mendeş, 2005). In future analyses two options to improve analyses include sampling sufficient sites to equally populate the two categories of fragment and control data or to select fragments which create a more even distribution of size variables. One problem is that this may be too resource intensive, or not feasible due to the variability in natural systems but should be considered in future field sites. Using these data to conducting a power analysis prior to future field work may inform better sampling size and design (Fairweather, 1991).

Host health and disease risks were themes discussed at length in this thesis, but not directly measured. Discussions of bat flies as vectors for bacterial pathogens present in their microbiome would have benefited greatly from being paired with bat microbiome data, either through sampling blood or gut microbiota. The risks or costs to being parasitised instead were represented by prevalence and intensity measures, as a proxy to likelihood for disease transmission in the population. If similar bacterial species are found in both host and parasite, genome comparisons can be made to deduce whether an association between host-parasite microbiomes was present. For practicality, this focused look at microbiomes could be reserved for species of interest (e.g. connector species, threatened species).

Conclusions

In this thesis I show through multitrophic analysis of host-ectoparasite-endosymbiont communities, that the effects of landscape changes in fragmented habitats can be detected at fine level, and that symbionts can be affected by different environmental variables from their hosts to an extent. I also show how habitat disturbance affects symbiont interactions at different gradients and note how habitat area plays a large role in local and metacommunity processes. The rehabilitation of wildlife populations in small, isolated habitats should continue to be a priority to monitor disease risk in threatened species as well as prevent emerging infectious diseases. Evaluating disease risk of fragmented habitats can help identify which patches and which species present efficient use of resources to mitigate outbreaks when improving habitat connectivity.

References

 Abundes-Gallegos, J., Salas-Rojas, M., Galvez-Romero, G., Perea-Martínez, L., Obregón-Morales, C.Y., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Chomel, B.B., Stuckey, M.J., Moreno-Sandoval, H., García-Baltazar, A., Nogueda-Torres, B., Zuñiga, G., Aguilar-Setién, A., 2018. Detection of Dengue Virus in Bat Flies (Diptera: Streblidae) of Common Vampire Bats, Desmodus rotundus, in Progreso, Hidalgo, Mexico. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases 18, 70–73. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2017.2163

Acevedo-Whitehouse, K., Duffus, A.L.J., 2009. Effects of environmental change on wildlife health. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2009.0128

- Adair, K.L., Douglas, A.E., 2017. Making a microbiome: the many determinants of host-associated microbial community composition. Current Opinion in Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mib.2016.11.002
- Afgan, E., Baker, D., van den Beek, M., Blankenberg, D., Bouvier, D., Čech, M., Chilton, J., Clements, D., Coraor, N., Eberhard, C., Grüning, B., Guerler, A., Hillman-Jackson, J., Von Kuster, G., Rasche, E., Soranzo, N., Turaga, N., Taylor, J., Nekrutenko, A., Goecks, J., 2016. The Galaxy platform for accessible, reproducible and collaborative biomedical analyses: 2016 update. Nucleic acids research 44, W3–W10. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw343
- Agarwala, R., Barrett, T., Beck, J., Benson, D.A., Bollin, C., Bolton, E., Bourexis, D., Brister, J.R., Bryant, S.H., Canese, K., Charowhas, C., Clark, K., DiCuccio, M., Dondoshansky, I., Feolo, M., Funk, K., Geer, L.Y., Gorelenkov, V., Hlavina, W., Hoeppner, M., Holmes, B., Johnson, M., Khotomlianski, V., Kimchi, A., Kimelman, M., Kitts, P., Klimke, W., Krasnov, S., Kuznetsov, A., Landrum, M.J., Landsman, D., Lee, J.M., Lipman, D.J., Lu, Z., Madden, T.L., Madej, T., Marchler-Bauer, A., Karsch-Mizrachi, I., Murphy, T., Orris, R., Ostell, J., O'Sullivan, C., Palanigobu, V., Panchenko, A.R., Phan, L., Pruitt, K.D., Rodarmer, K., Rubinstein, W., Sayers, E.W., Schneider, V., Schoch, C.L., Schuler, G.D., Sherry, S.T., Sirotkin, K., Siyan, K., Slotta, D., Soboleva, A., Soussov, V., Starchenko, G., Tatusova, T.A., Todorov, K., Trawick, B.W., Vakatov, D., Wang, Y., Ward, M., Wilbur, W.J., Yaschenko, E., Zbicz, K., 2017. Database Resources of the National Center for Biotechnology Information. Nucleic Acids Research. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw1071
- Aguiar, L.M. de S., Antonini, Y., 2011. Descriptive ecology of bat flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea)associated with vampire bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae) in the cerrado of central Brazil. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 106, 170–176. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762011000200009
- Aguiar, L.M.S., Bernard, E., Machado, R.B., 2014. Habitat use and movements of Glossophaga soricina and Lonchophylla dekeyseri (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae) in a Neotropical savannah. Zoologia (Curitiba) 31, 223–229. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702014000300003
- Akaike, H., 1973. Information theory and an extension of the maximum likelihood principle. Proceedings of the 2nd international symposium on information theory, in: Second International Symposium on Information Theory.
- Aksoy, S., Wang, J., Lohs, C., Pais, R., Wu, Y., 2008. The Obligate Mutualist Wigglesworthia glossinidia Influences Reproduction, Digestion, and Immunity Processes of Its Host, the Tsetse Fly. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 74, 5965–5974. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.00741-08
- Allesina, S., Pascual, M., 2008. Network structure, predator Prey modules, and stability in large food webs. Theoretical Ecology 1, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12080-007-0007-8
- Almeida, J.C. de, Martins, M.A., Guedes, P.G., Peracchi, A.L., Serra-Freire, N.M., 2016. New records of mites (Acari: Spinturnicidae) associated with bats (Mammalia, Chiroptera) in two Brazilian biomes: Pantanal and Caatinga. Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinária. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1984-29612016005
- Almeida, Juliana C, Silva, S.S.P., Serra-Freire, N.M., Valim, M.P., 2011. Ectoparasites (Insecta and Acari) associated with bats in southeastern Brazil. Journal of Medical Entomology 48, 753–757. https://doi.org/10.1603/ME09133
- Almeida, Juliana C., Silva, S.S.P., Serra-Freire, N.M., Valim, M.P., 2011. Ectoparasites (Insecta and Acari) Associated With Bats in Southeastern Brazil. Journal of Medical Entomology 48, 753–757. https://doi.org/10.1603/me09133
- Almeida-Neto, M., Guimarães, P., Guimarães, P.R., Loyola, R.D., Ulrich, W., 2008. A consistent metric for nestedness analysis in ecological systems: Reconciling concept and measurement. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2008.16644.x
- Almeida-Neto, M., Guimarães, P.R., Lewinsohn, T.M., 2007. On nestedness analyses: Rethinking matrix temperature and antinestedness. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0030-1299.2007.15803.x
- Altizer, S., Nunn, C.L., Thrall, P.H., Gittleman, J.L., Antonovics, J., Cunningham, A.A., Dobson, A.P., Ezenwa, V., Jones, K.E., Pedersen, A.B., Poss, M., Pulliam, J.R.C., 2003. Social Organization and Parasite Risk in Mammals: Integrating Theory and Empirical Studies. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics.

https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.030102.151725 Alzin, G., MacNeil, M.A., Graham, N. a J., Polunin, N.V.C., Kulbicki, M., Galzin, R., Harmelin-Vivien, M., Rushton, S.P., Pushton, S.P.,

Rushton, S.P., 2009. Hierarchical drivers of reef-fish metacommunity structure. Ecology.

- Amarasekare, P., 2003. Diversity-stability relationships in multitrophic systems: An empirical exploration. Journal of Animal Ecology 72, 713–724. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2656.2003.00744.x
- Amato, K.R., Yeoman, C.J., Kent, A., Righini, N., Carbonero, F., Estrada, A., Rex Gaskins, H., Stumpf, R.M., Yildirim, S., Torralba, M., Gillis, M., Wilson, B.A., Nelson, K.E., White, B.A., Leigh, S.R., 2013. Habitat degradation impacts black howler monkey (Alouatta pigra) gastrointestinal microbiomes. ISME Journal 7, 1344–1353. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2013.16
- Anaya-Rojas, J.M., Best, R.J., Brunner, F.S., Eizaguirre, C., Leal, M.C., Melián, C.J., Seehausen, O., Matthews, B., 2019. An experimental test of how parasites of predators can influence trophic cascades and ecosystem functioning. Ecology 100. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2744
- Andersen, K.G., Rambaut, A., Lipkin, W.I., Holmes, E.C., Garry, R.F., 2020. The proximal origin of SARS-CoV-2. Nature Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0820-9

- Andrén, H., Andren, H., 1994. Effects of Habitat Fragmentation on Birds and Mammals in Landscapes with Different Proportions of Suitable Habitat: A Review. Oikos 71, 355. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545823
- Antongiovanni, M., Metzger, J.P., 2005. Influence of matrix habitats on the occurrence of insectivorous bird species in Amazonian forest fragments. Biological Conservation 122, 441–451. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2004.09.005
- Arnone, I.S., Trajano, E., Pulchério-Leite, A., Passos, F. de C., Arnone, I.S., Trajano, E., Pulchério-Leite, A., Passos, F. de C., 2016. Long-distance movement by a great fruit-eating bat, Artibeus lituratus (Olfers, 1818), in southeastern Brazil (Chiroptera, Phyllostomidae): evidence for migration in Neotropical bats? Biota Neotropica 16. https://doi.org/10.1590/1676-0611-BN-2015-0026
- Asante, M., Mazama, A., Andrade, E., 2013. Bats, in: Encyclopedia of African Religion.
- https://doi.org/10.4135/9781412964623.n75
- Ashrafi, S., Bontadina, F., Kiefer, A., Pavlinic, I., Arlettaz, R., 2010. Multiple morphological characters needed for field identification of cryptic long-eared bat species around the Swiss Alps. Journal of Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2010.00697.x
- Ashton, P.M., Nair, S., Dallman, T., Rubino, S., Rabsch, W., Mwaigwisya, S., Wain, J., O'Grady, J., 2015. MinION nanopore sequencing identifies the position and structure of a bacterial antibiotic resistance island. Nat Biotechnol 33, 296–300. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.3103
- Bai, Y., Osinubi, M.O.V., Osikowicz, L., McKee, C., Vora, N.M., Rizzo, M.R., Recuenco, S., Davis, L., Niezgoda, M., Ehimiyein, A.M., Kia, G.S.N., Oyemakinde, A., Adeniyi, O.S., Gbadegesin, Y.H., Saliman, O.A., Ogunniyi, A., Ogunkoya, A.B., Kosoy, M.Y., Kuzmin, I. V., Blau, D., Ellison, J., Greenberg, L., Person, M., Wallace, R., Satheshkumar, P.S., Aman-Oloniyo, A., Adedire, E.B., Soleye, M.O., Okara, G.C., Yennan, S., Abdurrahman, M., Sani, M.A., Audu, S.W., Lawal, M., Mshelbwala, P.P., 2018. Human exposure to novel bartonella species from contact with fruit bats. Emerging Infectious Diseases 24, 2317–2323. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2412.181204
- Banerjee, S., Baah-Acheamfour, M., Carlyle, C.N., Bissett, A., Richardson, A.E., Siddique, T., Bork, E.W., Chang, S.X., 2016. Determinants of bacterial communities in Canadian agroforestry systems. Environmental microbiology 18, 1805–1816. https://doi.org/10.1111/1462-2920.12986
- Barelli, C., Albanese, D., Donati, C., Pindo, M., Dallago, C., Rovero, F., Cavalieri, D., Michael Tuohy, K., Christine Hauffe, H., De Filippo, C., 2015. Habitat fragmentation is associated to gut microbiota diversity of an endangered primate: Implications for conservation. Scientific Reports 5, 14862. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep14862
- Barnard, C.J., Behnke, J.M., Gage, A.R., Brown, H., Smithurst, P.R., 1998. The role of parasite-induced immunodepression, rank and social environment in the modulation of behaviour and hormone concentration in male laboratory mice (Mus musculus). Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1998.0349
- Barros, M.A.S., de Magalhães, R.G., Rui, A.M., 2015. Species composition and mortality of bats at the Osório Wind Farm, southern Brazil. Studies on Neotropical Fauna and Environment. https://doi.org/10.1080/01650521.2014.1001595
- Bascompte, J., Jordano, P., 2007. Plant-Animal Mutualistic Networks: The Architecture of Biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 38, 567–593. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.38.091206.095818
- Bascompte, J., Jordano, P., Melian, C.J., Olesen, J.M., 2003. The nested assembly of plant-animal mutualistic networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1633576100
- Baselga, A., 2010. Partitioning the turnover and nestedness components of beta diversity. Global Ecology and Biogeography. https://doi.org/10.1111/i.1466-8238.2009.00490.x
- Batista Linhares, M., Whiteley, H.E., Samuelson, J.P., Hsiao, S.H., Stern, A.W., Sprandel, I.T., Roady, P.J., Coleman, D.A., Rizzo, R., Froderman, S.F., Terio, K.A., 2021. Sylvatic Canine Morbillivirus in Captive Panthera Highlights Viral Promiscuity and the Need for Better Prevention Strategies. Pathogens 10, 544. https://doi.org/10.3390/pathogens10050544
- Baumgartner, M.T., 2020. Connectance and nestedness as stabilizing factors in response to pulse disturbances in adaptive antagonistic networks. Journal of Theoretical Biology 486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2019.110073
- Beasley, J.C., Atwood, T.C., Byrne, M.E., Vercauteren, K.C., Johnson, S.R., Jr, O.E.R., 2015. A Behaviorally-Explicit Approach for Delivering Vaccine Baits to Mesopredators to Control Epizootics in Fragmented Landscapes. PLOS ONE 10, e0113206. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0113206
- Becker, C.G., Longo, A. V., Haddad, C.F.B., Zamudio, K.R., 2017. Land cover and forest connectivity alter the interactions among host, pathogen and skin microbiome. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284, 20170582. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.0582
- Becker, C.G., Loyola, R.D., Haddad, C.F.B., Zamudio, K.R., 2010. Integrating species life-history traits and patterns of deforestation in amphibian conservation planning. Diversity and Distributions 16, 10–19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2009.00625.x
- Beechler, B.R., Jolles, A.E., Budischak, S.A., Corstjens, P.L.A.M., Ezenwa, V.O., Smith, M., Spaan, R.S., van Dam, G.J., Steinauer, M.L., 2017. Host immunity, nutrition and coinfection alter longitudinal infection patterns of schistosomes in a free ranging African buffalo population. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0006122
- Beier, P., Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2001. Model Selection and Inference: A Practical Information-Theoretic Approach. The Journal of Wildlife Management. https://doi.org/10.2307/3803117
- Belasen, A.M., Bletz, M.C., Leite, D. da S., Toledo, L.F., James, T.Y., 2019. Long-Term Habitat Fragmentation Is Associated With Reduced MHC IIB Diversity and Increased Infections in Amphibian Hosts. Front. Ecol. Evol. 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2018.00236
- Bellay, S., de Oliveira, E.F., Almeida-Neto, M., Lima Junior, D.P., Takemoto, R.M., Luque, J.L., 2013. Developmental Stage of Parasites Influences the Structure of Fish-Parasite Networks. PLoS ONE 8. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0075710
- Benelli, G., Duggan, M.F., 2018. Management of arthropod vector data Social and ecological dynamics facing the One Health perspective. Acta Tropica. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.actatropica.2018.02.015
- Benítez-Páez, A., Portune, K.J., Sanz, Y., 2016. Species-level resolution of 16S rRNA gene amplicons sequenced through the MinION[™] portable nanopore sequencer. GigaScience. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13742-016-0111-z
- Benstead, J.P., Pringle, C.M., 2004. Deforestation alters the resource base and biomass of endemic stream insects in eastern Madagascar. Freshwater Biology 49, 490–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2004.01203.x

Benz, R.A., Boyce, M.S., Thurfjell, H., Paton, D.G., Musiani, M., Dormann, C.F., Ciuti, S., 2016. Dispersal Ecology Informs Design of Large-Scale Wildlife Corridors. PLOS ONE 11, e0162989. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0162989

Bergallo, H.G., Esbérard, C.E.L., Mello, M.A.R., Lins, V., Mangolin, R., Melo, G.G.S., Baptista, M., 2003. Bat Species Richness in Atlantic Forest: What Is the Minimum Sampling Effort?1. BIOTROPICA. https://doi.org/10.1646/02033

Bernard, E., Fenton, M.B., 2003. Bat Mobility and Roosts in a Fragmented Landscape in Central Amazonia, Brazil. Biotropica 35, 262–277. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2003.tb00285.x

- Bertola, P.B., Aires, C.C., Favorito, S.E., Graciolli, G., Amaku, M., Pinto-Da-Rocha, R., 2005. Bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae, Nycteribiidae) parasitic on bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera) at Parque Estadual da Cantareira, São Paulo, Brazil: Parasitism rates and host-parasite associations. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02762005000100005
- Betke, M., Hirsh, D.E., Makris, N.C., McCracken, G.F., Procopio, M., Hristov, N.I., Tang, S., Bagchi, A., Reichard, J.D., Horn, J.W., Crampton, S., Cleveland, C.J., Kunz, T.H., 2008. Thermal imaging reveals significantly smaller Brazilian free-tailed bat colonies than previously estimated. Journal of Mammalogy. https://doi.org/10.1644/07-MAMM-A-011.1
- Bienen, L., 2002. Informed Decisions Conservation Corridors and the Spread of Infectious Disease. Conservation in Practice 3, 10– 19. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4629.2002.tb00028.x
- Billeter, S.A., Levy, M.G., Chomel, B.B., Breitschwerdt, E.B., 2008. Vector transmission of Bartonella species with emphasis on the potential for tick transmission. Medical and Veterinary Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2915.2008.00713.x
- Biomeme Inc., 2015. Biomeme device is a real-time PCR thermocycler that attaches to your iPhone 5 [WWW Document]. We are Biomeme: A smartphone-based DNA detection platform. No lab necessary.
- Bize, P., Jeanneret, C., Klopfenstein, A., Roulin, A., 2008. What makes a host profitable? Parasites balance host nutritive resources against immunity. American Naturalist 171, 107–118. https://doi.org/10.1086/523943
- Blagoev, G.A., deWaard, J.R., Ratnasingham, S., deWaard, S.L., Lu, L., Robertson, J., Telfer, A.C., Hebert, P.D.N., 2016. Untangling taxonomy: A DNA barcode reference library for Canadian spiders. Molecular Ecology Resources. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12444
- Blaxter, M., Elsworth, B., Daub, J., 2004. DNA taxonomy of a neglected animal phylum: An unexpected diversity of tardigrades. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 271. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2003.0130
- Blaxter, M.L., 2004. The promise of a DNA taxonomy. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2003.1447
- Bobrowiec, P.E.D., Lemes, M.R., Gribel, R., 2015. Prey preference of the common vampire bat (Desmodus rotundus, Chiroptera) using molecular analysis. Journal of Mammalogy 96, 54–63. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyu002
- Bogoni, J.A., Pires, J.S.R., Graipel, M.E., Peroni, N., Peres, C.A., 2018. Wish you were here: How defaunated is the Atlantic Forest biome of its medium- to large-bodied mammal fauna? PLOS ONE 13, e0204515.
- https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0204515 Bohmann, K., Evans, A., Gilbert, M.T.P., Carvalho, G.R., Creer, S., Knapp, M., Yu, D.W., de Bruyn, M., 2014. Environmental DNA for wildlife biology and biodiversity monitoring. Trends in Ecology and Evolution.
 - https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2014.04.003

BOLD Systems, 2013. The Barcode of Life Handbook. University Affairs, Canada's Magazine on higher education.

- Bolger, A.M., Lohse, M., Usadel, B., 2014. Trimmomatic: A flexible trimmer for Illumina sequence data. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu170
- Bolívar-Cimé, B., Cuxim-Koyoc, A., Reyes-Novelo, E., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Laborde, J., Flores-Peredo, R., 2018a. Habitat fragmentation and the prevalence of parasites (Diptera, Streblidae) on three Phyllostomid bat species. Biotropica 50, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12489
- Bolívar-Cimé, B., Cuxim-Koyoc, A., Reyes-Novelo, E., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Laborde, J., Flores-Peredo, R., 2018b. Habitat fragmentation and the prevalence of parasites (Diptera, Streblidae) on three Phyllostomid bat species. Biotropica 50, 90–97. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12489
- Bonaccorso, F.J., Winkelmann, J.R., Shin, D., Agrawal, C.I., Aslami, N., Bonney, C., Hsu, A., Jekielek, P.E., Knox, A.K., Kopach, S.J., Jennings, T.D., Lasky, J.R., Menesale, S.A., Richards, J.H., Rutland, J.A., Sessa, A.K., Zhaurova, L., Kunz, T.H., 2007.
 Evidence for Exploitative Competition: Comparative Foraging Behavior and Roosting Ecology of Short-Tailed Fruit Bats (Phyllostomidae). Biotropica 39, 249–256. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2006.00251.x
- Bonin, M.C., Almany, G.R., Jones, G.P., 2011. Contrasting effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on coral-associated reef fishes. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/10-0627.1
- Bordes, F., Morand, S., Pilosof, S., Claude, J., Krasnov, B.R., Cosson, J.F., Chaval, Y., Ribas, A., Chaisiri, K., Blasdell, K., Herbreteau, V., Dupuy, S., Tran, A., 2015a. Habitat fragmentation alters the properties of a host-parasite network: Rodents and their helminths in South-East Asia. Journal of Animal Ecology 84, 1253–1263. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12368
- Bordes, F., Morand, S., Pilosof, S., Claude, J., Krasnov, B.R., Cosson, J.F., Chaval, Y., Ribas, A., Chaisiri, K., Blasdell, K., Herbreteau, V., Dupuy, S., Tran, A., 2015b. Habitat fragmentation alters the properties of a host-parasite network: Rodents and their helminths in South-East Asia. Journal of Animal Ecology 84, 1253–1263. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12368
- Bordes, F., Morand, S., Ricardo, G., 2008. Bat fly species richness in Neotropical bats: Correlations with host ecology and host brain. Oecologia 158, 109–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-008-1115-x
- Borisenko, A. V., Lim, B.K., Ivanova, N. V., Hanner, R.H., Hebert, P.D.N., 2008. DNA barcoding in surveys of small mammal communities: A field study in Suriname. Molecular Ecology Resources 8, 471–479. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2007.01998.x
- Borkin, K.M., O'Donnell, C., Parsons, S., 2011. Bat colony size reduction coincides with clear-fell harvest operations and high rates of roost loss in plantation forest. Biodiversity and Conservation 20, 3537–3548. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-011-0144-7
- Bouma, H.R., Carey, H. V., Kroese, F.G.M., 2010. Hibernation: the immune system at rest? Journal of Leukocyte Biology. https://doi.org/10.1189/jlb.0310174
- Bower, D.S., Brannelly, L.A., McDonald, C.A., Webb, R.J., Greenspan, S.E., Vickers, M., Gardner, M.G., Greenlees, M.J., 2019. A review of the role of parasites in the ecology of reptiles and amphibians. Austral Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/aec.12695
- Bozzuto, C., Canessa, S., Koella, J.C., 2021. Exploring artificial habitat fragmentation to control invasion by infectious wildlife diseases. Theoretical Population Biology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tpb.2021.06.001
- Bradley, C.A., Altizer, S., 2007. Urbanization and the ecology of wildlife diseases. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2006.11.001
- Brahmbhatt, D.P., Fosgate, G.T., Dyason, E., Budke, C.M., Gummow, B., Jori, F., Ward, M.P., Srinivasan, R., 2012. Contacts between domestic livestock and wildlife at the Kruger National Park Interface of the Republic of South Africa. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 103, 16–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2011.08.003
- Brändel, S.D., Hiller, T., Halczok, T.K., Kerth, G., Page, R.A., Tschapka, M., 2020. Consequences of fragmentation for Neotropical bats: The importance of the matrix. Biological Conservation 252, 108792. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108792
- Brasil, L.S., Vieira, T.B., de Oliveira-Junior, J.M.B., Dias-Silva, K., Juen, L., 2017. Elements of metacommunity structure in Amazonian Zygoptera among streams under different spatial scales and environmental conditions. Ecology and Evolution 7, 3190– 3200. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2849
- Breitschwerdt, E.B., 2014. Bartonellosis: one health perspectives for an emerging infectious disease. ILAR journal 55, 46–58. https://doi.org/10.1093/ilar/ilu015
- Bressan, A., Terlizzi, F., Credi, R., 2012. Independent Origins of Vectored Plant Pathogenic Bacteria from Arthropod-Associated Arsenophonus Endosymbionts. Microbial Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-011-9933-5
- Brinkerhoff, R.J., Haddad, N.M., Orrock, J.L., 2005. Corridors and olfactory predator cues affect small mammal behavior. Journal of Mammalogy. https://doi.org/10.1644/1545-1542(2005)086[0662:CAOPCA]2.0.CO;2
- Brook, C.E., Boots, M., Chandran, K., Dobson, A.P., Drosten, C., Graham, A.L., Grenfell, B.T., Müller, M.A., Ng, M., Wang, L.F., Leeuwen, A. van, 2020. Accelerated viral dynamics in bat cell lines, with implications for zoonotic emergence. eLife. https://doi.org/10.7554/eLife.48401
- Brook, C.E., Dobson, A.P., 2015. Bats as "special" reservoirs for emerging zoonotic pathogens. Trends in Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2014.12.004
- Brown, C.R., Brown, M.B., Rannala, B., 1995. Ectoparasites reduce long-term survival of their avian host. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 262, 313–319. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1995.0211
- Brown, J.H., Kodric-Brown, A., 1977. Turnover Rates in Insular Biogeography: Effect of Immigration on Extinction. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/1935620
- Brownstein, J.S., Holford, T.R., Fish, D., 2003. A climate-based model predicts the spatial distribution of the Lyme disease vector Ixodes scapularis in the United States. Environmental Health Perspectives. https://doi.org/10.1289/ehp.6052
- Brühl, C.A., Eltz, T., Linsenmair, K.E., 2003. Size does matter Effects of tropical rainforest fragmentation on the leaf litter ant community in Sabah, Malaysia. Biodiversity and Conservation 12, 1371–1389.
 - https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1023621609102
- Bruna, E.M., Vasconcelos, H.L., Heredia, S., 2005. The effect of habitat fragmentation on communities of mutualists: Amazonian ants and their host plants. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.01.026
- Bruyndonckx, N., Dubey, S., Ruedi, M., Christe, P., 2009. Molecular cophylogenetic relationships between European bats and their ectoparasitic mites (Acari, Spinturnicidae). Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution 51, 227–237. https://doi.org/10.1016/i.ympev.2009.02.005
- Burkett-Cadena, N.D., 2019. Morphological Adaptations of Parasitic Arthropods, in: Medical and Veterinary Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-814043-7.00002-9
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical information -Burnham KP, Anderson DR. 2002. Model selection and multi-model inference: a practical information theoretical approach. theoretical approach. Model Selection and Multimodel Inference. https://doi.org/10.1007/B97636
- Burnham, K.P., Anderson, D.R., 2001. Kullback-Leibler information as a basis for strong inference in ecological studies. Wildlife Research. https://doi.org/10.1071/WR99107
- Burton, A.S., Stahl, S.E., John, K.K., Jain, M., Juul, S., Turner, D.J., Harrington, E.D., Stoddart, D., Paten, B., Akeson, M., Castro-Wallace, S.L., 2020. Off earth identification of bacterial populations using 16S rDNA nanopore sequencing. Genes. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11010076
- Bush, S.E., Clayton, D.H., 2006. the Role of Body Size in Host Specificity: Reciprocal Transfer Experiments With Feather Lice. Evolution 60, 2158. https://doi.org/10.1554/06-226.1
- Bush, S.E., Reed, M., Maher, S., 2013. Impact of forest size on parasite biodiversity: Implications for conservation of hosts and parasites. Biodiversity and Conservation 22, 1391–1404. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-013-0480-x
- Calabrese, J.M., Brunner, J.L., Ostfeld, R.S., 2011. Partitioning the aggregation of parasites on hosts into intrinsic and extrinsic components via an extended poisson-gamma mixture model. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0029215
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S.P., 2017. Exact sequence variants should replace operational taxonomic units in markergene data analysis. ISME Journal 11, 2639–2643. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2017.119
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J., Rosen, M.J., Han, A.W., Johnson, A.J.A., Holmes, S.P., 2016. DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nature Methods. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869
- Camacho-Sanchez, M., Burraco, P., Gomez-Mestre, I., Leonard, J.A., 2013. Preservation of RNA and DNA from mammal samples under field conditions. Molecular Ecology Resources 13, 663–673. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12108
- Cao, M.D., Ganesamoorthy, D., Elliott, A.G., Zhang, H., Cooper, M.A., Coin, L.J.M., 2016. Streaming algorithms for identification of pathogens and antibiotic resistance potential from real-time MinION[™] sequencing. GigaScience. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13742-016-0137-2
- Cao, Y., Bark, A.W., Williams, W.P., 1997. A comparison of clustering methods for river benthic community analysis. Hydrobiologia. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1002938721135
- Cardoso, T. dos S., Braga, C.A. de C., Macabu, C.E., Simões, R. de O., da Costa-Neto, S.F., Maldonado Júnior, A., Gentile, R., Luque, J.L., 2018. Helminth metacommunity structure of wild rodents in a preserved area of the atlantic forest, Southeast Brazil. Revista Brasileira de Parasitologia Veterinaria 27, 495–504. https://doi.org/10.1590/s1984-296120180066
- Carnaval, A.C., Moritz, C., 2008. Historical climate modelling predicts patterns of current biodiversity in the Brazilian Atlantic forest. Journal of Biogeography 35, 1187–1201. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01870.x

- Caron, A., Bourgarel, M., Cappelle, J., Liégeois, F., De Nys, H.M., Roger, F., 2018. Ebola virus maintenance: if not (Only) bats, what else? Viruses 10, 549. https://doi.org/10.3390/v10100549
- Caron-Lormier, G., Humphry, R.W., Bohan, D.A., Hawes, C., Thorbek, P., 2008. Asynchronous and synchronous updating in individual-based models. Ecological Modelling 212, 522–527. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2007.10.049
- Carstensen, D.W., Olesen, J.M., 2009. Wallacea and its nectarivorous birds: Nestedness and modules. Journal of Biogeography 36, 1540–1550. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2009.02098.x
- Castro-Wallace, S.L., Chiu, C.Y., John, K.K., Stahl, S.E., Rubins, K.H., McIntyre, A.B.R., Dworkin, J.P., Lupisella, M.L., Smith, D.J., Botkin, D.J., Stephenson, T.A., Juul, S., Turner, D.J., Izquierdo, F., Federman, S., Stryke, D., Somasekar, S., Alexander, N., Yu, G., Mason, C., Burton, A.S., 2016. Nanopore DNA Sequencing and Genome Assembly on the International Space Station, bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/077651
- Cerf-Bensussan, N., Gaboriau-Routhiau, V., 2010. The immune system and the gut microbiota: Friends or foes? Nature Reviews Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri2850
- Cezar Ribeiro, M., Camargo Martensen, A., Paul Metzger, J., Tabarelli, Marcelo, Scarano, F., Fortin, M.-J., Ribeiro, M., Martensen, A., Metzger, J., Tabarelli, M, Fortin, M., Zachos, F., Habel, J., Hotspots, B., 2011. The Brazilian Atlantic Forest: A
- Shrinking Biodiversity Hotspot, in: Biodiversity Hotspots. pp. 405–434. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-20992 Chacon-Cortes, D., Griffiths, L.R., 2014. Methods for extracting genomic DNA from whole blood samples: current perspectives. BSAM 2, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.2147/BSAM.S46573
- Charles, J.K., Ang, B.B., 2010. Non-volant small mammal community responses to fragmentation of kerangas forests in Brunei Darussalam. Biodiversity and Conservation 19, 543–561. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-009-9691-6
- Chasar, A., Loiseau, C., Valkiunas, G., Iezhova, T., Smith, T.B., Sehgal, R.N.M., 2009. Prevalence and diversity patterns of avian blood parasites in degraded African rainforest habitats. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2009.04346.x
- Chave, J., 2013. The problem of pattern and scale in ecology: what have we learned in 20 years? Ecology Letters 16, 4–16. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12048
- Cheng, C., Sun, J., Zheng, F., Wu, K., Rui, Y., 2014. Molecular identification of clinical "difficult-to-identify" microbes from sequencing 16S ribosomal DNA and internal transcribed spacer 2. Annals of clinical microbiology and antimicrobials 13, 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-0711-13-1
- Chibwana, F.D., Nkwengulila, G., Locke, S.A., McLaughlin, J.D., Marcogliese, D.J., 2015. Completion of the life cycle of Tylodelphys mashonense (Sudarikov, 1971) (Digenea: Diplostomidae) with DNA barcodes and rDNA sequences. Parasitology Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-015-4595-8
- Christiansen, H., Dettai, A., Heindler, F.M., Collins, M.A., Duhamel, G., Hautecoeur, M., Steinke, D., Volckaert, F.A.M., Van de Putte, A.P., 2018. Diversity of mesopelagic fishes in the Southern Ocean - A phylogeographic perspective using DNA barcoding. Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.3389/fevo.2018.00120
- Chruszcz, B.J., Barclay, R.M.R., 2002. Thermoregulatory ecology of a solitary bat, Myotis evotis, roosting in rock crevices. Functional Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.0269-8463.2001.00602.x
- Cirimotich, C.M., Ramirez, J.L., Dimopoulos, G., 2011. Native microbiota shape insect vector competence for human pathogens. Cell Host and Microbe. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2011.09.006
- Civitello, D.J., Cohen, J., Fatima, H., Halstead, N.T., Liriano, J., McMahon, T.A., Ortega, C.N., Sauer, E.L., Sehgal, T., Young, S., Rohr, J.R., 2015. Biodiversity inhibits parasites: Broad evidence for the dilution effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1506279112
- Clare, E.L., Lim, B.K., Engstrom, M.D., Eger, J.L., Hebert, P.D.N.N., 2007. DNA barcoding of Neotropical bats: Species identification and discovery within Guyana: Barcoding. Molecular Ecology Notes 7, 184–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2006.01657.x
- Clare, E.L., Symondson, W.O.C., Fenton, M.B., 2014. An inordinate fondness for beetles? Variation in seasonal dietary preferences of night-roosting big brown bats (Eptesicus fuscus), in: Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12519
- Clements, F.E., 2012. Plant succession; an analysis of the development of vegetation, Plant succession; an analysis of the development of vegetation,. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.56234
- Coelho, A.J.P., Magnago, L.F.S., Matos, F.A.R., Mota, N.M., Diniz, É.S., Meira-Neto, J.A.A., 2020. Effects of anthropogenic disturbances on biodiversity and biomass stock of Cerrado, the Brazilian savanna. Biodiversity and Conservation 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-020-02013-6
- Colín-Martínez, H., García-Estrada, C., 2016. Richness, infestation and specificity of spinturnicid mites (Acari: Spinturnicidae) on bats in southern Oaxaca, Mexico. Experimental and Applied Acarology 70, 155–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10493-016-0066-x
- Colwell, R.K., Coddington, J.A., 1995. Estimating terrestrial biodiversity through extrapolation. Biodiversity: measurement and estimation.
- Cook, L.G., Edwards, R.D., Crisp, M.D., Hardy, N.B., 2010. Need morphology always be required for new species descriptions? Invertebrate Systematics. https://doi.org/10.1071/IS10011
- Cosson, J.-F., Pons, J.-M., Masson, D., 1999. Effects of Forest Fragmentation on Frugivorous and Nectarivorous Bats in French Guiana. Journal of Tropical Ecology 15, 515–534.
- Costa, F.O., Carvalho, G.R., 2007. The Barcode of Life Initiative: synopsis and prospective societal impacts of DNA barcoding of Fish. Genomics, Society and Policy. https://doi.org/10.1186/1746-5354-3-2-29
- Costa, L.P., Leite, Y.L.R., da Fonseca, G.A.B., da Fonseca, M.T., 2000. Biogeography of South American Forest Mammals: Endemism and Diversity in the Atlantic Forest1. BIOTROPICA. https://doi.org/10.1646/0006-3606(2000)032[0872:bosafm]2.0.co;2
- Costa, P., Medinas, D., Silva, B.M., Mira, A., Guiomar, N., Sales-Baptista, E., Ferraz-de-Oliveira, M.I., Simões, M.P., Belo, A.D.F., Herrera, J.M., 2019. Cattle-driven forest disturbances impact ensemble composition and activity levels of insectivorous bats in Mediterranean wood pastures. Agroforestry Systems 93, 1687–1699. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10457-018-0275-x
- Costa-Neto, S.F., Cardoso, T.S., Boullosa, R.G., Maldonado, A., Gentile, R., 2018. Metacommunity structure of the helminths of the black-eared opossum Didelphis aurita in peri-urban, sylvatic and rural environments in south-eastern Brazil. Journal of Helminthology 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0022149x18000780

- Cottontail, V.M., Wellinghausen, N., Kalko, E.K.V., 2009a. Habitat fragmentation and haemoparasites in the common fruit bat, Artibeus jamaicensis (Phyllostomidae) in a tropical lowland forest in Panama. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009990485
- Cottontail, V.M., Wellinghausen, N., Kalko, E.K.V., 2009b. Habitat fragmentation and haemoparasites in the common fruit bat, Artibeus jamaicensis (Phyllostomidae) in a tropical lowland forest in Panam. Parasitology 136, 1133–1145. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009990485
- Cottontail, V.M., Wellinghausen, N., Kalko, E.K.V., 2009c. Habitat fragmentation and haemoparasites in the common fruit bat, Artibeus jamaicensis (Phyllostomidae) in a tropical lowland forest in Panam. Parasitology 136, 1133–1145. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009990485
- Crooks, G.E., Hon, G., Chandonia, J.M., Brenner, S.E., 2004. WebLogo: A sequence logo generator. Genome Research. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.849004
- Csárdi, G., Nepusz, T., 2006. The igraph software package for complex network research. InterJournal Complex Systems.
- Curtis, J.T., 1956. The modification of mid-latitude grasslands and forests by man, in: Man's Role in Changing the Face of the Earth. Cushman, S.A., 2006. Effects of habitat loss and fragmentation on amphibians: A review and prospectus. Biological Conservation 128, 231–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.031
- da Cunha Santos, G., 2018. FTA Cards for Preservation of Nucleic Acids for Molecular Assays: A Review on the Use of Cytologic/Tissue Samples. Archives of Pathology & Laboratory Medicine 142, 308–312. https://doi.org/10.5858/arpa.2017-0303-RA
- da Fonseca, G.A.B., 1985. The vanishing Brazilian Atlantic forest. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-3207(85)90055-2
- da Silva, F.R., Rossa-Feres, D. de C., 2017. Fragmentation gradients differentially affect the species range distributions of four taxonomic groups in semi-deciduous Atlantic forest. Biotropica. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12362
- Dale, C., Beeton, M., Harbison, C., Jones, T., Pontes, M., 2006. Isolation, pure culture, and characterization of "Candidatus arsenophonus arthropodicus," an intracellular secondary endosymbiont from the hippoboscid louse fly Pseudolynchia canariensis. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 72, 2997–3004. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.72.4.2997-3004.2006
- Dallas, T., 2014. Metacom: An R package for the analysis of metacommunity structure. Ecography. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.00695.x
- Dallas, T., Presley, S.J., 2014. Relative importance of host environment, transmission potential and host phylogeny to the structure of parasite metacommunities. Oikos 123, 866–874. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.00707
- Damschen, E.I., Baker, D. V, Bohrer, G., Nathan, R., Orrock, J.L., Turner, J.R., Brudvig, L.A., Haddad, N.M., Levey, D.J., Tewksbury, J.J., 2014. How fragmentation and corridors affect wind dynamics and seed dispersal in open habitats. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 111, 3484–3489. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1308968111
- Dapporto, L., Ramazzotti, M., Fattorini, S., Talavera, G., Vila, R., Dennis, R.L.H., 2013. Recluster: An unbiased clustering procedure for beta-diversity turnover. Ecography. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.00444.x
- Daszak, P., Cunningham, A.A., Hyatt, A.D., Hyatt4, A.D., 2000. Emerging Infectious Diseases of Wildlife-Threats to Biodiversity and Human Health Emerging Infectious Diseases of Wildlife- Threats to Biodiversity and Human Health. Source: Science, New Series 287, 443–449. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.287.5452.443
- D'Auria, S.R.N., Camargo, M.C.G.O., Pacheco, R.C., Savani, E.S.M.M., Dias, M.A.G., Da Rosa, A.R., De Almeida, M.F., Labruna, M.B., 2010. Serologic survey for rickettsiosis in bats from São Paulo City, Brazil. Vector-Borne and Zoonotic Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1089/vbz.2009.0070
- Davis, N.M., Proctor, Di.M., Holmes, S.P., Relman, D.A., Callahan, B.J., 2018. Simple statistical identification and removal of contaminant sequences in marker-gene and metagenomics data. Microbiome. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40168-018-0605-2
- De Araújo, W.S., Vieira, M.C., Lewinsohn, T.M., Almeida-Neto, M., 2015. Contrasting effects of land use intensity and exotic host plants on the specialization of interactions in plant-herbivore networks. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115606
- De Bruin, A., Van Leeuwen, A.D., Jahfari, S., Takken, W., Földvári, M., Dremmel, L., Sprong, H., Földvári, G., 2015. Vertical transmission of Bartonella schoenbuchensis in Lipoptena cervi. Parasites and Vectors. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-015-0764-y
- De Castro, F., Bolker, B., 2005. Mechanisms of disease-induced extinction. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00693.x
- de la Fuente, J., Estrada-Peña, A., Contreras, M., 2020. Modeling tick vaccines: a key tool to improve protection efficacy. Expert Review of Vaccines 19, 217–225. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2020.1745635
- de la Sancha, N.U., Higgins, C.L., Presley, S.J., Strauss, R.E., 2014. Metacommunity structure in a highly fragmented forest: Has deforestation in the Atlantic Forest altered historic biogeographic patterns? Diversity and Distributions 20, 1058–1070. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12210
- de Vasconcelos, P.F., Falcão, L.A.D., Graciolli, G., Borges, M.A.Z., 2016. Parasite-host interactions of bat flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea) in Brazilian tropical dry forests. Parasitology Research 115, 367–377. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-015-4757-8
- Delciellos, A.C., Borges-Júnior, V.N.T., Prevedello, J.A., Ribeiro, S.E., Braga, C., Vieira, M.V., Cerqueira, R., 2018. Seasonality in metacommunity structure: an empirical test in the Atlantic Forest. Landscape Ecology 33, 1769–1783. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-018-0701-5
- Delciellos, A.C., Vieira, M. V., Grelle, C.E.V., Cobra, P., Cerqueira, R., 2016. Habitat quality versus spatial variables as determinants of small mammal assemblages in Atlantic Forest fragments. Journal of Mammalogy. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyv175
- Deleva, S., Chaverri, G., 2018. Diversity and conservation of cave-dwelling bats in the Brunca region of Costa Rica. Diversity 10, 43. https://doi.org/10.3390/D10020043

- DeLong, D.M., 2004. An Illustrated Catalogue of the Rothschild Collection of Fleas (Siphonaptera) in the British Museum (Nat. Hist). Volume 1. Tungidae and Publicidae. With Keys and Short Descriptions for the Identification of Families, Genera, Species and Subspecies. G. H. The Quarterly Review of Biology. https://doi.org/10.1086/400485
- Delpietro, H.A., Larghi, O.P., Russo, R.G., 2001. Virus isolation from saliva and salivary glands of cattle naturally infected with paralytic rabies. Preventive Veterinary Medicine. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-5877(00)00187-2
- de Oliveira Martins, L., Page, A.J., Mather, A.E., Charles, I.G., 2020. Taxonomic resolution of the ribosomal RNA operon in bacteria: implications for its use with long-read sequencing. NAR Genomics and Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/nargab/lqz016
- DeSantis, T.Z., Hugenholtz, P., Larsen, N., Rojas, M., Brodie, E.L., Keller, K., Huber, T., Dalevi, D., Hu, P., Andersen, G.L., 2006. Greengenes, a chimera-checked 16S rRNA gene database and workbench compatible with ARB. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03006-05
- Desjardins, P.R., Conklin, D.S., 2011. Microvolume quantitation of nucleic acids. Current Protocols in Molecular Biology. https://doi.org/10.1002/0471142727.mba03js93
- Desloire, S., Valiente Moro, C., Chauve, C., Zenner, L., 2006. Comparison of four methods of extracting DNA from D. gallinae (Acari: Dermanyssidae). Veterinary Research. https://doi.org/10.1051/vetres:2006031
- Dheilly, N.M., Bolnick, D., Bordenstein, S., Brindley, P.J., Figuères, C., Holmes, E.C., Martínez Martínez, J., Phillips, A.J., Poulin, R., Rosario, K., 2017. Parasite Microbiome Project: Systematic Investigation of Microbiome Dynamics within and across Parasite-Host Interactions. mSystems 2, e00050-17. https://doi.org/10.1128/msystems.00050-17
- Dice, L.R., 1945. Measures of the Amount of Ecologic Association Between Species. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/1932409 Dick, C.W., Dick, S.C., 2006. Effects of Prior Infestation on Host Choice of Bat Flies (Diptera: Streblidae). Journal of Medical
- Entomology 43, 433–436. https://doi.org/10.1093/JMEDENT/43.2.433 Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2014. Parasitic Bat Flies (Diptera: Streblidae and Nycteribiidae): Host Specificity and Potential as Vectors. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 131–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39333-4_6
- Dick, C.W., Gettinger, D., 2005. A FAUNAL SURVEY OF STREBLID FLIES (DIPTERA: STREBLIDAE) ASSOCIATED WITH BATS IN PARAGUAY. Journal of Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1645/ge-536r.1
- Dick, C.W., Patterson, B.D., 2007a. Against all odds: Explaining high host specificity in dispersal-prone parasites. International Journal for Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2007.02.004
- Dick, C.W., Patterson, B.D., 2007b. An excess of males: skewed sex ratios in bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae). Evol Ecol 22, 757. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10682-007-9201-9

Dick, C.W., Patterson, B.D., 2006. Bat flies: Obligate ectoparasites of bats, in: Micromammals and Macroparasites: From Evolutionary Ecology to Management. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-4-431-36025-4 11

- Didham, Raphael K, 2010. Ecological Consequences of Habitat Fragmentation, in: Encyclopedia of Life Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021904
- Didham, Raphael K., 2010. Ecological Consequences of Habitat Fragmentation, in: ELS. American Cancer Society. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470015902.a0021904
- Didham, R.K., Hammond, P.M., Lawton, J.H., Eggleton, P., Stork, N.E., 1998. Beetle species responses to tropical forest fragmentation. Ecological Monographs. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(1998)068[0295:BSRTTF]2.0.CO;2
- Dietrich, M., Tjale, M.A., Weyer, J., Kearney, T., Seamark, E.C.J., Nel, L.H., Monadjem, A., Markotter, W., 2016. Diversity of bartonella and Rickettsia spp. in Bats and Their Blood-Feeding Ectoparasites from South Africa and Swaziland. PLoS ONE 11, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0152077
- Dillon, R.J., Vennard, C.T., Buckling, A., Charnley, A.K., 2005. Diversity of locust gut bacteria protects against pathogen invasion. Ecology Letters 8, 1291–1298. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00828.x
- Dittmar, K., Dick, C.W., Patterson, B.D., Whiting, M.F., Gruwell, M.E., 2009. Pupal Deposition and Ecology of Bat Flies (Diptera: Streblidae): Trichobius sp. (Caecus Group) in a Mexican Cave Habitat. Journal of Parasitology 95, 308–314. https://doi.org/10.1645/ge-1664.1
- Dittmar, K., Porter, M.L., Murray, S., Whiting, M.F., 2006. Molecular phylogenetic analysis of nycteribiid and streblid bat flies (Diptera: Brachycera, Calyptratae): Implications for host associations and phylogeographic origins. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2005.06.008
- Diuk-Wasser, M.A., Vourc'h, G., Cislo, P., Hoen, A.G., Melton, F., Hamer, S.A., Rowland, M., Cortinas, R., Hickling, G.J., Tsao, J.I., Barbour, A.G., Kitron, U., Piesman, J., Fish, D., 2010. Field and climate-based model for predicting the density of hostseeking nymphal Ixodes scapularis, an important vector of tick-borne disease agents in the eastern United States. Global Ecology and Biogeography 19, 504–514. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2010.00526.x
- Do Amaral, R.B., Lourenço, E.C., Famadas, K.M., Garcia, A.B., Machado, R.Z., André, M.R., 2018. Molecular detection of Bartonella spp. and Rickettsia spp. in bat ectoparasites in Brazil. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198629
- Dong, X., Chaisiri, K., Xia, D., Armstrong, S.D., Fang, Y., Donnelly, M.J., Kadowaki, T., McGarry, J.W., Darby, A.C., Makepeace, B.L., 2018. Genomes of trombidid mites reveal novel predicted allergens and laterally transferred genes associated with secondary metabolism. GigaScience. https://doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/giy127
- Dormann, C.F., Fründ, J., Bluthgen, N., Gruber, B., 2009. Indices, graphs and null models: analysing bipartite ecological networks. The Open Ecology Journal 2, 7–24. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874213000902010007
- dos Reis, N.R., Peracchi, A.L., Pedro, W.A., de Lima, I.P., Reis, N.R. dos, Peracchi, A.L., Pedro, W.A., Lima, I.P. de, 2007. Morcegos do Brasil, Ecologia.
- Dunne, J.A., Lafferty, K.D., Dobson, A.P., Hechinger, R.F., Kuris, A.M., Martinez, N.D., McLaughlin, J.P., Mouritsen, K.N., Poulin, R., Reise, K., Stouffer, D.B., Thieltges, D.W., Williams, R.J., Zander, C.D., 2013. Parasites Affect Food Web Structure Primarily through Increased Diversity and Complexity. PLoS Biology 11. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.1001579
- Dunne, J.A., Williams, R.J., Martinez, N.D., 2002. Network structure and biodiversity loss in food webs: Robustness increases with connectance. Ecology Letters 5, 558–567. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2002.00354.x
- Dupont, Y.L., Olesen, J.M., 2009. Ecological modules and roles of species in heathland plant-insect flower visitor networks. Journal of Animal Ecology 78, 346–353. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01501.x
- Duron, O., 2014. Arsenophonus insect symbionts are commonly infected with APSE, a bacteriophage involved in protective symbiosis. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 90, 184–194. https://doi.org/10.1111/1574-6941.12381

- Duron, O., Schneppat, U.E., Berthomieu, A., Goodman, S.M., Droz, B., Paupy, C., Obame Nkoghe, J., Rahola, N., Tortosa, P., 2014. Origin, acquisition and diversification of heritable bacterial endosymbionts in louse flies and bat flies. Molecular Ecology 23, 2105–2117. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12704
- Dyer, L.A., Walla, T.R., Greeney, H.F., Stireman, J.O., Hazen, R.F., 2010. Diversity of Interactions: A Metric for Studies of Biodiversity. Biotropica. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2009.00624.x

Edgar, R.C., 2016. UNOISE2: improved error-correction for Illumina 16S and ITS amplicon sequencing. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/081257

- Edgar, R.C., 2010. Search and clustering orders of magnitude faster than BLAST. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btq461
- Eklöf, A., Ebenman, B., 2006. Species loss and secondary extinctions in simple and complex model communities. Journal of Animal Ecology 75, 239–246. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2006.01041.x
- Ekrem, T., Willassen, E., Stur, E., 2007. A comprehensive DNA sequence library is essential for identification with DNA barcodes. Molecular Phylogenetics and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ympev.2006.11.021
- Ellington, E.H., Bastille-Rousseau, G., Austin, C., Landolt, K.N., Pond, B.A., Rees, E.E., Robar, N., Murray, D.L., 2015. Using multiple imputation to estimate missing data in meta-regression. Methods in Ecology and Evolution 6, 153–163. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210X.12322
- Elsasser, S.C., Floyd, R., Hebert, P.D.N., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., 2009. Species identification of North American guinea worms (Nematoda: Dracunculus) with DNA barcoding. Molecular Ecology Resources 9, 707–712. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2008.02393.x
- Erasmus, B.F.N., Van Jaarsveld, A.S., Chown, S.L., Kshatriya, M., Wessels, K.J., 2002. Vulnerability of South African animal taxa to climate change. Global Change Biology 8, 679–693. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2486.2002.00502.x
- Esch, G.W., Poulin, R., 2006. Evolutionary Ecology of Parasites. The Journal of Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.2307/3285737 Estrada, A., Coates-Estrada, R., Meritt, D., 1993. Bat species richness and abundance in tropical rain forest fragments and in
- agricultural habitats at Los Tuxtlas, Mexico. Ecography 16, 309–318. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1993.tb00220.x Evaluation of possible mitigation measures to prevent introduction and spread of African swine fever virus through wild boar,
- 2014. . EFSA Journal 12, 3616. https://doi.org/10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3616
- Evelyn, M.J., Stiles, D.A., 2003. Roosting Requirements of Two Frugivorous Bats (Sturnira lilium and Arbiteus intermedius) in Fragmented Neotropical Forest. Biotropica 35, 405–418. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2003.tb00594.x
- EWALD, P.W., 1987. Transmission Modes and Evolution of the Parasitism-Mutualism Continuum. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 503, 295–306. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.1987.tb40616.x
- Ewers, R.M., Didham, R.K., Fahrig, L., Ferraz, G., Hector, A., Holt, R.D., Kapos, V., Reynolds, G., Sinun, W., Snaddon, J.L., Turner, E.C., 2011. A large-scale forest fragmentation experiment: The stability of altered forest ecosystems project. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2011.0049
- Ewing, B., Green, P., 1998. Base-calling of automated sequencer traces using phred. II. Error probabilities. Genome Research. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.8.3.186
- Ewing, B., Hillier, L.D., Wendl, M.C., Green, P., 1998. Base-calling of automated sequencer traces using phred. I. Accuracy assessment. Genome Research. https://doi.org/10.1101/gr.8.3.175
- Ezenwa, V.O., Archie, E.A., Craft, M.E., Hawley, D.M., Martin, L.B., Moore, J., White, L., 2016. Host behaviour-parasite feedback: An essential link between animal behaviour and disease ecology. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.3078
- Faeth, S.H., 2002. Are endophytic fungi defensive plant mutualists? Oikos 98, 25–36. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.980103.x
- Fahrig, L., 2019. Habitat fragmentation: A long and tangled tale. Global Ecology and Biogeography 28, 33–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.12839
- Fahrig, L., 2007. Relative Effects of Habitat Loss and Fragmentation on Population Extinction. The Journal of Wildlife Management. https://doi.org/10.2307/3802168
- Fahrig, L., 2003. Effects of Habitat Fragmentation on Biodiversity. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 34, 487– 515. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.34.011802.132419
- Fairn, E.R., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., Alarie, Y., 2008. Water mite parasitism is associated with body condition and sex of the whirliging beetle Dineutus nigrior (Coleoptera: Gyrinidae). Ecoscience 15, 327–331. https://doi.org/10.2980/15-3-3134
- Fairweather, P.G., 1991. Statistical power and design requirements for environmental monitoring. Mar. Freshwater Res. 42, 555– 567. https://doi.org/10.1071/mf9910555
- Falcão, J.C.F., Dáttilo, W., Rico-Gray, V., 2016. Sampling effort differences can lead to biased conclusions on the architecture of ant-plant interaction networks. Ecological Complexity 25, 44–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2016.01.001
- Fardila, D., Kelly, L.T., Moore, J.L., McCarthy, M.A., 2017. A systematic review reveals changes in where and how we have studied habitat loss and fragmentation over 20 years. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2017.04.031
- Feldhaar, H., 2011. Bacterial symbionts as mediators of ecologically important traits of insect hosts. Ecological Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2311.2011.01318.x
- Fenton, M.B., 1997. Science and the Conservation of Bats. Journal of Mammalogy 78, 1–14. https://doi.org/10.2307/1382633
- Ferreira, P.A., Boscolo, D., Viana, B.F., 2013. What do we know about the effects of landscape changes on plant-pollinator interaction networks? Ecological Indicators. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.07.025
- Field, S.G., Lange, M., Schulenburg, H., Velavan, T.P., Michiels, N.K., 2007. Genetic diversity and parasite defense in a fragmented urban metapopulation of earthworms. Animal Conservation 10, 162–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-1795.2006.00084.x
- Floyd, R., Abebe, E., Papert, A., Blaxter, M., 2002. Molecular barcodes for soil nematode identification. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-294X.2002.01485.x
- Folstad, I., Nilssen, A.C., Halvorsen, O., Andersen, J., 1989. Why Do Male Reindeer (Rangifer T. Tarandus) Have Higher Abundance of Second and Third Instar Larvae of Hypoderma Tarandi Than Females? Oikos. https://doi.org/10.2307/3565877
- Forstmeier, W., Schielzeth, H., 2011. Cryptic multiple hypotheses testing in linear models: Overestimated effect sizes and the winner's curse. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1038-5

- Fortuna, M.A., Bascompte, J., 2006. Habitat loss and the structure of plant-animal mutualistic networks. Ecology Letters 9, 278– 283. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00868.x
- Foster, K.R., Schluter, J., Coyte, K.Z., Rakoff-Nahoum, S., 2017. The evolution of the host microbiome as an ecosystem on a leash. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature23292
- Frank, H.K., Mendenhall, C.D., Judson, S.D., Daily, G.C., Hadly, E.A., 2016a. Anthropogenic impacts on Costa Rican bat parasitism are sex specific. Ecology and Evolution 6, 4898–4909. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2245
- Frank, H.K., Mendenhall, C.D., Judson, S.D., Daily, G.C., Hadly, E.A., 2016b. Anthropogenic impacts on Costa Rican bat parasitism are sex specific. Ecology and Evolution 6, 4898–4909. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.2245
- Freeman, L.C., 1978. Centrality in social networks conceptual clarification. Social Networks. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8733(78)90021-7
- Frick, W.F., Kingston, T., Flanders, J., 2019. A review of the major threats and challenges to global bat conservation. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14045
- Fritz, G.N., 1983. Biology and ecology of bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae) on bats in the genus Carollia. Journal of medical entomology. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmedent/20.1.1
- Gagic, V., Bartomeus, I., Jonsson, T., Taylor, A., Winqvist, C., Fischer, C., Slade, E.M., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Emmerson, M., Potts, S.G., Tscharntke, T., Weisser, W., Bommarco, R., 2015. Functional identity and diversity of animals predict ecosystem functioning better than species-based indices. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282, 20142620. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2620
- Gaithuma, A., Yamagishi, J., Hayashida, K., Kawai, N., Namangala, B., Sugimoto, C., 2020. Blood meal sources and bacterial microbiome diversity in wild-caught tsetse flies. Scientific reports. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-61817-2
- Galetti, M., Pires, A.S., Brancalion, P.H.S., Fernandez, F.A.S., 2017. Reversing defaunation by trophic rewilding in empty forests. Biotropica. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12407
- Garbino, G.S.T., Tavares, V. da C., 2018. Roosting ecology of Stenodermatinae bats (Phyllostomidae): evolution of foliage roosting and correlated phenotypes. Mammal Review. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12114
- García-Algarra, J., Pastor, J.M., Iriondo, J.M., Galeano, J., 2017. Ranking of critical species to preserve the functionality of mutualistic networks using the k -core decomposition. PeerJ 5, e3321. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3321
- Gargas, A., Trest, M.T., Christensen, M., Volk, T.J., Blehert, D.S., 2009. Geomyces destructans sp. nov. associated with bat whitenose syndrome. Mycotaxon 108, 147–154. https://doi.org/10.5248/108.147
- Gaston, K.J., O'Neill, M.A., 2004. Automated species identification: Why not? Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 359, 655–667. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2003.1442
- Gehrer, L., Vorburger, C., 2012. Parasitoids as vectors of facultative bacterial endosymbionts in aphids. Biology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsbl.2012.0144

Ghanem, S.J., Voigt, C.C., 2012. Increasing Awareness of Ecosystem Services Provided by Bats. Advances in the Study of Behavior 44, 279–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-394288-3.00007-1

- Gibson, R.H., Knott, B., Eberlein, T., Memmott, J., 2011. Sampling method influences the structure of plant-pollinator networks. Oikos 120, 822–831. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.18927.x
- Gilbert, A.J., 2009. Connectance indicates the robustness of food webs when subjected to species loss. Ecological Indicators. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2008.01.010
- Gillespie, T.R., Chapman, C.A., 2006. Prediction of Parasite Infection Dynamics in Primate Metapopulations Based on Attributes of Forest Fragmentation. Conservation Biology 20, 441–448. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2006.00290.x
- Gilpin, M.E., Diamond, J.M., 1976. Calculation of immigration and extinction curves from the species area distance relation. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
 - https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.73.11.4130
- Gleason, H.A., 1926. The Individualistic Concept of the Plant Association. Bulletin of the Torrey Botanical Club. https://doi.org/10.2307/2479933
- Glenn, T.C., 2011. Field guide to next-generation DNA sequencers. Molecular Ecology Resources 11, 759–769. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2011.03024.x
- Gog, J., Woodroffe, R., Swinton, J., 2002. Disease in endangered metapopulations: the importance of alternative hosts. Proc Biol Sci 269, 671–676. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2001.1667
- Gómez, A., Nichols, E., 2013. Neglected wild life: Parasitic biodiversity as a conservation target. International Journal for Parasitology: Parasites and Wildlife. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijppaw.2013.07.002
- Gompper, M.E., Williams, E.S., 2010. Parasite Conservation and the Black-Footed Ferret Recovery Program. Conservation Biology 12, 730–732. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1998.97196.x
- Gonzalez, A., Rayfield, B., Lindo, Z., 2011. The disentangled bank: How loss of habitat fragments and disassembles ecological networks. American Journal of Botany. https://doi.org/10.3732/ajb.1000424
- Goordial, J., Altshuler, I., Hindson, K., Chan-Yam, K., Marcolefas, E., Whyte, L.G., 2017. In situ field sequencing and life detection in remote (79°26'N) Canadian high arctic permafrost ice wedge microbial communities. Frontiers in Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2017.02594
- Gorrell, J.C., Schulte-Hostedde, A.I., 2008. Patterns of parasitism and body size in red squirrels (Tamiasciurus hudsonicus). Canadian Journal of Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1139/z07-123
- Gortázar, C., Barroso, P., Nova, R., Cáceres, G., n.d. The role of wildlife in the epidemiology and control of Foot-and-mouth-disease And Similar Transboundary (FAST) animal diseases: A review. Transboundary and Emerging Diseases n/a. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.14235
- Graciolli, G., Carvalho, C.J.B. de, 2009. Moscas ectoparasitas (Diptera, Hippoboscoidea, Nycteribiidae) de morcegos (Mammalia, Chiroptera) do Estado do Paraná, Brasil. I. Basilia, taxonomia e chave pictórica para as espécies. Revista Brasileira de Zoologia. https://doi.org/10.1590/s0101-81752001000500002
- Graciolli, G., Guerrero, R., Catzeflis, F., 2019. Streblid bat flies (Diptera) and other ectoparasites on bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera) from French Guiana. Biota Neotropica. https://doi.org/10.1590/1676-0611-bn-2018-0724
- Green, H., Tillmar, A., Pettersson, G., Montelius, K., 2019. The use of FTA cards to acquire DNA profiles from postmortem cases. Int J Legal Med 133, 1651–1657. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00414-019-02015-2

- Greer, A.L., Collins, J.P., 2008. Habitat fragmentation as a result of biotic and abiotic factors controls pathogen transmission throughout a host population. Journal of Animal Ecology 77, 364–369. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2007.01330.x
- Griffith, B.C., Weiss, B.L., Aksoy, E., Mireji, P.O., Auma, J.E., Wamwiri, F.N., Echodu, R., Murilla, G., Aksoy, S., 2018. Analysis of the gut-specific microbiome from field-captured tsetse flies, and its potential relevance to host trypanosome vector competence 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1108 Medical Microbiology 06 Biological Sciences 0605 Microbiology. BMC Microbiology 18, 146. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12866-018-1284-7
- Guagan, J.F., Kennedy, C.R., 1993. Maximum local helminth parasite community richness in British freshwater fish: A test of the colonization time hypothesis. Parasitology 106, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000074862
- Guernier, V., Hochberg, M.E., Guégan, J.F., 2004. Ecology drives the worldwide distribution of human diseases. PLoS Biology. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pbio.0020141
- Guevara, E.E., Frankel, D.C., Ranaivonasy, J., Richard, A.F., Ratsirarson, J., Lawler, R.R., Bradley, B.J., 2017. A simple, economical protocol for DNA extraction and amplification where there is no lab. Conservation Genetics Resources 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12686-017-0758-5
- Hagen, M., Kissling, W.D., Rasmussen, C., De Aguiar, M.A.M., Brown, L.E., Carstensen, D.W., Alves-Dos-Santos, I., Dupont, Y.L., Edwards, F.K., Genini, J., Guimarães, P.R., Jenkins, G.B., Jordano, P., Kaiser-Bunbury, C.N., Ledger, M.E., Maia, K.P., Marquitti, F.M.D., Mclaughlin, Ó., Morellato, L.P.C., O'Gorman, E.J., Trøjelsgaard, K., Tylianakis, J.M., Vidal, M.M., Woodward, G., Olesen, J.M., 2012. Biodiversity, Species Interactions and Ecological Networks in a Fragmented World. Advances in Ecological Research 46, 89–120. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-396992-7.00002-2
- Hahn, M.B., Gangnon, R.E., Barcellos, C., Asner, G.P., Patz, J.A., 2014a. Influence of deforestation, logging, and fire on malaria in the Brazilian Amazon. PLoS ONE 9, e85725. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0085725
- Hahn, M.B., Patz, J.A., Gurley, E.S., Epstein, J.H., Daszak, P., Islam, M.S., Luby, S.P., 2014b. The role of landscape composition and configuration on Pteropus giganteus roosting ecology and Nipah virus spillover risk in Bangladesh. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.13-0256
- Hajibabaei, M., DeWaard, J.R., Ivanova, N. V., Ratnasingham, S., Dooh, R.T., Kirk, S.L., Mackie, P.M., Hebert, P.D.N.N., 2005. Critical factors for assembling a high volume of DNA barcodes. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 360, 1959–67. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1727
- Hajibabaei, M., Janzen, D.H., Burns, J.M., Hallwachs, W., Hebert, P.D.N., 2006a. DNA barcodes distinguish species of tropical Lepidoptera. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0510466103
- Hajibabaei, M., Singer, G.A.C., Hebert, P.D.N., Hickey, D.A., 2007. DNA barcoding: how it complements taxonomy, molecular phylogenetics and population genetics. Trends in Genetics 23, 167–172. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tig.2007.02.001
- Hajibabaei, M., Smith, M.A., Janzen, D.H., Rodriguez, J.J., Whitfield, J.B., Hebert, P.D.N., 2006b. A minimalist barcode can identify a specimen whose DNA is degraded. Molecular Ecology Notes. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2006.01470.x
- Hall, R.A., Bielefeldt-Ohmann, H., McLean, B.J., O'Brien, C.A., Colmant, A.M.G., Piyasena, T.B.H., Harrison, J.J., Newton, N.D., Barnard, R.T., Prow, N.A., Deerain, J.M., Mah, M.G.K.Y., Hobson-Peters, J., 2016. Commensal viruses of mosquitoes: Host restriction, transmission, and interaction with arboviral pathogens. Evolutionary Bioinformatics 12, 35–44. https://doi.org/10.4137/EBo.s40740
- Hall, T.A., 1999. BIOEDIT: a user-friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/ NT. Nucleic Acids Symposium Series.
- Halos, L., Jamal, T., Maillard, R., Girard, B., Guillot, J., Chomel, B., Vayssier-Taussat, M., Boulouis, H.J., 2004. Role of Hippoboscidae flies as potential vectors of Bartonella spp. infecting wild and domestic ruminants. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.70.10.6302-6305.2004
- Hamdi, C., Balloi, A., Essanaa, J., Crotti, E., Gonella, E., Raddadi, N., Ricci, I., Boudabous, A., Borin, S., Manino, A., Bandi, C., Alma, A., Daffonchio, D., Cherif, A., 2011. Gut microbiome dysbiosis and honeybee health. Journal of Applied Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0418.2010.01609.x
- Hamid, S., Mir, M.Y., Rohela, G.K., 2020. Novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19): a pandemic (epidemiology, pathogenesis and potential therapeutics). New Microbes and New Infections. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nmni.2020.100679
- Han, H.J., Wen, H. ling, Zhou, C.M., Chen, F.F., Luo, L.M., Liu, J. wei, Yu, X.J., 2015. Bats as reservoirs of severe emerging infectious diseases. Virus Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virusres.2015.05.006
- Hanmer, H.J., Thomas, R.L., Fellowes, M.D.E., 2017. Urbanisation influences range size of the domestic cat (felis catus): Consequences for conservation. Journal of Urban Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1093/jue/jux014
- Hanski, I., 2015. Habitat fragmentation and species richness. Journal of Biogeography 42, 989–993. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12478
- Hanski, I., 1997. 4 Metapopulation Dynamics: From Concepts and Observations to Predictive Models, in: Hanski, I., Gilpin, M.E. (Eds.), Metapopulation Biology. Academic Press, San Diego, pp. 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012323445-2/50007-9
- HANSKI, I., GILPIN, M., 1991. Metapopulation dynamics: brief history and conceptual domain. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1095-8312.1991.tb00548.x
- Hanski, I., Ovaskainen, O., 2000. The metapopulation capacity of a fragmented landscape. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/35008063
- Harrison, X.A., Donaldson, L., Correa-Cano, M.E., Evans, J., Fisher, D.N., Goodwin, C.E.D., Robinson, B.S., Hodgson, D.J., Inger, R., 2018. A brief introduction to mixed effects modelling and multi-model inference in ecology. PeerJ. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.4794
- Harvey, M.L., 2005. An alternative for the Extraction and Storage of DNA from Insects in Forensic Entomology. Journal of Forensic Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1520/jfs2004404
- Hastie, T.J., Pregibon, D., 2017. Generalized linear models, in: Statistical Models in S. https://doi.org/10.1201/9780203738535
- Hawlena, H., Rynkiewicz, E., Toh, E., Alfred, A., Durden, L.A., Hastriter, M.W., Nelson, D.E., Rong, R., Munro, D., Dong, Q., Fuqua, C., Clay, K., 2013. The arthropod, but not the vertebrate host or its environment, dictates bacterial community composition of fleas and ticks. ISME Journal 7, 221–223. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.71

Hay, S.I., Guerra, C.A., Tatem, A.J., Noor, A.M., Snow, R.W., 2004. The global distribution and population at risk of malaria: past, present, and future. The Lancet Infectious Diseases 4, 327–336. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(04)01043-6

Haydon, D.T., Randall, D.A., Matthews, L., Knobel, D.L., Tallents, L.A., Gravenor, M.B., Williams, S.D., Pollinger, J.P., Cleaveland, S., Woolhouse, M.E.J., Sillero-Zubiri, C., Marino, J., Macdonald, D.W., Laurenson, M.K., 2006. Low-coverage vaccination strategies for the conservation of endangered species. Nature 443, 692–695. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05177

Heath, B.D., Butcher, R.D.J., Whitfield, W.G.F., Hubbard, S.F., 1999. Horizontal transfer of Wolbachia between phylogenetically distant insect species by a naturally occurring mechanism. Current Biology 9, 313–316. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0960-9822(99)80139-0

Hebert, P.D.N., Cywinska, A., Ball, S.L., deWaard, J.R., 2003. Biological identifications through DNA barcodes. Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society 270, 313–21. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2002.2218

Hebert, P.D.N., deWaard, J.R., Zakharov, E. V., Prosser, S.W.J., Sones, J.E., McKeown, J.T.A., Mantle, B., La Salle, J., 2013. A DNA "Barcode Blitz": Rapid Digitization and Sequencing of a Natural History Collection. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068535

Hein, C.L., Pike, A.S., Blanco, J.F., Covich, A.P., Scatena, F.N., Hawkins, C.P., Crowl, T.A., 2011. Effects of coupled natural and anthropogenic factors on the community structure of diadromous fish and shrimp species in tropical island streams. Freshwater Biology 56, 1002–1015. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2010.02537.x

Heino, J., Melo, A.S., Siqueira, T., Soininen, J., Valanko, S., Bini, L.M., 2015a. Metacommunity organisation, spatial extent and dispersal in aquatic systems: Patterns, processes and prospects. Freshwater Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12533

- Heino, J., Nokela, T., Soininen, J., Tolkkinen, M., Virtanen, L., Virtanen, R., 2015b. Elements of metacommunity structure and community-environment relationships in stream organisms. Freshwater Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12556
- Heleno, R., Devoto, M., Pocock, M., 2012. Connectance of species interaction networks and conservation value: Is it any good to be well connected? Ecological Indicators. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2011.06.032
- Henriksen, M. V., Chapple, D.G., Chown, S.L., McGeoch, M.A., 2018. The effect of network size and sampling completeness in depauperate networks. Journal of Animal Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12912
- Hernández-Martínez, J., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Alvarez-Añorve, M.Y., Amador-Hernández, S., Oyama, K., Avila-Cabadilla, L.D., 2019a. Drivers potentially influencing host–bat fly interactions in anthropogenic neotropical landscapes at different spatial scales. Parasitology 146, 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182018000732

Hernández-Martínez, J., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Alvarez-Anörve, M.Y., Amador-Hernández, S., Oyama, K., Avila-Cabadilla, L.D., 2019b. Drivers potentially influencing host-bat fly interactions in anthropogenic neotropical landscapes at different spatial scales. Parasitology 146, 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182018000732

Hernández-Martínez, J., Morales-Malacara, J.B., Alvarez-Anörve, M.Y., Amador-Hernández, S., Oyama, K., Avila-Cabadilla, L.D., 2019c. Drivers potentially influencing host-bat fly interactions in anthropogenic neotropical landscapes at different spatial scales. Parasitology 146, 74–88. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182018000732

Hernández-Triana, L.M., Prosser, S.W., Rodríguez-Perez, M.A., Chaverri, L.G., Hebert, P.D.N., Ryan Gregory, T., 2014. Recovery of DNA barcodes from blackfly museum specimens (Diptera: Simuliidae) using primer sets that target a variety of sequence lengths. Molecular Ecology Resources. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12208

- Herrin, C.S., Tipton, J.V., 1967. Spinturnicid mites of Venezuela (Acarina: Spinturnicidae). Brigham Young University Science Bulletin-Biological Series.
- Hersh, M.H., Ladeau, S.L., Previtali, M.A., Ostfeld, R.S., 2014. When is a parasite not a parasite? Effects of larval tick burdens on white-footed mouse survival. Ecology 95, 1360–1369. https://doi.org/10.1890/12-2156.1

Hess, G., 1996. Disease in Metapopulation Models: Implications for Conservation. Ecology 77, 1617–1632. https://doi.org/10.2307/2265556

Hiller, T., Brändel, S.D., Honner, B., Page, R.A., Tschapka, M., 2020. Parasitization of bats by bat flies (Streblidae) in fragmented habitats. Biotropica 52, 488–501. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12757

Hiller, T., Rasche, A., Brändel, S.D., König, A., Jeworowski, L., Teague O'Mara, M., Cottontail, V., Page, R.A., Glebe, D., Drexler, J.F., Tschapka, M., 2019. Host Biology and Anthropogenic Factors Affect Hepadnavirus Infection in a Neotropical Bat. EcoHealth 16, 82–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-018-1387-5

Hodgkison, R., Balding, S., Zubaid, A., Kunz, T., 2003. Fuit Bats (Chiroptera:Pteropodidae) as Seed Dispersers and Pollinators in a Lowland Malaysian Rain Forest. Biotropica 35, 491–502. https://doi.org/10.1646/03043

- Hoenen, T., Groseth, A., Rosenke, K., Fischer, R.J., Hoenen, A., Judson, S.D., Martellaro, C., Falzarano, D., Marzi, A., Squires, R.B., Wollenberg, K.R., De Wit, E., Prescott, J., Safronetz, D., Van Doremalen, N., Bushmaker, T., Feldmann, F., McNally, K., Bolay, F.K., Fields, B., Sealy, T., Rayfield, M., Nichol, S.T., Zoon, K.C., Massaquoi, M., Munster, V.J., Feldmann, H., 2016. Nanopore sequencing as a rapidly deployable Ebola outbreak tool. Emerging Infectious Diseases 22, 331–334. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2202.151796
- Höfer, H., Hanagarth, W., Garcia, M., Martius, C., Franklin, E., Römbke, J., Beck, L., 2001. Structure and function of soil fauna communities in Amazonian anthropogenic and natural ecosystems. European Journal of Soil Biology. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1164-5563(01)01089-5
- Hollingsworth, P.M., Forrest, L.L., Spouge, J.L., Hajibabaei, M., Ratnasingham, S., van der Bank, M., Chase, M.W., Cowan, R.S., Erickson, D.L., Fazekas, A.J., Graham, S.W., James, K.E., Kim, K.J., John Kress, W., Schneider, H., van AlphenStahl, J., Barrett, S.C.H., van den Berg, C., Bogarin, D., Burgess, K.S., Cameron, K.M., Carine, M., Chacón, J., Clark, A., Clarkson, J.J., Conrad, F., Devey, D.S., Ford, C.S., Hedderson, T.A.J., Hollingsworth, M.L., Husband, B.C., Kelly, L.J., Kesanakurti, P.R., Kim, J.S., Kim, Y.D., Lahaye, R., Lee, H.L., Long, D.G., Madriñán, S., Maurin, O., Meusnier, I., Newmaster, S.G., Park, C.W., Percy, D.M., Petersen, G., Richardson, J.E., Salazar, G.A., Savolainen, V., Seberg, O., Wilkinson, M.J., Yi, D.K., Little, D.P., 2009. A DNA barcode for land plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0905845106

Holyoak, M., Leibold, M., Mouquet, N., Holt, R., Hoopes, M., 2005. A framework for Large-Scale community ecology. Metacommunities: spatial dynamics and ecological communities. University of Chicago Press, Chicago.

Hong, X.Y., Gotoh, T., Nagata, T., 2002. Vertical transmission of Wolbachia in Tetranychus kanzawai Kishida and Panonychus mori Yokoyama (Acari: Tetranychidae). Heredity 88, 190–196. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.hdy.6800026

- Hoover, D.R., 2002. Power for T-test comparisons of unbalanced cluster exposure studies. J Urban Health 79, 278–294. https://doi.org/10.1093/jurban/79.2.278
- Horan, R.D., Shogren, J.F., Gramig, B.M., 2008. Wildlife conservation payments to address habitat fragmentation and disease risks. Environment and Development Economics 13, 415–439. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1355770X08004269
- Horton, N.J., Kleinman, K.P., 2007. Much Ado About Nothing. The American Statistician 61, 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1198/000313007X172556
- Hou, J., Wu, F.Z., 1988. Effect of sex hormones on NK and ADDC activity of mice. International Journal of Immunopharmacology. https://doi.org/10.1016/0192-0561(88)90145-2
- Hughes, G.J., Kuzmin, I. V., Schmitz, A., Blanton, J., Manangan, J., Murphy, S., Rupprecht, C.E., 2006. Experimental infection of big brown bats (Eptesicus fuscus) with Eurasian bat lyssaviruses Aravan, Khujand, and Irkut virus. Archives of Virology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-005-0785-0
- Hughey, M.C., Pena, J.A., Reyes, R., Medina, D., Belden, L.K., Burrowes, P.A., 2017. Skin bacterial microbiome of a generalist Puerto Rican frog varies along elevation and land use gradients. PeerJ 2017, e3688. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3688
- Hurvich, C.M., Tsai, C.L., 1989. Regression and time series model selection in small samples. Biometrika 76, 297–307. https://doi.org/10.1093/biomet/76.2.297
- Husník, F., Chrudimský, T., Hypša, V., 2011. Multiple origins of endosymbiosis within the Enterobacteriaceae (γ-Proteobacteria): Convergence of complex phylogenetic approaches. BMC Biology. https://doi.org/10.1186/1741-7007-9-87
- Ingala, M.R., Becker, D.J., Bak Holm, J., Kristiansen, K., Simmons, N.B., 2019a. Habitat fragmentation is associated with dietary shifts and microbiota variability in common vampire bats. Ecology and Evolution 9, 6508–6523. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5228
- Ingala, M.R., Becker, D.J., Bak Holm, J., Kristiansen, K., Simmons, N.B., 2019b. Habitat fragmentation is associated with dietary shifts and microbiota variability in common vampire bats. Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.5228
- Ivanova, N. V., Borisenko, A. V., Hebert, P.D.N., 2009. Express barcodes: Racing from specimen to identification. Molecular Ecology Resources 9, 35–41. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2009.02630.x
- Ivanova, N. V., Clare, E.L., Borisenko, A. V., 2012. DNA barcoding in mammals. Methods in Molecular Biology. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-61779-591-6_8
- Ivanova, N. V., Dewaard, J.R., Hebert, P.D.N., 2006. An inexpensive, automation-friendly protocol for recovering high-quality DNA. Molecular Ecology Notes 6, 998–1002. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-8286.2006.01428.x
- Izquierdo, A.E., De Angelo, C.D., Aide, T.M., 2008. Thirty years of human demography and land-use change in the Atlantic Forest of Misiones, Argentina: An evaluation of the forest transition model. Ecology and Society. https://doi.org/10.5751/es-02377-130203
- Jaakola, M., Ojanen, M., Hurme, E., Mutanen, M., Wahlberg, N., Välimäki, P., Kaitala, A., 2015. Morphological variation between populations of the expanding ectoparasitic deer ked Lipoptena cervi (Diptera: Hippoboscidae) in Fennoscandia. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society. https://doi.org/10.1111/bij.12587
- Jain, M., Fiddes, I.T., Miga, K.H., Olsen, H.E., Paten, B., Akeson, M., 2015. Improved data analysis for the MinION nanopore sequencer. Nature Methods 12, 351–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3290
- Jakes, A.F., Jones, P.F., Paige, L.C., Seidler, R.G., Huijser, M.P., 2018. A fence runs through it: A call for greater attention to the influence of fences on wildlife and ecosystems. Biological Conservation 227, 310–318. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.09.026
- James, M.C., Furness, R.W., Bowman, A.S., Forbes, K.J., Gilbert, L., 2011. The importance of passerine birds as tick hosts and in the transmission of Borrelia burgdorferi, the agent of Lyme disease: a case study from Scotland. Ibis 153, 293–302. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1474-919X.2011.01111.x
- Jansen, H.J., Mwaigwisya, S., Urban, J.M., Snutch, T.P., Paten, B., Brown, B.L., Jain, M., Ip, C.L.C., Buck, D., Bowden, R.J., O'Grady, J., Loose, M., Birney, E., de Cesare, M., Eccles, D.A., Batty, E.M., Leggett, R.M., Piazza, P., Goodwin, S., Zalunin, V., Olsen, H.E., Tyson, J.R., Simpson, J.T., 2015. MinION Analysis and Reference Consortium: Phase 1 data release and analysis. F1000Research 4, 1075. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.7201.1
- Jansson, R., Nilsson, C., Renöfält, B., 2000. Fragmentation of Riparian Floras in Rivers with Multiple Dams. Ecology 81, 899–903. https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9658(2000)081[0899:FORFIR]2.0.CO;2
- Janzen, D.H., Hajibabaei, M., Burns, J.M., Hallwachs, W., Remigio, E., Hebert, P.D.N., 2005. Wedding biodiversity inventory of a large and complex Lepidoptera fauna with DNA barcoding. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1715
- Jesse, M., Ezanno, P., Davis, S., Heesterbeek, J.A.P., 2008. A fully coupled, mechanistic model for infectious disease dynamics in a metapopulation: Movement and epidemic duration. Journal of Theoretical Biology 254, 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2008.05.038
- Jia, Y., Gray, V.M., Straker, C.J., 2004. The influence of Rhizobium and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi on nitrogen and phosphorus accumulation by Vicia faba. Annals of Botany. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mch135
- Jobling, B., 1949. Host-parasite relationship between the american streblidae and the bats, with a new key to the american genera and a record of the streblidae from trinidad, british west indies (diptera). Parasitology 39, 315–329. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000083906
- Johnson, P.T.J., Dobson, A., Lafferty, K.D., Marcogliese, D.J., Memmott, J., Orlofske, S.A., Poulin, R., Thieltges, D.W., 2010. When parasites become prey: Ecological and epidemiological significance of eating parasites. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2010.01.005
- Johnson, P.T.J., Hoverman, J.T., 2012. Parasite diversity and coinfection determine pathogen infection success and host fitness. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1201790109
- Johnson, P.T.J., Ostfeld, R.S., Keesing, F., 2015. Frontiers in research on biodiversity and disease. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12479
- Johnson, P.T.J., Preston, D.L., Hoverman, J.T., LaFonte, B.E., 2013. Host and parasite diversity jointly control disease risk in complex communities. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1310557110

Johnson, S.S., Zaikova, E., Goerlitz, D.S., Bai, Y., Tighe, S.W., 2017. Real-time DNA sequencing in the antarctic dry valleys using the Oxford nanopore sequencer. Journal of Biomolecular Techniques 28, 2–7. https://doi.org/10.7171/jbt.17-2801-009

Jones, B.A., Grace, D., Kock, R., Alonso, S., Rushton, J., Said, M.Y., McKeever, D., Mutua, F., Young, J., McDermott, J., Pfeiffer, D.U., 2013. Zoonosis emergence linked to agricultural intensification and environmental change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1208059110

Jones, E.O., Webb, S.D., Ruiz-Fons, F.J., Albon, S., Gilbert, L., 2011. The effect of landscape heterogeneity and host movement on a tick-borne pathogen. Theor Ecol 4, 435–448. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12080-010-0087-8

Jordano, P., 2016. Sampling networks of ecological interactions. Functional Ecology 1883–1893. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12763

Jordano, P., 2002. Patterns of Mutualistic Interactions in Pollination and Seed Dispersal: Connectance, Dependence Asymmetries, and Coevolution. The American Naturalist. https://doi.org/10.1086/284665

- Jordano, P., Bascompte, J., Olesen, J.M., 2003a. Invariant properties in coevolutionary networks of plant-animal interactions. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00403.x
- Jordano, P., Bascompte, J., Olesen, J.M., 2003b. Invariant properties in coevolutionary networks of plant-animal interactions. Ecology Letters 6, 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.2003.00403.x

Jori, F., Etter, E., 2016. Transmission of foot and mouth disease at the wildlife/livestock interface of the Kruger National Park, South Africa: Can the risk be mitigated? Preventive Veterinary Medicine 126, 19–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.01.016

Jousimo, J., Tack, A.J.M., Ovaskainen, O., Mononen, T., Susi, H., Tollenaere, C., Laine, A.-L., 2014. Ecological and evolutionary effects of fragmentation on infectious disease dynamics. Science 344, 1289–1293. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1253621

Jousselin, E., Cœur D'Acier, A., Vanlerberghe-Masutti, F., Duron, O., 2013. Evolution and diversity of Arsenophonus endosymbionts in aphids. Molecular Ecology 22, 260–270. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12092

- Jovani, R., Tella, J.L., 2006. Parasite prevalence and sample size: misconceptions and solutions. Trends in Parasitology 22, 214–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2006.02.011
- Juul, S., Izquierdo, F., Hurst, A., Dai, X., Wright, A., Kulesha, E., Pettett, R., Turner, D.J., 2015. What's in my pot? Real-time species identification on the MinION. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/030742
- Kaiser-Bunbury, C.N., Muff, S., Memmott, J., Müller, C.B., Caflisch, A., 2010. The robustness of pollination networks to the loss of species and interactions: A quantitative approach incorporating pollinator behaviour. Ecology Letters 13, 442–452. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2009.01437.x

Kaltenpoth, M., 2009. Actinobacteria as mutualists: general healthcare for insects? Trends in Microbiology 17, 529–535. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2009.09.006

Kashima, K., Ohtsuki, H., Satake, A., 2013. Fission-fusion bat behavior as a strategy for balancing the conflicting needs of maximizing information accuracy and minimizing infection risk. Journal of Theoretical Biology 318, 101–109. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2012.10.034

Katoh, K., Kuma, K., Miyata, T., Toh, H., 2005. Improvement in the accuracy of multiple sequence alignment program MAFFT. Genome informatics. International Conference on Genome Informatics.

Katoh, K., Toh, H., 2008. Recent developments in the MAFFT multiple sequence alignment program. Briefings in Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/bib/bbn013

- Keesing, F., Belden, L.K., Daszak, P., Dobson, A., Harvell, C.D., Holt, R.D., Hudson, P., Jolles, A., Jones, K.E., Mitchell, C.E., Myers, S.S., Bogich, T., Ostfeld, R.S., 2010. Impacts of biodiversity on the emergence and transmission of infectious diseases. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature09575
- Keesing, F., Holt, R.D., Ostfeld, R.S., 2006. Effects of species diversity on disease risk. Ecology Letters.
 - https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2006.00885.x

Kennedy, S.R., Tsau, S., Gillespie, R., Krehenwinkel, H., 2020. Are you what you eat? A highly transient and prey-influenced gut microbiome in the grey house spider Badumna longinqua. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.15370

Killilea, M.E., Swei, A., Lane, R.S., Briggs, C.J., Ostfeld, R.S., 2008. Spatial dynamics of lyme disease: A review. EcoHealth. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-008-0171-3

Kirkby, M.J., MacArthur, R.H., Wilson, E.O., 1968. The Theory of Island Biogeography. The Geographical Journal. https://doi.org/10.2307/1796430

Klein, S.L., 2004. Hormonal and immunological mechanisms mediating sex differences in parasite infection. Parasite Immunology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0141-9838.2004.00710.x

Knapp, A.K., Smith, M.D., Collins, S.L., Zambatis, N., Peel, M., Emery, S., Wojdak, J., Horner-Devine, M.C., Biggs, H., Kruger, J., Andelman, S.J., 2004. Generality in Ecology: Testing North American Grassland Rules in South African Savannas. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 2, 483–491. https://doi.org/10.2307/3868337

Kneitel, J.M., Miller, T.E., 2003. Dispersal rates affect species composition in metacommunities of Sarracenia purpurea inquilines. American Naturalist. https://doi.org/10.1086/376585

Kokkoris, G.D., Troumbis, A.Y., Lawton, J.H., 1999. Patterns of species interaction strength in assembled theoretical competition communities. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1461-0248.1999.22058.x

Komeno, C.A., Linhares, A.X., 1999. Batflies Parasitic on Some Phyllostomid Bats in Southeastern Brazil: Parasitism Rates and Hostparasite Relationships. Memorias do Instituto Oswaldo Cruz 94, 151–156. https://doi.org/10.1590/S0074-02761999000200004

Kondoh, M., 2008. Building trophic modules into a persistent food web. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0805870105

Kono, N., Arakawa, K., 2019. Nanopore sequencing: Review of potential applications in functional genomics. Development Growth and Differentiation. https://doi.org/10.1111/dgd.12608

Korine, C., Izhaki, I., Arad, Z., 1999. Is the Egyptian fruit-bat Rousettus aegyptiacus a pest in Israel? An analysis of the bat's diet and implications for its conservation. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(98)00126-8

Kortsch, S., Primicerio, R., Fossheim, M., Dolgov, A. V., Aschan, M., 2015. Climate change alters the structure of arctic marine food webs due to poleward shifts of boreal generalists. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282, 20151546. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2015.1546

- Krasnov, B.R., Khokhlova, I.S., Fielden, L.J., Burdelova, N. V., 2001. Effect of Air Temperature and Humidity on the Survival of Pre-Imaginal Stages of Two Flea Species (Siphonaptera: Pulicidae). Journal of Medical Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1603/0022-2585-38.5.629
- Krauss, J., Steffan-Dewenter, I., Tscharntke, T., 2003. How does landscape context contribute to effects of habitat fragmentation on diversity and population density of butterflies? Journal of Biogeography 30, 889–900. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.00878.x
- Krehenwinkel, H., Pomerantz, A., Henderson, J.B., Kennedy, S.R., Lim, J.Y., Swamy, V., Shoobridge, J.D., Patel, N.H., Gillespie, R.G., Prost, S., 2018. Nanopore sequencing of long ribosomal DNA amplicons enables portable and simple biodiversity assessments with high phylogenetic resolution across broad taxonomic scale. bioRxiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/358572
- Kress, W.J., Wurdack, K.J., Zimmer, E.A., Weigt, L.A., Janzen, D.H., 2005. Use of DNA barcodes to identify flowering plants. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0503123102
- Kueneman, J.G., Parfrey, L.W., Woodhams, D.C., Archer, H.M., Knight, R., McKenzie, V.J., 2014. The amphibian skin-associated microbiome across species, space and life history stages. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.12510
- Kühnert, E., Schönbächler, C., Arlettaz, R., Christe, P., 2016. Roost selection and switching in two forest-dwelling bats: implications for forest management. European Journal of Wildlife Research 62, 497–500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-016-1021-1
- Kunz, T.H., de Torrez, E.B., Bauer, D., Lobova, T., Fleming, T.H., 2011. Ecosystem services provided by bats. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2011.06004.x
- Kuppler, J., Grasegger, T., Peters, B., Popp, S., Schlager, M., Junker, R.R., 2017. Volatility of network indices due to undersampling of intraspecific variation in plant–insect interactions. Arthropod-Plant Interactions 11, 561–566. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11829-016-9493-1
- L Emmons, F.F.-1997, 1991. Neotropical rainforest mammals: A field guide. Trends in Ecology & Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-5347(91)90062-3
- Lachish, S., Murray, K.A., 2018. The Certainty of Uncertainty: Potential Sources of Bias and Imprecision in Disease Ecology Studies. Front. Vet. Sci. 5. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2018.00090
- Lack, J.B., Nichols, R.D., Wilson, G.M., Van Den Bussche, R.A., 2011. Genetic signature of reproductive manipulation in the phylogeography of the bat fly, Trichobius major, in: Journal of Heredity. Narnia, pp. 705–718. https://doi.org/10.1093/jhered/esr090
- Lafferty, K.D., 2012. Biodiversity loss decreases parasite diversity: Theory and patterns. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2012.0110
- Lafferty, K.D., 2009. The ecology of climate change and infectious diseases. Ecology 90, 888–900. https://doi.org/10.1890/08-0079.1
- Lafferty, K.D., Allesina, S., Arim, M., Briggs, C.J., De Leo, G., Dobson, A.P., Dunne, J.A., Johnson, P.T.J., Kuris, A.M., Marcogliese, D.J., Martinez, N.D., Memmott, J., Marquet, P.A., McLaughlin, J.P., Mordecai, E.A., Pascual, M., Poulin, R., Thieltges, D.W., 2008. Parasites in food webs: The ultimate missing links. Ecology Letters 11, 533–546. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01174.x
- Lafferty, K.D., Gerber, L.R., 2002. Good Medicine for Conservation Biology: the Intersection of Epidemiology and Conservation Theory. Conservation Biology 16, 593–604. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2002.00446.x
- Lalani, T., Tisdale, M.D., Liu, J., Mitra, I., Philip, C., Odundo, E., Reyes, F., Simons, M.P., Fraser, J.A., Hutley, E., Connor, P., Swierczewski, B.E., Houpt, E., Tribble, D.R., Riddle, M.S., 2018. Comparison of stool collection and storage on Whatman FTA Elute cards versus frozen stool for enteropathogen detection using the TaqMan Array Card PCR assay. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0202178
- Lalani, T., Tisdale, M.D., Maguire, J.D., Wongsrichanalai, C., Riddle, M.S., Tribble, D.R., 2015. Detection of enteropathogens associated with travelers' diarrhea using a multiplex Luminex-based assay performed on stool samples smeared on Whatman FTA Elute cards. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease 83, 18–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2015.05.011
- Laliberté, E., Tylianakis, J.M., 2010a. Deforestation homogenizes tropical parasitoid-host networks. Ecology 91, 1740–1747. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1328.1
- Laliberté, E., Tylianakis, J.M., 2010b. Deforestation homogenizes tropical parasitoid host networks homogenizes tropical parasitoid ? host. Ecology 91, 1740–1747. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-1328.1
- Landmann, F., 2019. The Wolbachia Endosymbionts, in: Bacteria and Intracellularity. https://doi.org/10.1128/microbiolspec.bai-0018-2019
- Laurindo, R.S., Novaes, R.L.M., Vizentin-Bugoni, J., Gregorin, R., 2019. The effects of habitat loss on bat-fruit networks. Biodiversity and Conservation 28, 589–601. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-018-1676-x
- Lawrence, A.L., Hii, S.F., Chong, R., Webb, C.E., Traub, R., Brown, G., Šlapeta, J., 2015. Evaluation of the bacterial microbiome of two flea species using different DNA-isolation techniques provides insights into flea host ecology. FEMS microbiology ecology 91, fiv134. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiv134
- Lazarus, D.D., Fosgate, G.T., van Schalkwyk, O.L., Burroughs, R.E.J., Heath, L., Maree, F.F., Blignaut, B., Reininghaus, B., Mpehle, A., Rikhotso, O., Thomson, G.R., 2017. Serological evidence of vaccination and perceptions concerning Foot-and-Mouth Disease control in cattle at the wildlife-livestock interface of the Kruger National Park, South Africa. Preventive Veterinary Medicine 147, 17–25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prevetmed.2017.08.016
- Le Goff, G., Revollo, J., Guerra, M., Cruz, M., Barja Simon, Z., Roca, Y., Vargas Florès, J., Hervé, J.P., 2011. Natural vertical transmission of dengue viruses by Aedes aegypti in Bolivia. Parasite. https://doi.org/10.1051/parasite/2011183277
- Lees, A.C., Peres, C.A., 2008. Conservation value of remnant riparian forest corridors of varying quality for Amazonian birds and mammals. Conservation Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2007.00870.x
- Legrand, D., Guillaume, O., Baguette, M., Cote, J., Trochet, A., Calvez, O., Zajitschek, S., Zajitschek, F., Lecomte, J., Bénard, Q., Le Galliard, J.F., Clobert, J., 2012. The Metatron: An experimental system to study dispersal and metaecosystems for terrestrial organisms. Nature Methods. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.2104

- Leibold, M.A., Holyoak, M., Mouquet, N., Amarasekare, P., Chase, J.M., Hoopes, M.F., Holt, R.D., Shurin, J.B., Law, R., Tilman, D., Loreau, M., Gonzalez, A., 2004. The metacommunity concept: A framework for multi-scale community ecology. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2004.00608.x
- Leibold, M.A., Mikkelson, G.M., 2002. Coherence, species turnover, and boundary clumping: Elements of meta-community structure. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1034/j.1600-0706.2002.970210.x
- Lenihan, H.S., Peterson, C.H., Byers, J.E., Grabowski, J.H., Thayer, G.W., Colby, D.R., 2001. Cascading of habitat degradation: Oyster reefs invaded by refugee fishes escaping stress. Ecological Applications. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(2001)011[0764:COHDOR]2.0.CO;2
- Leroux, S.J., 2019. On the prevalence of uninformative parameters in statistical models applying model selection in applied ecology. PLoS ONE 14, e0206711. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0206711
- Leroy, Eric M., Kumulungui, B., Pourrut, X., Rouquet, P., Hassanin, A., Yaba, P., Délicat, A., Paweska, J.T., Gonzalez, J.P., Swanepoel, R., 2005. Fruit bats as reservoirs of Ebola virus. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/438575a
- Leroy, Eric M, Kumulungui, B., Pourrut, X., Rouquet, P., Hassanin, A., Yaba, P., Délicat, A., Paweska, J.T., Gonzalez, J.-P., Swanepoel, R., 2005. Fruit bats as reservoirs of Ebola virus. Nature 438, 575–576. https://doi.org/10.1038/438575a
- Leung, B., 1998. Aggregated parasite distributions on hosts in a homogeneous environment: Examining the Poisson null model. International Journal for Parasitology 28, 1709–1712. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7519(98)00128-3
- Li, J. gang, Wang, C. dong, Tang, Z. hai, Guo, Y. qiu, Zheng, T. cai, Li, Y. zhong, You, Z. qiang, 2017. The Gut Bacterial Community Composition of Wild Cervus albirostris (White-Lipped Deer) Detected by the 16S Ribosomal RNA Gene Sequencing. Current Microbiology 74, 1100–1107. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-017-1288-9
- Li, X., 2010. A Comparative Analysis of English and Chinese Idioms— From the Perspective of Conceptual Metaphor of "Happiness." Journal of Language Teaching and Research. https://doi.org/10.4304/jltr.1.4.473-476
- Liebsch, D., Marques, M.C.M., Goldenberg, R., 2008. How long does the Atlantic Rain Forest take to recover after a disturbance? Changes in species composition and ecological features during secondary succession. Biological Conservation 141, 1717–1725. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.04.013
- Lill, J.T., Marquis, R.J., Ricklefs, R.E., 2002. Host plants influence parasitism of forest caterpillars. Nature 417, 170–173. https://doi.org/10.1038/417170a
- Lim, V.C., Clare, E.L., Littlefair, J.E., Ramli, R., Bhassu, S., Wilson, J.J., 2018. Impact of urbanisation and agriculture on the diet of fruit bats. Urban Ecosystems. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-017-0700-3
- Lindholm, A.K., Clayton, D.H., Moore, J., 2006. Host-Parasite Evolution: General Principles and Avian Models. The Journal of Animal Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/6007
- Linhares, A.X., Komeno, C.A., 2006. Trichobius joblingi, Aspidoptera falcata, and Megistopoda proxima (Diptera: Streblidae) Parasitic on Carollia perspicillata and Sturnira lillium (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae) in Southeastern Brazil: Sex Ratios, Seasonality, Host Site Preference, and Effect. The Journal of Parasitology 86, 167. https://doi.org/10.2307/3284932
- Linhares, A.X., Komeno, C.A., 2000. Trichobius joblingi, Aspidoptera falcata, and Megistopoda proxima (Diptera: Streblidae) Parasitic on Carollia perspicillata and Sturnira lillium (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae) in Southeastern Brazil: Sex Ratios,
- Seasonality, Host Site Preference, and Effect. The Journal of Parasitology 86, 167. https://doi.org/10.2307/3284932 Linhares, D.C.L., Rovira, A., Torremorell, M., 2012. Evaluation of Flinders Technology Associates cards for collection and transport of samples for detection of Porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus by reverse transcription polymerase
- chain reaction. Journal of Veterinary Diagnostic Investigation 24, 328–332. https://doi.org/10.1177/1040638711429492 Lira, P.K., Tambosi, L.R., Ewers, R.M., Metzger, J.P., 2012a. Land-use and land-cover change in Atlantic Forest landscapes. Forest
- Ecology and Management 278, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.05.008 Lira, P.K., Tambosi, L.R., Ewers, R.M., Metzger, J.P., 2012b. Land-use and land-cover change in Atlantic Forest landscapes. Forest
- Ecology and Management 278, 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.05.008
- Loayza, A.P., Loiselle, B.A., 2008. Preliminary Information on the Home Range and Movement Patterns of Sturnira lilium (Phyllostomidae) in a Naturally Fragmented Landscape in Bolivia. Biotropica 40, 630–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2008.00422.x
- Lôbo, D., Leão, T., Melo, F.P.L., Santos, A.M.M., Tabarelli, M., 2011. Forest fragmentation drives Atlantic forest of northeastern Brazil to biotic homogenization. Diversity and Distributions 17, 287–296. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00739.x
- Locke, S.A., Mclaughlin, J.D., Marcogliese, D.J., 2013. Predicting the similarity of parasite communities in freshwater fishes using the phylogeny, Ecology and proximity of hosts. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2012.20211.x
- Lomolino, M. V., Perault, D.R., 2004. Geographic gradients of deforestation and mammalian communities in a fragmented, temperate rain forest landscape. Global Ecology and Biogeography 13, 55–64. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-882X.2004.00068.x
- López-Baucells, A., Rocha, R., Fernández-Llamazares, Á., 2018a. When bats go viral: negative framings in virological research imperil bat conservation. Mammal Review 48, 62–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12110
- López-Baucells, A., Rocha, R., Fernández-Llamazares, Á., 2018b. When bats go viral: negative framings in virological research imperil bat conservation. Mammal Review 48, 62–66. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12110
- Lourenço, E.C., Patrício, P.M.P., Famadas, K.M., 2016. Community components of spinturnicid mites (Acari: Mesostigmata) parasitizing bats (Chiroptera) in the Tinguá Biological Reserve of Atlantic Forest of Brazil. International Journal of Acarology 42, 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1080/01647954.2015.1117525
- Lourenço, S.I., Palmeirim, J.M., 2007. Can mite parasitism affect the condition of bat hosts? Implications for the social structure of colonial bats. Journal of Zoology 273, 161–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7998.2007.00322.x
- Lučan, R.K., Bandouchova, H., Bartonička, T., Pikula, J., Zahradníková, A., Zukal, J., Martínková, N., 2016a. Ectoparasites may serve as vectors for the white-nose syndrome fungus. Parasites and Vectors. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1302-2
- Lučan, R.K., Bandouchova, H., Bartonička, T., Pikula, J., Zahradníková, A., Zukal, J., Martínková, N., 2016b. Ectoparasites may serve as vectors for the white-nose syndrome fungus. Parasites and Vectors 9, 16. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-016-1302-2
- Luis, A.D., Hayman, D.T.S., O'Shea, T.J., Cryan, P.M., Gilbert, A.T., Pulliam, J.R.C., Mills, J.N., Timonin, M.E., Willis, C.K.R., Cunningham, A.A., Fooks, A.R., Rupprecht, C.E., Wood, J.L.N., Webb, C.T., 2013. A comparison of bats and rodents as

reservoirs of zoonotic viruses: are bats special? Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 280, 20122753. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.2753

- Lupatini, M., Suleiman, A.K.A., Jacques, R.J.S., Antoniolli, Z.I., de Siqueira Ferreira, A., Kuramae, E.E., Roesch, L.F.W., 2014. Network topology reveals high connectance levels and few key microbial genera within soils. Frontiers in Environmental Science 2, 10. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2014.00010
- Lurgi, M., Thomas, T., Wemheuer, B., Webster, N.S., Montoya, J.M., 2019. Modularity and predicted functions of the global sponge-microbiome network. Nature Communications 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-08925-4
- Lyles, A.M., Dobson, A.P., 1993. Infectious Disease and Intensive Management: Population Dynamics, Threatened Hosts, and Their Parasites. Journal of Zoo and Wildlife Medicine 24, 315–326.
- Lynam, A.J., Billick, I., 1999. Differential responses of small mammals to fragmentation in a Thailand tropical forest. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0006-3207(99)00082-8
- MacDonald, Z.G., Anderson, I.D., Acorn, J.H., Nielsen, S.E., 2018. The theory of island biogeography, the sample-area effect, and the habitat diversity hypothesis: complementarity in a naturally fragmented landscape of lake islands. Journal of Biogeography. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.13460
- MacFadyen, S., Gibson, R., Polaszek, A., Morris, R.J., Craze, P.G., Planqué, R., Symondson, W.O.C., Memmott, J., 2009. Do differences in food web structure between organic and conventional farms affect the ecosystem service of pest control? Ecology Letters 12, 229–238. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01279.x
- Macfadyen, S., Gibson, R., Symondson, W., Memmott, J., 2011. Landscape structure influnece smodularity patterns in farm food webs: consequences for pest control. Ecological Application 21, 516–524. https://doi.org/10.1890/09-2111.1
- MacFarlane, D., Rocha, R., 2020a. Guidelines for communicating about bats to prevent persecution in the time of COVID-19. Biological Conservation 108650. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108650
- MacFarlane, D., Rocha, R., 2020b. Guidelines for communicating about bats to prevent persecution in the time of COVID-19. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108650
- Macgregor, C.J., Evans, D.M., Pocock, M.J.O., 2017. Estimating sampling completeness of interactions in quantitative bipartite ecological networks: incorporating variation in species specialisation. bioRiv. https://doi.org/10.1101/195917
- Macnab, V., Barber, I., 2012. Some (worms) like it hot: Fish parasites grow faster in warmer water, and alter host thermal preferences. Global Change Biology 18, 1540–1548. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2486.2011.02595.x
- Magoč, T., Salzberg, S.L., 2011. FLASH: Fast length adjustment of short reads to improve genome assemblies. Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btr507
- Magrach, A., Guitián, J., Larrinaga, A.R., Guitián, Javier, 2011. Land-use and edge effects unbalance seed dispersal and predation interactions under habitat fragmentation. Ecological Research 26, 851–861. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11284-011-0846-z
- Malla, S., Loose, M., Jain, M., Birney, E., Brown, B.L., O'Grady, J., Ip, C.L.C., Jansen, H.J., Tyson, J.R., Zalunin, V., Snutch, T.P., Wallerman, O., Leggett, R.M., Olsen, H.E., Eccles, D.A., 2017. MinION Analysis and Reference Consortium: Phase 2 data release and analysis of R9.0 chemistry. F1000Research 6, 760. https://doi.org/10.12688/f1000research.11354.1
- Marcogliese, D.J., 2004. Parasites: Small Players with Crucial Roles in the Ecological Theater. EcoHealth 1, 151–164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-004-0028-3
- Marcondes, C.B., 2016. Arthropod borne diseases, Arthropod Borne Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-13884-8
- Marichal, R., Martinez, A.F., Praxedes, C., Ruiz, D., Carvajal, A.F., Oszwald, J., del Pilar Hurtado, M., Brown, G.G., Grimaldi, M., Desjardins, T., Sarrazin, M., Decaëns, T., Velasquez, E., Lavelle, P., 2010. Invasion of Pontoscolex corethrurus (Glossoscolecidae, Oligochaeta) in landscapes of the Amazonian deforestation arc. Applied Soil Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apsoil.2010.09.001
- Marjakangas, E.L., Abrego, N., Grøtan, V., de Lima, R.A.F., Bello, C., Bovendorp, R.S., Culot, L., Hasui, É., Lima, F., Muylaert, R.L., Niebuhr, B.B., Oliveira, A.A., Pereira, L.A., Prado, P.I., Stevens, R.D., Vancine, M.H., Ribeiro, M.C., Galetti, M., Ovaskainen, O., 2020. Fragmented tropical forests lose mutualistic plant–animal interactions. Diversity and Distributions 26, 154–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13010
- Marques, J.F., Cabral, H.N., 2007. Effects of sample size on fish parasite prevalence, mean abundance and mean intensity estimates. Journal of Applied Ichthyology 23, 158–162. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1439-0426.2006.00823.x
- Marshall, A.G., 1970. The life cycle of Basilia hispida Theodor 1967 (Diptera:Nycteribiidae) in Malaysia. Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000040798
- Martin, G., Plowright, R., Chen, C., Kault, D., Selleck, P., Skerratt, L.F., 2015. Hendra virus survival does not explain spillover patterns and implicates relatively direct transmission routes from flying foxes to horses. J Gen Virol 96, 1229–1237. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.000073
- Martinelli, G., Moraes, M., 2013. Livro vermelho da flora do Brasil. ... de Conservação da Flora, Rio de https://doi.org/10.1007/s13398-014-0173-7.2
- Martini, A.M.Z., Fiaschi, P., Amorim, A.M., Paixão, J.L. Da, 2007. A hot-point within a hot-spot: A high diversity site in Brazil's Atlantic Forest. Biodiversity and Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-007-9166-6
- Martinson, H.M., Fagan, W.F., 2014. Trophic disruption: A meta-analysis of how habitat fragmentation affects resource consumption in terrestrial arthropod systems. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12305
- Martinson, V.G., Douglas, A.E., Jaenike, J., 2017. Community structure of the gut microbiota in sympatric species of wild Drosophila. Ecology Letters. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12761
- Mazerolle, M., 2004. Appendix 1: Making sense out of Akaike's Information Criterion (AIC): its use and interpretation in model selection and inference from ecological data. ... en Tourbières Perturbées, Ph. D. thesis.
- Mbogori, M.N., Kimani, M., Kuria, A., Lagat, M., Danson, J.W., 2006. Optimization of FTA technology for large scale plant DNA isolation for use in marker assisted selection. African Journal of Biotechnology.
- McCann, K.S., 2000. The diversity-stability. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012234
- McCann, K.S., Rasmussen, J.B., Umbanhowar, J., 2005. The dynamics of spatially coupled food webs. Ecology Letters 8, 513–523. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00742.x
- Mccord, A.I., Chapman, C.A., Weny, G., Tumukunde, A., Hyeroba, D., Klotz, K., Koblings, A.S., Mbora, D.N.M., Cregger, M., White, B.A., Leigh, S.R., Goldberg, T.L., 2014. Fecal microbiomes of non-human primates in Western Uganda reveal species-

specific communities largely resistant to habitat perturbation. American Journal of Primatology. https://doi.org/10.1002/ajp.22238

- McCune, B., Grace, J.B., Urban, D.L., 2002. Analysis of ecological communities. MJM Software Design, Gleneden Beach. Oregon, MJM Software Design.
- McKinney, M.L., 2008. Effects of urbanization on species richness: A review of plants and animals. Urban Ecosystems. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-007-0045-4
- McManus, D.P., Bowles, J., 1996. Molecular genetic approaches to parasite identification: Their value in diagnostic parasitology and systematics. International Journal for Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/0020-7519(96)82612-9
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2013. Phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217
- McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2012. Phyloseq: a bioconductor package for handling and analysis of high-throughput phylogenetic sequence data. Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing. Pacific Symposium on Biocomputing.
- Medellín, R.A., Equihua, M., Amin, M.A., 2000. Bat diversity and abundance as indicators of disturbance in neotropical rainforest. Conservation Biology 14, 1666–1675. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1523-1739.2000.99068.x
- Mehlhorn, H., 2014. Introduction: The World of Bats. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39333-4_1
- Mehranvar, L., Jackson, D.A., 2001. History and taxonomy: Their roles in the core-satellite hypothesis. Oecologia. https://doi.org/10.1007/s004420000574
- Meijer, S.S., Whittaker, R.J., Borges, P.A. V, 2011. The effects of land-use change on arthropod richness and abundance on Santa Maria Island (Azores): Unmanaged plantations favour endemic beetles. Journal of Insect Conservation 15, 505–522. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10841-010-9330-2
- Melaun, C., Werblow, A., Busch, M.W., Liston, A., Klimpel, S., 2014. Bats as Potential Reservoir Hosts for Vector-Borne Diseases, in: Parasitology Research Monographs. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp. 25–61. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-39333-4_3
- Memmott, J., Craze, P.G., Waser, N.M., Price, M. V., 2007. Global warming and the disruption of plant-pollinator interactions. Ecology Letters 10, 710–717. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01061.x
- Mendeş, M., 2005. How Many Samples are Enough When Data are Unbalanced? Journal of Agricultural Sciences 11, 225–228.
- Menegon, M., Cantaloni, C., Rodriguez-Prieto, A., Centomo, C., Abdelfattah, A., Rossato, M., Bernardi, M., Xumerle, L., Loader, S., Delledonne, M., 2017. On site DNA barcoding by nanopore sequencing. PLoS ONE.
 - https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0184741
- Merino, S., Potti, J., 1996. Weather dependent effects of nest ectoparasites on their bird hosts. Ecography 19, 107–113. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.1996.tb00161.x
- Meusnier, I., Singer, G., Landry, J.-F., Hickey, D., Hebert, P., Hajibabaei, M., 2008. A universal DNA mini-barcode for biodiversity analysis. BMC Genomics 9, 4. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-9-214
- Meyer, C.F.J., Aguiar, L.M.S., Aguirre, L.F., Baumgarten, J., Clarke, F.M., Cosson, J.F., Estrada Villegas, S., Fahr, J., Faria, D., Furey, N., Henry, M., Jenkins, R.K.B., Kunz, T.H., Cristina Macswiney González, M., Moya, I., Pons, J.M., Racey, P.A., Rex, K., Sampaio, E.M., Stoner, K.E., Voigt, C.C., von Staden, D., Weise, C.D., Kalko, E.K.V., 2015. Species undersampling in tropical bat surveys: Effects on emerging biodiversity patterns. Journal of Animal Ecology 84, 113–123. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12261
- Meyer, Christoph F. J., Kalko, E.K.V., Kerth, G., 2009. Small-Scale Fragmentation Effects on Local Genetic Diversity in Two Phyllostomid Bats with Different Dispersal Abilities in Panama. Biotropica 41, 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2008.00443.x
- Meyer, Christoph F.J., Kalko, E.K.V., Kerth, G., 2009. Small-scale fragmentation effects on local genetic diversity in two phyllostomid bats with different dispersal abilities in Panama. Biotropica. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2008.00443.x
- Meynard, C.N., Lavergne, S., Boulangeat, I., Garraud, L., Van Es, J., Mouquet, N., Thuiller, W., 2013. Disentangling the drivers of metacommunity structure across spatial scales. Journal of Biogeography 40, 1560–1571. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12116
- Michalski, F., Peres, C.A., 2005. Anthropogenic determinants of primate and carnivore local extinctions in a fragmented forest landscape of southern Amazonia. Biological Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.01.045
- Mihaljevic, J.R., 2012. Linking metacommunity theory and symbiont evolutionary ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.01.011
- Mihaljevic, J.R., Hoye, B.J., Johnson, P.T.J., 2018. Parasite metacommunities: Evaluating the roles of host community composition and environmental gradients in structuring symbiont communities within amphibians. Journal of Animal Ecology 87, 354–368. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12735
- Mikheyev, A.S., Tin, M.M.Y., 2014. A first look at the Oxford Nanopore MinION sequencer. Molecular Ecology Resources 14, 1097– 1102. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12324
- Miles, J., 2014. R Squared, Adjusted R Squared, in: Wiley StatsRef: Statistics Reference Online.
 - https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118445112.stat06627
- Mitchell, A., 2008. DNA barcoding demystified. Australian Journal of Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-6055.2008.00645.x
- Miyazono, S., Taylor, C.M., 2013. Effects of habitat size and isolation on species immigration-extinction dynamics and community nestedness in a desert river system. Freshwater Biology. https://doi.org/10.1111/fwb.12127
- Moeller, A.H., Suzuki, T.A., Lin, D., Lacey, E.A., Wasser, S.K., Nachman, M.W., 2017. Dispersal limitation promotes the diversification of the mammalian gut microbiota. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 114, 13768–13773. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1700122114
- Mokross, K., Ryder, T.B., Côrtes, M.C., Wolfe, J.D., Stouffer, P.C., 2013. Decay of interspecific avian flock networks along a disturbance gradient in Amazonia. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2013.2599
- Moore, N.W., 1962. The Heaths of Dorset and their Conservation. The Journal of Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/2257449
- Morand, S., Blasdell, K., Bordes, F., Buchy, P., Carcy, B., Chaisiri, K., Chaval, Y., Claude, J., Cosson, J.-F., Desquesnes, M.,
 - Jittapalapong, S., Jiyipong, T., Karnchanabanthoen, A., Pornpan, P., Rolain, J.-M., Tran, A., 2019. Changing landscapes of

Southeast Asia and rodent-borne diseases: decreased diversity but increased transmission risks. Ecological Applications 29, e01886. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.1886

- Morand, S., Manning, S.D., Woolhouse, M.E.J., 1996. Parasite-host coevolution and geographic patterns of parasite infectivity and host susceptibility. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 263, 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1996.0019
- Moratelli, R., Oliveira, J.A. De, 2011. Morphometric and morphological variation in South American populations of Myotis albescens (Chiroptera: Vespertilionidae). Zoologia 28, 789–802. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702011000600013
- Morellato, L.P.C., Haddad, C.F.B., 2000. Introduction: The Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Biotropica 32, 786–792.
- https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2000.tb00618.x
- Morgan, E R, Cavill, L., Curry, G.E., Wood, R.M., Mitchell, E.S.E., 2005. Effects of aggregation and sample size on composite faecal egg counts in sheep. Veterinary Parasitology 131, 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.04.021
- Morgan, E. R., Cavill, L., Curry, G.E., Wood, R.M., Mitchell, E.S.E., 2005. Effects of aggregation and sample size on composite faecal egg counts in sheep. Veterinary Parasitology 131, 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetpar.2005.04.021
- Morris, A.L., Guégan, J.-F., Andreou, D., Marsollier, L., Carolan, K., Le Croller, M., Sanhueza, D., Gozlan, R.E., 2016. Deforestationdriven food-web collapse linked to emerging tropical infectious disease, Mycobacterium ulcerans. Science Advances 2, e1600387. https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.1600387
- Morris, R.J., 2010. Anthropogenic impacts on tropical forest biodiversity: a network structure and ecosystem functioning perspective. Source: Philosophical Transactions: Biological Sciences Phil. Trans. R. Soc 365, 3709–3718. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0273
- Morse, S.F., Bush, S.E., Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Gruwell, M.E., Dittmar, K., 2013. Evolution, Multiple Acquisition, and Localization of Endosymbionts in Bat Flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea: Streblidae and Nycteribiidae). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79, 2952–2961. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.03814-12
- Morse, Solon F, Dick, C.W., Patterson, B.D., Dittmard, K., 2012. Some like it hot: Evolution and ecology of novel endosymbionts in bat flies of cave-roosting bats (hippoboscoidea, nycterophiliinae). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 78, 8639– 8649. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02455-12
- Morse, Solon F., Olival, K.J., Kosoy, M., Billeter, S., Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2012a. Global distribution and genetic diversity of Bartonella in bat flies (Hippoboscoidea, Streblidae, Nycteribiidae). Infection, Genetics and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2012.06.009
- Morse, Solon F., Olival, K.J., Kosoy, M., Billeter, S., Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2012b. Global distribution and genetic diversity of Bartonella in bat flies (Hippoboscoidea, Streblidae, Nycteribiidae). Infection, Genetics and Evolution 12, 1717–1723. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2012.06.009
- Morse, S.S., 1993. Examining the origins of emerging viruses, in: Emerging Viruses.
- Mortelliti, A., Fagiani, S., Battisti, C., Capizzi, D., Boitani, L., 2010. Independent effects of habitat loss, habitat fragmentation and structural connectivity on forest-dependent birds. Diversity and Distributions. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2010.00701.x
- Mouillot, D., Krasnov, B.R., I. Shenbrot, G., Poulin, R., 2008a. Connectance and parasite diet breadth in flea-mammal webs. Ecography 31, 16–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2007.0906-7590.05231.x
- Mouillot, D., Krasnov, B.R., Poulin, R., 2008b. High intervality explained by phylogenetic constraints in host parasite webs. Ecology 89, 2043–2051. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-1241.1
- Müller, P., Pflüger, V., Wittwer, M., Ziegler, D., Chandre, F., Simard, F., Lengeler, C., 2013. Identification of Cryptic Anopheles Mosquito Species by Molecular Protein Profiling. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057486
- Muñoz-Leal, S., Eriksson, A., Santos, C.F., Fischer, E., de Almeida, J.C., Luz, H.R., Labruna, M.B., 2016. Ticks infesting bats (Mammalia: Chiroptera) in the Brazilian Pantanal. Experimental and Applied Acarology 69, 73–85. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10493-016-0026-5
- Muñoz-Romo, M., Herrera, E.A., Kunz, T.H., 2008. Roosting behavior and group stability of the big fruit-eating bat Artibeus lituratus (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae). Mammalian Biology 73, 214–221. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mambio.2007.05.013
- Muturi, E.J., Dunlap, C., Ramirez, J.L., Rooney, A.P., Kim, C.H., 2018. Host blood-meal source has a strong impact on gut microbiota of Aedes aegypti. FEMS Microbiology Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1093/femsec/fiy213
- Muylaert, R.L., Stevens, R.D., Ribeiro, M.C., 2016. Threshold effect of habitat loss on bat richness in cerrado-forest landscapes. Ecological Applications 26, 1854–1867. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-1757.1
- Myers, N., Mittermeler, R.A., Mittermeler, C.G., Da Fonseca, G.A.B., Kent, J., 2000. Biodiversity hotspots for conservation priorities. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/35002501
- Mysterud, A., Edmunds, D.R., 2019. A review of chronic wasting disease in North America with implications for Europe. Eur J Wildl Res 65, 26. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10344-019-1260-z
- Mysterud, A., Rolandsen, C.M., 2019. Fencing for wildlife disease control. Journal of Applied Ecology 56, 519–525. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13301
- Nakagawa, S., Freckleton, R.P., 2011. Model averaging, missing data and multiple imputation: a case study for behavioural ecology. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 65, 103–116. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1044-7
- Nechvatal, J.M., Ram, J.L., Basson, M.D., Namprachan, P., Niec, S.R., Badsha, K.Z., Matherly, L.H., Majumdar, A.P.N., Kato, I., 2008. Fecal collection, ambient preservation, and DNA extraction for PCR amplification of bacterial and human markers from human feces. Journal of Microbiological Methods 72, 124–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2007.11.007
- Newman, M.E.J., 2003. The structure and function of complex networks. SIAM Review. https://doi.org/10.1137/S003614450342480
- Nichols, R. V., Königsson, H., Danell, K., Spong, G., 2012. Browsed twig environmental DNA: Diagnostic PCR to identify ungulate species. Molecular Ecology Resources 12, 983–989. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2012.03172.x
- Nielsen, A., Bascompte, J., 2007. Ecological networks, nestedness and sampling effort. Journal of Ecology 95, 1134–1141. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2007.01271.x
- Nielsen, A., Totland, Ø., 2014. Structural properties of mutualistic networks withstand habitat degradation while species functional roles might change. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2013.00644.x

- Nieto, N.C., Khan, K., Uhllah, G., Teglas, M.B., 2012. The emergence and maintenance of vector-borne diseases in the khyber pakhtunkhwa province, and the federally administered tribal areas of Pakistan. Frontiers in Physiology. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2012.00250
- Norman, R., Bowers, R.G., Begon, M., Hudson, P.J., 1999. Persistence of tick-borne virus in the presence of multiple host species: Tick reservoirs and parasite mediated competition. Journal of Theoretical Biology. https://doi.org/10.1006/jtbi.1999.0982
- Ogden, N.H., Lindsay, L.R., 2016. Effects of Climate and Climate Change on Vectors and Vector-Borne Diseases: Ticks Are Different. Trends in Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2016.04.015
- Oksanen, J., Blanchet, F.G., Friendly, M., Kindt, R., Legendre, P., Mcglinn, D., Minchin, P.R., O'hara, R.B., Simpson, G.L., Solymos, P., Henry, M., Stevens, H., Szoecs, E., Maintainer, H.W., 2019. vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-5. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan. Community ecology package.
- Orlova, M. V, Orlov, O.L., Kazakov, D. V, Zhigalin, A. V, 2018. Peculiarities of the Seasonal Biology of Ectoparasites of the Genus Spinturnix von Heyden, 1826 (Mesostigmata: Gamasina: Spinturnicidae) in the Boreal Zone of the Palearctic Region. Biology Bulletin 45, 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1134/S1062359018040118
- Osborne, J.W., Overbay, A., 2004. The power of outliers (and why researchers should ALWAYS check for them). Practical Assessment, Research and Evaluation.
- O'Shea, T.J., Cryan, P.M., Hayman, D.T.S., Plowright, R.K., Streicker, D.G., 2016. Multiple mortality events in bats: A global review. Mammal Review. https://doi.org/10.1111/mam.12064
- Osipova, L., Okello, M.M., Njumbi, S.J., Ngene, S., Western, D., Hayward, M.W., Balkenhol, N., 2018. Fencing solves human-wildlife conflict locally but shifts problems elsewhere: A case study using functional connectivity modelling of the African elephant. Journal of Applied Ecology 55, 2673–2684. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13246

Ostfeld, R.S., 2009. Biodiversity loss and the rise of zoonotic pathogens. Clinical Microbiology and Infection. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2008.02691.x

Padial, J.M., Miralles, A., De la Riva, I., Vences, M., 2010. The integrative future of taxonomy. Frontiers in Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-9994-7-16

- Palumbi, S.R., Ziegler, M., Voolstra, C.R., Yum, L.K., Seneca, F.O., 2017. Bacterial community dynamics are linked to patterns of coral heat tolerance. Nature Communications 8, 14213. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms14213
- Pardini, R., 2004. Effects of forest fragmentation on small mammals in an Atlantic Forest landscape. Biodiversity and Conservation 13, 2567–2586. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:BIOC.0000048452.18878.2d

Pardini, R., de Bueno, A.A., Gardner, T.A., Prado, P.I., Metzger, J.P., 2010. Beyond the fragmentation threshold hypothesis: Regime shifts in biodiversity across fragmented landscapes. PLoS ONE 5, e13666. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013666

- Parker, J., Helmstetter, A.J., Devey, D., Wilkinson, T., Papadopulos, A.S.T., 2017. Field-based species identification of closelyrelated plants using real-time nanopore sequencing. Scientific Reports 7, 8345. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-08461-5
- Patrício, P.M.P., Lourenço, E.C., Freitas, A.Q. de, Famadas, K.M., 2016. Correlação entre as condições morfofisiológicas do hospedeiro e fatores abióticos ambientais com a prevalência e intensidade de moscas (Streblidae) em artibeus leach, 1821 (phyllostomidae). Ciencia Rural 46, 648–653. https://doi.org/10.1590/0103-8478cr20150091
- Pătru-Stupariu, I., Nita, A., Mustățea, M., Huzui-Stoiculescu, A., Fürst, C., 2020. Using social network methodological approach to better understand human–wildlife interactions. Land Use Policy. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2020.105009
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Bush, S.E., Gruwell, M.E., Dittmar, K., Morse, S.F., 2013a. Evolution, Multiple Acquisition, and Localization of Endosymbionts in Bat Flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea: Streblidae and Nycteribiidae). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79, 2952–2961. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.03814-12
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Bush, S.E., Gruwell, M.E., Dittmar, K., Morse, S.F., 2013b. Evolution, Multiple Acquisition, and Localization of Endosymbionts in Bat Flies (Diptera: Hippoboscoidea: Streblidae and Nycteribiidae). Applied and Environmental Microbiology 79, 2952–2961. https://doi.org/10.1128/aem.03814-12
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2009. Nested distributions of bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae) on Neotropical bats: Artifact and specificity in host-parasite studies. Ecography 32, 481–487. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2008.05727.x
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2008a. Sex biases in parasitism of neotropical bats by bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae). Journal of Tropical Ecology 24, 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467408005117
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2008b. Parasitism by bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae) on neotropical bats: Effects of host body size, distribution, and abundance. Parasitology Research 103, 1091–1100. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-008-1097-y
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2008c. Parasitism by bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae) on neotropical bats: Effects of host body size, distribution, and abundance. Parasitology Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-008-1097-y
- Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2008d. Sex biases in parasitism of neotropical bats by bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae). Journal of Tropical Ecology 24, 387–396. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467408005117

Patterson, B.D., Dick, C.W., Dittmar, K., 2007. Roosting habits of bats affect their parasitism by bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae). Journal of Tropical Ecology 23, 177–189. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467406003816

Patz, J.A., Graczyk, T.K., Geller, N., Vittor, A.Y., 2000. Effects of environmental change on emerging parasitic diseases. International Journal for Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0020-7519(00)00141-7

- Pearson, S.K., Tobe, S.S., Fusco, D.A., Bull, C.M., Gardner, M.G., 2014. Piles of scats for piles of DNA: Deriving DNA of lizards from their faeces. Australian Journal of Zoology 62, 507–514. https://doi.org/10.1071/ZO14059
- Peay, K.G., Bruns, T.D., Kennedy, P.G., Bergemann, S.E., Garbelotto, M., 2007. A strong species-area relationship for eukaryotic soil microbes: Island size matters for ectomycorrhizal fungi. Ecology Letters 10, 470–480. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2007.01035.x
- Perkins, S.L., 2000. Species concepts and malaria parasites: Detecting a cryptic species of Plasmodium. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2000.1290
- Perofsky, A.C., Lewis, R.J., Abondano, L.A., Difiore, A., Meyers, L.A., 2017. Hierarchical social networks shape gut microbial composition in wild verreaux's sifaka. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 284, 20172274. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2017.2274

- Perotto-Baldivieso, H.L., Ben Wu, X., Peterson, M.J., Smeins, F.E., Silvy, N.J., Wayne Schwertner, T., 2011. Flooding-induced landscape changes along dendritic stream networks and implications for wildlife habitat. Landscape and Urban Planning. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2010.09.002
- Peterson, R.L., Kirmse, P., 1969. Notes on Vampyrum spectrum, the false vampire bat, in Panama. Canadian Journal of Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1139/z69-025

Pfunder, M., Holzgang, O., Frey, J.E., 2004. Development of microarray-based diagnostics of voles and shrews for use in biodiversity monitoring studies, and evaluation of mitochondrial cytochrome oxidase I vs. cytochrome b as genetic markers. Molecular Ecology 13, 1277–1286. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02126.x

- Piksa, K., Nowak-Chmura, M., Siuda, K., 2013. First case of human infestation by the tick Ixodes vespertilionis (Acari: Ixodidae). International Journal of Acarology. https://doi.org/10.1080/01647954.2012.737831
- Pilosof, S., Dick, C.W., Korine, C., Patterson, B.D., Krasnov, B.R., 2012a. Effects of Anthropogenic Disturbance and Climate on Patterns of Bat Fly Parasitism. PLOS ONE 7, e41487. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041487
- Pilosof, S., Dick, C.W., Korine, C., Patterson, B.D., Krasnov, B.R., 2012b. Effects of Anthropogenic disturbance and climate on patterns of bat fly parasitism. PLoS ONE 7, e41487. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0041487
- Platto, S., Zhou, J., Wang, Y., Wang, H., Carafoli, E., 2020. Biodiversity loss and COVID-19 pandemic: The role of bats in the origin and the spreading of the disease. Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2020.10.028
- Plowright, R.K., Parrish, C.R., McCallum, H., Hudson, P.J., Ko, A.I., Graham, A.L., Lloyd-Smith, J.O., 2017. Pathways to zoonotic spillover. Nature Reviews Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro.2017.45
- Poinar, G., 2020. Could Arthropod Vectors Play a Role in the Spread of COVID-19? Biosis:Biological Systems. https://doi.org/10.37819/biosis.001.002.0052
- Pollock, D.D., 2002. Genomic biodiversity, phylogenetics and coevolution in proteins. Applied bioinformatics.
- Pomerantz, A., Peñafiel, N., Arteaga, A., Bustamante, L., Pichardo, F., Coloma, L.A., Barrio-Amorós, C.L., Salazar-Valenzuela, D., Prost, S., 2018. Real-time DNA barcoding in a rainforest using nanopore sequencing: Opportunities for rapid biodiversity assessments and local capacity building. GigaScience. https://doi.org/10.1093/gigascience/giy033
- Pomerantz, A., Peñafiel, N., Arteaga, A., Bustamante, L., Pichardo, F., Coloma, L.A., Barrio--amorós, C.L., Salazar--valenzuela, D., Prost, S., 2010. real-time dna barcoding in a remote rainforest using nanopore sequencing 3468–3470. https://doi.org/10.1101/189159
- Porter, F.L., 1978. Roosting Patterns and Social Behavior in Captive Carollia perspicillata. Journal of Mammalogy 59, 627–630. https://doi.org/10.2307/1380245
- Poulin, R., 2011. Evolutionary Ecology of Parasites, Evolutionary Ecology of Parasites. Princeton University Press.
- Poulin, R., 2010. Decay of similarity with host phylogenetic distance in parasite faunas. Parasitology.
- https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182009991491
- Poulin, R., 1996. Measuring parasite aggregation: defending the index of discrepancy. International journal for parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/0020-7519(95)00117-4
- Poulin, R., Krasnov, B.R., Mouillot, D., 2011. Host specificity in phylogenetic and geographic space. Trends in Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2011.05.003
- Poulin, R., Morand, S., 1999. Geographical distances and the similarity among parasite communities of conspecific host populations. Parasitology 119, 369–374. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182099004795
- Poulin, R., Renaud, F., Thomas, F., Michalakis, Y., Guégan, J.-F., 2002. Are there Pros as well as Cons to being Parasitized? Parasitology Today 16, 533–536. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0169-4758(00)01790-7
- Presley, S.J., 2011. Interspecific aggregation of ectoparasites on bats: Importance of hosts as habitats supersedes interspecific interactions. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2010.19199.x
- Presley, S.J., Cisneros, L.M., Patterson, B.D., Willig, M.R., 2012. Vertebrate metacommunity structure along an extensive elevational gradient in the tropics: A comparison of bats, rodents and birds. Global Ecology and Biogeography 21, 968– 976. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2011.00738.x
- Presley, S.J., Higgins, C.L., López-González, C., Stevens, R.D., 2009. Elements of metacommunity structure of Paraguayan bats: Multiple gradients require analysis of multiple ordination axes. Oecologia 160, 781–793. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00442-009-1341-x
- Presley, S.J., Willig, M.R., 2010. Bat metacommunity structure on Caribbean islands and the role of endemics. Global Ecology and Biogeography. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2009.00505.x
- Presley, S.J., Willig, M.R., 2008. Intraspecific patterns of ectoparasite abundances on Paraguayan bats: Effects of host sex and body size. Journal of Tropical Ecology 24, 75–83. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0266467407004683
- Price, M.N., Dehal, P.S., Arkin, A.P., 2010. FastTree 2 Approximately maximum-likelihood trees for large alignments. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0009490
- Procheş, Ş., 2005. The world's biogeographical regions: Cluster analyses based on bat distributions. Journal of Biogeography 32, 607–614. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2004.01186.x
- Proulx, S.R., Promislow, D.E.L., Phillips, P.C., 2005. Network thinking in ecology and evolution. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2005.04.004
- Prugh, L.R., Hodges, K.E., Sinclair, A.R.E., Brashares, J.S., 2008. Effect of habitat area and isolation on fragmented animal populations. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105, 20770–20775. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0806080105
- Qiagen, 2006. QIAGEN Supplementary Protocol: Purification of total DNA from insects using the DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit. Blood.
- Quick, J., Grubaugh, N.D., Pullan, S.T., Claro, I.M., Smith, A.D., Gangavarapu, K., Oliveira, G., Robles-Sikisaka, R., Rogers, T.F., Beutler, N.A., Burton, D.R., Lewis-Ximenez, L.L., de Jesus, J.G., Giovanetti, M., Hill, S.C., Black, A., Bedford, T., Carroll, M.W., Nunes, M., Alcantara, L.C., Sabino, E.C., Baylis, S.A., Faria, N.R., Loose, M., Simpson, J.T., Pybus, O.G., Andersen, K.G., Loman, N.J., 2017. Multiplex PCR method for MinION and Illumina sequencing of Zika and other virus genomes directly from clinical samples. Nature Protocols 12, 1261–1276. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2017.066
- R Core Team, 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. http://www.R-project.org/. [WWW Document]. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74686-7

R Development Core Team, R., 2011. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing, R Foundation for Statistical Computing. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74686-7

Rabozzi, G., Bonizzi, L., Crespi, E., Somaruga, C., Sokooti, M., Tabibi, R., Vellere, F., Brambilla, G., Colosio, C., 2012. Emerging zoonoses: The "one health approach." Safety and Health at Work. https://doi.org/10.5491/SHAW.2012.3.1.77

Ramaprasad, A., Pain, A., Ravasi, T., 2012. Defining the protein interaction network of human malaria parasite Plasmodium falciparum. Genomics. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ygeno.2011.11.006

- Ramírez-Hernández, G., Suazo-Ortuño, I., Alvarado-Díaz, J., Escalera-Vázquez, L.H., Maldonado-López, Y., Tafolla-Venegas, D., 2019. Effects of habitat disturbance on parasite infection and stress of the endangered mexican stream salamander ambystoma ordinarium. Salamandra.
- Ranjan, K., Prasad, M., Prasad, G., 2016. Bats: carriers of zoonotic viral and emerging infectious diseases. Journal of Experimental Biology and Agricultural Sciences 4, 291–306. https://doi.org/10.18006/2016.4(3s).291.306
- Ranta, P., Blom, T., Niemelä, J., Joensuu, E., Siitonen, M., 1998. The fragmented Atlantic rain forest of Brazil: Size, shape and distribution of forest fragments. Biodiversity and Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1008885813543
- Ratnasingham, S., Hebert, P.D.N., 2013. A DNA-Based Registry for All Animal Species: The Barcode Index Number (BIN) System. PLoS ONE 8, e66213. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0066213
- Reckardt, K., Kerth, G., 2009a. Does the mode of transmission between hosts affect the host choice strategies of parasites? Implications from a field study on bat fly and wing mite infestation of Bechstein's bats. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16950.x
- Reckardt, K., Kerth, G., 2009b. Does the mode of transmission between hosts affect the host choice strategies of parasites? Implications from a field study on bat fly and wing mite infestation of Bechstein's bats. Oikos 118, 183–190. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16950.x
- Reeves, W.K., Beck, J., Orlova, M. V., Daly, J.L., Pippin, K., Revan, F., Loftis, A.D., 2016. Ecology of Bats, Their Ectoparasites, and Associated Pathogens on Saint Kitts Island. Journal of Medical Entomology. https://doi.org/10.1093/jme/tjw078
- Reeves, W.K., Rogers, T.E., Durden, L.A., Dasch, G.A., 2007. Association of Bartonella with the fleas (Siphonaptera) of rodents and bats using molecular techniques. Journal of vector ecology : journal of the Society for Vector Ecology 32, 118–122. https://doi.org/10.3376/1081-1710(2007)32[118:AOBWTF]2.0.CO;2
- Reiczigel, J., Marozzi, M., Fábián, I., Rózsa, L., 2019. Biostatistics for Parasitologists A Primer to Quantitative Parasitology. Trends in Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2019.01.003
- Reid, F., 1997. A Field Guide to the Mammals of Central America and Southeast Mexico. Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1644/11-MAMM-R-008.1
- Reis, N.R., Fregonezi, M.N., Peracchi, A.L., Shibatta, A.O., 2013. Morcegos do Brasil: Guia de Campo, Technical Books. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Renwick, A.R., Lambin, X., 2013. Host–parasite interactions in a fragmented landscape. International Journal for Parasitology 43, 27–35. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpara.2012.10.012
- Resasco, J., Bitters, M.E., Cunningham, S.A., Jones, H.I., McKenzie, V.J., Davies, K.F., 2019. Experimental habitat fragmentation disrupts nematode infections in Australian skinks. Ecology 100. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecy.2547
- Rezende, C.L., Scarano, F.R., Assad, E.D., Joly, C.A., Metzger, J.P., Strassburg, B.B.N., Tabarelli, M., Fonseca, G.A., Mittermeier, R.A., 2018. From hotspot to hopespot: An opportunity for the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Perspectives in Ecology and Conservation 16, 208–214. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pecon.2018.10.002
- Ribeiro, M.C., Metzger, J.P., Martensen, A.C., Ponzoni, F.J., Hirota, M.M., 2009. The Brazilian Atlantic Forest: How much is left, and how is the remaining forest distributed? Implications for conservation. Biological Conservation 142, 1141–1153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.02.021
- Ribes, M., Calvo, E., Movilla, J., Logares, R., Coma, R., Pelejero, C., 2016. Restructuring of the sponge microbiome favors tolerance to ocean acidification. Environmental Microbiology Reports 8, 536–544. https://doi.org/10.1111/1758-2229.12430
- Richards, S.A., 2008. Dealing with overdispersed count data in applied ecology. Journal of Applied Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2007.01377.x
- Richards, S.A., 2005. Testing ecological theory using the information-theoretic approach: Examples and cautionary results. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/05-0074

Rigaud, T., Perrot-Minnot, M.J., Brown, M.J., 2010. Parasite and host assemblages: embracing the reality will improve our knowledge of parasite transmission and virulence. Proc Biol Sci 277, 3693–3702. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2010.1163

- Rinehart, J.B., Kunz, T.H., 2006. Rhinophylla pumilio. Mammalian Species. https://doi.org/10.1644/791.1
- Riplley, B., Venables, B., Bates, D.M., Firth, D., Hornik, K., Gebhardt, A., 2018. Package "MASS". Support Functions and Datasets for Venables and Ripley's MASS. Document freely available on the internet at: http://www.r-project.org.
- Rivera-Hutinel, A., Bustamante, R.O., Marín, V.H., Medel, R., 2012. Effects of sampling completeness on the structure of plantpollinator networks. Ecology 93, 1593–1603. https://doi.org/10.1890/11-1803.1
- Rocha, R., Ferreira, D.F., López-Baucells, A., Farneda, F.Z., Carreiras, J.M.B., Palmeirim, J.M., Meyer, C.F.J., 2017. Does sex matter? Gender-specific responses to forest fragmentation in Neotropical bats. Biotropica 49, 881–890. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12474
- Rodrigues, R.R., Gandolfi, S., Nave, A.G., Aronson, J., Barreto, T.E., Vidal, C.Y., Brancalion, P.H.S., 2011. Large-scale ecological restoration of high-diversity tropical forests in SE Brazil. Forest Ecology and Management. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2010.07.005
- Rohr, J.R., Civitello, D.J., Halliday, F.W., Hudson, P.J., Lafferty, K.D., Wood, C.L., Mordecai, E.A., 2020. Towards common ground in the biodiversity–disease debate. Nature Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41559-019-1060-6
- Roland, J., 1993a. Large-scale forest fragmentation increases the duration of tent caterpillar outbreak. Oecologia 93, 25–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00321186
- Roland, J., 1993b. Large-scale forest fragmentation increases the duration of tent caterpillar outbreak. Oecologia. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00321186
- Ronaghi, M., NAcidQtif, I., Invitrogen, Roche 454 Life Sciences, Beckman Coulter, Roche 454 Life Sciences, Ruiz, A., Llort, G., Yagüe, C., Baena, N., Viñas, M., Torra, M., Brunet, A., Seguí, M. a, Saigí, E., Guitart, M., Beckman Coulter, 2011. Agencourt AMPure XP. Www.My454.Com. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/542541

- Rosà, R., Pugliese, A., Norman, R., Hudson, P.J., 2003. Thresholds for disease persistence in models for tick-borne infections including non-viraemic transmission, extended feeding and tick aggregation. Journal of Theoretical Biology. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-5193(03)00173-5
- Rosindell, J., Hubbell, S.P., Etienne, R.S., 2011. The Unified Neutral Theory of Biodiversity and Biogeography at Age Ten. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.03.024

Rosso, A.A., Nicholson, D.J., Logan, M.L., Chung, A.K., Curlis, J.D., Degon, Z.M., Knell, R.J., Garner, T.W.J., McMillan, W.O., Cox, C.L., 2020. Sex-biased parasitism and expression of a sexual signal. Biological Journal of the Linnean Society 131, 785–800. https://doi.org/10.1093/biolinnean/blaa162

Rottstock, T., Joshi, J., Kummer, V., Fischer, M., 2014. Higher plant diversity promotes higher diversity of fungal pathogens, while it decreases pathogen infection per plant. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2317.1

Rudnick, A., 1960. A revision of the mites of the family spintunicidae (Acarina). University of California Press 17, 157–283. Ruiz-Sánchez, A., Renton, K., Rueda-Hernández, R., 2017. Winter habitat disturbance influences density and territory size of a

- Neotropical migratory warbler. Journal of Ornithology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10336-016-1368-9 Rulli, M.C., Santini, M., Hayman, D.T.S., D'Odorico, P., 2017. The nexus between forest fragmentation in Africa and Ebola virus
- disease outbreaks. Scientific Reports. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41613 Sakakibara, 2014. COMPARISON OF FIVE EXACT CONFIDENCE INTERVALS FOR THE BINOMIAL PROPORTION. American Journal of Biostatistics 4, 11–20. https://doi.org/10.3844/amjbsp.2014.11.20
- Salah Uddin Khan, M., Hossain, J., Gurley, E.S., Nahar, N., Sultana, R., Luby, S.P., 2010. Use of Infrared Camera to Understand Bats' Access to Date Palm Sap: Implications for Preventing Nipah Virus Transmission. EcoHealth 7, 517–525. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-010-0366-2
- Saldaña-Vázquez, R.A., Castro-Luna, A.A., Sandoval-Ruiz, C.A., Hernández-Montero, J.R., Stoner, K.E., 2013. Population composition and ectoparasite prevalence on bats (Sturnira Ludovici; Phyllostomidae) in forest fragments and coffee plantations of Central Veracruz, Mexico. Biotropica 45, 351–356. https://doi.org/10.1111/btp.12007
- Saldaña-Vázquez, R.A., Sandoval-Ruiz, C.A., Veloz-Maldonado, O.S., Durán, A.A., Ramírez-Martínez, M.M., 2019. Host ecology moderates the specialization of Neotropical bat-fly interaction networks. Parasitology Research 118, 2919–2924. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-019-06452-1
- Salinas-Ramos, V.B., Zaldívar-Riverón, A., Rebollo-Hernández, A., Herrera-M, L.G., 2018. Seasonal variation of bat-flies (Diptera: Streblidae) in four bat species from a tropical dry forest. Mammalia. https://doi.org/10.1515/mammalia-2016-0176
- Sánchez-Hernández, C., Romero-Almaraz, M.D.L., 2003. REDESCRIPTION OF STURNIRA LILIUM LILIUM AND STURNIRA LILIUM PARVIDENS (CHIROPTERA: PHYLLOSTOMIDAE). The Southwestern Naturalist. https://doi.org/10.1894/0038-4909(2003)048<0437:roslla>2.0.co;2
- Santos de Araujo, W., 2019. Evaluating the network structure of different Neotropical plant-plant interactions. Network Biology 9, 18–27.
- Santos, C.L.C. dos, Pereira, A.C.N., Bastos, V. de J.C., Graciolli, G., Rebêlo, J.M.M., 2013. Parasitism of ectoparasitic flies on bats in the northern Brazilian cerrado. Acta Parasitologica 58, 207–214. https://doi.org/10.2478/s11686-013-0135-9
- Santos-Garcia, D., Juravel, K., Freilich, S., Zchori-Fein, E., Latorre, A., Moya, A., Morin, S., Silva, F.J., 2018. To B or not to B: Comparative genomics suggests Arsenophonusas a source of B vitamins in whiteflies. Frontiers in Microbiology 9, 2254. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2018.02254
- Sarmento, R., Alves-Costa, C.P., Ayub, A., Mello, M. a. R.R., 2014. Partitioning of seed dispersal services between birds and bats in a fragment of the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Zoologia in press, 245–255. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702014000300006
- Schalk, G., Forbes, M.R., 1997. Male Biases in Parasitism of Mammals: Effects of Study Type, Host Age, and Parasite Taxon. Oikos. https://doi.org/10.2307/3545801
- Schloss, P.D., Westcott, S.L., Ryabin, T., Hall, J.R., Hartmann, M., Hollister, E.B., Lesniewski, R.A., Oakley, B.B., Parks, D.H., Robinson, C.J., Sahl, J.W., Stres, B., Thallinger, G.G., Van Horn, D.J., Weber, C.F., 2009. Introducing mothur: Opensource, platform-independent, community-supported software for describing and comparing microbial communities. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.01541-09
- Schmidt, K., Mwaigwisya, S., Crossman, L.C., Doumith, M., Munroe, D., Pires, C., M. Khan, A., Woodford, N., Saunders, N.J., Wain, J., O'Grady, J., Livermore, D.M., 2017. Identification of bacterial pathogens and antimicrobial resistance directly from clinical urines by nanopore-based metagenomic sequencing. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkw397
- Schwanz, L.E., 2006. Schistosome infection in deer mice (Peromyscus maniculatus): impacts on host physiology, behavior and energetics. Journal of Experimental Biology. https://doi.org/10.1242/jeb.02601
- Schwarz, R.S., Moran, N.A., Evans, J.D., 2016. Early gut colonizers shape parasite susceptibility and microbiota composition in honey bee workers. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 9345–9350. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1606631113
- Seah, A., Lim, M.C.W., McAloose, D., Prost, S., Seimon, T.A., 2020. Minion-based DNA barcoding of preserved and non-invasively collected wildlife samples. Genes. https://doi.org/10.3390/genes11040445
- Sebaio, F., Braga, É.M., Branquinho, F., Manica, L.T., Marini, M.Â., 2010. Blood parasites in Brazilian Atlantic forest birds: effects of fragment size and habitat dependency. Bird Conservation International 20, 432–439. https://doi.org/doi:10.1017/S0959270910000110
- Seifert, K.A., 2009. Progress towards DNA barcoding of fungi. Molecular Ecology Resources. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2009.02635.x
- Seifertová, M., Vyskočilová, M., Morand, S., Šimková, A., 2008. Metazoan parasites of freshwater cyprinid fish (Leuciscus cephalus): Testing biogeographical hypotheses of species diversity. Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182008004812
- Seltmann, A., Czirják, G., Courtiol, A., Bernard, H., Struebig, M.J., Voigt, C.C., 2017. Habitat disturbance results in chronic stress and impaired health status in forest-dwelling paleotropical bats. Conservation Physiology 5. https://doi.org/10.1093/conphys/cox020
- Seo, S., Gary M. Marsh, P.D., 2006. A review and comparison of methods for detecting outliers univariate data sets. Department of Biostatistics, Graduate School of Public Health.

Shah, H.A., Huxley, P., Elmes, J., Murray, K.A., 2019. Agricultural land-uses consistently exacerbate infectious disease risks in Southeast Asia. Nat Commun 10, 4299. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-019-12333-z

Shelford, V.E., 1931. Some Concepts of Bioecology. Ecology 12, 455-467. https://doi.org/10.2307/1928991

Shereen, M.A., Khan, S., Kazmi, A., Bashir, N., Siddique, R., 2020. COVID-19 infection: Origin, transmission, and characteristics of human coronaviruses. Journal of Advanced Research. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jare.2020.03.005

Shilton, L.A., Altringham, J.D., Compton, S.G., Whittaker, R.J., 1999. Old World fruit bats can be long-distance seed dispersers through extended retention of viable seeds in the gut. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 266, 219. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1999.0625

Shmida, A., Wilson, M. V., 1985. Biological Determinants of Species Diversity. Journal of Biogeography.

https://doi.org/10.2307/2845026

- Shockley, F.W., Murray, K.L., 2006. Discovery of a parasitoid and a predator of bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae) at La Selva, Costa Rica. Biotropica 38, 789–790. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2006.00207.x
- Sikes, R.S., 2016. 2016 Guidelines of the American Society of Mammalogists for the use of wild mammals in research and education. Journal of Mammalogy. https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyw078
- Silva, J.M.C., Casteleti, C.H.M., 2003. Status of the biodiversity of the Atlantic Forest of Brazil, in: The Atlantic Forest of South America: Biodiversity, Status, Trends, and Outlook.
- Silva, M.G., Tabarelli, M., 2001. Seed dispersal, plant recruitment and spatial distribution of Bactris acanthocarpa Martius (Arecaceae) in a remnant of Atlantic forest in northeast Brazil. Acta Oecologica. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1146-609X(01)01117-1
- Simberloff, D.S., Wilson, E.O., 1969. Experimental Zoogeography of Islands: The Colonization of Empty Islands. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/1934856
- Sohi, H.S., Sandhu, B.S., Brar, A.P.S., Narang, D., 2020. Intradermal rabies vaccination: An efficient and economical method of rabies prevention in cattle. Indian Journal of Veterinary Pathology 44, 35. https://doi.org/10.5958/0973-970X.2020.00007.3
- Soininen, J., 2014. A quantitative analysis of species sorting across organisms and ecosystems. Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-2228.1
- Sokal, R.R., 1958. A statistical method for evaluating systematic relationships. Univ Kans Sci Bull.
- Sokolow, S.H., Nova, N., Pepin, K.M., Peel, A.J., Pulliam, J.R.C., Manlove, K., Cross, P.C., Becker, D.J., Plowright, R.K., McCallum, H., De Leo, G.A., 2019. Ecological interventions to prevent and manage zoonotic pathogen spillover. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 374, 20180342. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2018.0342
- SOS Mata Atlântica, INPE, 2019. Atlas dos Remanescentes Florestais da Mata Atlântica, 2017-2018, Atlas dos Remanescentes Florestais da Mata Atlântica.
- Speer, K.A., Teixeira, T., Brown, A., Perkins, S., Dittmar, K., Ingala, M., Wultsch, C., Krampis, K., Dick, C., Vieira, M., Delciellos, A., Galen, S., Simmons, N., Clare, E., 2020. Parasite species identity and local community diversity mediate effects of habitat fragmentation on bacterial microbiomes. Authorea Preprints 1–27. https://doi.org/10.22541/AU.159200503.35915032
- Spielman, A., 2017. The Ecology of Ectoparasitic Insects. The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene 31, 1300–1301. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.1982.31.1300
- Stading, B., Ellison, J.A., Carson, W.C., Satheshkumar, P.S., Rocke, T.E., Osorio, J.E., 2017. Protection of bats (Eptesicus fuscus) against rabies following topical or oronasal exposure to a recombinant raccoon poxvirus vaccine. PLoS Neglected Tropical Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0005958
- Steffens, T.S., Lehman, S.M., 2018. Lemur species-specific metapopulation responses to habitat loss and fragmentation. PLoS ONE 13, e0195791. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0195791
- Stegen, G., Pasmans, F., Schmidt, B.R., Rouffaer, L.O., Van Praet, S., Schaub, M., Canessa, S., Laudelout, A., Kinet, T., Adriaensen, C., Haesebrouck, F., Bert, W., Bossuyt, F., Martel, A., 2017. Drivers of salamander extirpation mediated by Batrachochytrium salamandrivorans. Nature 544, 353–356. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22059
- Streicker, D.G., Recuenco, S., Valderrama, W., Benavides, J.G., Vargas, I., Pacheco, V., Condori Condori, R.E., Montgomery, J., Rupprecht, C.E., Rohani, P., Altizer, S., 2012. Ecological and anthropogenic drivers of rabies exposure in vampire bats: Implications for transmission and control. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2012.0538
- Stuckey, M.J., Chomel, B.B., de Fleurieu, E.C., Aguilar-Setién, A., Boulouis, H.J., Chang, C. chin, 2017. Bartonella, bats and bugs: A review. Comparative Immunology, Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cimid.2017.09.001
- Sugiura, N., 1978. Further Analysis of the Data by Anaike' S Information Criterion and the Finite Corrections. Communications in Statistics Theory and Methods. https://doi.org/10.1080/03610927808827599
- Sugiura, S., 2010. Species interactions-area relationships: Biological invasions and network structure in relation to island area, in: Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2009.2086
- Suwannarong, Kanokwan, Balthip, K., Kanthawee, P., Suwannarong, Kangsadal, Khiewkhern, S., Lantican, C., Ponlap, T., Bupha, N., Amonsin, A., 2020. Bats and belief: A sequential qualitative study in Thailand. Heliyon 6, e04208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04208
- Svensson-Coelho, M., Ricklefs, R.E., 2011. Host phylogeography and beta diversity in avian haemosporidian (Plasmodiidae) assemblages of the Lesser Antilles. Journal of Animal Ecology 80, 938–946. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01837.x
- Swei, A., Kwan, J.Y., 2017a. Tick microbiome and pathogen acquisition altered by host blood meal. ISME Journal 11, 813–816. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.152
- Swei, A., Kwan, J.Y., 2017b. Tick microbiome and pathogen acquisition altered by host blood meal. ISME Journal 11, 813–816. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2016.152
- Symonds, M.R.E., Moussalli, A., 2011. A brief guide to model selection, multimodel inference and model averaging in behavioural ecology using Akaike's information criterion. Behavioral Ecology and Sociobiology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00265-010-1037-6
- Szentiványi, T., Christe, P., Glaizot, O., 2019. Bat Flies and Their Microparasites: Current Knowledge and Distribution. Frontiers in Veterinary Science 6, 115. https://doi.org/10.3389/fvets.2019.00115

- Szubert-Kruszyńska, A., Stańczak, J., Cieniuch, S., Podsiadły, E., Postawa, T., Michalik, J., 2019. Bartonella and Rickettsia Infections in Haematophagous Spinturnix myoti Mites (Acari: Mesostigmata) and their Bat Host, Myotis myotis (Yangochiroptera: Vespertilionidae), from Poland. Microbial Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00248-018-1246-5
- Tabanez, A.A.J., Viana, V.M., 2000. Patch structure within Brazilian Atlantic Forest fragments and implications for conservation. Biotropica. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1744-7429.2000.tb00630.x
- Tabarelli, M., Pinto, L.P., Silva, J.M.C., Hirota, M., Bede, L., 2005. Challenges and Opportunities for Biodiversity Conservation in the Brazilian Atlantic Forest. Conservation Biology 19, 695–700. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.2005.00694.x
- Taberlet, P., Prud'Homme, S.M., Campione, E., Roy, J., Miquel, C., Shehzad, W., Gielly, L., Rioux, D., Choler, P., Clément, J.C., Melodelima, C., Pompanon, F., Coissac, E., 2012. Soil sampling and isolation of extracellular DNA from large amount of starting material suitable for metabarcoding studies. Molecular Ecology 21, 1816–1820. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2011.05317.x
- Tadiri, C.P., Dargent, F., Scott, M.E., 2013. Relative host body condition and food availability influence epidemic dynamics: A Poecilia reticulata-Gyrodactylus turnbulli host-parasite model. Parasitology 140, 343–351. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182012001667
- Tahir, D., Socolovschi, C., Marié, J.-L., Ganay, G., Berenger, J.-M., Bompar, J.-M., Blanchet, D., Cheuret, M., Mediannikov, O., Raoult, D., Davoust, B., Parola, P., 2016. New Rickettsia species in soft ticks Ornithodoros hasei collected from bats in French Guiana. Ticks and Tick-borne Diseases 7, 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2016.09.004
- Tait, J., Perotto-Baldivieso, H.L., McKeown, A., Westcott, D.A., 2014. Are flying-foxes coming to town? Urbanisation of the spectacled flying-fox (Pteropus conspicillatus) in Australia. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109810
- Teixeira, T.S.M., 2019a. Bats in a fragmented world.
- Teixeira, T.S.M., 2019b. Bats in a fragmented world. Queen Mary University of London.
- Teixeira, T.S.M., Weber, M.M., Dias, D., Lorini, M.L., Esbérard, C.E.L., Novaes, R.L.M., Cerqueira, R., Vale, M.M., 2014. Combining environmental suitability and habitat connectivity to map rare or Data Deficient species in the Tropics. Journal for Nature Conservation 22, 384–390. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnc.2014.04.001
- ter Braak, C.J.F., Verdonschot, P.F.M., 1995. Canonical correspondence analysis and related multivariate methods in aquatic ecology. Aquatic Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00877430
- ter Hofstede, H.M., Fenton, M.B., Whitaker, Jr., J.O., 2004. Host and host-site specificity of bat flies (Diptera: Streblidae and Nycteribiidae) on Neotropical bats (Chiroptera). Canadian Journal of Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1139/z04-030
- Thamm, S., Kalko, E.K.V., Wells, K., 2009. Ectoparasite infestations of hedgehogs (Erinaceus europaeus) are associated with smallscale landscape structures in an urban-suburban environment. EcoHealth. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10393-009-0268-3
- Thao, M.L.L., Baumann, P., 2004. Evidence for Multiple Acquisition of Arsenophonus by Whitefly Species (Sternorrhyncha: Aleyrodidae). Current Microbiology 48, 140–144. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00284-003-4157-7
- Thébault, E., 2013. Identifying compartments in presence-absence matrices and bipartite networks: Insights into modularity measures. Journal of Biogeography. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12015
- Thompson, C.C., da Fonseca, É.L., Vicente, A.C.P., 2011. Verrucomicrobia in Brazilian Atlantic forest soil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02838-10
- Thongsripong, P., Chandler, J.A., Green, A.B., Kittayapong, P., Wilcox, B.A., Kapan, D.D., Bennett, S.N., 2018. Mosquito vectorassociated microbiota: Metabarcoding bacteria and eukaryotic symbionts across habitat types in Thailand endemic for dengue and other arthropod-borne diseases. Ecology and Evolution 8, 1352–1368. https://doi.org/10.1002/ece3.3676
- Thornton, D.H., Branch, L.C., Sunquist, M.E., 2011. The influence of landscape, patch, and within-patch factors on species presence and abundance: A review of focal patch studies. Landscape Ecology 26, 7–18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-010-9549-z
- Thrush, S.F., Halliday, J., Hewitt, J.E., Lohrer, A.M., 2008. The effects of habitat loss, fragmentation, and community homogenization on resilience in estuaries. Ecological Applications 18, 12–21. https://doi.org/10.1890/07-0436.1
- Tilman, D., Clark, M., Williams, D.R., Kimmel, K., Polasky, S., Packer, C., 2017. Future threats to biodiversity and pathways to their prevention. Nature. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature22900
- Tinsley, M.C., Blanford, S., Jiggins, F.M., 2006. Genetic variation in Drosophila melanogaster pathogen susceptibility. Parasitology 132, 767–773. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182006009929
- Tipton, V.J., Wenzel, R.L., 2011. Ectoparasites of Panama. Rupert L. Wenzel [and] Vernon J. Tipton, editors., Ectoparasites of Panama. Rupert L. Wenzel [and] Vernon J. Tipton, editors. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.title.2633
- Tiwari, R., Dhama, K., Sharun, K., Iqbal Yatoo, M., Malik, Y.S., Singh, R., Michalak, I., Sah, R., Bonilla-Aldana, D.K., Rodriguez-Morales, A.J., 2020. COVID-19: animals, veterinary and zoonotic links. Veterinary Quarterly. https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2020.1766725
- Tollington, S., Kareemun, Z., Augustin, A., Lallchand, K., Tatayah, V., Zimmermann, A., 2019. Quantifying the damage caused by fruit bats to backyard lychee trees in Mauritius and evaluating the benefits of protective netting. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0220955
- Tompkins, D.M., Carver, S., Jones, M.E., Krkošek, M., Skerratt, L.F., 2015. Emerging infectious diseases of wildlife: A critical perspective. Trends in Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pt.2015.01.007
- Tonkin, J.D., Stoll, S., Jähnig, S.C., Haase, P., 2016. Elements of metacommunity structure of river and riparian assemblages: Communities, taxonomic groups and deconstructed trait groups. Ecological Complexity 25, 35–43. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecocom.2015.12.002
- Torres, J.M., Urbieta, G.L., Almeida, L.B.M. de, Soares, D.K.F., Anjos, E.A.C. dos, 2019. Moscas ectoparasitas (Diptera, Streblidae) de morcegos (Mammalia, Chiroptera) em um remanescente periurbano de Cerrado: composição da comunidade, prevalência, intensidade de infestação e especificidade. Iheringia. Série Zoologia 109. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-4766e2019006
- Tremlett, C.J., Moore, M., Chapman, M.A., Zamora-Gutierrez, V., Peh, K.S.H., 2020. Pollination by bats enhances both quality and yield of a major cash crop in Mexico. Journal of Applied Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13545
- Trevelin, L.C., Silveira, M., Port-Carvalho, M., Homem, D.H., Cruz-Neto, A.P., 2013. Use of space by frugivorous bats (Chiroptera: Phyllostomidae) in a restored Atlantic forest fragment in Brazil. Forest Ecology and Management 291, 136–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.11.013

- Tsutsumida, W.M., Hirschfeld-Campolongo, G.C.R., de Vargas Wolfgramm, E., de Carvalho, F.M., Louro, I.D., da Costa Aguiar, V.R., De Nadai Sartori, M.P., 2009. Simplified buccal DNA extraction with FTA® Elute Cards. Forensic Science International: Genetics 3, 125–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fsigen.2008.11.008
- Tuomisto, H., 2010. A diversity of beta diversities: Straightening up a concept gone awry. Part 2. Quantifying beta diversity and related phenomena. Ecography. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2009.06148.x
- Turcios-Casco, M.A., Cazzolla Gatti, R., 2020. Do not blame bats and pangolins! Global consequences for wildlife conservation after the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. Biodiversity and Conservation. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10531-020-02053-y
- Turner, I.M., 1996. Species Loss in Fragments of Tropical Rain Forest: A Review of the Evidence. The Journal of Applied Ecology. https://doi.org/10.2307/2404743
- Tuttle, M.D., 2017. Give Bats a Break. Issues in Science and Technology.
- Tyler, A.D., Mataseje, L., Urfano, C.J., Schmidt, L., Antonation, K.S., Mulvey, M.R., Corbett, C.R., 2018. Evaluation of Oxford Nanopore's MinION Sequencing Device for Microbial Whole Genome Sequencing Applications. Scientific Reports. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-29334-5
- Tylianakis, J.M., Tscharntke, T., Lewis, O.T., 2007. Habitat modification alters the structure of tropical host-parasitoid food webs. Nature 445, 202–5. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature05429
- Uchida, S., Drossel, B., 2007. Relation between complexity and stability in food webs with adaptive behavior. Journal of Theoretical Biology. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jtbi.2007.04.019
- Ulian, C.M.V., Rossi, M.N., 2017. Intraspecific variation in body size and sexual size dimorphism, and a test of Rensch's rule in bats. Acta Zoologica 98, 377–386. https://doi.org/10.1111/azo.12183
- Valle, D., Clark, J., 2013. Conservation Efforts May Increase Malaria Burden in the Brazilian Amazon. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0057519
- van Altena, C., Hemerik, L., de Ruiter, P.C., 2016. Food web stability and weighted connectance: the complexity-stability debate revisited. Theoretical Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12080-015-0291-7
- van der Plas, F., 2019. Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning in naturally assembled communities. Biological Reviews. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12499
- Vandergast, A.G., Gillespie, R.G., Roderick, G.K., 2004. Influence of volcanic activity on the population genetic structure of Hawaiian Tetragnatha spiders: Fragmentation, rapid population growth and the potential for accelerated evolution. Molecular Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-294X.2004.02179.x
- Vázquez, D.P., Bluthgen, N., Cagnolo, L., Chacoff, N.P., 2009. Uniting pattern and process in plant-animal mutualistic networks: A review. Annals of Botany. https://doi.org/10.1093/aob/mcp057
- Vences, M., Thomas, M., Bonett, R.M., Vieites, D.R., 2005a. Deciphering amphibian diversity through DNA barcoding: Chances and challenges. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1717
- Vences, M., Thomas, M., Bonett, R.M., Vieites, D.R., 2005b. Deciphering amphibian diversity through DNA barcoding: chances and challenges. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 360, 1859–1868. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2005.1717
 - Vercauteren, K.C., Vandeelen, T.R., Lavelle, M.J., Hall, W.H., 2010. Assessment of Abilities of White-Tailed Deer to Jump Fences. The Journal of Wildlife Management 74, 1378–1381. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1937-2817.2010.tb01260.x
 - Verdasquera Corcho, D., Pérez Soler, K., Norales Mejía, A.D., Vázquez Pérez, A., 2013. Stratification of the risk of becoming ill and dving from human leptospirosis. Revista Cubana de Medicina Tropical.
 - Virgilio, M., Backeljau, T., Nevado, B., De Meyer, M., 2010. Comparative performances of DNA barcoding across insect orders. BMC Bioinformatics. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2105-11-206
 - Vizentin-Bugoni, J., Maruyama, P.K., Debastiani, V.J., Duarte, L. da S., Dalsgaard, B., Sazima, M., 2016. Influences of sampling effort on detected patterns and structuring processes of a Neotropical plant-hummingbird network. Journal of Animal Ecology 85, 262–272. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2656.12459
 - Voigt, C.C., Kingston, T., 2015. Bats in the anthropocene: Conservation of bats in a changing world, Bats in the Anthropocene: Conservation of Bats in a Changing World. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-25220-9
 - Volpato, G.H., Lopes, E. V., Mendonça, L.B., Boçon, R., Bisheimer, M. V., Serafini, P.P., Anjos, L. dos, 2009. The use of the point count method for bird survey in the Atlantic forest. Zoologia (Curitiba). https://doi.org/10.1590/S1984-46702009000100012
 - Vos, C.C., Chardon, J.P., 1998. Effects of habitat fragmentation and road density on the distribution pattern of the moor frog Rana arvalis. Journal of Applied Ecology 35, 44–56. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2664.1998.00284.x
 - Walsh, J.F., Molyneux, D.H., Birley, M.H., 1993. Deforestation effects on vector-borne disease. Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0031182000086121
 - Walther, G.R., Post, E., Convey, P., Menzel, A., Parmesan, C., Beebee, T.J.C., Fromentin, J.M., Hoegh-Guldberg, O., Bairlein, F., 2002. Ecological responses to recent climate change. Nature 416, 389–395. https://doi.org/10.1038/416389a
 - Wang, J., Moore, N.E., Deng, Y.M., Eccles, D.A., Hall, R.J., 2015. MinION nanopore sequencing of an influenza genome. Frontiers in Microbiology 6. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00766
 - Warburton, E.M., Pearl, C.A., Vonhof, M.J., 2016. Relationships between host body condition and immunocompetence, not host sex, best predict parasite burden in a bat-helminth system. Parasitology Research 115, 2155–2164. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-4957-x
 - Watsa, M., Erkenswick, G.A., Pomerantz, A., Prost, S., 2019. Genomics in the jungle: using portable sequencing as a teaching tool in field courses. bioRxiv 581728. https://doi.org/10.1101/581728
- Wearn, O.R., Rowcliffe, J.M., Carbone, C., Bernard, H., Ewers, R.M., 2013. Assessing the status of wild felids in a highly-disturbed commercial forest reserve in Borneo and the implications for camera trap survey design. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0077598
- Webber, Q.M.R., Willis, C.K.R., 2016. Sociality, parasites, and pathogens in bats, in: Sociality in Bats. Springer International Publishing, pp. 105–139. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-38953-0_5
- Wells, K., Pfeiffer, M., Lakim, M.B., Linsenmair, K.E., 2004. Use of arboreal and terrestrial space by a small mammal community in a tropical rain forest in Borneo, Malaysia. Journal of Biogeography. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.01032.x

- Wenzel, R.L., 1975. The streblid batflies of Venezuela (Diptera: Streblidae). Brigham Young University science bulletin. 20, 1–177. https://doi.org/10.5962/bhl.part.5666
- Wera, E., Mourits, M.C.M., Hogeveen, H., 2017. Cost-effectiveness of mass dog rabies vaccination strategies to reduce human health burden in Flores Island, Indonesia. Vaccine 35, 6727–6736. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2017.10.009
- White, L.A., Forester, J.D., Craft, M.E., 2018. Disease outbreak thresholds emerge from interactions between movement behavior, landscape structure, and epidemiology. PNAS 115, 7374–7379. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1801383115
- Wilber, M.Q., Johnson, P.T.J., Briggs, C.J., 2020. Disease hotspots or hot species? Infection dynamics in multi-host metacommunities controlled by species identity, not source location. Ecology Letters 23, 1201–1211. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13518
- Wilkinson, David A, Duron, O., Cordonin, C., Gomard, Y., Ramasindrazana, B., Mavingui, P., Goodman, S.M., Tortosa, P., 2016. The bacteriome of bat flies (Nycteribiidae) from the Malagasy region: A community shaped by host ecology, bacterial transmission mode, and host-vector specificity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 82, 1778–1788. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03505-15
- Wilkinson, David A., Duron, O., Cordonin, C., Gomard, Y., Ramasindrazana, B., Mavingui, P., Goodman, S.M., Tortosa, P., 2016a. The bacteriome of bat flies (Nycteribiidae) from the Malagasy region: A community shaped by host ecology, bacterial transmission mode, and host-vector specificity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology 82, 1778–1788. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03505-15
- Wilkinson, David A., Duron, O., Cordonin, C., Gomard, Y., Ramasindrazana, B., Mavingui, P., Goodman, S.M., Tortosa, P., 2016b. The bacteriome of bat flies (Nycteribiidae) from the Malagasy region: A community shaped by host ecology, bacterial transmission mode, and host-vector specificity. Applied and Environmental Microbiology. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.03505-15
- Wilkinson, D.A., Marshall, J.C., French, N.P., Hayman, D.T.S., 2018. Habitat fragmentation, biodiversity loss and the risk of novel infectious disease emergence. Journal of The Royal Society Interface 15, 20180403. https://doi.org/10.1098/rsif.2018.0403
- Wilkinson, G.S., 1985. The social organization of the common vampire bat. Behav Ecol Sociobiol 17, 123–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00299244
- Williams, N.M., Kremen, C., 2007. Resource distributions among habitats determine solitary bee offspring production in a mosaic landscape. Ecological Applications 17, 910–921. https://doi.org/10.1890/06-0269
- Williamson, M.M., Hooper, P.T., Selleck, P.W., Gleeson, L.J., Daniels, P.W., Westbury, H.A., Murray, P.K., 1998. Transmission studies of Hendra virus (equine morbillivirus) in fruit bats, horses and cats. Australian veterinary journal. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-0813.1998.tb12335.x
- Willis, C.K.R., Brigham, R.M., 2004. Roost switching, roost sharing and social cohesion: Forest-dwelling big brown bats, Eptesicus fuscus, conform to the fission-fusion model. Animal Behaviour 68, 495–505. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.anbehav.2003.08.028
- Wilson, K., Bjørnstad, O.N., Dobson, a. P., Merler, S., Poglayen, G., Randolf, S.E., Read, a. F., Skorping, a., 2001. Heterogeneities in macroparasite infections: patterns and processes. The Ecology of Wildlife Diseases. https://doi.org/10.1.1.17.8839
- Wilson, K., Grenfell, B.T., 1997. Generalized linear modelling for parasitologists. Parasitology Today.
- https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-4758(96)40009-6
- Wilson, K., Grenfell, B.T., Shaw, D.J., 2006. Analysis of Aggregated Parasite Distributions: A Comparison of Methods. Functional Ecology 10, 592. https://doi.org/10.2307/2390169
- Wilson, M.C., Chen, X.Y., Corlett, R.T., Didham, R.K., Ding, P., Holt, R.D., Holyoak, M., Hu, G., Hughes, A.C., Jiang, L., Laurance, W.F., Liu, J., Pimm, S.L., Robinson, S.K., Russo, S.E., Si, X., Wilcove, D.S., Wu, J., Yu, M., 2016. Habitat fragmentation and biodiversity conservation: key findings and future challenges. Landscape Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-015-0312-3
- Wimberly, M.C., Baer, A.D., Yabsley, M.J., 2008. Enhanced spatial models for predicting the geographic distributions of tick-borne pathogens. International Journal of Health Geographics 7, 15. https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-072X-7-15
- Winegardner, A.K., Jones, B.K., Ng, I.S.Y., Siqueira, T., Cottenie, K., 2012. The terminology of metacommunity ecology. Trends in Ecology and Evolution. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2012.01.007
- Winfree, R., Fox, J.W., Williams, N.M., Reilly, J.R., Cariveau, D.P., 2015. Abundance of common species, not species richness, drives delivery of a real-world ecosystem service. Ecology Letters 18, 626–635. https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.12424
- Witsenburg, F., Schneider, F., Christe, P., 2015. Signs of a vector's adaptive choice: On the evasion of infectious hosts and parasiteinduced mortality. Oikos 124, 668–676. https://doi.org/10.1111/oik.01785
- Wolfe, N.D., Daszak, P., Kilpatrick, A.M., Burke, D.S., 2005. Bushmeat hunting, deforestation, and prediction of zoonotic disease emergence. Emerging Infectious Diseases. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid1112.040789
- Wölfel, R., Stoecker, K., Fleischmann, E., Gramsamer, B., Wagner, M., Molkenthin, P., Di Caro, A., Günther, S., Ibrahim, S., Genzel, G.H., Ozin-Hofsäss, A.J., Formenty, P., Zöller, L., 2015. Mobile diagnostics in outbreak response, not only for ebola: A blueprint for a modular and robust field laboratory. Eurosurveillance. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2015.20.44.30055
- Wong, S., Lau, S., Woo, P., Yuen, K.Y., 2007. Bats as a continuing source of emerging infections in humans. Reviews in Medical Virology. https://doi.org/10.1002/rmv.520
- Wood, C.L., Lafferty, K.D., DeLeo, G., Young, H.S., Hudson, P.J., Kuris, A.M., 2014. Does biodiversity protect humans against infectious disease? Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1890/13-1041.1
- Wood, C.L., McInturff, A., Young, H.S., Kim, D., Lafferty, K.D., 2017. Human infectious disease burdens decrease with urbanization but not with biodiversity. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2016.0122
- Woodhams, D.C., Brandt, H., Baumgartner, S., Kielgast, J., Küpfer, E., Tobler, U., Davis, L.R., Schmidt, B.R., Bel, C., Hodel, S., Knight, R., McKenzie, V., 2014. Interacting symbionts and immunity in the amphibian skin mucosome predict disease risk and probiotic effectiveness. PLoS ONE. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0096375
- Wordley, C., Altringham, J., Shankar Raman, T.R., 2014. Bats in Indian coffee plantations: Doing more good than harm? Current Science. https://doi.org/10.18520/cs/v107/i12/1958-1960

Wright, H.E., 1974. Landscape development, forest fires, and wilderness management. Science. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.186.4163.487

- Wright, H.E., Heinselman, M.L., 2014. The ecological role of fire in natural conifer forests of western and Northern North America– Introduction. Fire Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1007/bf03400628
- Wultsch, C., Waits, L.P., Kelly, M.J., 2014. Noninvasive individual and species identification of jaguars (Panthera onca), pumas (Puma concolor) and ocelots (Leopardus pardalis) in Belize, Central America using cross-species microsatellites and faecal DNA. Molecular Ecology Resources 14, 1171–1182. https://doi.org/10.1111/1755-0998.12266

Yasuoka, J., Levins, R., 2007. Impact of deforestation and agricultural development on anopheline ecology and malaria epidemiology. American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.2007.76.450

- Yeh, Y.C., Peres-Neto, P.R., Huang, S.W., Lai, Y.C., Tu, C.Y., Shiah, F.K., Gong, G.C., Hsieh, C. hao, 2015. Determinism of bacterial metacommunity dynamics in the southern East China Sea varies depending on hydrography. Ecography 38, 198–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/ecog.00986
- Young, H.S., Dirzo, R., McCauley, D.J., Agwanda, B., Cattaneo, L., Dittmar, K., Eckerlin, R.P., Fleischer, R.C., Helgen, L.E., Hintz, A., Montinieri, J., Zhao, S., Helgen, K.M., 2015. Drivers of intensity and prevalence of flea parasitism on small mammals in East African savanna ecosystems. Journal of Parasitology. https://doi.org/10.1645/14-684.1
- Zahn, A., 1999. Reproductive success, colony size and roost temperature in attic-dwelling bat Myotis myotis. Journal of Zoology. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0952836999002150
- Zarazúa-Carbajal, M., Saldaña-Vázquez, R.A., Sandoval-Ruiz, C.A., Stoner, K.E., Benitez-Malvido, J., 2016. The specificity of host-bat fly interaction networks across vegetation and seasonal variation. Parasitology Research. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00436-016-5176-1
- Zeale, M.R.K., Butlin, R.K., Barker, G.L.A., Lees, D.C., Jones, G., 2011. Taxon-specific PCR for DNA barcoding arthropod prey in bat faeces. Molecular Ecology Resources 11, 236–244. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1755-0998.2010.02920.x
- Zortea, M., Chiarello, A.G., 1994. Observations on the big fruit-eating bat, Artibeus lituratus, in an urban reserve of south-east Brazil. Mammalia.
- Zouache, K., Raharimalala, F.N., Raquin, V., Tran-Van, V., Raveloson, L.H.R., Ravelonandro, P., Mavingui, P., 2011. Bacterial diversity of field-caught mosquitoes, Aedes albopictus and Aedes aegypti, from different geographic regions of Madagascar. FEMS Microbiology Ecology 75, 377–389. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.01012.x

Appendix

Appendix 1.1: Sequence of Nanopore MIDs used

MID		
	Sequence	Assigned to
BC01	AAGAAAGTTGTCGGTGTCTTTGTG	Uroderma bilobatum
BC03	GAGTCTTGTGTCCCAGTTACCAGG	Pteronotus mesoamericanus
BC13	AGAACGACTTCCATACTCGTGTGA	Sturnira parvidens
BC25	GTAAGTTGGGTATGCAACGCAATG	Saccopteryx bilineata
BC38	ACCACAGGAGGACGATACAGAGAA	Molossus rufus
BC49	ACTGGTGCAGCTTTGAACATCTAG	Desmodus rotundus
BC73	AAGAAACAGGATGACAGAACCCTC	Glossophaga soricina
BC85	AACGGAGGAGTTAGTTGGATGATC	Natalus mexicanus

Natalus mexicanus

- TCGAATAAATAACATAACCTTCTGATTACT⁺CCCCCCCTCTTTCCTACTCC
- TATCCCCCTCTAGCTCGAAACTTACCCCACCCCGAGCCTCCGTTGACCT
- AACCATTTTCTCTTTTACACTTACCCCCCCTCTCATCCTACCTACCCCA 5. DESERVICE DE
- ACTCTTATCCCTCCAGTATTAGCACCCCCGATTACAATCCTATTAACAG 5' SHERRER REFERENCE SHERRER SH

Glossophaga soricina

- TTAATTTTATCACAACTATTATTAATATGAACCCTCCACCTCTATCTCAA

- ATTITATATCAACACTTATTT

Molossus rufus

- TACCCTCCTTTACCTCGAAATCTACCCCATCCACCACCCTCCGTCGAACCT
- AACCATTTTCTCACTACATTTACCACGAGTTTCATCAATTTTAGGTCCTA 5' DINNERS BERNERS BERNER
- TACCAAACACCACTATTTGTATGATCTGTATTAATTACACCCGTATTACT

Desmodus rotundus

- CCGAATAAACAACATGAGTTTTTTGACTCCTACTCCCTCATTCCTACTCC
- TACCCCCCTTTACCCCCAACCTCCCCCATCCCCCACCCTCTCTACACCT

- TACCAAACACCCCTATTTGTCTGATCCCTTCTAATCACACCAGTACTACT 5' RINNER RENER RENER
- ACTCCTTTCTCTCCCTGTTCTTCCACCCCCCATCACCATCCTACTATCAG

5'	TCGAATAAACA
TCCTTCCCTCATCTACAGTTCACCCACCACCACCACCACCACCACCACCACCCAC	5'
TATCCTCCTCTACCACCCCACACCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC	5' E B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B B
ACCTATTITCTCCCTTCACCTACCACCCCTCATCATCCTCCCCCCCTA 5' DISSISSION STATES DISSISSION DE CECEPERE DISSISSION DE DISSISS	5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5, 5
TTAATTITATIACCASTATTATTAACATAAAACCCCCTCCCCT	TCAASTITATT
TACCAGACTCCCCTGTTTGTCTGATCCGTCTTAATCACACCTGTACTACT 5' NAMARRAN NAMARRAN SEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEESEE	TA<u>SCAAACTCO</u> 5' ⁵ 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
ACTTCTATCACTTCCCGTCCTAGCAGCAGCAATTACTATACTATTAACAG 5' BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB	ACTOCTATOCS
ACCGAAACCTCAATACTACTACTTCCTCCAACCACCACCACCAC	5' 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
ATTCTATACCAACACCTATTC 5' \$ 5' \$\$\$\$\$	ATCTTATATCA 5' ^{5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5}
Pteronotus mesoamericanus	Saccor
	Cuccop
ACCAATAAACAATATAACTITCTGACTCCTACCACCATCCTTTCTTCTCC 5'	
STACCAATAAACAATATAAGTTTCTGACTCCTACCACCATCCTTTCTTCTCC TACTACCCTCCTCAATAGTAGAGGCCGGAGCAGGTACCGCCTGAACTGTT STACTAGCCTCCTCAATAGTAGAGGCCGGAGCAGGTACCGGCTGAACTGTT	
ACCAATAAACAATATAAGTITICTGACTCCTACCACCATCCTTTCTTCTCC ₃ , TACTACCCTCCTCAATAGTAGAGGCCCGGACCACGTACCGCCTGAACTGTT ₃ ,	
ACCAATAAACAATATAAGTTTCTCAACTCCTACCACCATCCTTTCTTCTCCC , TACTACCCTCCTCAATAGTACAGCCCCGACCACCTACCCCCTGAACTGTT , TACTACCCCCATTACCACCGCAACCTACCCCCCCCCCCC	
ACCAATAAACAATATAAAGTITICTGACTCCTACCACCATCCTTTCTTCTCCC , TACTACCCTCCTCAATAGTAGAGGCCCGACCACGTACCGCCTGAACTGTT , TACTACCACCATTACCAGGGAACCTACCCCACCCTGGACCTTCTGTTGACCT , AACCATTTTCTCTCTCTACATCAACATCATCAACACCACATCAT	

Uroderma bilobatum

Sturnira parvidens
TCCAATAAACAATATAACCTTCICACTTCTACCACCTTCTTACTCC 5'
TACTACCCTCCTCTACAGTAGAAGCCCGAGTCCCTACTCCCTGAACTCTA
TACCCTCCCCTACCACGAAACCTCCCACATCCTCCCCCCTCTGICCACCT 5' BBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBBB
ACCATTETCOCTICACTTACCACCCCTLTCATCCATTCITCCTCCTA 5' EXAMINATION STREET CONTRACTOR STREET ST
TCAACTITATTACAACCATTATCAATATAAAACCACCTCCCCTTTCCCAA 5' BRRAREEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEEE
TACCAAACTCCCTTATTTGTCTGATCATCCTAATCACCCCTGTTCTACT 5' XXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXXX
ACTOCTATCCCTCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
5' TRANSPORTED TO THE TOTAL CACACITY TO CACCCACCT CCCCCACCACCACCACCACCT CCCCCCCC
5' FREE FEETER FEETER 3'
Saccopteryx bilineata
Saccopteryx bilineata
Saccopteryx bilineata
Saccopteryx bilineata TEGTATAAATAACATAACGTTTTEGCCTTCTACCCCCTTCTTTCCTACTTC TACTCCCCATCTTCTATAGTTGAACCCCCCCCCACGAACCCCCATGAACAGTA TATCCCCCACTACCACGTAATCTACCTCATCCACGTCCCTCAGTTCACCT 3
Saccopteryx bilineata FEGTATAAATAACATAACGTITTECCTTCTACCCCCTTCTTCCTACTTC TACTCCCATCTTCTATAGTTCAACCCCCCCCACCAACCCCATCAACAGTA TACTCCCCCACTACCACCTAATCTACCTCATCCACCTCACCTCACCTCACCTCACCAC
Saccopteryx bilineata TEGTATAAATAACATAACGTITTECCTTCTACCCCCTTCTTCCTACTTC TACTCCCATCTTCTATAGTTCAACCCCCCCACCAACCCCATCAACAGTA TACCCCCACTACCACGTAATCTACCTCACCACGTCCTCCACTCAACCACTA TACCCCCCACTACCACGTAATCTACCACCTCATCCACGTCCTCCACTCACCACA TACCTTCTTCTCCACTACCACCTCATCTACCACGTCTTTCTT



Appendix 2.1: four primer sets tested on cat fleas; (top left and top centre) MLepF1 and C_LepFoIR, (top right) C_LepFoIF and MLepR2, (bottom left) Uni-MinibarF1 and Uni-MinibarR1, and (bottom centre) ZBJ-ArtF1c and ZBJ-ArtR2c.



Appendix 2.2: Cotton swab with mites, suspected to be juveniles of Periglischrus mites



Appendix 2.3: Adult mites dorsal view, suspected to be (C1) female Spinturnix, (C2) male Spinturnix, (C3) female Periglishrus, vargasi, (C4) female Spinturnix carloshoff; estimates based on diagrams in (Rudnick, 1960)